# Virtual reality for neuropsychology and affective cognitive sciences: Theoretical and methodological avenues for studying human cognition

**Edited by** Ali Oker, Florian Pecune and Jordi Vallverdu

**Published in** Frontiers in Virtual Reality





#### FRONTIERS EBOOK COPYRIGHT STATEMENT

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this ebook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this ebook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this ebook, and the ebook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this ebook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or ebook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not

be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-83251-527-3 DOI 10.3389/978-2-83251-527-3

#### **About Frontiers**

Frontiers is more than just an open access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

#### Frontiers journal series

The Frontiers journal series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of openaccess, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the *Frontiers journal series* operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

#### Dedication to quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews. Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

#### What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the *Frontiers journals series*: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area.

Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers editorial office: frontiersin.org/about/contact

# Virtual reality for neuropsychology and affective cognitive sciences: Theoretical and methodological avenues for studying human cognition

#### **Topic editors**

Ali Oker — Université de Reims Champagne-Ardenne, France Florian Pecune — University of Glasgow, United Kingdom Jordi Vallverdu — Autonomous University of Barcelona, Spain

#### Citation

Oker, A., Pecune, F., Vallverdu, J., eds. (2023). *Virtual reality for neuropsychology and affective cognitive sciences: Theoretical and methodological avenues for studying human cognition*. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-83251-527-3



# Table of contents

04 Editorial: Virtual reality for neuropsychology and affective cognitive sciences: Theoretical and methodological avenues for studying human cognition Ali Oker, Florian Pecune and Jordi Vallverdu

06 Affective and Physiological Responses During Acute Pain in Virtual Reality: The Effect of First-Person Versus Third-Person Perspective

Collin Turbyne, Pelle de Koning, Dirk Smit and Damiaan Denys

14 Authentic Fear Responses in Virtual Reality: A Mobile EEG Study on Affective, Behavioral and Electrophysiological Correlates of Fear

> Joanna Kisker, Leon Lange, Kira Flinkenflügel, Michael Kaup, Nils Labersweiler, Falk Tetenborg, Paula Ott, Christopher Gundler, Thomas Gruber, Roman Osinsky and Benjamin Schöne

33 Virtual Reality and EEG-Based Intelligent Agent in Older Adults With Subjective Cognitive Decline: A Feasibility Study for Effects on Emotion and Cognition

> Marc Cuesta, Lynn Valeyry Verty, Hamdi Ben Abdessalem, Alexie Byrns, Marie-Andrée Bruneau, Claude Frasson and Sylvie Belleville

### 43 Because I'm Happy—An Overview on Fostering Positive Emotions Through Virtual Reality

Katarina Pavic, Dorine Vergilino-Perez, Thierry Gricourt and Laurence Chaby

56 Socially Supported by an Embodied Agent: The Development of a Virtual-Reality Paradigm to Study Social Emotion Regulation

> Lina Stallmann, Daniel Dukes, Michel Tran, Valentin Durand de Gevigney, David Rudrauf and Andrea C. Samson

70 Virtual Reality to Evaluate the Impact of Colorful Interventions and Nature Elements on Spontaneous Walking, Gaze, and Emotion

Adamantia Batistatou, Florentin Vandeville and Yvonne N. Delevoye-Turrell

87 Embodied Virtual Patients as a Simulation-Based Framework for Training Clinician-Patient Communication Skills: An Overview of Their Use in Psychiatric and Geriatric Care Laurence Chaby, Amine Benamara, Maribel Pino, Elise Prigent, Brian Ravenet, Jean-Claude Martin, Hélène Vanderstichel, Raquel Becerril-Ortega, Anne-Sophie Rigaud and Mohamed Chetouani

106 Embodied social cognition investigated with virtual agents: The infinite loop between social brain and virtual reality

Frontiers in Virtual Reality

#### Check for updates

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

EDITED AND REVIEWED BY Ronan Boulic, Swiss Federal Institute of Technology Lausanne, Switzerland

\*CORRESPONDENCE Ali Oker, i ali.oker@univ-reims.fr

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Virtual Reality and Human Behaviour, a section of the journal Frontiers in Virtual Reality

RECEIVED 16 November 2022 ACCEPTED 12 December 2022 PUBLISHED 19 December 2022

#### CITATION

Oker A, Pecune F and Vallverdu J (2022), Editorial: Virtual reality for neuropsychology and affective cognitive sciences: Theoretical and methodological avenues for studying human cognition. *Front. Virtual Real.* 3:1100387. doi: 10.3389/frvir.2022.1100387

#### COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Oker, Pecune and Vallverdu. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

# Editorial: Virtual reality for neuropsychology and affective cognitive sciences: Theoretical and methodological avenues for studying human cognition

# Ali Oker<sup>1,2</sup>\*, Florian Pecune<sup>3</sup> and Jordi Vallverdu<sup>4</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Université de Reims Champagne-Ardenne, Reims, France, <sup>2</sup>EA6291 Laboratoire Cognition Santé, Société (C2S), Reims, France, <sup>3</sup>Laboratoire CNRS UMR 6033 SANPSY, Université de Bordeaux, Bordeaux, France, <sup>4</sup>Universidad Autónoma de Barcelona (UAB) ICREA Acadèmia, Barcelona, Spain

#### KEYWORDS

affective cognition, neuropsychology, cognition, psychology, emotion

#### Editorial on the Research Topic

Virtual reality forneuro psychology and affective cognitive sciences: Theoretical and methodological avenues for studying human cognition

The Research Topic presented here emphasizes the theoretical and methodological contributions of the use of virtual reality to study human cognition. At a first glance, the use of novel technologies, such as virtual reality can be seen only as broader means of providing richer and multimodal stimuli for experimental psychology. However, it should be stressed out that the introduction of virtual reality in the field represents a serious paradigm shift in cognitive sciences. When Wilhelm Wundt established the first laboratory at Leipzig University in 1879, namely "The Institute for Experimental Psychology", he deliberately created a separate space from other departments in which it could be possible to conduct experiments by isolating several parameters. Wundt was one of the first who recognized that behavior and even the subjective aspects of the mind itself can be observed according to independent variables created in the environment. Thus, he understood that in order to manipulate the variables that he created, he had to control other variables already present in the reality of this space. This is why a dark room was installed in this laboratory for performing psychophysical experiments on visual perception (Nicolas, 2005). This may seem insignificant by today's standards, but virtually what Wilhelm Wundt tried to do was the manipulation of the physical reality in which modified stimuli have been exposed to participants. His work made that psychology is furthermore established as a full-fledged empirical science.

More than a century after, technological advances in the field of computer sciences have also led to creating a new environment for a new kind of interface, interaction, and immersion: Virtual Reality. Following the democratization of technology, researchers in cognitive science found out that virtual reality can be a real asset for studying neuropsychology and affective cognition experimentally. The fact that it can create any familiar environment without limits (e.g., public transport, music theater, street ...) made it a pertinent technology for mental health studies. But more importantly, in virtual environments, researchers not only are able to manipulate everything, but they can also create new laws of physics, stimuli and objects that don't exist in the outside world. This makes the use of virtual environments a very important paradigm shift in the field of cognitive science. Therefore, virtual reality is also increasingly used in recent neuropsychological studies. Finally, thanks to its immersive and interactive nature, virtual environments are also being popular by the use of affective and reactive virtual agents in social cognition disorder studies (Brunet-Gouet et al., 2016).

Based on these observations, the Research Topic presented here is gathering familiar methodological tools in cognitive science and neuropsychology coupled to the use of virtual reality, virtual environments and virtual agents. A first line of contributions made the use of virtual reality with behavioral measures frequently performed in neuropsychology and cognitive science studies such as electroencephalography (EEG), eye-tracking, heart rate variability. For instance, Cuesta et al., provided a proof-of-concept to assess the potential of coupling virtual reality and EEG in aging individuals with subjective cognitive decline. They highlighted that, older adults did not suffer from cybersickness and reported positive user experience but also highlighted a significant improvement in working memory when comparing virtual intervention groups to the control group. Turbyne et al., studied parameters involved in mitigating acute pain by investigating whether affective and physiological responses to painful electrical stimulation differed between a first and a third person perspective in virtual reality. The results confirm that the participants reported significantly higher tension during the third person condition. In order to investigate authentic, fear responses from a holistic perspective, Kisker et al., provided an immersive experience in which they built a physical replica of a cave while participants explored with a fearful or a neutral version of it in virtual reality. During the experiment, electrophysiological correlates of fearrelated approach and avoidance tendencies, such as frontal alpha asymmetries (FAA) were evaluated for the first time for this kind of immersive conditions related to authentic fear.

The second line of contributions consisted of wellbeing and mental health issues. Batistatou et al., used virtual reality to test the impact of colorful floor markings on the spontaneous speed of walking, gaze behavior recorded by eye-tracking, as well as perceived changes in and physiological measures of affective states. Their findings suggest that colors may be a powerful tool to trigger alertness and pleasure in gray urban cities. On the matter of improving wellbeing, Pavic et al., reviewed the scientific literature on how to foster positive emotions through virtual reality. They found out that the positive virtual reality experience consists of

# References

applications for relaxation, stress and pain management, motivation for physical activities, and gives promising results for apathy treatment in elderly users. Chaby et al., also investigated how and why virtual patients can be used in psychiatry and geriatrics in order to train healthcare professionals in social skills required to interact with patients. They also propose recommendations, best practices and uses for the design, conduct and evaluation of virtual patient training sessions. Regarding virtual characters, Stallman et al. , proposed a new and innovative methodology article in which they provided a description of the development of a novel paradigm designed to test the efficacy of social emotion regulation with an embodied virtual agent and its virtual environment, and how to anticipate results from typically developing and autistic youth populations. Finally, Oker shed some light on the link between neural underpinnings of embodied social cognition and virtual agents' pertinence for experimental studies in cognitive psychopathology depicting social cognition impairments.

While it is not the first nor the last time in the literature, studies presented in this Research Topic show clearly how virtual reality and virtual agents are pertinent tools for studying neuropsychology and affective cognitive science. We predict that we are just in the beginnings of a real paradigm shift in the field and, following further democratization of the head mounted displays, virtual reality will become an acclaimed and inevitable tool in psychology labs in the next decade.

# Author contributions

AO wrote the first draft. All authors have supervised the manuscript.

# Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

# Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Brunet-Gouet, E., Oker, A., Martin, J. C., Grynszpan, O., and Jackson, P. L. (2016). Editorial: Advances in virtual agents and affective computing for the understanding and remediation of social cognitive disorders. *Front. Hum. Neurosci.* 9, 697. doi:10.3389/fnhum.2015.00697

Nicolas, S. (2005). Wundt et la fondation en 1879 de son laboratoire. L'Année Psychol. 105 (1), 133–170. doi:10.3406/psy.2005.3823





# Affective and Physiological Responses During Acute Pain in Virtual Reality: The Effect of First-Person Versus Third-Person Perspective

#### Collin Turbyne\*, Pelle de Koning, Dirk Smit and Damiaan Denys

Academic Medical Center, Department of Psychiatry, University of Amsterdam, Amsterdam, Netherlands

**Background:** Virtual reality (VR) has been previously shown as a means to mitigate acute pain. The critical parameters involved in the clinical efficacy of mitigating acute pain from different perspectives remains unknown. This study attempted to further deconstruct the critical parameters involved in mitigating acute pain by investigating whether affective and physiological responses to painful stimuli differed between a first and a third person perspective in virtual reality.

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Jordi Vallverdu, Universitat Autònoma de Barcelona, Spain

#### Reviewed by:

Aryabrata Basu, Emory University, United States Lynne Sneddon, University of Gothenburg, Sweden

\*Correspondence: Collin Turbyne c.a.turbyne@amsterdamumc.nl

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Virtual Reality and Human Behaviour, a section of the journal Frontiers in Virtual Reality

> **Received:** 13 April 2021 **Accepted:** 23 June 2021 **Published:** 21 July 2021

#### Citation:

Turbyne C, de Koning P, Smit D and Denys D (2021) Affective and Physiological Responses During Acute Pain in Virtual Reality: The Effect of First-Person Versus Third-Person Perspective. Front. Virtual Real. 2:694511. doi: 10.3389/frvir.2021.694511 **Methods:** Two conditions were compared in a repeated-measures within subject study design for 17 healthy participants: First person perspective (i.e., where participants experienced their bodies from an anatomical and egocentric perspective) and third person perspective (i.e., where participants experienced their bodies from an anatomical perspective from across the room). The participants received noxious electrical stimulation at pseudorandom intervals and anatomical locations during both conditions. Physiological stress responses were measured by means of electrocardiography (ECG) and impedance cardiography (ICG). Subjective scores measuring tension, pain, anger, and fear were reported after every block sequence.

**Results:** There were no significant differences in physiological stress responses between conditions. However, the participants reported significantly higher tension during the third person condition.

**Conclusion:** Relative to a third person perspective, there are no distinct physiological benefits to inducing a first person perspective to mitigate physiological stress responses to acute pain in healthy individuals. However, there may be additional clinical benefits for doing so in specific clinical populations that have shown to benefit from relaxation techniques. Further research is needed in order to refine the clinical utility of different perspectives during virtual reality immersions that serve to act as a non-pharmacological analgesic during acute pain.

Keywords: virtual reality, first person perspective, third person perspective, affective psychophysiology, acute pain analgesia

# INTRODUCTION

Pain can be defined as an unpleasant sensory and emotional experience associated with, or resembling that associated with, actual or potential tissue damage (IASP, 2017). Currently, acute pain is largely relieved using pain-medication, however, these analgesics also have unwanted side effects which often requires additional, complicated, considerations for their administration (Alford et al., 2006). In order to better address these concerns, there has recently been an increased demand for non-invasive methods that have the potential to be self-administered. One candidate that is being increasingly explored in acute pain research is virtual reality. To date, a common class of techniques used to mitigate the experience of acute pain is by inducing a body illusion.

A body illusion can be defined as any event where an individual's physical body has been perceptually modified in order to gain some further understanding of their own-body perception. The ability to modulate acute pain sensations have been explored in several different classes of body illusions; most commonly in body distortion (Mancini et al., 2011; Martini et al., 2013; Romano and Maravita, 2014; Matamala-Gomez et al., 2020) and body ownership (Longo et al., 2009; Hänsell et al., 2011; Martini et al., 2015) paradigms using both virtuality technologies and non-virtual (ex. mirrors) instruments. The use of virtuality technologies is becoming more ubiquitous in body illusion research due to the enhanced ability of being able to manipulate information in ways that are otherwise not possible. An example of such an advantage can be seen in another emerging class of body illusions known as out of body experiences (OBE), whereby the perceived location of the self is separated from the actual location of the physical self (Ehrsson, 2007; Lenggenhager et al., 2007; Blom et al., 2014; Pfeiffer et al., 2014). These illusions involve the individual viewing a third person perspective of themselves from a first person perspective.

Body illusions, regardless of class, are induced and sustained through the use of multisensory signal integration. The dynamics between this multisensory interplay of manipulating the sense of body ownership, agency, and the experience of acute pain still remains unclear for several reasons. From a more fundamental stance, it is still not clear what role perspective plays in facilitating both the affective and physiological responses to a noxious stimulus. Moreover, there is still a lack of clarity surrounding the understanding of autonomic responses to experimentally induced painful stimulation. Results from a previous review that sought to clarify the physiological component of the acute pain response to experimentally induced painful stimulation identified several important suggestions for future research which included how cognitive and affective constructs are under-investigated and warrant more attention and that studies should include measures that specifically assess both sympathetic and parasympathetic responses (Kyle and McNeil, 2014).

Currently, one of the major competing theories attempting to explain the analgesic potential of virtual reality postulates that virtual reality is able to effectively distract an individual from noxious stimuli (Hoffman et al., 2000; Hoffman et al., 2001; Schneider et al., 2004; Gershon et al., 2004; Hoffman et al., 2011). Furthermore, it has been hypothesized that the more attention demanding the virtual immersion is, the better it is for reducing pain (Lier et al., 2020). The purpose of this study aims to further deconstruct the basis of body illusions by further examining how perspective contributes to the affective and physiological experience of acute pain. In order to test this, we compared a first and third person perspective of the self during virtual immersion while administering noxious electrical stimuli. In the first person condition, there was visuomotor congruency between the visual information of the participants' virtual embodiment and their bodily movements which they were asked to attend to (Figure 1A). However in the third person condition, the participants still experienced their bodily movements from an anatomical perspective but visually perceived themselves from a front facing profile from across the room. Therefore in this condition, there was incongruent, conflicting, visuomotor information between the visual information of their virtual embodiment and their bodily movements which they were asked to attend to (Figure 1B). One of the main differences with the extant literature on the effect of interaction in virtual environments (VE) is that we did not provide any visual cues in our VEs that could provide expectancy

effects that could interfere or interact with the perspective, as

previous literature has shown that environmental interaction

compared to no interaction is significantly more analgesic (Lier et al., 2020). In line with the theory of attentional

demand (Hoffman et al., 2019), we hypothesized that the

incongruent visuomotor information experienced during the

third person perspective would demand an increase in attentional capacity and therefore further distract the

individuals from the painful stimuli, resulting in a relatively

lower physiological stress response and lower subjective ratings

compared to the first person perspective.

# **METHODS**

### **Participants**

We recruited 17 healthy adults to participate in this research. Testing took place in the Psychiatry Department in the Amsterdam University Medical Centre (Amterdam UMC) (Amsterdam, Netherlands). Participants were included on the basis of having no previous DSM-V diagnosis of a mental disorder and no previous neurological diagnosis or complaints of having chronic pain or somatosensory hypersensitivity. This study was reviewed and approved by the medical ethical committee of the Amsterdam UMC. The participants provided their written informed consent in order to participate in this study. This research received no specific grant from any funding agency in the public, commercial, or not-for-profit sectors.

# **Virtual Environment and Equipment**

The VE was presented on an HMD (Oculus Rift DK2) from both a first person and fixed third person perspective. The VE in the first person perspective depicted a video image of what the participants saw from their natural perspective, which



consisted of them sitting in a chair in an empty room with white walls and a dark floor. The VE in the third person perspective depicted the individuals' front facing profile as they sat on a chair in an empty room with white walls and a dark floor. The minimalistic design of these VEs allowed us to better study the effects of perspective on distraction by removing unnecessary environmental objects and interactions that could have further impacted the participants' experience. In both conditions, the participants saw their movements from an anatomical reference. The VEs were created from a video feed which came from a stereoscopic camera (Zed Mini) that was mounted either on the front of the HMD or on a camera tripod in front of the individual. The VE ran within a game engine (Unity 3D).

# **Physiological Measurements**

We measured three physiological indicators during the exposure to assess the participants' stress response via autonomic nervous system (ANS) activity by means of electrocardiography (ECG) and impedance cardiography (ICG) using an ambulatory physiological recording device (VU-AMS, VU University). We adhered to the operational use of the device according to the manual (Vrije Universiteit, 2019). Our signals of interest included heart rate (HR), respiratory sinus arrhythmia (RSA), and preejection period (PEP). HR is an indicator of combined parasympathetic and sympathetic control (Akselrod et al., 1981). RSA is a naturally occurring variation in HR during a respiration cycle and has been shown to be a reliable way to assess parasympathetic control (Katona and Jih, 1975). PEP is the time interval between electrical stimulation of the ventricles and the opening of the aortic values, which measures sympathetic control of cardiac activity (Newlin and Levenson, 1979; Berntson et al., 2004). VUDAMS software version 4.0 was used to pre-process the physiological data as described in the manual (Vrije Universiteit, 2019). After the data was visually inspected and manually corrected by an independent researcher, we could derive the inter beat interval (IBI) times series and respiration signals from the ECG and ICG signals. The different periods of the script were labeled using the visual interface within the DAMS environment. Heart rate (HR) was attained directly from the IBI time series.

Respiratory sinus arrhythmia (RSA) was obtained by combining the reparation signals with the IBI time series using the peak valley method. For our analysis, we are reporting the "RSA-zero" mean variable, meaning the RSA value was automatically set to be zero for breaths that the software detected as having an invalid RSA. In order to be as conservative as possible, we discarded a dataset if more than 50% of the data was missing. This could be due to hardware malfunction or being manually set to missing because the researchers and independent researcher collectively agreed that a segment of data could not be reliably analyzed. Preejection period (PEP) was calculated as the time from the onset of the Q-wave in the ECG to the opening of the aortic valves, selected by the B-point in the ICG signal.

# Pain Stimuli

Four electrodes from a stimulation device (ENERGY Light) were positioned on the participants' legs. Electrodes were placed above the knee on the right leg, below the knee on the right leg, above the knee on the left leg, and below the knee on the left leg. Before beginning the test, each of the individual current intensities were adjusted on an individual-to-individual as well as a region-byregion basis to be experienced as moderately painful. This was determined by gradually increasing the intensity of the current until the individual reported a moderate level of discomfort. These stimuli were administered remotely, with the researcher being out of view from the participant, and silently. This approach helped us to mitigate any potential effects due to stimulus expectancy.

# **Verbal Likert Scale**

Subjective levels of pain were obtained by administering a verbal Likert scale (VLS). The range for the scaled questions was from 1–5 with (1 not at all—5 extreme). The scaled questions addressed how tense they were, how much pain they were in, how fearful they were, and how angry they were.

### Procedure

This study consisted of two conditions, a first person perspective and a third person perspective, using a repeated measures withinsubjects design. For a complete overview of the experimental



design, please see Figure 2, which has been adopted and modified from the method section of previous research (Turbyne et al., 2021). Before starting either condition, the participants underwent a relaxation phase which presented a series of five different neutral images taken from a validated database (Lang et al., 2008) which were adopted for use in an HMD at a rate of one stimulus per minute. We synchronized the onset of the physiological recordings with the presentation of these images in order to prevent false detections, which established the baseline for our analysis. This phase was directly followed by an immersion phase which allowed the participants to acclimate themselves within the virtual environment in which they were encouraged to explore their bodies by looking at themselves and moving their limbs while being seated. This phase lasted for a total of 5 min. After this phase we initiated either the first or third person condition. We presented a total of three sequences per condition, each of which contained four blocks that corresponded to an anatomical region. The anatomical regions were: A) above the left knee, B) below the left knee, C) above the right knee, and D) below the right knee. Each block within every sequence was pseudo-randomly presented, such that each block was represented in that sequence and that no block could not be repeated back-to-back either in that sequence or the subsequent sequence. The inter-sequence interval was set to 2 min, which allowed us to mitigate any potential carry over effects from the previous sequence, as well as allow us ample time to administer a VLS. Each block contained 6 stimuli, with each stimulus lasting 0.2 ms. The inter-stimulus interval was set to 20 s, which allowed

us to obtain a clear and analyzable physiological signal. After completing the first condition, the participants removed the HMD before beginning the subsequent condition. The intercondition interval was variable amongst subjects, with a maximum period of 30 min. The purpose of the intercondition interval was to ensure that the participant did not experience any simulation sickness before beginning the subsequent condition. The conditions were counterbalanced between participants. The verbal explanation to the participants prior to starting each condition was the following: "During this condition, I will stimulate different areas of your legs. Please try to visually focus on yourself as I do this. You are allowed to move around freely while remaining seated".

### **Statistical Analysis**

We conducted a generalized estimating equation (GEE) analysis to examine the between condition differences in physiological measurements from baseline to pain provocation ( $\Delta$ HR,  $\Delta$ RSA,  $\Delta$ PEP) as well as VLS scores. GEE models can be used to analyze repeated measures data with binary, ordinal, or continuous outcomes (Zeger et al., 1988; Liang and Zeger, 1993). For our GEE analysis we selected an exchangeable correlation structure. The model's fixed effects consisted of main effects for stimulus region and perspective, as well as their interaction. For the physiological parameters  $\Delta$ HR,  $\Delta$ RSA, and  $\Delta$ PEP, a Gaussian link function was specified. For the ordinal VLS

TABLE 1   Results of exchangeable correlation generalized estimating equation
for physiological measurements from baseline to pain provocation.

	Wald Chi-Square	Type III df	Р
ΔΡΕΡ			
Perspective	1.115	1	0.291
Stimulus region	3.692	3	0.297
Perspective*stimulus region	5.294	3	0.152
ΔRSA			
Perspective	1.873	1	0.171
Stimulus region	7.170	3	0.067
Perspective*stimulus region	4.216	3	0.239
ΔHR			
Perspective	3.115	1	0.078
Stimulus region	16.909	3	0.001
Perspective*stimulus region	2.291	3	0.514

 $\Delta PEP = Change in pre-ejection period from baseline to pain provocation.$ 

△RSA = Change in respiratory sinus arrhythmia from baseline to pain provocation.

 $\Delta HR$  = Change in heart rate from baseline to pain provocation.

scores, a logistic function was used. SPSS software version 26 was used to perform the GEE analysis. We Bonferroni corrected the obtained *p*-values for the number of dependent variables included in the repeated-measures GEE models; we multiplied *p*-values by three for the physiological indicators and by four for the VLS data.

### RESULTS

Physiological data was excluded for six participants due to large sections of missing data that was found to be caused by the electrodes losing contact sporadically throughout the experiment, leaving 11 subjects for analysis. As shown in **Table 1**, the GEE analysis revealed that perspective and stimulus region were not statistically significant predictors for  $\Delta$ PEP [(perspective (*Wald*  $\chi = 1.115$ , df = 1, p = 0.291)] [stimulus region (*Wald*  $\chi = 3.692$ , df = 3, p = 0.297)] [perspective\*stimulus region (*Wald*  $\chi = 5.294$ , df = 3, p = 0.152)] or  $\Delta$ RSA [[perspective (*Wald*  $\chi = 1.873$ , df = 1, p = 0.171)] [stimulus region (*Wald*  $\chi = 7.170$ , df = 3, p = 0.067)] [perspective\*stimulus

region (*Wald*  $\chi$  = 4.216, *df* = 3, *p* = 0.239)]. However, for  $\Delta$ HR, while there were no significant main effects for perspective [*Wald*  $\chi$  = 3.115, *df* = 1, *p* = 0.078] or an interaction effect between perspective and stimulus region [*Wald*  $\chi$  = 2.291, *df* = 3, *p* = 0.514], there was a significant main effect for stimulus region (*Wald*  $\chi$  = 16.909, *df* = 3, *p* = 0.001, Bonferroni-corrected *p* = 0.003) (**Figure 3**). The main effect of perspective for  $\Delta$ HR, while not significant, was approaching significance. In order to test if we had enough power, we performed a post-hoc sensitivity analysis using G\*Power for repeated measures with the following settings: alpha = 0.0166, power = 0.80, sample size = 11, number of measurements = 12, and a correlation among repeated measures = 0.357. We were able to detect only large effects (Cohen's *d* = 0.65).

The mean ratings for the individual questionnaire items are shown in Figure 4. When comparing means for VLS scores between conditions, pain, tension, anxiety, and anger were 2.0 (SD = 0.935), 1.82 (SD = 1.158), 1.48 (SD = 0.972), and 1.67 (SD = 1.051) during the first person condition and 2.12 (SD = 0.927), 2.18 (SD = 1.103), 1.61 (SD = 0.788), 1.55 (SD = 0.794) during the third person condition, respectively. As shown in Table 2, perspective and stimulus region were not statistically significant predictors for pain [perspective (Wald  $\chi = 0.271$ , df = 1, p = 0.602)] [stimulus region (Wald  $\chi = 2.409$ , df = 1, p = 0.121)] [perspective\*stimulus region (Wald  $\chi = 2.042$ , df = 1, p = 0.153)], anxiety [perspective (Wald  $\chi = 1.682$ , df = 1, p = 0.195)] [stimulus region (Wald  $\chi =$ 0.006, df = 1, p = 0.938) [perspective\*stimulus region (Wald  $\chi =$ 0.147, df = 1, p = 0.702), or anger [perspective (*Wald*  $\chi = 0.085$ , df =1, p = 0.771] [stimulus region (*Wald*  $\chi = 0.618$ , df = 1, p = 0.432)] [perspective\*stimulus region (*Wald*  $\chi = 0.621$ , df = 1, p = 0.431)]. However, for tension while there were no significant main effects for stimulus region (*Wald*  $\chi = 0.025$ , df = 1, p = 0.873) or an interaction effect between perspective and stimulus region [*Wald*  $\chi$  = 1.073, *df* = 1, p = 0.300], there was a significant main effect for perspective  $[Wald \chi] = 6.449, df = 1, p = 0.011, Bonferroni-corrected p = 0.044).$ 

# DISCUSSION

The goal of this study was to investigate whether perspective can differentially effect the affective and physiological responses to acute





pain in virtual reality. This was investigated by comparing a modified body representation from a third person perspective, which consisted of incongruent visuomotor information between the visual information of the participants' virtual embodiment and their bodily movements, with an unmodified body representation from a first person perspective. We hypothesized that the third person condition would elicit a relatively lower physiological stress response and subjective report scores compared to the first person condition.

The results from our exploratory analyses showed no differences in physiological stress responses between perspectives or any interaction effects between perspectives and stimulus regions. However, we did find a significant main effect for stimulus region in  $\Delta$ HR. This measure alone is not informative enough to be able to determine whether or not there is a stress response or what the magnitude of a potential stress response may be. HR is used more-so as a secondary measure to determine whether or not there is a stress response due to the fact that it is both a sensitive measure and that it only reflects the

**TABLE 2** | Results of ordinal logistic generalized estimating equation for verbal

 Likert Scale data.

	Wald Chi-Square	Type III df	Р
Pain			
Perspective	0.271	1	0.602
Stimulus region	2.409	1	0.121
Perspective*stimulus region	2.042	1	0.153
Tension			
Perspective	6.449	1	0.011
Stimulus region	0.025	1	0.873
Perspective*stimulus region	1.073	3	
Anxiety			
Perspective	1.682	1	0.195
Stimulus region	0.006	1	0.938
Perspective*stimulus region	0.147	1	0.702
Anger			
Perspective	0.085	1	0.771
Stimulus region	0.618	1	0.432
Perspective*stimulus region	0.621	1	0.431

combined sympathetic and parasympathetic activity. Because we were unable to observe any significance for either PEP or RSA, this leaves us unable to determine what this difference in HR actually reflects. Arguably, this effect could be stronger if we added repetitions, per subject, to the data in order to increase the power, although this would likely be ineffective due to the fact that our within-effect already has eight repeats, being four repeats per condition times both perspectives. Adding additional repetitions would have also expanded the total length of the experiment, including setup time, to over 4 h which is not feasible from a practical stance, while also inducing trend effects from such a lengthy recording. In terms of affective responses, participants indicated low mean subjective scores for both conditions. However, individuals experienced significantly more tension in the third-person perspective compared to the first-person perspective. These results highlight the complex relationship of how specific states of emotion experienced during acute pain influence the underlying physiology of its perception. Evidence from a systematic review has shown how relaxation can benefit pain outcomes (Kwekkeboom and Gretarsdottir, 2006). Furthermore, previous meta-analytic evidence suggests that relaxation techniques are effectively able to reduce pain in cancer patients with acute pain (Luebbert et al., 2001). Therefore, while reduced tension had no effect in the healthy population we tested, the use of a first person perspective may be more advantageous to mitigate acute pain in certain clinical populations that have been found to further benefit from relaxation techniques.

In the current research we were unable to observe whether tension, i.e., mental stress, affected how the individuals visually attended to each condition. Previous research has shown that focused attention can mitigate pain (Roelofs et al., 2004). This could be further explored through the use of eye tracking during immersion, as previous research has found that eye tracking can be used to assess involuntary attentional consequences of pain (Schmidt et al., 2018). Therefore, future research with a similar design should seek to use virtuality headsets with integrated eye tracking in order to better determine the relationship between perspective, tension/relaxation, and the physiological stress response to acute pain.

Another explanation for why we did not find any significant effects of perspective for physiological stress responses could be due to our noxious stimulus selection and administration. While previous research has suggested that both heat and electrical noxious stimuli have been found to be comparable to each other in terms of their efficacy to elicit an acute pain response (Jiang et al., 2019) individual differences towards different types of painful stimuli will invariably occur. In our paradigm, four out of the seventeen participants had to max out the stimulation intensity of the device in order to achieve a self-reported moderate level of pain. It is reasonable to suggest that, due to individual differences, people naturally separate themselves into being relatively higher and lower responders to specific types of noxious stimulation. In order to better understand the potential analgesic effects of perspective, researchers should seek to administer tailored stimuli on an individual-to-individual basis. By integrating different types of noxious stimuli with different intensity levels into single research designs, researchers can begin to foster a classification system specific to different perspectives.

It should also be mentioned that while our results may be due to a small sample size, they may also be due to the subtlety of our manipulation. The only physiological indicator that was approaching significance for a main of effect of perspective was  $\Delta$ HR and we were only able to establish large effect sizes in our sensitivity analysis. In a typical sense, this is insufficient, as it is desirable to also be able to detect other effect sizes. Contrastingly, clinical utility is contingent on being able to detect large effect sizes. It is possible that the absence of a difference in perspective could be due to allowing participants to freely initiate the movements of their own body while remaining seated. Because of this, individuals tended to move less over the duration of the experiment which may have diminished the strength of the manipulation by reducing the frequency of body ownership updates on body representation. Therefore, future research should seek to examine whether a stronger physiological/affective response can be observed if participants initiate body movements more frequently, which can be tested by having the participants perform pre-specified movements at specific time intervals.

Finally, we did not explicitly evaluate body ownership *via* subjective reporting (i.e., do you believe that this body is your own?). While our main intention was to assess the effect of perspective, which by definition implies modifying body representation, we are unable to conclusively determine whether or not our observations were due to perspective alone or if they were also influenced by the possibility that certain individuals felt that they did

# REFERENCES

- Akselrod, S., Gordon, D., Ubel, F., Shannon, D., Berger, A., and Cohen, R. (1981). Power Spectrum Analysis of Heart Rate Fluctuation: a Quantitative Probe of Beat-To-Beat Cardiovascular Control. *Science* 213 (4504), 220–222. doi:10.1126/science.6166045
- Alford, D. P., Compton, P., and Samet, J. H. (2006). Acute Pain Management for Patients Receiving Maintenance Methadone or Buprenorphine Therapy. Ann. Intern. Med. 144 (2), 127–134. doi:10.7326/0003-4819-144-2-200601170-00010
- Berntson, G. G., Lozano, D. L., Chen, Y.-J., and Cacioppo, J. T. (2004). Where to Q in PEP. *Psychophysiology* 41 (2), 333–337. doi:10.1111/j.1469-8986.2004.00156.x

not own the body they were perceiving. As such, future research that seeks to further disentangle the effects of perspective on acute pain should include measures that directly assess body ownership.

# CONCLUSION

There are no significant differences between perspectives or anatomical regions for physiological stress responses to noxious electrical stimulation that could be observed in the current study. Despite this, participants were significantly more tense during the third person perspective. Our findings reveal that there are no clinical benefits for modifying a healthy individual's perspective during the experience of acute pain. However, there may still be clinical benefits for modifying an individuals perspective for specific patient populations that have been found to benefit from relaxation techniques. Our findings outline specific considerations that future research should consider in order to more fully understand the extent to which perspective may influence affective and physiological responses to acute pain in virtual reality pain reduction paradigms.

# DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors upon reasonable request.

# ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by METC Amsterdam UMC. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

# AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

CT: Conception and design, data acquisition, data analysis, interpretation of the data, drafting the original article, editing, revision. PK: Revising original article for important intellectual content. DS: Data analysis, interpretation of the data. DD: Final approval of the version published, accountable for the article to ensure that all questions regarding the accuracy and/or integrity of the study are investigated and resolved.

- Blom, K. J., Arroyo-Palacios, J., and Slater, M. (2014). The Effects of Rotating the Self Out of the Body in the Full Virtual Body Ownership Illusion. *Perception* 43 (4), 275–294. doi:10.1068/p7618
- Ehrsson, H. H. (2007). The Experimental Induction of Out-Of-Body Experiences. *Science* 317 (5841), 1048. doi:10.1126/science.1142175
- Gershon, J., Zimand, E., Pickering, M., Rothbaum, B. O., and Hodges, L. (2004). A Pilot and Feasibility Study of Virtual Reality as a Distraction for Children with Cancer. J. Am. Acad. Child Adolesc. Psychiatry 43 (10), 1243–1249. doi:10.1097/ 01.chi.0000135621.23145.05
- Hänsell, A., Lenggenhagerl, B., Känell, R., Curatolol, M., and Blankel, O. (2011). Seeing and Identifying with a Virtual Body Decreases Pain Perception. *Eur. J. pain* 15 (8), 874–879. doi:10.1016/j.ejpain.2011.03.013

- Hoffman, H. G., Chambers, G. T., Meyer, W. J., III, Arceneaux, L. L., Russell, W. J., Seibel, E. J., et al. (2011). Virtual Reality as an Adjunctive Non-pharmacologic Analgesic for Acute Burn Pain during Medical Procedures. *Ann. Behav. Med.* 41 (2), 183–191. doi:10.1007/s12160-010-9248-7
- Hoffman, H. G., Doctor, J. N., Patterson, D. R., Carrougher, G. J., and Furness, T. A., III (2000). Virtual Reality as an Adjunctive Pain Control during Burn Wound Care in Adolescent Patients. *Pain* 85 (1–2), 305–309. doi:10.1016/ s0304-3959(99)00275-4
- Hoffman, H. G., Garcia-Palacios, A., Patterson, D. R., Jensen, M., Furness, T., III, and Ammons, W. F., Jr. (2001). The Effectiveness of Virtual Reality for Dental Pain Control: A Case Study. *CyberPsychology Behav.* 4 (4), 527–535. doi:10.1089/109493101750527088
- Hoffman, H. G., Meyer, W. J., III, Drever, S. A., Soltani, M., Atzori, B., Herrero, R., et al. (2019). "Virtual Reality Distraction to Help Control Acute Pain during Medical Procedures," in Virtual Reality for Psychological and Neurocognitive Interventions. Virtual Reality Technologies for Health and Clinical Applications. Editors A. Rizzo and S. Bouchard (New York, NY: Springer), 195–208. doi:10.1007/978-1-4939-9482-3\_8
- IASP (2017). IASP Terminology. Available at: https://www.iasp-pain.org/Education/ Content.aspx?ItemNumber=1698#Pain (Accessed January 28, 2021).
- Jiang, M., Mieronkoski, R., Syrjälä, E., Anzanpour, A., Terävä, V., Rahmani, A. M., et al. (2019). Acute Pain Intensity Monitoring with the Classification of Multiple Physiological Parameters. J. Clin. Monit. Comput. 33 (3), 493–507. doi:10.1007/s10877-018-0174-8
- Katona, P. G., and Jih, F. (1975). Respiratory Sinus Arrhythmia: Noninvasive Measure of Parasympathetic Cardiac Control. J. Appl. Physiol. 39 (5), 801–805. doi:10.1152/jappl.1975.39.5.801
- Kwekkeboom, K. L., and Gretarsdottir, E. (2006). Systematic Review of Relaxation Interventions for Pain. J. Nurs. Scholarship 38 (3), 269–277. doi:10.1111/j.1547-5069.2006.00113.x
- Kyle, B. N., and McNeil, D. W. (2014). Autonomic Arousal and Experimentally Induced Pain: a Critical Review of the Literature. *Pain Res. Manage.* 19 (3), 159–167. doi:10.1155/2014/536859
- Lang, P. J., Bradley, M. M., and Cuthbert, B. N. (2008). International Affective Picture System (IAPS): Affective Ratings of Pictures and Instruction Manual. Gainesville, FL: University of Florida.
- Lenggenhager, B., Tadi, T., Metzinger, T., and Blanke, O. (2007). Video Ergo Sum: Manipulating Bodily Self-Consciousness. *Science* 317 (5841), 1096–1099. doi:10.1126/science.1143439
- Liang, K. Y., and Zeger, S. L. (1993). Regression Analysis for Correlated Data. Annu. Rev. Public Health 14, 43–68. doi:10.1146/annurev. pu.14.050193.000355
- Lier, E. J., Oosterman, J. M., Assmann, R., de Vries, M., and van Goor, H. (2020). The Effect of Virtual Reality on Evoked Potentials Following Painful Electrical Stimuli and Subjective Pain. *Sci. Rep.* 10. doi:10.1038/ s41598-020-66035-4
- Longo, M. R., Betti, V., Aglioti, S. M., and Haggard, P. (2009). Visually Induced Analgesia: Seeing the Body Reduces Pain. J. Neurosci. 29 (39), 12125–12130. doi:10.1523/jneurosci.3072-09.2009
- Luebbert, K., Dahme, B., and Hasenbring, M. (2001). The Effectiveness of Relaxation Training in Reducing Treatment-Related Symptoms and Improving Emotional Adjustment in Acute Non-surgical Cancer Treatment: a Meta-Analytical Review. *Psycho-oncology* 10 (6), 490–502. doi:10.1002/ pon.537

- Mancini, F., Longo, M. R., Kammers, M. P. M., and Haggard, P. (2011). Visual Distortion of Body Size Modulates Pain Perception. *Psychol. Sci.* 22 (3), 325–330. doi:10.1177/0956797611398496
- Martini, M., Kilteni, K., Maselli, A., and Sanchez-Vives, M. V. (2015). The Body Fades Away: Investigating the Effects of Transparency of an Embodied Virtual Body on Pain Threshold and Body Ownership. *Scientific Rep.* 5, 13948. doi:10.1038/srep13948
- Martini, M., Pérez Marcos, D., and Sanchez-Vives, M. V. (2013). What Color Is My Arm? Changes in Skin Color of an Embodied Virtual Arm Modulates Pain Threshold. Front. Hum. Neurosci. 7, 438. doi:10.3389/fnhum.2013.00438
- Matamala-Gomez, M., Nierula, B., Donegan, T., Slater, M., and Sanchez-Vives, M. V. (2020). Manipulating the Perceived Shape and Color of a Virtual Limb Can Modulate Pain Responses. J. Clin. Med. 9 (2), 291. doi:10.3390/jcm9020291
- Newlin, D. B., and Levenson, R. W. (1979). Pre-ejection Period: Measuring Beta-Adrenergic Influences upon the Heart. *Psychophysiology* 16 (6), 546–552. doi:10.1111/j.1469-8986.1979.tb01519.x
- Pfeiffer, C., Schmutz, V., and Blanke, O. (2014). Visuospatial Viewpoint Manipulation during Full-Body Illusion Modulates Subjective First-Person Perspective. *Exp. Brain Res.* 232 (12), 4021–4033. doi:10.1007/s00221-014-4080-0
- Roelofs, J., Peters, M. L., van der Zijden, M., and Vlaeyen, J. W. S. (2004). Does Fear of Pain Moderate the Effects of Sensory Focusing and Distraction on Cold Pressor Pain in Pain-free Individuals? *The J. Pain* 5 (5), 250–256. doi:10.1016/ j.jpain.2004.04.001
- Romano, D., and Maravita, A. (2014). The Visual Size of One's Own Hand Modulates Pain Anticipation and Perception. *Neuropsychologia* 57, 93–100. doi:10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2014.03.002
- Schmidt, K., Gamer, M., Forkmann, K., and Bingel, U. (2018). Pain Affects Visual Orientation: an Eye-Tracking Study. *The J. pain* 19 (2), 135–145. doi:10.1016/ j.jpain.2017.09.005
- Schneider, S. M., Prince-Paul, M., Allen, M. J., Silverman, P., and Talaba, D. (2004). January). Virtual Reality as a Distraction Intervention for Women Receiving Chemotherapy. Oncol. Nurs. Forum 31 (No. 1). 81. doi:10.1188/04.onf.81-88
- Turbyne, C., Koning, P. d., Zantvoord, J., and Denys, D. (2021). Body Integrity Identity Disorder Using Augmented Reality: a Symptom Reduction Study. BMJ Case Rep. 14 (1), e238554, doi:10.1136/bcr-2020-238554
- Vrije Universiteit (2019). Data Analysis and Management Software (DAMS) for the Vrije Universiteit Ambulatory Monitoring System (VU-AMS). Available at: http://www.vu-ams.nl/fileadmin/user\_upload/manuals/VU-DAMS\_manual\_ v1.5.pdf (Accessed June 24, 2019).
- Zeger, S. L., Liang, K.-Y., and Albert, P. S. (1988). Models for Longitudinal Data: A Generalized Estimating Equation Approach. *Biometrics*, 44, 1049–1060. doi:10.2307/2531734

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Turbyne, de Koning, Smit and Denys. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# Authentic Fear Responses in Virtual Reality: A Mobile EEG Study on Affective, Behavioral and Electrophysiological Correlates of Fear

Joanna Kisker<sup>1\*†</sup>, Leon Lange<sup>2†</sup>, Kira Flinkenflügel<sup>3</sup>, Michael Kaup<sup>3</sup>, Nils Labersweiler<sup>3</sup>, Falk Tetenborg<sup>3</sup>, Paula Ott<sup>3</sup>, Christopher Gundler<sup>4</sup>, Thomas Gruber<sup>1</sup>, Roman Osinsky<sup>2</sup> and Benjamin Schöne<sup>1</sup>

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

### Edited by:

Florian Pecune, University of Glasgow, United Kingdom

#### Reviewed by:

Sylvia Terbeck, University of Plymouth, United Kingdom Mary C. Whitton, University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, United States

\*Correspondence:

Joanna Kisker joanna.kisker@uni-osnabrueck.de <sup>†</sup>These authors share first authorship

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Virtual Reality and Human Behaviour, a section of the journal Frontiers in Virtual Reality

> Received: 28 May 2021 Accepted: 27 July 2021 Published: 16 August 2021

#### Citation:

Kisker J, Lange L, Flinkenflügel K, Kaup M, Labersweiler N, Tetenborg F, Ott P, Gundler C, Gruber T, Osinsky R and Schöne B (2021) Authentic Fear Responses in Virtual Reality: A Mobile EEG Study on Affective, Behavioral and Electrophysiological Correlates of Fear. Front. Virtual Real. 2:716318. doi: 10.3389/frvir.2021.716318 <sup>1</sup>Experimental Psychology I, Institute of Psychology, Osnabrück University, Osnabrück, Germany, <sup>2</sup>Differential Psychology & Personality Research, Institute of Psychology, Osnabrück University, Osnabrück, Germany, <sup>3</sup>Institute of Psychology, Osnabrück University, Osnabrück, Germany, <sup>4</sup>Institute of Cognitive Science, Osnabrück University, Osnabrück, Germany

Fear is an evolutionary adaption to a hazardous environment, linked to numerous complex behavioral responses, e.g., the fight-or-flight response, suiting their respective environment. However, for the sake of experimental control, fear is mainly investigated under rather artificial laboratory conditions. The latter transform these evolutionary adaptions into artificial responses, like keystrokes. The immersive, multidimensional character of virtual reality (VR) enables realistic behavioral responses, overcoming aforementioned limitations. To investigate authentic fear responses from a holistic perspective, participants explored either a negative or a neutral VR cave. To promote real-life behavior, we built a physical replica of the cave, providing haptic sensations. Electrophysiological correlates of fear-related approach and avoidance tendencies, i.e., frontal alpha asymmetries (FAA) were evaluated. To our knowledge, this is the first study to simultaneously capture complex behavior and associated electrophysiological correlates under highly immersive conditions. Participants in the negative condition exhibited a broad spectrum of realistic fear behavior and reported intense negative affect as opposed to participants in the neutral condition. Despite these affective and behavioral differences, the groups could not be distinguished based on the FAAs for the greater part of the cave exploration. Taking the specific behavioral responses into account, the obtained FAAs could not be reconciled with well-known FAA models. Consequently, putting laboratory-based models to the test under realistic conditions shows that they may not unrestrictedly predict realistic behavior. As the VR environment facilitated nonmediated and realistic emotional and behavioral responses, our results demonstrate VR's high potential to increase the ecological validity of scientific findings (video abstract: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=gROsPOp87l4&feature=youtu.be).

Keywords: authentic fear, virtual reality, mixed reality, mobile EEG, frontal alpha asymmetry, fear behavior

# INTRODUCTION

The most salient stimuli that instantly draw attention are biologically relevant stimuli ensuring survival: nutrition, reproduction, and physical dangers (Carretié et al., 2012; Carboni et al., 2017). Among these, threats to physical integrity most inevitably jeopardize survival and immediately trigger complex responses, like the fight-or-flight response (Cannon, 1929). Hence, fear has been extensively investigated ever since (e.g., Fanselow, 1994; LeDoux 1998, 2014; Debiec and LeDoux, 2004; Blanchard and Blanchard, 1969). Several laboratory setups have been used over time to induce fearrelated responses under laboratory conditions. One of the most prominent and efficient procedures for fear induction is classical conditioning (e.g., LeDoux, 1998; Jarius and Wildemann, 2015). This method has proven to be successful innumerable times in generating fear of a stimulus that was previously not frightful, assessed by typical fear responses to the conditioned stimulus, such as the startle reflex (e.g., Brown et al., 1951; Grillon and Ameli, 2001). However, conditioning paradigms require laboratory fear acquisition in order to examine fear responses (e.g., LeDoux, 1998), and mostly take only single components of the reaction detached from the overall reaction into account, e.g., the startle reflex, to guarantee high internal validity. More naturalistic assessments are based upon pre-existing fear, for example in behavioral avoidance tasks (BAT). BATs are conventionally used in exposure therapies to estimate the severity of phobias and the treatment's efficacy (see e.g., Bernstein and Nietzel, 1973; Rinck and Becker, 2007). In clinical assessments, BATs are regularly carried out in vivo, and therefore allow for holistic responses to the frightful stimulus (e.g., Bernstein and Nietzel, 1973; Koch et al., 2002; Deacon and Olatunji, 2007). However, clinical assessments are indicative of deficient or altered emotional regulation, rather than natural fear reactions (e.g., Hermann et al., 2009; Cisler et al., 2010; Lanius et al., 2010). In contrast, non-clinical applications of BATs broadly rely on finite response options and stimuli, such as pressing a key or pulling a joystick to indicate the urge to avoid or approach an aversive stimulus (e.g., Heuer et al., 2007; Hofmann et al., 2009; Krieglmeyer and Deutsch, 2010). These rather artificial setups neglect that fear is a multidimensional response to a holistic environment and associated with complex behavioral programs, such as the fight-or-flight response to immediate threat (e.g., Cannon, 1929; Lynch and Martins, 2015; Teatero and Penney, 2015).

The complexity and multidimensionality characteristic of realworld experiences can be simulated by sophisticated virtual reality (VR) setups (Slater and Sanchez-Vives, 2016; Parsons, 2019; Pan and Hamilton, 2018; Schöne et al., 2020). In particular, VR offers high levels of sensory cues and fidelity of the virtual environment (VE); (Dan and Reiner, 2017; Riva et al., 2019), resembling a multisensory 3D-environment (Cabeza and Jacques, 2007; Pan and Hamilton, 2018; Parsons, 2019; Schöne et al., 2020). Consequently, users feel actually present and involved into the VE: Being able to manipulate their surroundings, but also to be the subject to the virtual events and actions significantly increases the VE's personal and emotional relevance (Slater and Wilbur, 1997; Kisker et al., 2020; Schöne et al., 2019; Schöne et al., 2020). Over the last couple of years, it has repeatedly been demonstrated that well-designed VEs are capable of eliciting strong emotional responses (e.g., Diemer et al., 2015; Felnhofer et al., 2015; for review see; Bernardo et al., 2020), that even keep up with their real-life counterparts (Higuera-Trujillo et al., 2017; Chirico and Gaggioli, 2019). For example, the exposure to great virtual heights evokes fear responses consistently across various setups as assessed by self-reports, psychophysiological and behavioral responses (Kisker et al., 2019a; Biedermann et al., 2017; Gromer et al., 2018, 2019; Wolf et al., 2020; Asjat et al., 2018). Accordingly, VR has gained great interest as an instrument for fear paradigms. For instance, being submersed into a virtual park at night and seeing distant shadowy silhouettes effectively elicited unease and anxiety in participants (Felnhofer et al., 2015). Thus, VR setups are markedly superior to the use of conventional stimuli, e.g., static pictures, regarding emotion induction and emotional involvement (Gorini et al., 2010).

But even more, a strong sensation of presence and a high degree of immersion increase the chances that participants behave as they would in real-life situations (Blascovich et al., 2002; Slater, 2009; Kisker et al., 2019a). For example, participants effectively adapt their behavior to the environmental conditions by making smaller, slower steps when crossing a beam at a considerable height (e.g., Biedermann et al., 2017; Kisker et al., 2019a). In a similar vein, VR exposure therapies effectively trigger fear responses and modify phobia-related reactions permanently, e.g., concerning acrophobia (e.g., Coelho et al., 2009), arachnophobia (e.g., Bouchard et al., 2006), agoraphobia, and social phobia (e.g., Wechsler et al., 2019). Hence, VR bears the potential not only to elicit real-life processes within a simulation but beyond that, to transfer virtual experiences to everyday life.

Consequently, when exposed to highly emotional and interactive VR scenarios, participants' responses go far beyond self-reports or pressing keys. The use of VR setups enables participants to respond within a much wider behavioral spectrum and most importantly, to react naturally and instantly to stimuli within a fully controllable setup (e.g., Slater, 2009; Bohil et al., 2011; Kisker et al., 2019a). Initial studies elicited fear using highly interactive setups and distinct fear cues. For example, VR horror games such as "The Brookhaven Experiment" Phosphor Games (2016) trigger anxiety by contextual features, such as darkness (e.g., Felnhofer et al., 2015), but beyond that, elicit fear responses to specific stimuli, e.g., zombies approaching the protagonist (e.g., Lin, 2017). Being virtually present and involved in dangerous situations positively correlates with increases in psychophysiological measures of stress, like heart rate (e.g., Higuera-Trujillo et al., 2017; Parsons et al., 2013; Gorini et al., 2010; Kisker et al., 2019a), verbal expressions of fear like screaming, and behavioral coping reactions like dodging or closing the eyes (Lin, 2017). A correspondingly high degree of interactivity allows for the impression of actively manipulating the events, as well as being directly affected by them, and thus facilitates authentic, multidimensional fear responses (Slater, 2009; Lynch and Martins, 2015; Lin, 2017). Whereas conventional laboratory setups have to rely on rather limited or substitutional response options, highly interactive VEs allow for physical movements and

full-body responses. Consequently, participants might even fight or flee from fear cues, thus physically approaching or avoiding dangers in order to cope with them.

Markers of those behaviors are electrophysiological correlates of approach and avoidance. While event-related potentials associated with approach and avoidance, like modulations of the late positive potential (e.g., Bamford et al., 2015), reflect finegrained but only specific parts of the electrophysiological response, oscillatory neuronal dynamics allow for an ongoing assessment of cognitive processes (Bastiaansen et al., 2011). In particular, frontal alpha asymmetries (FAA) have been regarded as a canonical oscillatory correlate of emotional and motivational directions (e.g., Davidson et al., 1990; Coan et al., 2006; Rodrigues et al., 2018; Lacey et al., 2020). According to the valence model of FAA, relatively greater left frontal cortical activity relates to positive emotions and approach, whereas relatively greater right frontal cortical activity relates to negative emotion and withdrawal (Davidson et al., 1990; Davidson, 1998). Later models suggest the corresponding FAAs be indicative rather of the motivational direction, i.e., approach motivation and withdrawal motivation, independent of emotional valence (e.g., Gable and Harmon-Jones, 2008; Harmon-Jones et al., 2010; Harmon-Jones and Gable, 2018). For example, anger, obviously of negative valence, is related to relatively greater left frontal activity (e.g., Gable and Harmon-Jones, 2008). Notably, so far none of these models has emerged as being universally valid. An increasing number of studies offer divergent results and interpretations, adding to the debate about FAAs as indicators of either emotional or motivational directions (for review see e.g., Harmon-Jones and Gable, 2018). Recent models even suggest that FAAs indicate effortful control of emotions rather than emotional directions (Lacey et al., 2020; see also Schöne et al., 2015).

However, the vast majority of studies relating approach and avoidance to FAAs are based upon highly controlled laboratory setups, resembling real-life situations only to a very limited degree. Initial approaches to enhance FAA's generalizability to realistic conditions employed somewhat more immersive, so-called desktop-VR setups (Brouwer et al., 2011; Rodrigues et al., 2018). In particular, Rodrigues et al. (2018) associated active behavior with FAAs as indicated by the motivational direction model: Participants moved via joystick through a virtual maze depicted on a conventional desktop, encountering either a sheep, a monster, or a neutral person. Greater left frontal activation was associated with approach behavior and greater right frontal activation with withdrawal behavior respectively (Rodrigues et al., 2018). However, desktop-VR cannot offer as many degrees of freedom as highly immersive VR systems (e.g., HMDs, CAVE), inter alia, stereoscopic 360° view, and physical movements within a VE (e.g., Smith, 2019). This further enables mobile and multi-modal brain/ body imaging utilizing head-tracking, motion capture or analysis via video, opening up possibilities for less restricted behavioral reactions to be explicitly recorded, analyzed, and integrated into the research design (Makeig et al., 2009).

Our previous study on FAA in virtual environments has demonstrated the general technical feasibility of combined VR EEG-FAA measurements (Schöne et al., 2021; see also Lange and

Osinsky, 2020 for mobile EEG). Most importantly, the study provided the first evidence that the same stimulus material presented in VR compared to a 2D condition yields different motivational patterns reflected in the FAA data. Although the immersive nature of VR provides a more realistic environment compared to a conventional laboratory setting, a key element of the everyday experience is not yet part of the equation: Motivational tendencies, as reflected by FAA, are accompanied by a corresponding behavior adapted to the situation in which it occurs. Whereas in laboratory settings, approach or withdrawal motivation is indicated by keystroke (e.g., Gable and Harmon-Jones, 2008), the advantage of VR as a tool is the creation of controlled environments in which the participant can roam and respond freely. Consequently, the question remains whether FAAs would follow the same trend as proposed by Rodrigues et al. (2018) under highly immersive conditions that allow for physical, realistic approach and avoidance behavior.

Going beyond previous VR studies on fear, the aim is not only to capture affective fear responses by means of subjective reports elicited by the VR environment, but to examine holistic fear responses, comprising full-body behavioral expressions of fear, and to put to the test whether corresponding electrophysiological correlates of approach and avoidance behavior obtained under conventional laboratory conditions apply to highly immersive VR setups. To this end, we set up an EEG-VR study in which participants explored either a neutral or a negative, i.e., frightful cave. We aimed to situate participants in an immersive environment triggering a strong, authentic fear response. As a neutral control, a second group of participants explored a non-emotional cave. To enhance the feeling of being present in the VE, and thereby impression of being personally and physically affected by the environment and events, we build an exact, spatially aligned, physical replica of the cave - touching the cave's stone wall in the virtual world thus led to a corresponding physical sensation (see Kisker et al., 2019a; Biedermann et al., 2017). As interactivity is a major factor enhancing fear in VR setups (Lynch and Martins, 2015; Madsen, 2016; Lin et al., 2018), participants physically walked through the cave holding a controller appearing as a flashlight in VR. Thus, their virtual movements corresponded to their physical movements. Above all, they gained the impression of being able to touch their surroundings and, more importantly, of being touched by them in return.

### **Affective Response**

Due to VR's immersive character and based on previous findings (e.g., Lin, 2017; Felnhofer et al., 2015), we expected participants of the *negative* condition to report greater negative affect, acute fear, and presence compared to the *neutral* group (e.g., Felnhofer et al., 2015; Kisker et al., 2019a; Diemer et al., 2015).

# **Behavioral Response**

Going beyond the frequently investigated affective response, we hypothesized that participants would adapt their behavior to their environmental conditions. Specifically, the *negative* condition is supposed to elicit complex fear behavior, i.e., in terms of the fight-or-flight response. The cave was designed in such a way that

when participants encountered the werewolf, we expected them to exhibit either one of two behaviors: Firstly, advance toward the werewolf risking physical encounter to get past it. Secondly, to retreat to safe distance and wait to see how the situation develops to plot a safe escape route. As fearful, cautious behavior is associated with slower walking compared to harmless situations (Biedermann et al., 2017; Kisker et al., 2019a), the *negative* condition might exhibit longer exploration times compared to the *neutral* condition.

### **Psychophysiological Response**

In line with the expected affective and behavioral responses, we assumed corresponding psychophysiological responses, i.e., decreases in heart rate variability (HRV; see e.g., Castaldo et al., 2015) to indicate increased stress levels in the *negative* condition. In contrast, we assumed that the *neutral* group would not exhibit any fear-related behavioral responses and stay unaffected in respective psychophysiological responses.

### **Electrophysiological Response**

Derived from the aforementioned theoretical models on frontal alpha asymmetry, we hypothesized that the FAAs would significantly differ between conditions as a function of the exhibited behavioral responses. In particular, we expected avoidance behavior to be linked to relatively greater right cortical activity, and approach behavior to relatively greater left cortical activity.

# METHODS

### **Participants**

The study was approved by the local ethics committee of Osnabrück University. Ninety-six participants were recruited from the local student population, gave their informed written consent, but were blind to the research question and experimental conditions. They were screened for psychological and neurological disorders using a standard screening for mental disorders and distress (anamnesis). All had a normal or corrected-to-normal vision. When vision correction was necessary, only participants wearing contact lenses could participate, not those wearing glasses. The participants were randomly assigned to one of two conditions (negative vs. neutral; see below) and blind to which condition they would participate in. As stated in the hypothesis, the cave was designed in such a way that we expected two behavioral patterns to emerge within the negative condition. Based on this assumption, twice as many participants were assigned to the negative condition as to the neutral condition.

The sample size was determined based on previous studies that conducted EEG measurements in a VR condition (Kisker et al., 2020; Lange and Osinsky, 2020; Schöne et al., 2021). Based on these studies, we aimed for a sample of about 25 participants per subgroup (see *Exploration time and behavior*). Although data acquisition was stopped due to the COVID-19 pandemic, we are optimistic that we obtained an adequate number of data sets corresponding to groups sizes implemented in previous VR studies (see Schöne et al., 2019; Kisker et al., 2020; Lange and Osinsky, 2020; Schöne et al., 2021). The participants received either partial course credits or 15€ for participation.

One participant was excluded during anamnesis and five participants of the negative condition terminated the experiment during the virtual simulation. Nine participants were excluded from analysis due to insufficient EEG data quality (n = 1) or technical problems during the virtual experience (n = 8). Hence, a final sample size of N = 81 participants was obtained for analysis (negative: n = 54,  $M_{age} = 21.67$ ,  $SD_{age} = 3.57$ ; 81.5% female, none diverse, 13% left-handed; neutral: n = 27,  $M_{age} = 23.15$ ,  $SD_{age} =$ 2.98; 59.3% female, none diverse, none left-handed). The high proportion of female participants results from a random sample with the majority of local psychology students being female. Although women are more likely to suffer from anxiety disorders and experience fear more frequently in their lives than men (e.g., McLean and Anderson, 2009), we found no significant differences between groups concerning general anxiety and current state of mind before the cave exploration. Hence, we assume that the gender imbalance did not affect the results obtained from group comparisons (see results).

# **Experimental Conditions and Setup**

The experiment was comprised of two experimental conditions (negative vs. neutral). For both conditions, a mixed-reality design was implemented. A VR cave was designed in Unity 5 (version 2018.3.0f2, Unity Technologies, San Francisco, United States) and a physical replica of the cave was set up in the laboratory. The physical setup resembled the virtual layout and walls, allowing for haptic sensations when touching the virtual surroundings. Relevant objects within the cave were physically represented: Ivy vines at the cave's exit were mimicked by jute ropes, a corpse was mimicked by a life-size puppet, tree trunks and rocks by paper-mâché replicas (Figure 1). The cave's layout and the path running through it were identical for both conditions. There was only one possible path through the cave. The virtual environment was presented with a wireless version of the HTC Vive Pro (HTC, Taoyuan, Taiwan) head-mounted display (HMD). Movement within the cave was implemented through active, physical walking. All participants held a Vive controller in their dominant hand, serving as a flashlight.

The difference between the caves was achieved by atmospheric elements alone as outlined in detail below. Events related to the atmospheric elements, e.g., the onset of wind howling, were automatically triggered depending on the position of the participant within virtual the cave. Each event was triggered only once per participant. Exemplary videos of the scenery and a video abstract are provided (see availability of data, material, and code).

#### Exploration of the Negative Cave

The *negative* condition was designed as a gloomy environment. The cave was only dimly illuminated. A mutilated corpse, the sound of crying, and a werewolf were used as fear-triggering stimuli (**Figure 1B1,D1**). In the cave's entrance area, it was obvious that a frightening environment was to be expected, with weapons and corpses laying on the floor at distance (**Figure 1C1**). The area



aimed to allow the participants to immediately terminate the experiment if they did not dare to explore the negative, i.e., frightful cave. To navigate through the cave, participants had to turn around 180°. At a distance of about 2 m lay a mutilated corpse at the first turn-off of the path (Figure 1B1). Shortly before reaching the corpse, crying could be heard. The participants had to step around the corpse to follow the path any further. Shortly before they reached the next turn-off, a monstrous roar and footsteps could be heard. Once they had passed this turnoff, a 2 m high werewolf was visible, walking towards the participants from the other end of the cave up to a fixed point at the third turn-off of the cave (Figure 1D1). Participants did not know that the werewolf would not approach them any further than to this fixed point. The werewolf stopped at the junction, leaving room to pass it, still roaring and striking towards the participants. Participants had to walk towards the werewolf and turn off directly in front of it to reach the cave's exit (Figure 2).

#### Exploration of the Neutral Cave

The *neutral* condition was designed as a non-emotional environment. The cave was also only dimly illuminated, but brighter than the negative cave. All stimuli of the *negative* condition were replaced by neutral stimuli. In detail, the corpse was replaced by a tree trunk, the werewolf by a sheep (**Figure 1B2,D2**), and wind howling replaced the sound of crying (**Figure 2**). The entrance area of the cave was designed plainly. Wooden barrels and buckets lay in the places where the *negative* condition contained weapons and corpses (**Figure 1**, C2). To navigate through the cave, participants had to turn around 180°. At the first turn-off of the path lay a tree trunk (**Figure 1B2**). Shortly before reaching the tree trunk, wind howling could be heard. Shortly before the second turn-off, a bleating sheep and its footsteps could be heard. Stepping around this turn-off, a sheep became visible, walking towards the participant from the other end of the cave up to a fixed point at the third turn-off of the cave (**Figure 1D2**). Participants did not know that the sheep would not approach them any further than to this fixed point. The sheep stopped at the junction, leaving room to pass it, still bleating and eating grass. Participants had to walk towards the sheep and turn off directly in front of it to reach the cave's exit (**Figure 2**).

### Procedure

Participants were blind to the experimental conditions and design but were informed that the cave might be perceived as unpleasant. During experiment preliminaries, it was checked whether participants had gained any previous information about the experiment's research objective, content, or design. If any of this was true, they were excluded from the experiment. Participants were screened for psychological and neurological disorders using a standard screening for mental disorders. Special attention was paid to anxiety disorders, subclinical fears, and current emotional strain. If participants were currently experiencing neurological or psychological disorders or were psychological, currently undergoing psychiatric, or neurological treatment, they were excluded from participation in the study.

Participants were asked to fill out a set of questionnaires, including the German versions of the *State-Trait-Anxiety-Inventory, trait scale* (*STAI-T*; Laux et al., 1981), the *Sensation Seeking Scale Form-V* (SSS-V; Zuckerman, 1996), the *E-Scale* (Leibetseder et al., 2007), the BIS/BAS scale (Carver and White, 1994; Strobel et al., 2001), the reinforcement sensitivity theory personality questionnaire (RST-PQ; Corr and Cooper,



2016) and revised paranormal belief scale (RPBS; Tobacyk, 2004). Afterward they were equipped with a wireless mobile EEG system and ECG electrodes (see electrophysiological recordings). For the assessment of their current mood, participants filled out the German version of the *Positive and Negative Affect Schedule (PANAS*; Krohne et al., 1996) immediately before instructions.

Participants were instructed that their task would be to explore a cave and find its exit, leading into a village. They got no information concerning the cave's layout or size in advance. They received no prior information about the cave's affective design and stimuli, like sheep, werewolf, or corpse. If they were unable to find the exit or did not want to proceed with exploring the cave, they were free to return to their starting position or terminate the experiment. They were instructed how to use the controller as a flashlight and to move physically through the cave. All participants were instructed to immediately terminate the experiment if they felt too uncomfortable (both physically or mentally).

Participants were equipped with a wireless version of the *Vive Pro* HMD before entering the VR laboratory and did not see the physical setup of the cave at any time before the virtual experience started. To increase the participants' immersion and maintain it during the experiment, any communication with the investigators was stopped completely from the moment they entered the experimental room. Participants were informed that the investigators would not communicate with them or respond to any speech as long as they were in the cave unless they gave a predetermined command to terminate the experiment.

An ECG baseline measurement was recorded in a plain default VR room with the HMD turned on. Afterward the cave simulation was launched. Participants were free to start exploring the cave as soon as they felt comfortable doing so. When they left the cave through the exit, they entered a safe, pleasant-looking fishing village. Once participants reached the village, they stood still for 30 s, allowing for another baseline measurement. Afterward they were distinctly addressed by the investigator and informed that the equipment would be removed from them. They immediately left the VR laboratory. If participants terminated the experiment at an early stage, the environment was immediately switched to the safe fishing village to release the participants from the unpleasant environment as quickly as possible.

To assess mood and the sense of presence, participants were asked to filled out the *PANAS*, the *Igroup Presence Questionnaire (IPQ; Schubert et al., 2001), and an in-house post-questionnaire asking about the emotional and motivational experiences in the cave. The latter included a visual analog scale (VAS) to determine the physical distance to either the werewolf or the sheep which participants preferred (zero up to 10 m). Before participants left the laboratory, they were rewarded with either partial course credits or 15 \in. The principal psychological investigators ensured that the participants felt safe and sound after the experiment.* 

#### Electrophysiological Recording and Pre-processing

For EEG-data acquisition, the mobile EEG-system LiveAmp32 by Brain Products (Gilching, Germany) was used. The electrodes were applied in accordance with the international 10-20 system. An online reference (FCz) and ground electrode (AFz) were included. The impedance of all electrodes was kept below 15 k $\Omega$ . The data was recorded with a sampling rate of 500 Hz and online band-pass filtered at 0.016-250 Hz. Triggers marking the position of the participant within the cave and the onset of virtual events (e.g., wind howling, monstrous roar, etc.; see Figure 2) were transmitted from Unity to Lab Streaming Laver (LSL by SCCN, https://github.com/sccn/ labstreaminglayer), which was used to synchronize the EEG data stream and Unity triggers.

All pre-processing steps serve the function of ensuring robust data quality and comparability. In particular, the aim is to reduce the amount of variance caused by common EEG artifacts (e.g., due to eye blinks). The EEG data was analyzed using MATLAB (version R2020b, MathWorks Inc) and EEGLAB (Delorme and Makeig, 2004). The continuous EEG data was bandpass-filtered between 1Hz, reducing slow drifts, and 30 Hz to remove highfrequency artifacts like electrical line noise (see Cohen, 2014). The average reference was used for further offline analysis as recommended for large sets of electrodes (see Cohen, 2014). Artifact correction was performed using "Fully Automated Statistical Thresholding for EEG artifact Reduction" (FASTER; Nolan, Whelan and Reilly, 2010). In brief, this procedure automatically detects and removes artifacts, like blinks and white noise, based upon statistical estimates for various aspects of the data, e.g., channel variance. FASTER has high sensitivity and specificity for the detection of various artifacts and is described in more detail elsewhere (e.g., Nolan et al., 2010). Due to recommendations for the use of FASTER with 32 channel setups, independent component analysis (ICA) and channel interpolation were applied, whereas channel rejection and epoch interpolation were not applied. Each electrode was detrended separately to ensure the same statistical properties for the time series (Cohen, 2014) before segmenting the data into epochs based upon the position triggers. The segmentation of the continuous EEG data into epochs matching the cave sections enabled a more differentiated analysis of the cave exploration. Per epoch, a windowed fast Fourier transform (FFT) was calculated to isolate alpha-band-specific activity (8-13Hz; Berger, 1929). To this end, a hamming window with a length of one second and 50% overlap was applied. The mean FFT score was logarithmized to calculate alpha-band power. For the calculation of the FAA score, the electrode F4 was subtracted from the electrode F3 [logarithmized left alpha power minus logarithmized right alpha power;  $\ln(\mu V^2)$ ]. The former steps to calculate FAAs follow the standard procedure recommended by (Smith et al., 2017).

#### Exploration time and Behavior

Exploration time was measured in seconds from the initial entrance into the cave (marker 11, Figure 2) to exiting the cave (marker 19, Figure 2) and for the path section along

which participants headed directly towards the werewolf/the sheep (epoch 57).

As expected, the examination of the video recordings of the cave exploration revealed two different behavioral patterns manifested within the negative condition, subdividing the negative group into two subgroups: When first encountering the werewolf, participants of the negative group either retreated, i.e., hesitated or hid behind a former wall (subgroup labeled "hesitating"), or quickly advanced toward the werewolf to get past it, hastening around the cave's next turn-off (subgroup labeled "hastening"). They were assigned to the subgroups by the assessment of three investigators. To cross-check the division into the three subgroups, we implemented a video rating of the participants' fear behavior by blind raters (see Box 1). Since the blind ratings favored the classification of the subgroups (see Box 1), the investigators' proposed subdivision was adopted (hesitating group: n = 33,  $M_{age} =$ 21.70, SD<sub>age</sub> = 3.85, 87.9% female, 87.9 right-handed; hastening group: n = 21,  $M_{age} = 21.62$ ,  $SD_{age} = 3.17$ , 71.4% female, 85.7% right-handed; neutral group: n = 27,  $M_{age} =$ 23.15,  $SD_{age} = 2.98$ , 59.3% female, all right-handed). We provided an analysis of both conditions (negative versus neutral) without subdivisions into the hastening group and the hesitating group as supplementary material (see Supplementary Material S1).

#### Cardiovascular Measurements and Pre-processing

A three-channel ECG (Brain Products, Gilching, Germany) was applied and transmitted to the mobile EEG system. Electrodes were placed at the left collarbone, the right collarbone, and at the lowest left costal arch. The ECG was recorded synchronously with the EEG data.

The ECG data was segmented into the baseline measurements before the start of the cave exploration (60 s) and directly after leaving the cave, i.e., standing in the village (30 s). ECG measures during cave exploration were not further analyzed due to insufficient data quality. Participants who were excluded due to technical problems or insufficient EEG data quality and those who terminated the experiment early were excluded from ECG analysis. The datasets were further preprocessed using BrainVision Analyzer 2.2.0 (Brain Products, Gilching, Germany). Datasets were filtered between 5 and 45 Hz to remove low and highfrequency artifacts. Additionally, a notch filter (50 Hz) was applied. An automatic R-peak detection was applied and visually counterchecked. 14 datasets were excluded due to insufficient ECG quality during at least one of both baselines. For the remaining 67 datasets ( $n_{\text{hesitating}} = 29$ ;  $n_{\text{hastening}} = 18$ ;  $n_{\text{neutral}}$ = 20), the classical HRV parameter, i.e., the root mean square of successive differences (rmSSD) was calculated per baseline using MATLAB. The parameter rmSSD was chosen for analysis as it is recommended for ultra-short-time measurements (10-60 s; Shaffer and Ginsberg, 2017). The individual change in rmSSD between both baselines was calculated per participant and averaged per group for comparisons (delta = baseline 2-baseline 1; see Figure 2).

#### BOX 1 | Cross-check of group subdivision by blind rating

**Procedure:** A blind video rating was conducted to check the subdivision into the subgroups *hesitating*, *hastening*, and *neutral* based on three investigators' assessment. To this end, recordings of the participants exploring the cave were used. The recordings did neither reveal the participants' identity, nor in which experimental condition they were, nor what they saw in the virtual environment. Only their behavior within the physical replica was visible. Videos of participants who terminated the experiment (n = 5) or did not agree to the use and publication of the recordings (n = 4) were not included in the rating. The naive raters' task was to evaluate to what extent the person in the video showed fear in their behavior. To do so, they were asked to rate the person's fear on a scale from zero (*no fear at all*) to six (*very strong fear*). Each rater evaluated each of the videos (n = 77) in randomized order. They were allowed to take breaks if needed.

**Blind raters:** Twenty-seven blind raters completed the video rating. It was ensured that none of the raters had prior knowledge of the original study, that none participated in the original study, and that none suffered from any psychological or neurological conditions. Four raters were excluded due to the anamnesis' exclusion criteria, resulting in n = 23 valid ratings ( $M_{age} = 21.74$ ,  $SD_{age} = 2.54$ , 20 female, 3 male, none diverse). To ensure the raters' aptitude, their empathic ability and emotional competence were assessed using the German versions of the e-scale (Leibetseder et al., 2007), and the self-assessment of emotional intelligence (SEK-27; Berking and Znoj, 2008). They were blind to the content, experimental conditions, and objectives of the original study.

Statistical analysis: Per rater, mean fear scores were calculated. For this purpose, the individual video ratings were averaged based on conditions (*negative* vs. *neutral*), as well as based on the previous division of subjects into subgroups (*hesitating* vs. *hastening* vs. *neutral*). These mean fear scores were tested for normal distribution using the Shapiro-Wilk test and further analyzed using separate *t*-tests for dependent samples.

**Results:** Raters were of average empathic ability (M = 97.10) and emotional intelligence (M = 80.74). All mean fear scores were normally distributed (all Ws(23) > 0.90; all ps > .10). *T*-tests revealed significantly different fear scores for both conditions and all subgroups (all ts(22) > [5.15], all ps < .001). In particular, fear was rated to be more pronounced in the negative condition compared to the neutral condition (negative condition: M = 2.81, SD = 0.77; neutral condition: M = 1.15, SD = 0.54), and most importantly, most pronounced in the *hesitating* subgroup, with the *hastening* subgroup showing more pronounced fear than the *neutral* subgroup (hesitating: M = 3.56, SD = 0.54; hastening: M = 1.53, SD = 0.66; neutral: M = 1.15, SD = 0.54).

**Conclusion**: The blind ratings are in line with the subdivision into the subgroups *hesitating*, *hastening*, and *neutral*, as proposed based on the investigators' assessment. All subgroups differed significantly in the fear levels as assessed by naive raters based on the participants' behavior. Consequently, participants' fear levels were explicitly and distinctly expressed in their behavior, even observable by blind, naive raters, indicating a high level of realistic fear behavior.

#### Statistical Analysis

All statistical analyses were carried out using SPSS 26 (IBM). All variables were tested for normal distribution regarding each group separately using the Shapiro-Wilk test and all further statistical tests were chosen accordingly (see **Supplementary Material S2** for a detailed report of the Shapiro-Wilk test). In case that at least one subgroup per variable or at least one subscale or subvariable of a measure was not normally distributed (p < 0.1), a non-parametric test (Kruskal-Wallis test, Mann-Whitney *U*-test) was used for the analysis of that measure, as parametric tests, i.e., ANOVA and *t*-test are less robust to violation of normal distribution in case of unequal group sizes.

#### Subjective Measures

The scales of the questionnaires were calculated as the sum of the corresponding item values (sum scale). Concerning the PANAS, in addition to the scores for positive and negative affect, the change in affect was calculated as the difference between premeasurement and post-measurement (change = post-pre). For the in-house post-questionnaire, the subscales *affect* and *motivation* were calculated as mean values of the corresponding items. The preferred physical distance to either the werewolf or the sheep (*via* VAS) was transformed into the distance in percent (relative distance = preferred distance/total distance possible).

All questionnaires were analyzed using the Kruskal-Wallis test and complemented by post-hoc Mann-Whitney U-tests, with exception of the SSS-V, which was analyzed using a one-way ANOVA, complemented by post-hoc *t*-tests. Due to the directional wording of the hypothesis concerning acute fear and presence, negative affect, motivation, and presence were tested one-tailed. All other self-reports were tested two-tailed. Cronbach's *alpha* was calculated per scale and reached at least acceptable levels for most scales ( $\alpha \ge 0.70$ ) with exception of the following subscales: BIS/BAS: goal drive, fun seeking, reward responsiveness; RST-PQ: reward interest, impulsivity; IPQ: Spatial presence, realness (0.45 <  $\alpha$  < 0.70, see **Supplementary Material S3** for details).

#### **Dependent Measures**

#### **Exploration** Time

Exploration time was compared between groups using the Kruskal-Wallis test, followed by post-hoc Mann-Whitney *U*-tests. Due to the directed hypothesis concerning exploration time, the total exploration time and the exploration time during epoch 57 (see **Figure 2**) were tested one-tailed.

#### Electroencephalic Measures

For statistical analysis of the FAAs, individual outliers were determined per epoch. Scores with a greater interquartile distance than 1.5 from the group mean were excluded from the analysis of the individual epoch. The FAA scores were analyzed based upon the subdivision of the *negative* condition into the subgroups "*hesitating*" and "*hastening*" and the *neutral* condition. The latter was not further subdivided (see results). The Kruskal-Wallis test was used for analysis and complemented by post-hoc Mann-Whitney U-tests. The parameter  $r (\sqrt{\eta^2})$  was calculated as an estimate of effect size.

#### Cardiovascular Measures

The average change in rmSSD as a measure of HRV (delta = baseline 2—baseline 1) was compared between groups using the Kruskal-Wallis test and post-hoc Mann-Whitney *U*-tests. The parameter  $r(\sqrt{\eta^2})$  was calculated as an estimate of effect size. Due to the directed hypothesis concerning HRV, the measure was tested one-tailed.

#### TABLE 1 | Test statistics for Mann-Whitney U-test regarding the subjective reports.

		De	escriptive stati	stics	Mann-Whitney U-test			
		n	Md	SD	U	Z	Ρ	effect size r
RST-PQ: Impulsivity	Hesitating	33	17.00	3.52	225.00	-2.169	0.030*	0.17 <sup>a</sup>
	Hastening	21	19.00	2.79				
	Hesitating	33	17.00	3.52	308.50	-2.044	0.041*	0.26 <sup>a</sup>
	Neutral	27	19.00	4.16	000 50		0.05	
	Hastening	21	19.00	2.79	280.50	-0.063	0.95	0.01
	Neutral	27	19.00	4.16	055.00	1 007	0.404	0.008
RST-PQ: Fight-Flight-Freeze-	Hesitating	33	25.00	4.80	255.00	-1.627	0.104	0.22 <sup>a</sup>
System	Hastening	21	21.00	5.98	070 50	0.40	0.010*	0.32 <sup>b</sup>
	Hesitating	33	25.00	4.80	278.50	-2.49	0.013*	0.32*
	Neutral	27	22.00	5.30	064.00	0.406	0.694	0.00
	Hastening	21	21.00	5.98	264.00	-0.406	0.684	0.06
DANAC pagetive offect To1	Neutral	27	22.00	5.30	000 50	0 700	0.0401	0 108
PANAS negative affect T21	Hesitating	33	14.00	5.17	290.50	-0.728	0.240 <sup>1</sup>	0.10 <sup>a</sup>
	Hastening	20	14.50	5.43	107 50	0.406	0.001*** <sup>1</sup>	0.45 <sup>a</sup>
	Hesitating	33	14.00	5.17	197.50	-3.406	0.001	0.45
	Neutral	24	11.00	1.80	155.00	0.005	0.013* <sup>1</sup>	0.34 <sup>a</sup>
	Hastening	20	14.50	5.43	155.00	-2.225	0.013	0.34
Change in negative affect <sup>1</sup>	Neutral	24	11.00	1.80	075 50	-0.840	0.205 <sup>1</sup>	0.11 <sup>a</sup>
Change in negative affect	Hesitating	32 24	2.00 1.50	4.89 4.74	275.50	-0.840	0.205	0.11
	Hastening	24 32	2.00	4.74	189.00	-3.244	0.001***1	0.43 <sup>a</sup>
	Hesitating Neutral	32 24	-1.00	4.69 2.47	169.00	-3.244	0.001	0.43
		24 24	1.50	4.74	141.00	-2.359	0.009*1	0.34 <sup>a</sup>
	Hastening	24 24	-1.00	2.47	141.00	-2.559	0.009	0.34
Change in positive affect	Neutral Hesitating	24 32	-1.00 4.50	2.47 5.86	273.500	-0.596	0.551	0.08
Change in positive anect	Hastening	32 24	4.30 3.00	4.39	273.300	-0.590	0.551	0.00
	Hesitating	32	4.50	4.39 5.86	245.50	-2.299	0.021*	0.31 <sup>a</sup>
	Neutral	24	1.00	4.62	240.00	-2.235	0.021	0.01
	Hastening	24	3.00	4.39	152.00	-1.868	0.062	0.27 <sup>a</sup>
	Neutral	24	1.00	4.62	102.00	-1.000	0.002	0.21
In-house: affect <sup>1</sup>	Hesitating	33	3.71	1.60	273.00	-1.306	0.096 <sup>1</sup>	0.20 <sup>a</sup>
	Hastening	21	4.00	1.83	270.00	1.000	0.000	0.20
	Hesitating	33	3.71	1.60	34.50	-6.113	< 0.001***1	0.78 <sup>b</sup>
	Neutral	27	7.29	1.31	01.00	0.110	(0.001	0.10
	Hastening	21	4.00	1.83	75.00	-4.339	< 0.001***1	0.63 <sup>b</sup>
	Neutral	27	7.29	1.31	10.00	1.000	(0.001	0.00
In-house: motivation <sup>1</sup>	Hesitating	33	3.25	1.82	235.00	-1.980	0.024*1	0.30 <sup>a</sup>
	Hastening	21	4.50	1.96	200.00	1.000	0.021	0.00
	Hesitating	33	3.25	1.82	95.00	-5.22	< 0.001***1	0.67 <sup>b</sup>
	Neutral	27	7.00	1.52	00100	0.22		0.07
	Hastening	21	4.50	1.96	128.50	-3.233	0.001***1	0.47 <sup>a</sup>
	Neutral	27	7.00	1.52	120100	0.200	0.001	0
In-house: relative distance <sup>1</sup>	Hesitating	30	0.74	0.29	264.5	-0.117	0.454 <sup>1</sup>	0.02
	Hastening	18	0.69	0.21				
	Hesitating	30	0.74	0.29	129.00	-4.41	< 0.001 ***1	0.58 <sup>b</sup>
	Neutral	27	0.22	0.27	120100		(01001	0.00
	Hastening	18	0.69	0.21	63.00	-4.172	< 0.001***1	0.62 <sup>b</sup>
	Neutral	27	0.22	0.27				0.02
IPQ: spatial presece <sup>1</sup>	Hesitating	33	8.00	3.71	249.00	-1.736	0.042 <sup>1</sup>	0.24 <sup>a</sup>
	Hastening	21	5.00	5.13				0.21
	Hesitating	33	8.00	3.71	309.00	-2.033	0.021 <sup>1</sup>	0.26 <sup>a</sup>
	Neutral	27	6.00	6.20				
	Hastening	21	5.00	5.13	264.50	-0.396	0.346 <sup>1</sup>	0.06
	Neutral	27	6.00	6.20				

Note. The detailed statistics for Kruskal-Wallis test are provided in **Supplementary Material S2**. The respective descriptive statistics are given per condition. The parameter  $r(\sqrt{\eta}^2)$  was provided as an estimate of effect size (a = small effect, b = medium effect, c = large effect). Significant differences between groups were marked accordingly (\*p < 0.05; \*\*p ≤ 0.01, \*\*\*p ≤ 0.001). One-tailed tests are marked accordingly<sup>1</sup>.

# RESULTS

#### **Subjective Measures**

No group differed significantly from others in personality traits that otherwise might have an impact on the perception of and reactions to the specific VR scenario, such as anxiety, empathy, paranormal belief, behavioral activation system, and behavioral inhibition system (all Hs(2) < 5.10, p > 0.05; see **Supplementary Material S2** for details), as well as sensation seeking (F(2,74) =3.05, p = 0.053). However, groups differed in impulsivity (H(2) =6.23, p = 0.044) and in the fight-flight-freeze system (FFF-S; H(2)) = 6.46, p = 0.040) as assessed by RST-PQ. In particular, the hesitating group scored lower in impulsivity compared to the hastening and neutral groups. Moreover, the hesitating group scored significantly higher in the FFF-S compared to the neutral group. The difference in the FFF-S between the hesitating and hastening groups followed the same trend but did not reach significance. The hastening and neutral groups did not differ significantly in both traits (see Table 1).

Before the cave exploration, groups did not differ concerning their mood (all Hs(2) < 1.1, all ps > 0.50). However, after the cave exploration, groups reported different levels of negative affect, as well as differing changes in negative and positive affect. In detail, both hesitating and hastening groups experienced equal negative affect as well as similar increases in negative affect, but significantly stronger increases compared to the *neutral* group (see Table 1). Surprisingly, the hesitating group reported significantly higher increases in positive affect compared to the neutral group as well. The hastening group followed the same trend but did not reach significance. The hastening and the hesitating groups experienced similar increases of positive affect (see Table 1). All groups reported similar levels of presence (all Hs(2) < 5.20, all ps > 0.07), with exception of the sensation of spatial presence  $(H (2) = 5.17, p = 0.038)^{1}$ . In particular, the hesitating group felt more spatially present compared to both other groups, whereas the hastening and the neutral groups exhibited similar levels of spatial presence (see Table 1).

As assessed by the in-house post-questionnaire, the hastening and the hesitating groups preferred a significantly greater distance to the werewolf, whereas the neutral group preferred a significantly closer distance to the sheep (22% of the possible distance). Descriptively, the *hesitating* group (74% of the possible distance) preferred a slightly greater distance to the werewolf compared to the hastening group (69% of the possible distance), but the groups did not differ significantly (see Table 1). Furthermore, both the hesitating group and the hastening group perceived the cave as strongly negative and reported a significantly greater motivation to leave the cave at an early stage compared to the *neutral* group. Even more, the *hesitating* group exhibited a significantly stronger motivation to leave the cave early compared to the hastening group. The hastening group perceived the cave as significantly more negative compared to the neutral group as well, and reported a high motivation to leave the cave early, whereas participants of the neutral group tended to perceive the cave as rather comfortable and were only slightly motivated to leave it at an early stage (see Table 1).

 $\ensuremath{\mathsf{TABLE 2}}\xspace$  ] Test statistics for Kruskal-Wallis test regarding exploration time and HRV data.

	Kruskal-wallis test				
	Н	Df	Р		
Total exploration time <sup>1</sup>	14.791	2	0.001***1		
Exploration time epoch 571	28.173	2	< 0.001***1		
HRV: Delta rmSSD1	2.003	2	0.184 <sup>1</sup>		

Note. Significant differences between groups (\*p < 0.05; \*\*p  $\leq$  0.01, \*\*\*p  $\leq$  0.001) and one-tailed tests<sup>1</sup> were marked accordingly.

#### **Dependent Measures** Exploration time and Behavior

The hesitating group took approximately 1.7 times as long as the hastening group and the neutral group to reach the cave's exit and thus to end the exploration ( $Md_{hesitating.} = 49.7$ s;  $Md_{hastening.} =$ 29.10,  $Md_{neutral}$  = 33.15). In contrast, the hastening and the neutral groups took approximately the same time to end the exploration (see Tables 2, 3). This pattern was evident for epoch57, when participants headed towards the werewolf/ sheep, as well (see Table 2, exploration time epoch 57). The hesitating group walked significantly slower towards the werewolf compared to the hastening group ( $U = 81.00, z = -4.42, p < .001^{1}$ , r = 0.62) and the *neutral* group towards the sheep (U = 121.00, z = -4.52,  $p < .001^{1}$ , r = 0.60), whereas hastening group and neutral group walked at the same pace (U = 255.00, z = -0.11,  $p = .456^{1}$ , r = 0.02). In detail, the *hesitating* group took more than three times as long as both other groups for this path section  $(Md_{\text{hesitating}} = 21.57; Md_{\text{hastening}} = 6.60; Md_{\text{neutral}} = 6.09; Md$  in seconds).

The significant difference in exploration time was reflected in the directly observable behavior within the cave: The neutral group explored the cave rather casually, maintaining a constant walking pace and showing no particular signs or verbalizations of unease. In contrast, both negative groups walked rather cautiously, looking around turn-offs before continuing the exploration. Both subgroups explicitly expressed fear by verbalizations and body language. For example, participants gasped, looked around nervously, or wrapped their arms protectively around themselves. Five participants terminated the experiment either at first sight of the cave's entrance area (n = 1) or at first sight of the were wolf (n = 4). Beyond that, the *hesitating* group either stopped or even hid behind the former wall when detecting the werewolf, whereas the *hastening* group did not hesitate at all, but advanced toward the werewolf to get past it (see data repository for exemplary video recordings). Based on these bodily fear cues, even naive raters were able to classify participants' fear levels adequately, indicating a high consistency with real-life fear behavior (see Box 1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Measures of acute fear, i.e., negative affect and motivation to leave the cave as assessed via PANAS and the in-house post-questionnaire, as well as HRV and exploration time, were tested one-tailed due to directed hypotheses. All other hypotheses are tested two-tailed.

TABLE 3	Test statistics for a	oost-hoc Mann-Whitnev U-	-test regarding exploration time.
		ooot noo mann winding o	toot rogaraing exploration time.

		0	Descriptive stati	stics		Mann-Wi	nitney U-test	
		N	Md	SD	U	Z	p	effect size r
Total exploration	Hesitating	31	49.70	70.11	158.00	-2.932	0.002**1	0.41 <sup>b</sup>
time <sup>1</sup>	Hastening	20	29.10	31.14				
	Hesitating	31	49.70	70.11	185.00	-3.49	< 0.001***1	0.46 <sup>b</sup>
	Neutral	26	33.15	22.77				
	Hastening	20	29.10	31.14	285.00	-0.044	0.483 <sup>1</sup>	0.01
	Neutral	26	33.15	22.77				

Note. The respective descriptive statistics are given per group and the effect size  $r(\sqrt{\eta^2}; a = small effect, b = medium effect)$  was determined. Significant differences between groups (\*p < 0.05; \*\*p  $\leq$  0.01, \*\*\*p  $\leq$  0.001) and one-tailed tests<sup>1</sup> were marked accordingly.

#### Cardiovascular Measures

All groups exhibited equal changes in rmSSD between both baseline measurements (H (2) = 2.00, p = .184<sup>1</sup>, see **Table 2**). Descriptively, all groups exhibited an increased rmSSD in the second baseline compared to the first baseline ( $Md_{\text{hesitating}} = 13.58$ ;  $Md_{\text{hastening}} = 17.74$ ;  $Md_{\text{neutral}} = 17.81$ ), indicating higher stress levels during the first baseline.

#### Electroencephalographic Measures

The Kruskal-Wallis test revealed differences regarding the FAA scores between the three subgroups for epoch 34 (H(2) = 6.13, p = 0.047) and epoch 57 (H(2) = 6.59, p = 0.037). However, they did not differ during baseline or further epochs (all Hs(2) < 4.6; all ps > 0.10; see **Supplementary Material S2** for details).

Hence, only epoch 34 and epoch 57 were further analyzed by post-hoc Mann-Whitney *U*-tests. In epoch 34, a significantly stronger left frontal cortical activity was observed in the *hastening* group compared to the *neutral* group, which exhibited a stronger right frontal cortical activity (see **Table 4** and **Figure 3**). However, the *hesitating* group did not differ from the *hastening* group or from the *neutral* group with respect to their FAA scores. In contrast, the *hastening* and the *hesitating* groups differed significantly during epoch 57, with the *hesitating* group showing greater left frontal cortical activity and the *hastening* group showing greater right frontal cortical activity and the *hastening* group showing greater right frontal cortical activity. Both did not differ significantly from the *neutral* group during this epoch (all Us > 240.00, all ps > 0.05, see **Table 4** and **Figure 3**).

### DISCUSSION

The present study aimed to examine authentic fear responses, especially complex behavioral expressions of fear, and the electrophysiological correlates of approach and avoidance, i.e., frontal alpha asymmetries (FAA) in an immersive virtual reality setup. The incremental value of the study lies particularly in the simultaneous examination of realistic behavior and the associated electrophysiological responses. To this end, participants explored either a negative, i.e., frightful cave, containing corpses and a monstrous werewolf, or a neutral cave, containing tree trunks and a sheep. As expected, the negative cave elicited significantly stronger negative affect, fear, and the motivation to withdraw from the scenario earlier as opposed to the *neutral* condition. Going beyond previous findings, these affective responses were very pronounced and identifiably reflected in the participants' behavior. While the neutral condition's participants explored the cave rather casually, the *negative* condition's participants walked rather cautiously, adapting their pace to the threatening atmosphere. Even more, the *negative* condition exhibited two different behavior patterns, subdividing participants into a *hesitating* and a *hastening* group. Surprisingly, and even though selfreports and behavior indicated great differences in emotional experiences, the different groups could be distinguished in only two out of seven cave sections based on the FAAs.

### Affective Responses to the Virtual Cave

In line with previous research, the respective design of the cave was sufficient to trigger distinct emotional reactions as intended. Indicative of successful fear elicitation, both negative subgroups reported higher levels of acute fear compared to the neutral condition. Specifically, both negative groups reported highly negative affect, a strong fear of the respective stimuli, and great motivation to leave the cave early, while the neutral group did not. With all negative stimuli removed, a still dimly lit cave exhibited no particular reports of fear in the neutral condition. Hence, while context and distinct cues determine which specific emotion is induced, i.e., fear of an approaching werewolf (Felnhofer et al., 2015; Lin, 2017), the level of interactivity adds to the plausibility and realness of the VE (plausibility illusion; Slater, 2009), thereby increasing emotional involvement (Gorini et al., 2010; Diemer et al., 2015) and behavioral realism (Blascovich et al., 2002; Slater, 2009; Kisker et al., 2019a). In particular, the possibility to interact with and within the VE, and to be personally affected by occurring events overcomes the remoteness of conventional screen experiences (Slater, 2009; Lin, 2017; Lin et al., 2018; Lin, 2020; Kisker et al., 2020; Schöne et al., 2019). More than that, the experienced self-efficacy may reinforce the feeling of personal vulnerability to the occurring events (see Lin, 2017; Lin et al., 2018).

In a similar vein, participants of all groups felt generally present within the VE. However, the *hesitating* group felt

#### TABLE 4 | Test statistics for Mann-Whitney U-test regarding the FAA scores during epoch 34 and epoch 57.

		Descriptive statistics				Mann-whit	ney U-test	
		n	Md	SD	U	Z	p	effect size r
Epoch	Hesitating	30	-0.07	0.35	236.00	-1.27	0.205	0.18 <sup>a</sup>
34	Hastening	20	-0.21	0.39				
	Hesitating	30	-0.07	0.35	316.00	-1.42	0.155	0.19 <sup>a</sup>
	Neutral	27	0.08	0.41				
	Hastening	20	-0.21	0.39	158.00	-2.41	0.016*	0.35 <sup>b</sup>
	Neutral	27	0.08	0.41				
Epoch	Hesitating	31	-0.01	0.25	188.00	-2.35	0.019*	0.33 <sup>b</sup>
57	Hastening	20	0.07	0.27				
	Hesitating	31	-0.01	0.25	282.00	-1.94	0.053	0.26 <sup>a</sup>
	Neutral	26	0.08	0.35				
	Hastening	20	0.07	0.27	241.00	-0.421	0.674	0.06
	Neutral	26	0.08	0.35				

Note. Kruskal-Wallis test revealed no group differences concerning further epochs. Significant differences between groups as indicated by Mann-Whitney U-test are marked (\*p < 0.05; \*\*p  $\leq 0.01$ , \*\*\*p  $\leq 0.001$ ). The respective descriptive statistics are given per group and the effect size r ( $\sqrt{\eta^2}$ ; a = small effect, b = medium effect) was determined. Positive FAA scores indicate withdrawal motivation, whereas negative FAA scores indicate approach motivation.



more spatially present compared to both other groups. Numerous previous studies indicate a positive correlation between emotion and the feeling of presence, although the effective direction remains unclear (e.g., Riva et al., 2007; Diemer et al., 2015;

Felnhofer et al., 2015; Kisker et al., 2019a). As both conditions allowed for equal levels of interactivity, spatial presence might be enhanced by emotional arousal, as the *hesitating* group felt the most frightened being the cave. A previous mixed reality study

also only modified the visual impression, i.e., threatening vs. nonthreatening, and concluded that the threatening condition corresponded with higher sensations of presence (Kisker et al., 2019a). However, although these findings may seem intuitive, our data does not allow a causal conclusion and could also be the result of interdependence of emotional experience and presence (Kisker et al., 2019a). Moreover, all groups exhibited equal levels of general presence, involvement, and realness, opposing the idea of modulation of presence by the emotional experience alone. Accordingly, factors other than emotion and immersion may have varying effects on the dimensions of presence, which should be objective to further research.

Surprisingly, both negative groups experienced a stronger increase in positive affect compared to the neutral group. This might, at first sight, seem counterintuitive. However, previous studies also found an increase in positive affect after unpleasant situations, ascribing this finding to relief, or even pride about having mastered an unpleasant, or in our case threatening, situation (Williams and DeSteno, 2008; Kisker et al., 2019a). Contrary to our expectations, the groups did not differ in the extent to which their HRVs changed. This is surprising given that the HRV parameter rmSSD tends to decrease during stressful situations (Castaldo et al., 2015). Therefore, we had expected that both negative groups would show a significant reduction in rmSSD compared to the neutral group. Instead, all groups showed a slight, not significantly different increase in rmSSD after exploring the cave compared to pre-exploration measurement. The increase in rmSSD, classically interpreted as reduced stress experience (Castaldo et al., 2015), might nevertheless reflect the changes in positive affect: The uncertainty about the cave's content and size before its exploration might have led to anticipatory stress, while the completion of the exploration might be experienced as a relief. However, the recording of the pre- and post-exploration phases might not have been sufficient to validly determine HRV parameters. Although rmSSD can be determined based on short-time measurements, it is usually preceded by resting phases (Castaldo et al., 2015). In our experiment, participants moved physically between measurements, which may have distorted the HRV assessment and limits its interpretability.

As all groups were equal in prior VR-experience, preexperimental mood, trait anxiety, and further personality traits right before the VR exposure, differences between groups during or after cave exploration cannot be traced back to pre-existing differences, but the cave exploration. As the only, but a highly interesting exception, the *hesitating* group reported significantly lower impulsivity than both other groups and scored higher on the FFF-S, which indicates that their behavior is more likely to be determined by avoidance tendencies (Corr and Cooper, 2016; Pugnaghi et al., 2018) and corresponds to their initial reaction when detecting the werewolf.

# Authentic Fear Behavior in Immersive Virtual Reality

Most importantly, and going beyond matching self-reports, participants adapted their behavior immensely to their virtual

surroundings. While the neutral group explored the cave rather casually, both negative groups exhibited distinct signs of acute and strong fear expressed via body language: They slowed down their pace, glimpsed around corners before taking the turn-off, or held their arms tight to their bodies in addition to verbal expressions of fear (see Adolphs, 2013). More than that, when being confronted with the werewolf, participants tended to advance toward the werewolf to get past it or to retreat, subdividing participants of the negative condition into two distinct subgroups: The hesitating group hesitated or even hid behind the former turn-off when detecting the werewolf, which corresponds to their lower levels of impulsiveness and more pronounced action control by avoidance. In contrast, the hastening group advanced toward the next turn-off before the werewolf approached any closer. These behavioral patterns were reflected in significantly higher exploration times in the hesitating group compared to both other groups. Slowing down their pace allows for greater vigilance and thus for potential hazards to be identified more quickly (Rinck et al., 2010). By hesitating to pass by the werewolf, the *hesitating* group stayed in the cave longer, whereas the hastening group, in comparison, abbreviated it by fleeing towards the cave's exit, thereby matching the neutral group's exploration time.

These behavioral adaptions point towards a crucial characteristic of VR setups: Since they are the subject of the virtual events and are personally involved in them (Slater, 2009; Slater and Wilbur, 1997; Kisker et al., 2020; Schöne et al., 2019), a behavior change is inevitable to deal with the threats within the cave (see Kisker et al., 2019a). The impression of realness must therefore have been so intense that the knowledge of being in a VR simulation was not sufficient to suppress the feeling of personal threat and a corresponding coping reaction (place illusion; Slater, 2009). As the mixed reality design allows for realistic sensorimotor actions, participants are enabled to react naturally and promptly when confronted with fear cues. In particular, realistic responses are enhanced by the impression of being directly and personally affected by the events within the VE (Slater and Wilbur, 1997; Nilsson, et al., 2016), for example the impression, that the werewolf can actually reach and harm them.

In standard laboratory settings, participants are supposed to indicate their natural response via substitutional responses: They are required to cognitively evaluate their initial response, determine the correct substitutional response, and then carry it out. In a real-life, threatening situation this chaining of cognitive evaluation and reaction might be dysfunctional. Rather, people would instinctively back off, freeze, or defend themselves physically as an initial impulse. Following LeDoux's (e.g. LeDoux, 1995; LeDoux, 1996; LeDoux, 1998; Debiec and LeDoux, 2004) theory on the fear circuit, VR setups would allow to access the immediate, emotional processing of stimuli. Conversely, capturing fear via substitutional responses would involve the slower cognitive path, as participants process their initial reaction and match it to an abstract, pre-set action to indicate how they feel. However, reactions triggered by VR events can only be accepted as equivalent to real reactions if virtual and real environments actually elicit identical reactions (Slater, 2009).

More and more studies indicate that VR settings not only lead to stronger emotional reactions compared to classical PC setups but that these reactions triggered by virtual events correspond to their real-life counterparts (Gorini et al., 2010; Higuera-Trujillo et al., 2017; Chirico and Gaggioli, 2019). Consequently, VR setups allow for a more naturalistic and non-mediated assessment of fear, offer an immense spectrum of response options, and involve the full body, mimicking the natural fear reaction to events in the real world (Bohil et al., 2011).

# Alpha-Asymmetry Models and Complex Behavioral Responses

Remarkably, the electrophysiological response distinguished between subgroups in two of the seven exploration sections based on the FAA. Based on existing models, and equivalent to Rodrigues et al. (2018), we expected relatively stronger left-frontal activity for approach-related behavior, i.e., negative FAA-scores when the *hastening* group approached the werewolf, and a relatively stronger right-frontal activity for avoidance-related behavior, i.e., positive FAA-scores for the *hesitating* group. Neutral behavior was not proposed to be linked to a distinct asymmetry.

The three subgroups were distinguishable directly after passing the corpse/tree trunk and hearing the werewolf/sheep (epoch 34), and when walking towards the werewolf/sheep (epoch 57). In particular, the *hastening* group differed significantly from the *neutral* group in epoch 34, exhibiting relatively greater left frontal activity, indicating approach motivation, while the *neutral* group exhibited relatively greater right frontal activity, indicating avoidance motivation (e.g., Harmon-Jones and Gable, 2018; Rodrigues et al., 2018). The *hesitating* group, descriptively exhibiting a slight approach motivation, did not differ significantly from any of the other groups. One might argue that both *negative* groups exhibited approach motivation towards the exit. The *neutral* group had no incentive to leave the cave early and was thus, possibly motivated to avoid the exit to explore the situation longer.

Moreover, during epoch 57, the hastening and hesitating groups differed significantly, with the hastening group exhibiting avoidance motivation and the hesitating group exhibiting approach motivation. On the one hand, the hastening group's avoidance motivation might be linked to their instant initiation of an escape from the current cave section towards the exit before the werewolf comes any closer. The *hesitating* group's approach motivation, on the other hand, might reflect the emotional selfcontrol to pass the werewolf to reach the exit after initially hiding or hesitating. The latter interpretation supports recent models that associated FAAs with inhibitory top-down regulation of emotion (Lacey et al., 2020; Schöne et al., 2015). The neutral group exhibited equal levels of avoidance motivation compared to the hastening group, which might indicate avoidance of leaving the cave early. However, during this epoch, none of the groups knew that the exit was behind the next turn. Therefore, the previous interpretation seems rather speculative.

In terms of the revised sensitivity theory (Gray and McNaughton, 2000), Wacker and colleagues (Wacker et al., 2003; Wacker et al., 2008) introduced the behavioral inhibition

model of anterior asymmetry (BBMAA). The BBMAA relates relatively greater left frontal activity, as in the hesitating group, to the activation of the fight-flight-freeze-system (FFF-S), responding to negative stimuli and threat, whereas relatively greater right frontal activity, as in the hastening group, might relate to the behavioral inhibition system (r-BIS), allowing for superordinate emotion-regulation and behavioral control (Gray and McNaughton, 2000). According to the group's behavioral responses, hesitating and hiding from the werewolf would fit with the FFF-S and might, in line, be interpreted as active behavior to avoid the fear cue. Vice versa, accelerating their pace to instantly pass the werewolf would fit with the r-BIS. But notably, the respective asymmetry is proposed to indicate passive behavior (Wacker et al., 2003; Rodrigues et al., 2018), standing in stark contrast to instantly approaching the werewolf and passing it. To hasten past the werewolf is undoubtedly effective to escape the threatening situation and thus may be interpreted as avoidance rather than approach. However, the hastening group seems to be primarily driven by emotion regulation, as they do not hesitate, but instantly move towards the werewolf. Hence, the synthesis of this behavior and FAA might rather relate to effortful control of emotion (Lacey et al., 2020; Schöne et al., 2015), allowing to escape from the threatening situation instead of freezing.

None of the aforementioned explanatory approaches covers that the groups' FAAs did not differ significantly for the greater part of the cave exploration. Despite of showing such a variety of and strongly pronounced behavioral responses, participants of all groups could only be distinguished in two of the seven cave sections based on the FAA data. This was particularly surprising as the negative condition triggered intense negative affect, as well as a high motivation to leave the cave early, which was significantly reflected in self-reports and behavior. Walking towards a corpse and sounds of crying compared to a tree trunk and wind sounds were not accompanied by significantly different FAA scores between groups. Even more, the hesitating group descriptively exhibited relatively greater left frontal activity throughout the cave exploration which is, according to the most well-known models, associated with approach motivation or positive affect (e.g., Davidson et al., 1990; Gable and Harmon-Jones, 2008; Harmon-Jones and Gable, 2018). For obvious reasons, the valence model (e.g., Davidson et al., 1990; Davidson, 1998) does not correspond to the observed behavioral responses, while one might speculate whether the observed approach motivation might reflect to urge to reach the exit.

Hence, the FAA data collected in our immersive VR setup could be aligned with previous models only to a very limited, inchoate degree. Although initial desktop-VR studies provided evidence that the behavioral patterns in a video game trigger FAAs corresponding to the motivational model (Rodrigues et al., 2018), we were unable to replicate these findings in a highly immersive VR setup.

# The Special Role of Immersive Virtual Reality Setups

Even though we could not fully reconcile the self-reports and behavioral data with the obtained FAA data, we would like to consider the following points as potential, but not incontrovertible explanations for the observed discrepancies: As previously speculated, the *hesitating* group exhibiting an approach motivation throughout the cave exploration might be attributed to having a strong motivation in terms of approaching the cave's exit. This assumption presupposes that FAAs do not reflect an emotional or motivational response to distinct fear cues, but a higher goal, supporting the idea that the FAA dynamics might reflect top-down inhibitory executive processes, rather than motivational tendencies *per se* (Schöne et al., 2015). In line, the neutral cave might elicit FAAs since the aim of finding the exit is pursued, although the neutral environment would not in itself provide a specific incentive to do so. However, as leaving the cave seems much more urgent in the *negative* condition, it would still have been expected that the FAAs elicited by the *neutral* and the *negative* conditions would be significantly different.

Apart from that, the best-known FAA models are not entirely consistent with each other: each model has been repeatedly lined with evidence, revised, or even overruled (for review see e.g., Harmon-Jones and Gable, 2018; Lacey et al., 2020). Considering this limited consistency, it is less surprising that the FAA data obtained from a very different setup compared to the conventional assessments does not match previous models one-to-one. In terms of emotion induction methods, the discrepancy might arise from the multidimensional nature of VR setups: a major advantage of classical laboratory experiments is the possibility to isolate relevant processes (Kvavilashvili and Ellis, 2004; Parsons, 2015). In contrast, VR setups, like real experiences, are multidimensional (Bohil et al., 2011; de la Rosa and Breidt, 2018; Pan and Hamilton, 2018) and, as we argued, facilitate realistic reactions (e.g., Blascovich et al., 2002; Slater, 2009; Kisker et al., 2019a). Accordingly, rather weak signals like the FAA may play in concert with further cognitive and emotional processes in complex, realistic situations (see Bohil et al., 2011). Thus, classical measurements as applied in conventional setups might not adequately capture FAAs under more naturalistic conditions and might need adaption for sufficient application.

In a similar vein, the assignment of FAAs to certain emotional or motivational states might not be unrestrictedly generalizable to complex behavioral reactions going beyond abstract responses: Models concerning the FAA are based on highly standardized laboratory setups, which strongly limit the behavioral response options to rather abstract stimuli presented on a screen (e.g., Wacker et al., 2008; Parsons, 2015). So-called desktop-VR settings, being somewhat more immersive, still reduce the behavioral response options, e.g., to movements of a joystick (e.g., Rodrigues et al., 2018; Brouwer et al., 2011). In contrast, immersive VR setups, such as the physical exploration of a cave, allow for multisensory, realistic sensations and significantly broader and non-mediated behavioral reactions (e.g., Rinck et al., 2010; Lin, 2017). Accordingly, the reduction of complex reactions to a single electrophysiological marker seems too abstract for realistic conditions (e.g., Lange and Osinsky, 2020; Bohil et al., 2011).

One might argue that movement-induced artifacts or wearing an HMD might overshadow significant differences between groups. However, recent methodological examinations demonstrated that mobile EEG obtains good data quality during walking even in single-trial setups (Debener et al., 2012; Nathan and Contreras-Vidal, 2016), and wearing common HMDs does not impact the EEG's signal quality regarding frequency bands below 50 Hz (Hertweck et al., 2019). Accordingly, it seems unlikely that differences between groups would have been overshadowed.

Summing up, the source of the discrepancy between behavioral responses and canonical FAA models is not yet conclusively understood. The differences found between groups seem to be mainly attributable to top-down emotion regulation (Lacey et al., 2020; Schöne et al., 2015). However, based on the aforementioned considerations, we assume that the canonical FAA and respective models cannot be applied to complex, holistic behavior without restriction or adaption, as FAAs have so far been investigated by means of abstract responses. Rather, the complexity of realistic behavioral responses may not be fully predicted by a single, very specific electrophysiological marker (Bohil et al., 2011; Lange and Osinsky, 2020). Accordingly, contemporary FAA models offer an avenue to explore approach and avoidance behavior, but under realistic conditions, FAAs may not be as predominant as previous models suggest.

# Ethical Challenges of Using VR as an Experimental Tool

With the high level of realism that VR offers, the ethical and moral responsibility in the implementation of experimental studies increases at an exponential rate. Many objectives could potentially be investigated more naturally and efficiently when implemented via realistic experimental setups. Nevertheless, the participants' safety must always come first, and it must be carefully considered whether the gain from extended knowledge justifies the participants' potential strain.

Despite ethical approval, exploring an unknown cave without warning that, and which negative stimuli would await the participants was a significant strain on them. Five of the 59 participants exploring the negative cave terminated the experiment at the first sight of either the cave's entrance (n = 1) or the werewolf (n = 4). Although being anecdotal evidence only, some participants whimpered heavily, others engaged in self-calming strategies, like telling themselves repeatedly that it was only a game to break immersion. One participants reported having nightmares the night after the experiment. To put it bluntly, we were rather surprised that so many participants completed the cave exploration while experiencing intense fear and distress, although they were distinctly and repeatedly instructed that they could stop the experiment immediately if they felt uncomfortable.

Some VR horror games even explicitly warn that the experience in VR is more intense compared to conventional games and might cause significant psychological strain. Attending and staying in such simulations could be attributed to the general appeal of mediated horror content (Lin et al., 2018). Considering that VR setups are assumed to evoke real-life behavior (e.g., Slater, 2009; Kisker et al., 2019a), emotions (e.g., Higuera-Trujillo et al., 2017; Chirico and Gaggioli, 2019), and transfer such experiences to reallife in terms of learning (e.g., Ragan et al., 2010) and mnemonic processes (e.g., Kisker et al., 2019b; Schöne et al., 2019; Kisker et al., 2020), it is an effective tool for e.g., exposure therapy (for review see e.g., Botella et al., 2017). But on the flip side of this coin, VR has not only the potential to treat but also to cause psychological dysfunction, such as PTSD-related symptoms (e.g., Dibbets and Schulte-Ostermann, 2015). The blurring of the mental border between virtual and real, and the resulting costs and benefits for all parties involved, must therefore be weighed very carefully on a case-by-case basis (for an in-depth discussion of ethics of virtual reality see e.g., Parsons, 2019; Slater et al., 2020).

# CONCLUSION

Our results demonstrate that the employed VR setup facilitates realistic fear responses beyond affective responses: Exceeding the participants' self-reports of intense fear in both negative subgroups, they adapted their behavior to the encountered situation. While conventional setups can only operationalize the participants' substitutional response, e.g., in the form of a keystroke, VR setups allow for an immediate expression and assessment of the comprehensive fear response, e.g., by physically backing away from a stimulus. To our best knowledge, this study is the first one to investigate complex behavioral fear responses employing a mixed VR setup and thus, complements previous findings. Participants exploring the negative cave either quickly advanced toward the werewolf to get past it or retreated when spotting the werewolf. In stark contrast, participants exploring the neutral cave behaved casually and showed no particular signs of fear or discomfort. Overall, these behavioral responses exhibited in the cave resemble lifelike responses on an affective but foremost on the behavioral level, extending scientific evidence for VR-based research's feasibility and effectiveness.

Moreover, no previous study has collected electrophysiological correlates of approach and avoidance under similarly immersive conditions. The different behavioral patterns were reflected in the electrophysiological responses. Specifically, the FAA discriminated between the advancing (hastening group) and retreating (hesitating group) behavior as they walked towards the werewolf in the negative condition, indicative of differences in emotion regulation. Furthermore, differences between the hastening and the neutral groups were obtained only at rare occasions. Especially the absence of effects is remarkable, and albeit their ability to discriminate between different motivational or affective states, the remaining FAAs could not be reconciled with contemporary FAA models. This discrepancy could be attributed to the FAA models being based on data obtained under abstract laboratory conditions. The study at hand further incorporates the participants' complex behavioral responses, possibly affecting motivational tendencies.

Hence, putting laboratory-based models to the test under realistic conditions shows that they may not unrestrictedly predict real-life behavior. Yet, they provide a baseline for further refinement of experimental findings, which can be complemented by VR-based research. Accordingly, our findings demonstrate the high potential of implementing VR technology in experimental settings to increase the ecological validity of scientific findings. VR allows for non-mediated and life-like affective and behavioral responses and scientific measurements of real-world processes.

# DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets presented in this study can be found in online repositories. The names of the repository/repositories and accession number(s) can be found below: https://osf.io/jwt7d/? view\_only=92bda76c430247bca3a93eacf4567813

# **ETHICS STATEMENT**

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the local ethic committee of Osnabrueck University, Germany. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

# **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

The study is based on a concept drafted by BS. All authors contributed to the study design. KF, MK, FT, PO, and NL developed the Unity VR environment and the physical replica under supervision of BS and JK. JK and LL integrated EEG and ECG applications into the Unity environment. Testing and data collection were performed by JK, LL, and KF. CG developed the application "Cagliostro" for the video rating of the participant's behavior. Data analyses were performed by JK under the supervision of BS and TG. JK and LL performed the data interpretation under the supervision of BS, TG, and RO. JK drafted the manuscript, LL revised the manuscript. BS, TG, and RO provided critical revisions. All authors approved the final version of the manuscript for submission.

# FUNDING

We acknowledge support by Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (DFG) and Open Access Publishing Fund of Osnabrück University.

# ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors thank Marike Johnsdorf, Sophia Sylvester, Shai Vopel and Roman Fabrik for assistance with data collection.

# SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/frvir.2021.716318/ full#supplementary-material

# REFERENCES

- Adolphs, R. (2013). The Biology of Fear. Curr. Biol. 23 (2), R79–R93. doi:10.1016/ j.cub.2012.11.055
- Asjad, N. S., Adams, H., Paris, R., and Bodenheimer, B. (2018). Perception of Height in Virtual Reality. Proc. - SAP 2018: ACM Symp. Appl. Perception August. doi:10.1145/3225153.3225171
- Bamford, S., Broyd, S. J., Benikos, N., Ward, R., Wiersema, J. R., and Sonuga-Barke, E. (2015). The Late Positive Potential: A Neural Marker of the Regulation of Emotion-Based Approach-Avoidance Actions? *Biol. Psychol.* 105, 115–123. doi:10.1016/j.biopsycho.2015.01.009
- Bastiaansen, M., Mazaheri, A., and Jensen, O. (2011). Beyond ERPs: Oscillatory Neuronal. The Oxford Handbook of Event-related Potential Components, 31–50.
- Berking, M., and Znoj, H. (2008). Entwicklung und Validierung eines Fragebogens zur standardisierten Selbsteinschätzung emotionaler Kompetenzen (SEK-27). Z. für Psychiatrie, Psychol. Psychotherapie 56 (2), 141–153. doi:10.1024/1661-4747.56.2.141
- Bernardo, P. D., Bains, A., Westwood, S., and Mograbi, D. C. (2020). Mood Induction Using Virtual Reality: a Systematic Review of Recent Findings. J. Tech. Behav. Sci. doi:10.1007/s41347-020-00152-9
- Bernstein, D. A., and Nietzel, M. T. (1973). Procedural Variation in Behavioral Avoidance Tests. J. Consulting Clin. Psychol. 41 (Issue 2), 165–174. doi:10.1037/ h0035170
- Biedermann, S. V., Biedermann, D. G., Wenzlaff, F., Kurjak, T., Nouri, S., Auer, M. K., et al. (2017). An Elevated Plus-Maze in Mixed Reality for Studying Human Anxiety-Related Behavior. *BMC Biol.* 15 (1). doi:10.1186/s12915-017-0463-6
- Blanchard, R. J., and Blanchard, D. C. (1969). Passive and active reactions to feareliciting stimuli. J. Comp. Physiol. Psychol. 68 (1), 129.
- Blascovich, J., Loomis, J., Beall, A. C., Swinth, K. R., Hoyt, C. L., and Bailenson, J. N. (2002). TARGET ARTICLE: Immersive Virtual Environment Technology as a Methodological Tool for Social Psychology. *Psychol. Inq.* 13 (2), 103–124. doi:10.1207/S15327965PLI1302\_01
- Bohil, C. J., Alicea, B., and Biocca, F. A. (2011). Virtual Reality in Neuroscience Research and Therapy. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 12 (12), 752–762. doi:10.1038/nrn3122
- Botella, C., Fernández-Álvarez, J., Guillén, V., García-Palacios, A., and Baños, R. (2017). Recent Progress in Virtual Reality Exposure Therapy for Phobias: a Systematic Review. *Curr. Psychiatry Rep.* 19 (7), 42ff. doi:10.1007/s11920-017-0788-4
- Bouchard, S., Côté, S., St-Jacques, J., Robillard, G., and Renaud, P. (2006). Effectiveness of Virtual Reality Exposure in the Treatment of Arachnophobia Using 3D Games. *Thc* 14 (1), 19–27. doi:10.3233/thc-2006-14103
- Brouwer, A. M., Neerincx, M. A., Kallen, V., van der Leer, L., and Brinke, M. T. (2011). EEG Alpha Asymmetry, Heart Rate Variability and Cortisol in Response to Virtual Reality Induced Stress. *J. Cyber Ther. Rehabil.* 4 (1), 27–40.
- Brown, J. S., Kalish, H. I., and Farber, I. E. (1951). Conditioned Fear as Revealed by Magnitude of Startle Response to an Auditory Stimulus. *J. Exp. Psychol.* 41 (Issue 5), 317–328. doi:10.1037/h0060166
- Cabeza, R., and St Jacques, P. (2007). Functional Neuroimaging of Autobiographical Memory. *Trends Cogn. Sci.* 11 (5), 219–227. doi:10.1016/ j.tics.2007.02.005
- Cannon, W. B. (1929). Bodily Changes in Pain, Hunger, Fear and Rage. New York: D. Appleton & Co, 360–376.
- Carboni, A., Kessel, D., Capilla, A., and Carretié, L. (2017). The Influence of Affective State on Exogenous Attention to Emotional Distractors: Behavioral and Electrophysiological Correlates. *Scientific Rep.* 7 (1), 1–13. doi:10.1038/ s41598-017-07249-x
- Carretié, L., Ríos, M., Periáñez, J. A., Kessel, D., and Álvarez-Linera, J. (2012). The Role of Low and High Spatial Frequencies in Exogenous Attention to Biologically Salient Stimuli. PLOS ONE 7 (5), e37082. doi:10.1371/ journal.pone.0037082
- Carver, C. S., and White, T. L. (1994). The BIS\_BAS Scales.Pdf. J. Personal. Soc. Psychol. 67 (Issue 2), 319–333. doi:10.1037/0022-3514.67.2.319
- Castaldo, R., Melillo, P., Bracale, U., Caserta, M., Triassi, M., and Pecchia, L. (2015). Acute Mental Stress Assessment via Short Term HRV Analysis in Healthy Adults: A Systematic Review with Meta-Analysis. *Biomed. Signal Process. Control.* 18, 370–377. doi:10.1016/j.bspc.2015.02.012

- Chirico, A., and Gaggioli, A. (2019). When Virtual Feels Real: Comparing Emotional Responses and Presence in Virtual and Natural Environments. *Cyberpsychology*, *Behav. Soc. Networking* 22 (3), 220–226. doi:10.1089/cyber.2018.0393
- Cisler, J. M., Olatunji, B. O., Feldner, M. T., and Forsyth, J. P. (2010). Emotion Regulation and the Anxiety Disorders: An Integrative Review. J. Psychopathol Behav. Assess. 32 (1), 68–82. doi:10.1007/s10862-009-9161-1
- Coan, J. A., Allen, J. J. B., and Mcknight, P. E. (2006). A Capability Model of Individual Differences in Frontal EEG Asymmetry. *Biol. Psychol.* 72, 198–207. doi:10.1016/j.biopsycho.2005.10.003.A
- Coelho, C. M., Waters, A. M., Hine, T. J., and Wallis, G. (2009). The Use of Virtual Reality in Acrophobia Research and Treatment. J. Anxiety Disord. 23 (5), 563–574. doi:10.1016/j.janxdis.2009.01.014
- Cohen, M. X. (2014). Analyzing Neural Time Series Data: Theory and Practice. MIT press. doi:10.7551/mitpress/9609.001.0001
- Corr, P. J., and Cooper, A. J. (2016). The Reinforcement Sensitivity Theory of Personality Questionnaire (RST-PQ): Development and Validation. *Psychol. Assess.* 28 (11), 1427–1440. doi:10.1037/pas0000273
- Dan, A., and Reiner, M. (2017). EEG-based Cognitive Load of Processing Events in 3D Virtual Worlds Is Lower Than Processing Events in 2D Displays. Int. J. Psychophysiology 122, 75–84. doi:10.1016/j.ijpsycho.2016.08.013
- Davidson, R. J. (1998). Anterior Electrophysiological Asymmetries, Emotion, and Depression: Conceptual and Methodological Conundrums. *Psychophysiol.* 35 (5), 607–614. doi:10.1017/S0048577298000134
- Davidson, R. J., Ekman, P., Saron, C. D., Senulis, J. A., and Friesen, W. V. (1990). Approach-Withdrawl and Cerebral Asymmetry: Emotional Expression and Brain Physiology I. J. Personal. Soc. Psychol. 58 (Issue 2), 330–341. doi:10.1037/ 0022-3514.58.2.330
- de la Rosa, S., and Breidt, M. (2018). Virtual Reality: A New Track in Psychological Research. Br. J. Psychol. 109 (3), 427–430. doi:10.1111/bjop.12302
- Deacon, B., and Olatunji, B. O. (2007). Specificity of Disgust Sensitivity in the Prediction of Behavioral Avoidance in Contamination Fear. *Behav. Res. Ther.*, 45(9), 2110–2120. doi:10.1016/j.brat.2007.03.008
- Debener, S., Minow, F., Emkes, R., Gandras, K., and de Vos, M. (2012). How about Taking a Low-Cost, Small, and Wireless EEG for a Walk? *Psychophysiol* 49 (11), 1617–1621. doi:10.1111/j.1469-8986.2012.01471.x
- Debiec, J., and Ledoux, J. (2004). Jacek Debiec and Joseph LeDoux. Soc. Res. 71 (4), 807–818.
- Delorme, A., and Makeig, S. (2004). EEGLAB: an Open Source Toolbox for Analysis of Single-Trial EEG Dynamics Including Independent Component Analysis. *J. Neurosci. Methods* 134 (1), 9–21. doi:10.1016/j.jneumeth.2003.10.009
- Dibbets, P., and Schulte-Ostermann, M. A. (2015). Virtual Reality, Real Emotions: a Novel Analogue for the Assessment of Risk Factors of posttraumatic Stress Disorder. *Front. Psychol.* 6 (May), 1–8. doi:10.3389/ fpsyg.2015.00681
- Diemer, J., Alpers, G. W., Peperkorn, H. M., Shiban, Y., and Mã¼hlberger, A. (2015). The Impact of Perception and Presence on Emotional Reactions: A Review of Research in Virtual Reality. *Front. Psychol.* 6 (JAN). doi:10.3389/ fpsyg.2015.00026
- Fanselow, M. S. (1994). Neural Organization of the Defensive Behavior System Responsible for Fear. *Psychon. Bull. Rev.* 1 (4), 429–438. doi:10.3758/ BF03210947
- Felnhofer, A., Kothgassner, O. D., Schmidt, M., Heinzle, A.-K., Beutl, L., Hlavacs, H., et al. (2015). Is Virtual Reality Emotionally Arousing? Investigating Five Emotion Inducing Virtual Park Scenarios. *Int. J. Human-Computer Stud.* 82, 48–56. doi:10.1016/j.ijhcs.2015.05.004
- Gable, P., and Harmon-Jones, E. (2008). Relative Left Frontal Activation to Appetitive Stimuli: Considering the Role of Individual Differences. *Psychophysiology* 45 (2), 275–278. doi:10.1111/j.1469-8986.2007.00627.x
- Gorini, A., Griez, E., Petrova, A., and Riva, G. (2010). Assessment of the Emotional Responses Produced by Exposure to Real Food, Virtual Food and Photographs of Food in Patients Affected by Eating Disorders. *Ann. Gen. Psychiatry* 9, 30–39. doi:10.1186/1744-859X-9-30
- Gray, J. A., and McNaughton, N. (2000). *The Neuropsychology of Anxiety: An Enquiry into the Functions of the Septo-Hippocampal System Title.* 2nd Edn. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Grillon, C., and Ameli, R. (2001). Conditioned Inhibition of Fear-Potentiated Startle and Skin Conductance in Humans. *Psychophysiology* 38 (5), 807–815. doi:10.1017/S004857720100029410.1111/1469-8986.3850807

- Gromer, D., Madeira, O., Gast, P., Nehfischer, M., Jost, M., Müller, M., et al. (2018). Height Simulation in a Virtual Reality Cave System: Validity of Fear Responses and Effects of an Immersion Manipulation. *Front. Hum. Neurosci.* 12 (September), 1–10. doi:10.3389/fnhum.2018.00372
- Gromer, D., Reinke, M., Christner, I., and Pauli, P. (2019). Causal Interactive Links between Presence and Fear in Virtual Reality Height Exposure. *Front. Psychol.* 10 (JAN), 1–11. doi:10.3389/fpsyg.2019.00141
- Harmon-Jones, E., and Gable, P. A. (2018). On the Role of Asymmetric Frontal Cortical Activity in Approach and Withdrawal Motivation: An Updated Review of the Evidence. *Psychophysiology* 55 (1). doi:10.1111/psyp.12879
- Harmon-Jones, E., Gable, P. A., and Peterson, C. K. (2010). The Role of Asymmetric Frontal Cortical Activity in Emotion-Related Phenomena: A Review and Update. *Biol. Psychol.* 84 (3), 451–462. doi:10.1016/ j.biopsycho.2009.08.010
- Hermann, A., Schäfer, A., Walter, B., Stark, R., Vaitl, D., and Schienle, A. (2009). Emotion Regulation in Spider Phobia: Role of the Medial Prefrontal Cortex. Soc. Cogn. Affect Neurosci. 4 (3), 257–267. doi:10.1093/scan/nsp013
- Hertweck, S., Weber, D., Alwanni, H., Unruh, F., Fischbach, M., Latoschik, M. E., et al. (2019). Brain Activity in Virtual Reality: Assessing Signal Quality of High-Resolution EEG while Using Head-Mounted Displays. In 2019 IEEE Conference on Virtual Reality and 3D User Interfaces. Osaka, Japan: VR, 970–971.
- Heuer, K., Rinck, M., and Becker, E. S. (2007). Avoidance of Emotional Facial Expressions in Social Anxiety: The Approach-Avoidance Task. *Behav. Res. Ther.*, 45(12), 2990–3001. doi:10.1016/j.brat.2007.08.010
- Higuera-Trujillo, J. L., López-Tarruella Maldonado, J., and Llinares Millán, C. (2017). Psychological and Physiological Human Responses to Simulated and Real Environments: A Comparison between Photographs, 360° Panoramas, and Virtual Reality. Appl. Ergon. 65, 398–409. doi:10.1016/j.apergo.2017.05.006

Hofmann, W., Friese, M., and Gschwendner, T. (2009). Men on the "Pull". Soc. Psychol. 40 (2), 73-78. doi:10.1027/1864-9335.40.2.73

Jarius, S., and Wildemann, B. (2015). And Pavlov Still Rings a bell: Summarising the Evidence for the Use of a bell in Pavlov's Iconic Experiments on Classical Conditioning. J. Neurol. 262 (9), 2177–2178. doi:10.1007/s00415-015-7858-5

- Kisker, J., Gruber, T., and Schöne, B. (2019a). Behavioral Realism and Lifelike Psychophysiological Responses in Virtual Reality by the Example of a Height Exposure. *Psychol. Res.* 85, 68–81. doi:10.1007/s00426-019-01244-9
- Kisker, J., Gruber, T., and Schöne, B. (2019b). Experiences in Virtual Reality Entail Different Processes of Retrieval as Opposed to Conventional Laboratory Settings: A Study on Human Memory. *Curr. Psychol.* 40, 3190–3197. doi:10.1007/s12144-019-00257-2
- Kisker, J., Gruber, T., and Schöne, B. (2020). Virtual Reality Experiences Promote Autobiographical Retrieval Mechanisms: Electrophysiological Correlates of Laboratory and Virtual Experiences. *Psychol. Res.* doi:10.1007/s00426-020-01417-x
- Koch, M. D., O'Neill, H. K., Sawchuk, C. N., and Connolly, K. (2002). Domainspecific and Generalized Disgust Sensitivity in Blood-Injection-Injury Phobia:. J. Anxiety Disord., 16(5), 511–527. doi:10.1016/S0887-6185(02)00170-6
- Krieglmeyer, R., and Deutsch, R. (2010). Comparing Measures of Approach-Avoidance Behaviour: The Manikin Task vs. Two Versions of the Joystick Task. *Cogn. Emot.* 24 (5), 810–828. doi:10.1080/02699930903047298
- Krohne, H. W., Egloff, B., Kohlmann, C.-W., and Tausch, A. (1996). Untersuchungen mit einer deutschen Version der" Positive and negative Affect Schedule" (PANAS). *Diagnostica-Gottingen-* 42, 139–156.
- Kvavilashvili, L., and Ellis, J. (2004). Ecological Validity and the Real-Life/ laboratory Controversy in Memory Research: A Critical (And Historical) Review. *Hist. Philos. Psychol.*
- Lacey, M. F., Neal, L. B., and Gable, P. A. (2020). Effortful Control of Motivation, not Withdrawal Motivation, Relates to Greater Right Frontal Asymmetry. *Int. J. Psychophysiol.* 147, 18–25.
- Lange, L., and Osinsky, R. (2020). Aiming at Ecological Validity-Midfrontal Theta Oscillations in a Toy Gun Shooting Task. *Eur. J. Neurosci.*, 1–11. doi:10.1111/ ejn.14977
- Lanius, R., Frewen, P., Vermetten, E., and Yehuda, R. (2010). Fear Conditioning and Early Life Vulnerabilities: Two Distinct Pathways of Emotional Dysregulation and Brain Dysfunction in PTSD. *Eur. J. Psychotraumatology* 1 (1), 5467. doi:10.3402/ejpt.v1i0.5467
- Laux, L., Glanzmann, P., Schaffner, P., and Spielberger, C. D. (1981). Das State-Trait-Angstinventar (STAI). Weinheim: Theoretische Grundlagen und Anweisungen. Beltz.

- LeDoux, J. E. (2014). Coming to Terms with Fear. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 111 (8), 2871–2878. doi:10.1073/pnas.1400335111
- LeDoux, J. E. (1995). Emotion: Clues from the Brain. Annu. Rev. Psychol. 46, 209-235. doi:10.1146/annurev.ps.46.020195.001233
- LeDoux, J. E. (1996). The Emotional Brain Simon Schuster. New York.
- LeDoux, J. (1998). Fear and the Brain: Where Have We Been, and where Are We Going? *Biol. Psychiatry* 44 (12), 1229–1238. doi:10.1016/S0006-3223(98)00282-0
- Leibetseder, M., Laireiter, A.-R., and Köller, T. (2007). Structural Analysis of the E-Scale. Personal. Individual Differences 42 (3), 547–561. doi:10.1016/j.paid.2006.08.002
- Lin, J.-H. T. (2017). Fear in Virtual Reality (VR): Fear Elements, Coping Reactions, Immediate and Next-Day Fright Responses toward a Survival Horror Zombie Virtual Reality Game. Comput. Hum. Behav. 72 (March), 350–361. doi:10.1016/ j.chb.2017.02.057
- Lin, J.-H. T., Wu, D.-Y., and Tao, C.-C. (2018). So Scary, yet So Fun: The Role of Self-Efficacy in Enjoyment of a Virtual Reality Horror Game. *New Media Soc.* 20 (9), 3223–3242. doi:10.1177/1461444817744850
- Lin, J. H. T. (2020). Video Games, Virtual Reality, and Fear Responses. Int. Encyclopedia Media Psychol. 9, 1–6. doi:10.1002/9781119011071.iemp0286
- Lynch, T., and Martins, N. (2015). Nothing to Fear? an Analysis of College Students' Fear Experiences with Video Games. J. Broadcasting Electron. Media 59 (2), 298–317. doi:10.1080/08838151.2015.1029128
- Madsen, K. E. (2016). The Differential Effects of agency on Fear Induction Using a Horror-Themed Video Game. *Comput. Hum. Behav.*, 56, 142–146. doi:10.1016/ j.chb.2015.11.041
- Makeig, S., Gramann, K., Jung, T.-P., Sejnowski, T. J., and Poizner, H. (2009). Linking Brain, Mind and Behavior. Int. J. Psychophysiology 73 (2), 95–100. doi:10.1016/j.ijpsycho.2008.11.008
- McLean, C. P., and Anderson, E. R. (2009). Brave Men and Timid Women? A Review of the Gender Differences in Fear and Anxiety. *Clin. Psychol. Rev.* 29 (6), 496–505. doi:10.1016/j.cpr.2009.05.003
- Nathan, K., and Contreras-Vidal, J. L. (2016). Negligible Motion Artifacts in Scalp Electroencephalography (EEG) during Treadmill Walking. Front. Hum. Neurosci. 9 (JAN2016), 1–12. doi:10.3389/fnhum.2015.00708
- Nolan, H., Whelan, R., and Reilly, R. B. (2010). FASTER: Fully Automated Statistical Thresholding for EEG Artifact Rejection. J. Neurosci. Methods 192 (1), 152–162. doi:10.1016/j.jneumeth.2010.07.015
- Pan, X., and Hamilton, A. F. d. C. (2018). Why and How to Use Virtual Reality to Study Human Social Interaction: The Challenges of Exploring a New Research Landscape. Br. J. Psychol. 109, 395–417. doi:10.1111/bjop.12290
- Parsons, T. D., Courtney, C. G., and Dawson, M. E. (2013). Virtual Reality Stroop Task for Assessment of Supervisory Attentional Processing. J. Clin. Exp. Neuropsychol. 35 (8), 812–826. doi:10.1080/13803395.2013.824556
- Parsons, T. D. (2019). Ethical Challenges in Digital Psychology and Cyberpsychology. Cambridge University Press. doi:10.1017/9781108553384
- Parsons, T. D. (2015). Virtual Reality for Enhanced Ecological Validity and Experimental Control in the Clinical, Affective and Social Neurosciences. *Front. Hum. Neurosci.* 9 (December), 1–19. doi:10.3389/fnhum.2015.00660
- Phosphor Games (2016). The Brookhaven Experiment (VR game programm). Chicago, IL: Phosphor Games.
- Pugnaghi, G., Cooper, A., Ettinger, U., and Corr, P. J. (2018). The Psychometric Properties of the German Language Reinforcement Sensitivity Theory-Personality Questionnaire (RST-PQ). J. Individual Differences 39 (3), 182–190. doi:10.1027/1614-0001/a000262
- Ragan, E. D., Sowndararajan, A., Kopper, R., and Bowman, D. A. (2010). The Effects of Higher Levels of Immersion on Procedure Memorization Performance and Implications for Educational Virtual Environments. *Presence: Teleoperators and Virtual Environments* 19 (6), 527–543. doi:10.1162/pres\_a\_00016
- Rinck, M., and Becker, E. S. (2007). Approach and Avoidance in Fear of Spiders. J. Behav. Ther. Exp. Psychiatry, 38(2), 105–120. doi:10.1016/ j.jbtep.2006.10.001
- Rinck, M., Kwakkenbos, L., Dotsch, R., Wigboldus, D. H. J., and Becker, E. S. (2010). Attentional and Behavioural Responses of Spider Fearfuls to Virtual Spiders. *Cogn. Emot.* 24 (7), 1199–1206. doi:10.1080/02699930903135945
- Riva, G., Mantovani, F., Capideville, C. S., Preziosa, A., Morganti, F., Villani, D., et al. (2007). Affective Interactions Using Virtual Reality: The Link between Presence and Emotions. *CyberPsychology Behav.* 10 (1), 45–56. doi:10.1089/ cpb.2006.9993

- Riva, G., Wiederhold, B. K., and Mantovani, F. (2019). Neuroscience of Virtual Reality: From Virtual Exposure to Embodied Medicine. *Cyberpsychology*, *Behav. Soc. Networking* 22 (1), 82–96. doi:10.1089/cyber.2017.29099.gri
- Rodrigues, J., Müller, M., Mühlberger, A., and Hewig, J. (2018). Mind the Movement: Frontal Asymmetry Stands for Behavioral Motivation, Bilateral Frontal Activation for Behavior. *Psychophysiol* 55 (1), e12908–19. doi:10.1111/ psyp.12908
- Schöne, B., Kisker, J., Sylvester, R. S., Radtke, E. L., and Gruber, T. (2021). Library for Universal Virtual Reality Experiments (luVRe): A Standardized Immersive 3D/360° Picture and Video Database for VR Based Research. *Curr. Psychol.* doi:10.1007/s12144-021-01841-1
- Schöne, B., Schomberg, J., Gruber, T., and Quirin, M. (2015). Event-related Frontal Alpha Asymmetries: Electrophysiological Correlates of Approach Motivation. *Exp. Brain Res.* 234 (2), 559–567. doi:10.1007/s00221-015-4483-6
- Schöne, B., Sylvester, R. S., Radtke, E. L., and Gruber, T. (2020). Sustained Inattentional Blindness in Virtual Reality and under Conventional Laboratory Conditions. *Virtual Reality* 25, 209–216. doi:10.1007/s10055-020-00450-w
- Schöne, B., Wessels, M., and Gruber, T. (2019). Experiences in Virtual Reality: A Window to Autobiographical Memory. *Curr. Psychol.* 38 (3), 715–719. doi:10.1007/s12144-017-9648-y
- Schubert, T., Friedmann, F., and Regenbrecht, H. (2001). The Experience of Presence: Factor Analytic Insights. *Presence: Teleoperators & Virtual Environments* 10 (3), 266–281. doi:10.1162/105474601300343603
- Shaffer, F., and Ginsberg, J. P. (2017). An Overview of Heart Rate Variability Metrics and Norms. Front. Public Health 5 (September), 1–17. doi:10.3389/ fpubh.2017.00258
- Slater, M., Gonzalez-Liencres, C., Haggard, P., Vinkers, C., Gregory-Clarke, R., Jelley, S., and Silver, J. (2020). The Ethics of Realism in Virtual and Augmented Reality. *Front. Virtual Reality* 1, 1. doi:10.3389/frvir.2020.00001
- Slater, M. (2009). Place Illusion and Plausibility Can lead to Realistic Behaviour in Immersive Virtual Environments. *Phil. Trans. R. Soc. B* 364 (1535), 3549–3557. doi:10.1098/rstb.2009.0138
- Slater, M., and Sanchez-Vives, M. V. (2016). Enhancing Our Lives with Immersive Virtual Reality. Front. Robot. AI 3 (December), 1–47. doi:10.3389/ frobt.2016.00074
- Slater, M., and Wilbur, S. (1997). A Framework for Immersive Virtual Environments (FIVE): Speculations on the Role of Presence in Virtual Environments. Presence: Teleoperators & Virtual Environments 6, 603–616. doi:10.1162/pres.1997.6.6.603
- Smith, E. E., Reznik, S. J., Stewart, J. L., and Allen, J. J. B. (2017). Assessing and Conceptualizing Frontal EEG Asymmetry: An Updated Primer on Recording, Processing, Analyzing, and Interpreting Frontal Alpha Asymmetry. *Int. J. Psychophysiology* 111, 98–114. doi:10.1016/j.ijpsycho.2016.11.005
- Smith, S. A. (2019). Virtual Reality in Episodic Memory Research: A Review. *Psychon. Bull. Rev.* 26, 1213–1237. doi:10.3758/s13423-019-01605-w

- Strobel, A., Beauducel, A., Debener, S., and Brocke, B. (2001). Eine deutschsprachige version des BIS/BAS-Fragebogens von carver und white. Z. Für Differentielle Diagnostische Psychol.
- Teatero, M. L., and Penney, A. M. (2015). Fight-or-flight Response Phobias: The Psychology of Irrational Fear. Santa Barbara, CA: Greenwood, 179–180.
- Tobacyk, J. J. (2004). A Revised Paranormal Belief Scale. Int. J. Transpersonal Stud. 23 (23), 94–98. doi:10.24972/ijts.2004.23.1.94
- Wacker, J., Chavanon, M.-L., Leue, A., and Stemmler, G. (2008). Is Running Away Right? the Behavioral Activation-Behavioral Inhibition Model of Anterior Asymmetry. *Emotion* 8 (2), 232–249. doi:10.1037/1528-3542.8.2.232
- Wacker, J., Heldmann, M., Heldmann, M., and Stemmler, G. (2003). Separating Emotion and Motivational Direction in Fear and Anger: Effects on Frontal Asymmetry. *Emotion*, 3(2), 167–193. doi:10.1037/1528-3542.3.2.167
- Wechsler, T. F., Mühlberger, A., and Kümpers, F. (2019). Inferiority or Even Superiority of Virtual Reality Exposure Therapy in Phobias?-A Systematic Review and Quantitative Meta-Analysis on Randomized Controlled Trials Specifically Comparing the Efficacy of Virtual Reality Exposure to Gold Standard In Vivo Exp. Front. Psychol. 10, 1758. doi:10.3389/ fpsyg.2019.01758
- Williams, L. A., and DeSteno, D. (2008). Pride and Perseverance: The Motivational Role of Pride. J. Personal. Soc. Psychol. 94 (6), 1007–1017. doi:10.1037/0022-3514.94.6.1007
- Wolf, E., Schüler, T., and Morisse, K. (2020). Impact of Virtual Embodiment on the Perception of Virtual Heights. Springer International Publishing, 197–211. doi:10.1007/978-3-030-37869-1\_17
- Zuckerman, M. (1996). Item Revisions in the Sensation Seeking Scale Form V (SSS-V). Personal. Individual Differences 20 (4), 515. doi:10.1016/0191-8869(95) 00195-6

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Kisker, Lange, Flinkenflügel, Kaup, Labersweiler, Tetenborg, Ott, Gundler, Gruber, Osinsky and Schöne. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# Virtual Reality and EEG-Based Intelligent Agent in Older Adults With Subjective Cognitive Decline: A Feasibility Study for Effects on Emotion and Cognition

Marc Cuesta<sup>1</sup>, Lynn Valeyry Verty<sup>1,2</sup>, Hamdi Ben Abdessalem<sup>3</sup>, Alexie Byrns<sup>3</sup>, Marie-Andrée Bruneau<sup>1,4</sup>, Claude Frasson<sup>3</sup> and Sylvie Belleville<sup>1,2</sup>\*

<sup>1</sup>Research Centre, Institut Universitaire de Gériatrie de Montréal, Montreal, QC, Canada, <sup>2</sup>Department of Psychology, Université de Montréal, Montreal, QC, Canada, <sup>3</sup>Department of Computer Science and Operational Research, Université de Montréal, Montreal, QC, Canada, <sup>4</sup>Department of Psychiatry and Addictology, Université de Montréal, Montreal, QC, Canada

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Ali Oker, Université de Reims Champagne-Ardenne, France

#### Reviewed by:

Ryan Hampton, University of Wisconsin-Madison, United States Joan Llobera, University of Barcelona, Spain

#### \*Correspondence:

Sylvie Belleville sylvie.belleville@umontreal.ca

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Virtual Reality and Human Behaviour, a section of the journal Frontiers in Virtual Reality

> Received: 02 November 2021 Accepted: 09 December 2021 Published: 19 January 2022

#### Citation:

Cuesta M, Verty LV, Ben Abdessalem H, Byrns A, Bruneau M-A Frasson C and Belleville S (2022) Virtual Reality and EEG-Based Intelligent Agent in Older Adults With Subjective Cognitive Decline: A Feasibility Study for Effects on Emotion and Cognition. Front. Virtual Real. 2:807991. doi: 10.3389/frvir.2021.807991 **Objectives:** Immersive virtual reality has tremendous potential to improve cognition in populations with cognitive impairment. We conducted a feasibility and proof-of-concept study to assess the potential of virtual reality and electroencephalography, with or without an intelligent agent, that adapts the presented material to the emotions elicited by the environment.

**Method:** Older adults with subjective cognitive decline recruited from the community received a virtual reality-based intervention taking place in one of two virtual environments, a train (Part 1, N = 19) or a music theatre, complemented by the intelligent agent (Part 2, N = 19). A comparative control group (N = 19) receiving no intervention was also included. All participants completed measures of affect and cognition before and after the intervention. The intervention groups completed measures of cybersickness and user experience after the intervention.

**Results:** Participants did not suffer from increased cybersickness following either intervention. They also reported a positive to highly positive user experience concerning the following aspects: attractivity, hedonic quality-identity and hedonic quality-stimulation. The measures of affect showed no pre-post change when comparing either intervention to the control condition. However, a reduction of negative affect was observed following the train intervention for participants with a high self-reported negative affect at baseline. Finally, there was a significant improvement in working memory when comparing either intervention group to the control condition.

**Conclusion:** Our results support the feasibility and tolerability of the technology, and a positive impact on cognition, paving the way for a larger-scale randomized clinical trial to confirm efficacy.

Keywords: cognition, emotions, subjective cognitive decline, cybersickness, user experience, virtual reality

# INTRODUCTION

Immersive virtual reality (VR) has been increasingly used in clinical neuropsychology research and to treat neuropsychiatric symptoms (Maples-Keller et al., 2017; Ouellet et al., 2018; La Corte et al., 2019; Corriveau Lecavalier et al., 2020; Dermody et al., 2020). With VR, the user is usually immersed in a virtual environment (VE) through a motion-tracked head-mounted display and controllers, and therefore isolated from external visual and auditive distractions. The user can engage and interact with the environment: it is possible to look around by moving the head, explore by walking and interact with objects by grabbing and throwing for instance. These features create a feeling of presence, i.e., a feeling of being immersed in the environment displayed. VR can be used to incorporate cognitive and physical demands within virtual scenarios that mimic situations that a person faces in his/her everyday life. Thus, VR is extremely promising to increase the ecological validity of measures and interventions.

Given its malleability and various functionalities, VR has become one of the most compelling developments in rehabilitation for diverse populations including older adults. VR has many assets: it allows a high level of interaction in a safe environment; it can be adapted to various characteristics and individual needs; and it offers the potential to develop engaging and effective training with optimal transfer of gains to daily life. This technology could therefore be particularly useful in older adults with or without cognitive impairment and could be associated with other approaches to optimize cognitive vitality and/or prevent cognitive decline. Intervention and feasibility studies using VR have shown encouraging results in this context. The technology has been well tolerated by older adults (Ouellet et al., 2018; Corriveau Lecavalier et al., 2020; Dermody et al., 2020), and was found to contribute to programs aiming to improve cognitive function (Dermody et al., 2020), reduce anxiety disorders and possibly depression (Maples-Keller et al., 2017). However, more interventional and feasibility studies are needed in older adults to assess usability, accessibility and user experience. These studies will address whether the technology is considered accessible and easy to use, and ultimately adopted by older adults either in a clinical context or everyday life (e.g., at home) (Proctor et al., 2011; Holthe et al., 2018).

It is also critical to expand the use of VR to a diversity of older adults, including those who start to experience cognitive challenges or develop psychiatric symptoms. Older adults with subjective cognitive decline (SCD) complain and worry about their cognition. People with SCD perform normally on current neuropsychological tests but they progress to dementia at a higher rate than people with no subjective impression of a decline. Many may be in a very mild phase of Alzheimer's disease or a related disorder, prior to the presence of cognitive impairment (Caillaud et al., 2020). This phase may be ideal to provide cognitive training because older adults with SCD are concerned and aware, and still have the cognitive capabilities to learn and apply new strategies (Lin et al., 2018). Therefore, older adults with SCD are excellent candidates to study VR-based intervention programs.

Because VR immerses individuals into vivid real-life scenarios, it is particularly important to adapt these to individual preferences. One promising avenue is using an electroencephalogram (EEG) to measure brain waves as participants are immersed in the VE and use the signal to contiguously adapt the environment to the participant's emotional reaction. Using artificial intelligence, this technique can be used to personalize the VE and its contents in response to the user's emotional state. Recently, Abdessalem and Frasson developed an intelligent agent system, which is a system that can adapt the presentation of content based on the behaviour and emotions of the VR user. EEG readings are analysed in real-time and the content is adapted based on the recorded brain waves with the goal of creating positive emotions (Abdessalem and Frasson, 2017). The system could track the user's excitement and frustration after extraction from the EEG. The authors reported changes in excitement and frustration of younger adults in response to changes in speed and difficulty of a VR game triggered by the intelligent agent. By having a positive impact on emotions, this approach could also positively impact cognition. Negative emotions have been associated with reduced cognitive and memory performance, and positive emotions with increased performance, particularly for working memory (WM) and controlled attention tasks (Williams et al., 1996; Blair et al., 2007; Verbruggen and De Houwer, 2007; Conway et al., 2013; Su et al., 2017; Garrison and Schmeichel, 2019). Emotions have therefore been proposed to have a mediating effect on these cognitive components. Older adults with SCD have higher levels of neuropsychiatric symptoms during the course of their cognitive decline (Robert et al., 2006; Köhler et al., 2010; Guercio et al., 2015; Lanctôt et al., 2017; Sherman et al., 2018), which in turn impact their emotional state. Therefore, they could greatly benefit from a technology that adapts the presentation of stimulus to its emotional impact. This intelligent agent combined with VR may support more personalized rehabilitation strategies in people with cognitive decline. These technologies could also be particularly useful for older adults who may have negative reactions to technologybased interventions but whose cognitive limitations prevent them from expressing their preferences. Thus, the combined use of the VR and EEG-based technology could be beneficial to promote well-being through emotional state and cognition improvement.

As a first step toward developing a VR- and EEG-based intelligent agent system, we created two VEs (Biamonti et al., 2014; Gómez Gallego and Gómez García, 2017): 1) a train (train intervention) and 2) a music theatre, complemented by the intelligent agent (music intervention). We tested the two VEs during a feasibility study in older adults with  $SCD^1$  and aimed to determine tolerability and user experience after their completion. For the proof-of-concept study, preliminary data on the VEs' impact on self-reported emotion and objective measures of attention and WM, two cognitive domains that have been found to be sensitive to emotional variation (Abdessalem

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Partial data on emotional EEG measures were published in conference proceedings (Abdessalem et al., 2020; Byrns et al., 2020)

et al., 2020; Byrns et al., 2020), were compared to a no-contact control condition.

# MATERIAL AND METHODS

# **Participants**

Included participants were French-speaking, aged 60 and over, with normal or corrected-to-normal vision and hearing, and met recognized criteria for SCD (Belleville et al., 2019). Participants were excluded from the study if they had a history of major psychiatric illness, neurological disorders that could explain the cognitive complaint, alcoholism, significant impairment of physical mobility or the use of hands and known cybersickness or motion sickness. In total, 45 older adults with SCD participated in the study. Nineteen participants (11 female) were included in the train intervention, and nineteen (13 female) were included in the music intervention, of which twelve had also participated in the train intervention. Nineteen people (16 female) were included in the control condition. The sample size was not determined from a power analysis as this was a proof-of-concept study aiming to provide information on tolerability and user experience, and therefore did not target efficacy.

All participants were recruited through the bank of participants of the Institut universitaire de gériatrie de Montréal Research Centre (CRIUGM). Initial contact with prospective participants was conducted over the phone and individuals deemed eligible were invited to visit the CRIUGM. During their visit, they received the information and consent form and completed a brief clinical examination: MoCA (Nasreddine et al., 2005); WMS-IV Logical Memory subtest; Diagnostic Criteria for Apathy (DCA) (Robert et al., 2018); Mild Behavioral Impairment Checklist (MBI-C) (Ismail et al., 2017); Big Five Personality Test (50 items) (Goldberg, 1992).

The study was done in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki and approved by the Research Ethics Board (REB) - vieillissement-neuroimagerie - of the CIUSSS-CSMTL (application #18–34).

# Design

Both the interventions and the control condition were completed during a single visit to the CRIUGM. For participants who completed both the train and the music interventions, there was a delay of at least 3 months between visits. Participants began each visit with a pre-intervention assessment, during which they filled out questionnaires assessing cybersickness and emotions. They then completed six computerized cognitive tasks to measure WM and attention. Participants were then exposed to one of the VEs, which lasted 5 minutes for the train and 10 minutes for the music intervention. Finally, participants completed the post-intervention assessment, including measures of cybersickness and user experience (first goal), as well as questionnaires on emotions and cognitive tasks (second goal). Participants from the control group completed cognitive tasks and questionnaires on emotions twice, separated by a 10-min discussion with a member of the research team on

topics unrelated to the study. Parallel versions of the cognitive tasks were used at pre- and post-intervention to reduce learning effects. These were presented in a fixed order across participants.

# Interventions

Both VEs were created with Unity 3D and presented with the Fove0 VR headset (Fove Inc., Torrance, CA, US). Concurrently, brain waves were recorded with the Epoc + portable EEG headset (Emotiv, San Franscisco, CA, US) (Abdessalem et al., 2020; Byrns et al., 2020). The headset includes 14 electrodes spatially organized according to the international 10–20 system (AF3, AF4, F3, F4, F7, F8, FC5, FC6, P7, P8, T7, T8, O1, O2). Raw EEG was captured at the rate of 128Hz and provided the power of five frequency bands (theta, alpha, low and high beta, gamma). EEG recording was supplemented by an intelligent agent in the music intervention only.

In the train intervention, the participant was seated in a virtual train, where he/she could see different changing landscapes (e.g., forest, snowy mountains, sunny desert, **Figure 1A**). Participants could turn their head to explore the environment around them. The speed of the train was the same for all participants and was set to allow a proper observation of the environment without being too slow. There was no intelligent agent, as our goal was to assess the feasibility and experience related to a realistic and peaceful travel environment.

In the music intervention, participants were seated in a theater and were presented with eight different 30 s musical pieces from different repertoires (e.g., Clair De Lune, Debussy; La Vie En Rose, Piaf (de la Torre-Luque et al., 2017)) accompanied by animated instruments and firework-like visual effects (**Figure 1B**) (Valdez and Mehrabian, 1994). While pieces were being played, the intelligent agent recorded brain waves and analyzed them to provide an estimate of its emotional impact. This information was used to determine the piece that was associated with the highest positivity value. This piece was then presented for 2 minutes.

# **Outcome Measures**

Cybersickness and User Experience Questionnaires Cybersickness was measured with the Cybersickness Questionnaire (CSQ (Sevinc and Berkman, 2020)) using nine items rated on a 3-point Likert scale from 0 (not at all) to 2 (moderately). The CSQ comprises two subscales, "dizziness" (maximum scores: 7.52) and "difficulty in focusing" (maximum score: 5.66). The AttrakDiff 2 scale is a validated tool to evaluate user experience (Lallemand et al., 2015). The scale includes 28 items combined to measure different dimensions: Pragmatic Quality (PQ), Attractiveness (ATT) and Hedonic Quality (HQ), which is subdivided into Stimulation (HQ-S) and Identity (HQ-I) dimensions. Each item consisted of a pair of opposed adjectives ranked with a score from -3 (for example extremely unpleasant) to +3 (for example extremely pleasant). A score of 0 means that the item was considered neutral (for example neither unpleasant nor pleasant). Data are presented using the scores on individual word-pairs, the combined scores for the four categories (PQ, ATT, HQ-S, HQ-I) or by plotting HQ against PQ (known as the portfolio results).


## Affect and Cognitive Measures

The *positive and negative affect schedule (PANAS)* scale (Watson et al., 1988) comprises 10 items measuring positive affect (PA) and 10 measuring negative affect (NA) (maximum score for each scale = 50).

Four computerized WM tasks and two attentional tasks were used. In WM task 1, participants were asked to memorize six images of objects and written words (maximum score = 6) (Nasreddine et al., 2005). In WM task 2, they had to memorize a sequence of two sets of four and six circles presented one by one (maximum score = 10) (Nasreddine et al., 2005). WM task three involved memorizing a set of three images presented simultaneously. This task was repeated twice (maximum score = 2) (Nasreddine et al., 2005). In WM task 4, participants were asked to record two series of orallypresented digits on a numerical pad (first series: five digits, order of presentation; second series: three digits, backward order; maximum score = 8) (Leark et al., 2007). In attention task 1, participants were asked to indicate when the letter "A" was displayed in a series of presented letters ("A" presented 11 times among a series of 30 letters: maximum score = 11) (Asato et al., 2006). In attention task 2, they were presented with four letters and asked to indicate the letter corresponding to the first letter of the name of an image that was previously presented. This task was repeated six times (maximum score = 6) (Leark et al., 2007).

## **Statistical Analyses**

All statistical tests were done using IBM SPSS Statistics V26 (Armonk, NY, United States). They were two-tailed and a p value <0.05 was chosen for statistical significance. All analyses were done separately for the train and music interventions.

Ordinal data were analyzed with parametric tests rather than non-parametric scales as they provide a more in-depth analysis, and they are robust to violations of data assumptions and are more versatile, powerful and comprehensive (Norman, 2010).

Group differences for clinical characteristics were tested between each intervention group and the controls at baseline, with a t-test or  $\chi^2$  test as appropriate. For the cybersickness scale, the pre-post score difference was tested for each subscale using paired-sample t-tests.

Data for the word-pair dimensions and categories were analyzed with confidence intervals (CI) for the AttrakDiff two scales, which are only measured at post-intervention. A score was considered as significantly different from a neutral assessment when the 95% CI did not cross zero. Significantly different scores that were larger than two or minus two were considered as highly positive or highly negative, respectively. To assess the intervention effect on the PANAS, as PA and NA scales are correlated (Crawford and Henry, 2004), we used MANOVAs with group (train or music vs control) as a between-subject factor and time (pre-vs post-) as a within-subject factor. Per-item analysis of the PA and NA scales were also performed with MANOVAs. We conducted additional exploratory analyses to better assess pre-post intervention effects on PA and NA. We categorized participants with low vs high baseline PA and NA values and analyzed these data with mixed ANOVAs using baseline PANAS score (low vs high) as a betweensubject factor and time (pre-vs post-) as a within-subject factor. This was done separately for each group (train, music and control) as our sample size was too small to test three-way interactions. Least Significant Difference (LSD) post-hoc tests were conducted when a significant baseline

#### TABLE 1 | Participants' demographic and clinical characteristics.

		Train intervention		Music intervention		Control		Train vs control	Music vs control
		Mean (SD) or N	Range	Mean (SD) or N	Range	Mean (SD) or N	Range	p value	p value
Age (y)		69.7 (5.5)	62–81	72.3 (5.8)	62–86	72.4 (6.5)	62–86	0.17	0.96
Sex (male N, female N)		8, 11	N/A	6, 13	N/A	3, 16	N/A	0.07	0.25
Education (y)		15.3 (1.8)	11–18	15.9 (2.4)	11-21	16.1 (2.4)	12-20	0.29	0.89
MoCA score (/30)		28.2 (1.4)	25–30	27.9 (1.4)	25–30	28.7 (1.2)	26–30	0.27	0.07
Logical memory subtest (/25)	Immediate	15.5 (3.1)	10-22	15.6 (3.1)	11-22	17.3 (3.3)	11-21	0.10	0.11
	Delayed	14.5 (3.9)	8–22	14.9 (4.0)	8–22	16.8 (3.9)	9–19	0.08	0.16
ADC diagnostic (N)		0	N/A	0	N/A	0	N/A	N/A	N/A
MBI-C (/102)		1.9 (3.1)	0–9	3.4 (3.5)	0-10	2.8 (4.8)	0–17	0.47	0.70
Big-Five Personality Test (/40)	Extraversion	19.7 (6.9)	11–31	21.8 (5.9)	13–30	17.3 (5.6)	4–25	0.24	< 0.05
	Agreeability	31.0 (2.5)	27–35	31.3 (3.1)	23–36	28.2 (3.3)	20–33	<0.01	<0.01
	Conscientiousness	26.2 (6.8)	5–34	27.5 (7.0)	5–37	26.8 (4.1)	20–33	0.71	0.74
	Neuroticism	23.6 (7.3)	5–38	22.8 (7.3)	5–38	27.1 (5.7)	11–35	0.11	0.05
	Openness to Experience	26.6 (4.4)	20–40	26.7 (4.0)	17–36	25.8 (4.5)	15–35	0.59	0.52

ADC, apathy diagnostic criteria; MBI-C, Mild Behavioral Impairment-Checklist; MoCA, montreal cognitive assessment; N/A, not applicable; SD, standard deviation; y, years.



score x time interaction was found. The intervention effects on cognitive measures were analyzed separately for each task and intervention group using mixed ANOVAs with group (train or music vs control) as a between-subject factor and time (pre-vs post-) as a within-subject factor. LSD post-hoc tests were conducted when a significant interaction was found.

## RESULTS

# Participants' Demographic and Clinical Characteristics

Baseline characteristics of participants were similar when comparing controls to the train or music intervention groups, except for two personality traits (**Table 1**): Participants from the control condition were less extraverted than these from the music intervention (p < 0.05) and less agreeable than these from both train and music interventions (p < 0.01 for both).

# Cybersickness Symptoms and User Experience

No significant post-vs. pre-intervention differences were found for both vertigo (0.23 (0.37) vs. 0.33 (0.68) for train intervention; 0.59 (0.81) vs. 0.80 (0.96) for music intervention) and difficulty to focus (0.13 (0.33) vs. 0.15 (0.40) for train intervention; 0.38 (0.58) vs. 0.64 (0.77)) for music intervention) subscales of the CSQ. Results on the user experience questionnaires are shown in Figures 2A,B. For both environments, a few word-pairs were considered in the neutral range (with 95% CI between -1 and 1): unpredictablepredictable; isolating-connective; separates me from people/ brings me closer to other people. The technical-human wordpair was also perceived as neutral for the train environment while the music environment was considered technical. Several other word-pairs describing the music intervention were ranked with a highly positive score, while this was not the case for the train intervention (Figure 2B). All user experience dimensions were perceived as positive or highly positive, except for PQ in the music intervention. The portfolio presentation (Figure 2C), which focuses on HQ and PQs, indicates that both interventions were judged as self-oriented or desired. The train intervention could also be characterized as neutral or task-oriented.

## Affect Measures

The MANOVA on the PANAS scores for the train intervention revealed no significant main effect of group, F (2,32) = 2.24, p =0.12, Wilk's  $\Lambda = 0.88$ , time, F (2,32) = 0.10, p = 0.90, Wilk's  $\Lambda =$ 0.99, or group x time interaction, F (Valdez and Mehrabian, 1994; Dermody et al., 2020) = 0.49, p = 0.62, Wilk's  $\Lambda = 0.97$ (Supplementary Figures 1A,B). For the music intervention, the MANOVA yielded no significant main effect of group, F (2,35) = 0.88, p = 0.42 Wilk's  $\Lambda = 0.95$ , time, F (2,35) = 0.46, p =0.64, Wilk's  $\Lambda$  = 0.97), or group × time interaction, F (2,35) = 0.62, p = 0.54, Wilk's  $\Lambda = 0.97$ ) (Supplementary Figures 1C,D). No significant effect was found for any of the fixed factors and their interaction when analyzing the different NA and PA items in both the train and the music intervention (Supplementary Table 1), except for a main effect of time in the NA items for the music intervention (F (10,26) = 2.41, p < 0.05, Wilk's  $\Lambda = 0.52$ ; Supplementary Table S1).

The ANOVA examining the train intervention effect on PA in participants with *high* vs *low baseline* scores (**Supplementary Figure 2A**) yielded a significant main effect of baseline score (F  $(1,14) = 8.02, p < 0.05, \omega_p^2 = 0.31)$ , but no main effect of time (F (1,14) = 0.18, p = 0.68) or baseline score × time interaction (F (1,14) = 1.63, p = 0.22). The ANOVA results on NA (**Supplementary Figure 2B**) indicated a significant main effect of baseline score (F (1,16) = 25.47,  $p < 0.001, \omega_p^2 = 0.58$ ), time (F (1,16) = 5.98,  $p < 0.05, \omega_p^2 = 0.12$ ), and baseline score × time interaction (F (1,16) = 6.61,  $p < 0.05, \omega_p^2 = 0.14$ ). This was due to a decrease of NA in the *high baseline* group only (mean difference of 4.0, p < 0.01; and 0.1, p = 0.93 for the *high and low baseline* groups, respectively). In addition, the significant difference observed between the two groups at baseline (mean difference of 6.17, p < 0.001) was no longer significant after the intervention (mean difference of 2.1, p = 0.13).

The ANOVA examining the music intervention effect on PA in *high vs low baseline* participants revealed a main effect of baseline score (**Supplementary Figure 2C**) (F (1,17) = 14.61, p < 0.001,  $\omega_p^2 = 0.42$ ) but no main effect of time (F (1,17) = 1.43, p = 0.25) or baseline score × time interaction (F (1,17) = 0.24, p = 0.63). The results of the ANOVA on NA showed (**Supplementary Figure 2D**) a main effect of baseline score (F (1,17) = 20.73, p < 0.001,  $\omega_p^2 = 0.51$ ), but no main effect of time (F (1,17) = 0.087, p = 0.77) or baseline score × time interaction (F (1,17) = 0.035, p = 0.85).

In the control group, there was a main effect of baseline score (F (1,17) = 37.4, p < 0.0001,  $\omega_p^2 = 0.31$ ) for PA, but no main effect of time (F (1,17) = 0.26, p = 0.61) or baseline score × time interaction (F (1,17) = 3.24, p = 0.09) (**Supplementary Figure 2E**), as expected. Similarly, the ANOVA on NA in the control group yielded no significant main effect of baseline score (F (1,17) = 6.9, p < 0.05,  $\omega_p^2 = 0.31$ ), time (F (1,17) = 0.30, p = 0.59); or baseline score × time interaction (F (1,17) = 0.10, p = 0.76) (**Supplementary Figure 2F**).

## **Cognitive Measures**

When assessing the effect of the train intervention on WM task 1 (Figure 3A), the ANOVA revealed no significant main effect of group (F (1,36) = 4.13, *p* = 0.05), or time (F (1,36) = 1.05, *p* = 0.31), but a significant interaction (F (1,36) = 9.44, p < 0.01;  $\omega_p^2 = 0.06$ ). Post-hoc tests revealed a significant mean post-pre change score in the intervention group (mean change = 0.63, p < 0.001) that was absent in controls (mean change = -0.32, p = 0.16). For WM task 2, the ANOVA yielded no main effect of group (F (1,36) = 0.12, p =0.73), or time (F (1,36) = 0.59, p = 0.45), but a significant interaction (F (1,36) = 8.27, p < 0.01;  $\omega_p^2 = 0.08$ ) (Figure 3B). Pairwise comparisons show that the mean post-pre change score was significant in the intervention group (mean change = 2.0, p <0.05), but not in the control group (mean change = -1.16, p = 0.16). No significant main effects or interactions were observed for WM tasks 3 (Figure 3C) and 4, and attention tasks one and 2. However, a significant main effect of time (F (1,36) = 4.56, p < 0.05;  $\omega_p^2$  = 0.06) was found on attention task two scores (Supplementary Table S2).

The ANOVA examining the music intervention effect on WM task 1 (**Figure 3D**) indicated no main effect of group (F (1,36) = 0.95, p = 0.34), or time (F (1,36) = 0.03, p = 0.86), but a significant interaction (F (1,36) = 5.24, p < 0.05;  $\omega_p^2 = 0.03$ ). Post hoc tests indicated that the mean post-pre change score was not significant



in both intervention and control groups (Music: mean change = 0.37, *p* = 0.09; Ctrl: mean change = -0.32, *p* = 0.14). The ANOVA on WM task 2 (Figure 3E) revealed no main effect of group, (F (1,36) = 0.002, p = 97, or time, F (1,36) = 0.08, p = 0.77), but a significant interaction (F (1,36) = 5.03, p < 0.01;  $\omega_p^2 = 0.04$ ). Pairwise comparisons showed no significant mean post-pre change score in both intervention and control groups (Music: mean change = 0.89, p = 0.17; Ctrl: mean change = -1.16, p =0.08). The ANOVA on WM task 3 (Figure 3F) yielded no significant main effect of group (F (1,36) = 0.28, p = 0.60) or time, F (1,36) = 11.84, p < 0.01), but a significant interaction (F (1,36) = 11.84, p < 0.01;  $\omega_p^2 = 0.06$ ). Post hoc tests revealed that the mean post-pre change score was significant in the intervention group (mean change = 0.74; p < 0.0001) while it was absent in controls (mean change = 0.00; p = 1.00). No significant main effects or interactions were observed when analyzing the influence of the music intervention on WM task 4, and attention tasks one and 2 (Supplementary Table S3).

## DISCUSSION

To our knowledge, this is the first study to address the tolerability and user experience of fully immersive VEs aimed at improving emotional state and cognition in individuals with SCD. Our first goal was to measure cybersickness and user experience. Our results indicate that participants appreciated and tolerated both train and music VEs well. Our second goal was to assess the impact of each intervention on self-reported emotion and objective measures of WM and attention. NA decreased following the train intervention in participants reporting a high level of NA at baseline. Interestingly, preliminary results indicated that WM may benefit from both interventions, but not attention.

While interventions using VR have gained momentum (Kim et al., 2019), only a few feasibility studies have been conducted in populations of older adults (Manera et al., 2016; Ouellet et al., 2018; Corriveau Lecavalier et al., 2020). Feasibility studies are important to ensure that an effective intervention will be tolerated, appreciated and accepted, and therefore useful to the target population. Here, we extend results from previous studies by showing that older adults with SCD, who are at risk of dementia, did not experience cybersickness symptoms following brief exposure to fully immersive VR.

User experience is a critical element to determine future use of the technology and to guide developers, who can adapt applications to provide the best experience for end users (Law, 2011). This is especially true for older adults, who are not as experienced with technology as younger people and will adopt it only when it is adapted to their capabilities (Proctor et al., 2011; Holthe et al., 2018). Here, participants positively perceived the hedonic quality (i.e., quality aspects not directly related to functionalities) of both VEs, perceiving them positively for the following: creativity, novelty, professionalism, stylishness and presentability. Attractivity (i.e., level of appeal) was also perceived positively in both VEs. The music environment was considered highly likable, inviting, good, appealing and motivating. However, there were some word-pairs that were seen as neutral: technical/human, unpredictable/predictable, favouring isolation/connection and separates me from people/ brings me closer to other people. As these characteristics are inherent to VR technology (i.e., VR is a technology and being immersed in a VE separates the user from others), neutral values

should not be interpreted as reflecting a non-satisfactory user experience. Instead, this suggests that our VEs have a good ecological value as this purely technical experience was rated as equally technical and human. Nevertheless, these impersonality factors must be carefully examined for future applications in people who may be more sensitive to these factors, such as individuals with affective or social disorders.

No pre-post intervention effect on self-reported affect was observed when examining the whole group of participants. However, a decrease in NA was detected following the train intervention in participants who had reported a higher NA score at baseline. This is aligned with previous results indicating frustration measured with decreased EEG markers (Abdessalem et al., 2020). Surprisingly, the music intervention personalized with the intelligent agent did not improve PA or NA. EEG analyses may possibly provide more sensitive measures of negative emotions (Byrns et al., 2020). Future studies will need to assess these variables further with a larger sample size.

In addition to the effects on emotions, both interventions induced a small improvement in WM compared to the control group. WM is a cognitive function that decreases greatly with age (Saba and Blanchet, 2020) and has been found to be sensitive to emotional variability (Garrison and Schmeichel, 2019). This indicates that WM may benefit from VR interventions rather than being due to a practice effect. This effect was not observed consistently across the different tasks and interventions for reasons that cannot be fully understood, given the differences between the two studies and the small sample size (Abdessalem et al., 2020; Byrns et al., 2020). Regardless, these results are in accordance with previous studies indicating that emotional states are linked to cognitive processes, such as WM (Williams et al., 1996; Blair et al., 2007; Verbruggen and De Houwer, 2007; Conway et al., 2013; Su et al., 2017; Garrison and Schmeichel, 2019).

There are some limitations to this study. First, as this was designed as a feasibility and proof-of-concept study, our sample size was small, and the study was not designed to assess efficacy. Given these encouraging results, we plan to conduct a larger-scale study to confirm them. Second, this is not a fully balanced design: There was no intelligent agent presented in the train intervention because its primary goal was to assess whether a travel environment was well-tolerated and reduced negative emotions. Lastly, we only tested older adults with SCD, and it would be interesting to address the same questions in older adults with cognitive impairments and/or neuropsychiatric symptoms. These populations could greatly benefit from such interventions contributing to well-being.

In conclusion, this feasibility study successfully showed that VR interventions are well-tolerated and appreciated, and may

## REFERENCES

Abdessalem, H. B., Byrns, A., Cuesta, M., Manera, V., Robert, P., Bruneau, M-A., et al. (2020). "Application of Virtual Travel for Alzheimer's Disease," in Conference: 9th International Conference on Sensor Networks (SENSORNETS). doi:10.5220/0008976700520060 induce beneficial changes in emotional states and improvements in cognition. This study opens the way to the completion of a larger-scale study focusing on the interventions' efficacy.

## DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusion of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

## **ETHICS STATEMENT**

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Research Ethics Board (REB) vieillissementneuroimagerie of the CIUSSS-CSMTL. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

MC, HBA, M-AB, AB, CF, and SB participated in the conceptualization of the study and design. MC wrote the first version of the manuscript. SB revised and contributed to the writing of the first version. All authors carefully revised the final manuscript and accepted the final submitted version.

## FUNDING

This work was supported by a grant received from NSERC-CRD, Prompt and Beam Me Up (Grant number CRSNG CRDPJ-522279-17). SB holds a Canada Research Chair in Cognitive Neuroscience of Aging and Brain Plasticity.

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We warmly thank the members of the research team who have been involved in various aspects of the preparation of the study: Mehdi Essounni, Vincent Marcangeli and Marie-Claude Veilleux.

## SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/frvir.2021.807991/full#supplementary-material

- Abdessalem, H. B., and Frasson, C. (2017). "Real-time Brain Assessment for Adaptive Virtual Reality Game: A Neurofeedback Approach," in international conference on brain function assessment in learning (Springer). doi:10.1007/978-3-319-67615-9\_12
- Asato, M. R., Sweeney, J. A., and Luna, B. (2006). Cognitive Processes in the Development of TOL Performance. *Neuropsychologia* 44 (12), 2259–2269. doi:10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2006.05.010

- Belleville, S., LeBlanc, A. C., Kergoat, M. J., Calon, F., Gaudreau, P., Hébert, S. S., et al. (2019). The Consortium for the Early Identification of Alzheimer's Disease-Quebec (CIMA-Q). Alzheimer's Demen. Diagn. Assess. Dis. Monit. 11 (1), 787–796. doi:10.1016/j.dadm.2019.07.003
- Biamonti, A., Gramegna, S., and Imamogullari, B. (2014). A Design Experience for the Enhancement of the Quality of Life in People with Alzheimer's. What's on. Aveiro: PRT.
- Blair, K. S., Smith, B. W., Mitchell, D. G. V., Morton, J., Vythilingam, M., Pessoa, L., et al. (2007). Modulation of Emotion by Cognition and Cognition by Emotion. *Neuroimage* 35 (1), 430–440. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2006.11.048
- Byrns, A., Abdessalem, H. B., Cuesta, M., Bruneau, M-A., Belleville, S., and Frasson, C. (2020). "Adaptive Music Therapy for Alzheimer's Disease Using Virtual Reality," in International Conference on Intelligent Tutoring Systems (Springer).
- Caillaud, M., Hudon, C., Boller, B., Brambati, S., Duchesne, S., Lorrain, D., et al. (2020). Evidence of a Relation between Hippocampal Volume, white Matter Hyperintensities, and Cognition in Subjective Cognitive Decline and Mild Cognitive Impairment. *The Journals Gerontol. Ser. B.* 75 (7), 1382–1392. doi:10.1093/geronb/gbz120
- Conway, A. M., Tugade, M. M., Catalino, L. I., and Fredrickson, B. L. (2013). The Broaden-And-Build Theory of Positive Emotions: Form, Function and Mechanisms. Oxford handbook of happiness, 17–34.
- Corriveau Lecavalier, N., Ouellet, É., Boller, B., and Belleville, S. (2020). Use of Immersive Virtual Reality to Assess Episodic Memory: a Validation Study in Older Adults. *Neuropsychological Rehabil.* 30 (3), 462–480. doi:10.1080/ 09602011.2018.1477684
- Crawford, J. R., and Henry, J. D. (2004). The Positive and Negative Affect Schedule (PANAS): Construct Validity, Measurement Properties and Normative Data in a Large Non-clinical Sample. *Br. J. Clin. Psychol.* 43 (3), 245–265. doi:10.1348/ 0144665031752934
- de la Torre-Luque, A., Caparros-Gonzalez, R. A., Bastard, T., Vico, F. J., and Buela-Casal, G. (2017). Acute Stress Recovery through Listening to Melomics Relaxing Music: a Randomized Controlled Trial. *Nordic J. Music Ther.* 26 (2), 124–141. doi:10.1080/08098131.2015.1131186
- Dermody, G., Whitehead, L., Wilson, G., and Glass, C. (2020). The Role of Virtual Reality in Improving Health Outcomes for Community-Dwelling Older Adults: Systematic Review. J. Med. Internet Res. 22 (6), e17331. doi:10.2196/17331
- Garrison, K. E., and Schmeichel, B. J. (2019). Effects of Emotional Content on Working Memory Capacity. Cogn. Emot. 33 (2), 370–377. doi:10.1080/ 02699931.2018.1438989
- Goldberg, L. R. (1992). The Development of Markers for the Big-Five Factor Structure. *Psychol. Assess.* 4 (1), 26–42. doi:10.1037/1040-3590.4.1.26
- Gómez Gallego, M., and Gómez García, J. (2017). Music Therapy and Alzheimer's Disease: Cognitive, Psychological, and Behavioural Effects. *Neurología (English Edition)* 32 (5), 300–308. doi:10.1016/j.nrleng.2015.12.001
- Guercio, B. J., Donovan, N. J., Ward, A., Schultz, A., Lorius, N., Amariglio, R. E., et al. (2015). Apathy Is Associated with Lower Inferior Temporal Cortical Thickness in Mild Cognitive Impairment and normal Elderly Individuals. *Jnp* 27 (1), e22–e27. doi:10.1176/appi.neuropsych.13060141
- Holthe, T., Halvorsrud, L., Karterud, D., Hoel, K.-A., and Lund, A. (2018). Usability and Acceptability of Technology for Community-Dwelling Older Adults with Mild Cognitive Impairment and Dementia: a Systematic Literature Review. *Cia* Vol 13, 863–886. doi:10.2147/cia.s154717
- Ismail, Z., Agüera-Ortiz, L., Brodaty, H., Cieslak, A., Cummings, J., Fischer, C. E., et al. (2017). The Mild Behavioral Impairment Checklist (MBI-C): a Rating Scale for Neuropsychiatric Symptoms in Pre-dementia Populations. *Jad* 56 (3), 929–938. doi:10.3233/jad-160979
- Kim, O., Pang, Y., and Kim, J.-H. (2019). The Effectiveness of Virtual Reality for People with Mild Cognitive Impairment or Dementia: a Meta-Analysis. *BMC psychiatry* 19 (1), 219. doi:10.1186/s12888-019-2180-x
- Köhler, S., van Boxtel, M. P. J., van Os, J., Thomas, A. J., O'Brien, J. T., Jolles, J., et al. (2010). Depressive Symptoms and Cognitive Decline in Community-Dwelling Older Adults. J. Am. Geriatr. Soc. 58 (5), 873–879. doi:10.1111/j.1532-5415.2010.02807.x
- La Corte, V., Sperduti, M., Abichou, K., and Piolino, P. (2019). Episodic Memory Assessment and Remediation in normal and Pathological Aging Using Virtual Reality: a Mini Review. Front. Psychol. 10, 173. doi:10.3389/fpsyg.2019.00173

- Lallemand, C., Koenig, V., Gronier, G., and Martin, R. (2015). Création et validation d'une version française du questionnaire AttrakDiff pour l'évaluation de l'expérience utilisateur des systèmes interactifs. *Eur. Rev. Appl. Psychol.* 65 (5), 239–252. doi:10.1016/j.erap.2015.08.002
- Lanctôt, K. L., Amatniek, J., Ancoli-Israel, S., Arnold, S. E., Ballard, C., Cohen-Mansfield, J., et al. (2017). Neuropsychiatric Signs and Symptoms of Alzheimer's Disease: New Treatment Paradigms. *Alzheimer's Demen. Translational Res. Clin. Interventions* 3 (3), 440–449. doi:10.1016/ j.trci.2017.07.001
- Law, E. L-C. (2011). "The Measurability and Predictability of User Experience," in Proceedings of the 3rd ACM SIGCHI symposium on Engineering interactive computing systems.
- Leark, R. A., Greenberg, L. M., Kindschi, C. L., Dupuy, T. R., and Hughes, S. J. (2007). *Test of Variables of Attention Continuous Performance Test*. Los Alamitos: The TOVA Company.
- Lin, Y., Shan, P. Y., Jiang, W. J., Sheng, C., and Ma, L. (2018). Subjective Cognitive Decline: Preclinical Manifestation of Alzheimer's Disease. *Neurol. Sci.* 40 (1), 41–49. doi:10.1007/s10072-018-3620-y
- Manera, V., Chapoulie, E., Bourgeois, J., Guerchouche, R., David, R., Ondrej, J., et al. (2016). A Feasibility Study with Image-Based Rendered Virtual Reality in Patients with Mild Cognitive Impairment and Dementia. *PloS one* 11 (3), e0151487. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0151487
- Maples-Keller, J. L., Bunnell, B. E., Kim, S.-J., and Rothbaum, B. O. (2017). The Use of Virtual Reality Technology in the Treatment of Anxiety and Other Psychiatric Disorders. *Harv. Rev. Psychiatry* 25 (3), 103–113. doi:10.1097/ hrp.000000000000138
- Nasreddine, Z. S., Phillips, N. A., Bã®dirian, V. r., Charbonneau, S., Whitehead, V., Collin, I., et al. (2005). The Montreal Cognitive Assessment, MoCA: a Brief Screening Tool for Mild Cognitive Impairment. J. Am. Geriatr. Soc. 53 (4), 695–699. doi:10.1111/j.1532-5415.2005.53221.x
- Norman, G. (2010). Likert Scales, Levels of Measurement and the "Laws" of Statistics. *Adv. Health Sci. Educ.* 15 (5), 625–632. doi:10.1007/s10459-010-9222-y
- Ouellet, É., Boller, B., Corriveau-Lecavalier, N., Cloutier, S., and Belleville, S. (2018). The Virtual Shop: A New Immersive Virtual Reality Environment and Scenario for the Assessment of Everyday Memory. J. Neurosci. Methods 303, 126–135. doi:10.1016/j.jneumeth.2018.03.010
- Proctor, E., Silmere, H., Raghavan, R., Hovmand, P., Aarons, G., Bunger, A., et al. (2011). Outcomes for Implementation Research: Conceptual Distinctions, Measurement Challenges, and Research Agenda. Adm. Pol. Ment Health 38 (2), 65–76. doi:10.1007/s10488-010-0319-7
- Robert, P. H., Berr, C., Volteau, M., Bertogliati, C., Benoit, M., Mahieux, F., et al. (2006). Neuropsychological Performance in Mild Cognitive Impairment with and without Apathy. *Dement Geriatr. Cogn. Disord.* 21 (3), 192–197. doi:10.1159/000090766
- Robert, P., Lanctôt, K. L., Agüera-Ortiz, L., Aalten, P., Bremond, F., Defrancesco, M., et al. (2018). Is it Time to Revise the Diagnostic Criteria for Apathy in Brain Disorders? the 2018 International Consensus Group. *Eur. Psychiatr.* 54, 71–76. doi:10.1016/j.eurpsy.2018.07.008
- Saba, M., and Blanchet, S. (2020). Working Memory Training in normal and Pathological Aging: Neurocognitive Gains and Generalization. *Geriatrie Psychol. neuropsychiatrie du vieillissement* 18 (2), 187–195. doi:10.1684/ pnv.2020.0860
- Sevinc, V., and Berkman, M. I. (2020). Psychometric Evaluation of Simulator Sickness Questionnaire and its Variants as a Measure of Cybersickness in Consumer Virtual Environments. *Appl. Ergon.* 82, 102958. doi:10.1016/ j.apergo.2019.102958
- Sherman, C., Liu, C. S., Herrmann, N., and Lanctôt, K. L. (2018). Prevalence, Neurobiology, and Treatments for Apathy in Prodromal Dementia. *Int. Psychogeriatr.* 30 (2), 177–184. doi:10.1017/ s1041610217000527
- Su, J., Duan, D., Zhang, X., Lei, H., Wang, C., Guo, H., et al. (2017). The Effect of Negative Emotion on Multiple Object Tracking Task: An ERP Study. *Neurosci. Lett.* 641, 15–20. doi:10.1016/j.neulet.2017.01.038
- Valdez, P., and Mehrabian, A. (1994). Effects of Color on Emotions. J. Exp. Psychol. Gen. 123 (4), 394–409. doi:10.1037/0096-3445.123.4.394

- Verbruggen, F., and De Houwer, J. (2007). Do emotional Stimuli Interfere with Response Inhibition? Evidence from the Stop Signal Paradigm. Cogn. Emot. 21 (2), 391–403. doi:10.1080/02699930600625081
- Watson, D., Clark, L. A., and Tellegen, A. (1988). Development and Validation of Brief Measures of Positive and Negative Affect: the PANAS Scales. J. Personal. Soc. Psychol. 54 (6), 1063–1070. doi:10.1037/0022-3514.54.6.1063
- Williams, J. M. G., Mathews, A., and MacLeod, C. (1996). The Emotional Stroop Task and Psychopathology. *Psychol. Bull.* 120 (1), 3–24. doi:10.1037/0033-2909.120.1.3

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Cuesta, Verty, Ben Abdessalem, Byrns, Bruneau, Frasson and Belleville. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## Because I'm Happy—An Overview on Fostering Positive Emotions Through Virtual Reality

Katarina Pavic <sup>1,2,3</sup>\*, Dorine Vergilino-Perez <sup>1</sup>, Thierry Gricourt<sup>3</sup> and Laurence Chaby<sup>4,2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Université de Paris, Vision Action Cognition, Paris, France, <sup>2</sup>Sorbonne Université, CNRS, Institut des Systèmes Intelligents et de Robotique, ISIR, Paris, France, <sup>3</sup>SocialDream, Research and Development Department, Bourg-de-Péage, France, <sup>4</sup>Université de Paris, UFR de Psychologie, Boulogne-Billancourt, France

In recent years, an increased demand for improving mental health and well-being led to developing procedures capable of enhancing positive experiences. One highly attractive candidate for evoking positive experiences is Virtual Reality (VR), as VR enables users to experience various situations in controlled and safe environments. This overview first investigates how positive emotions, well-being and VR are interconnected. Then, an overview about how and why to induce positive emotions in adult users is provided. Methodological and ethical considerations about VR technology, measurements of VR's efficacy and user characteristics are reviewed. It emerges that VR is efficient in inducing positive emotions across the adult lifespan and in various settings. Levels of immersion, interactivity, Virtual environment contents, sensory modalities involved and users' characteristics emerged as key determinants for successfully inducing positive emotions with VR. The main applications of positive VR experiences consist in using VR for relaxation, stress and pain management, motivation for physical activities, and gives promising results for apathy treatment in elderly users. Although VR is efficient in eliciting positive emotions and experiences, the underlying operating mechanisms remain unclear and are yet to be further investigated. Finally, the need for a user-centered approach when designing positive VR experiences, clear guidelines for the use of VR, and a better documentation of its potential adverse effects are addressed.

OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Florian Pecune, University of Glasgow, United Kingdom

#### Reviewed by:

Thomas Schubert, University of Oslo, Norway Cedric Buche, CNRS, Australia

\*Correspondence: Katarina Pavic katarina.pavic@u-paris.fr

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Virtual Reality and Human Behaviour, a section of the journal Frontiers in Virtual Reality

> Received: 03 October 2021 Accepted: 09 February 2022 Published: 01 March 2022

#### Citation:

Pavic K, Vergilino-Perez D, Gricourt T and Chaby L (2022) Because I'm Happy—An Overview on Fostering Positive Emotions Through Virtual Reality. Front. Virtual Real. 3:788820. doi: 10.3389/frvir.2022.788820 Keywords: virtual reality, well-being, aging, mood induction, emotion, physiological measure, positive technologies

## **1 INTRODUCTION**

## **1.1 From Positive Emotions to Well-Being**

Taking a stroll in nature, sharing pleasant moments with relatives or friends, traveling and discovering new places. While all these experiences may seem trivial, they are beneficial for our well-being, thanks to the positive emotions that can emanate from them. A large body of literature showed that positive emotions are the founding stone of human fulfillment and well-being (Fredrickson and Joiner, 2002; Fredrickson, 2004; Fredrickson, 2006; Garland et al., 2010). In addition, positive emotions are closely associated with quality of life (Kuppens et al., 2008), life success (Lyubomirsky et al., 2005), better health and longevity (Diener and Chan, 2011) and cognitive functioning (Dolan, 2002; Blair et al., 2007). Therefore, there are clear benefits in promoting positive experiences and emotions among healthy, vulnerable and/or isolated adults. Despite the high benefits of positive emotions emanating from the above-mentioned experiences, not

everyone has regular access to nature walks, social interactions or travel. Moreover, access has become even more restricted due to the current COVID-19 crisis, leading to heightened mental health issues (Ganesan et al., 2021), increased loneliness and isolation (Killgore et al., 2020). A critical concern that needs to be addressed is how people can have access to positive experiences for enhancing well-being and mental health. One innovative answer for bringing nature, people and places together may be virtual reality (VR). VR has the advantage of enabling users to safely experience various real-life or imaginary situations, while allowing tight control over the stimuli used (Baños et al., 2017; Freeman et al., 2017). VR is therefore a suitable candidate for promoting positive experiences.

Historically, research has focused on understanding negative emotions and pathology, while positive emotions, well-being and the links between them have been understudied (Alexander et al., 2020). In recent years, considerable efforts have been made to delimit and describe the diversity of positive emotions, revealing that positive emotions are more than the mere concepts of "joy" and "happiness" (see Desmet, 2012; Alexander et al., 2020). In this context, the broaden-and-build theory provides a framework for understanding the links between positive emotions, cognition and well-being (Fredrickson, 2004; Fredrickson, 2006). According to this theory, positive emotions broaden one's mind, unlike negative emotions that lead to narrowing one's mind (Garland et al., 2010; Cohen et al., 2016). This has been supported by studies reporting attentional capture and broadening following positive emotion induction (Fredrickson and Branigan, 2005; Gupta, 2019). In return, the mind broadening resulting from positive emotions helps build longlasting resources, such as social connections, opportunities and knowledge, resulting in well-being (Fredrickson, 2004; Fredrickson, 2006; Garland et al., 2010). Enhancing positive emotion and accumulating long-lasting resources may be of great interest in vulnerable and/or isolated populations such as elderly people (Ong, 2010). Additionally, it has been argued that positive emotions are linked to better health outcomes and longevity (Diener and Chan, 2011). Therefore, gaining a better understanding of positive emotions appears as crucial as understanding and relieving negative ones.

Growing interest in positive emotions and their potential links to individuals' well-being began with the development of positive psychology, a scientific field that investigates well-being at the individual, organizational and societal levels (Seligman and Csikszentmihalyi, 2000). This has led to a paradigm shift where well-being is no longer seen as the absence of health issues, but also as the presence of positive emotions, resources, and strengths (Seligman and Csikszentmihalyi, 2000; Bos et al., 2016). Defining the notion of well-being is not straightforward, since in the existing literature, the terms "well-being," "life satisfaction" "happiness" and are often used interchangeably (Suardi et al., 2016). However, two main approaches can be identified in the literature: 1) subjective and 2) psychological well-being. Subjective well-being, or "hedonia," consists in life satisfaction, with a focus on positive, pleasant experiences and quality of life (Diener et al., 1999). Psychological well-being, also called "eudaimonia," focuses on long-term

fulfillment, encompassing the idea of constant improvement towards fulfilling life-goals and optimal functioning (Ryff, 1989; Lent, 2004). As these two major approaches have overlapping goals and are not fully exclusive, integrative theories of well-being have developed (e.g., see Henderson and Knight, 2012) in parallel to critics suggesting they are two sides of the same coin (e.g., see Kashdan et al., 2008).

## **1.2 Fostering Positive Emotions Through** Technology

Recently, technologies have become believable candidates for enhancing individuals' health and well-being, leading to the emergence of "positive technologies". Derived from positive psychology, the positive technologies framework investigates the use of technology to improve users' well-being, quality of life and experiences (Botella et al., 2012; Riva et al., 2012; Baños et al., 2017). It has been suggested that positive technologies can enhance subjective ("hedonia"), psychological ("eudaimonia") or social well-being (Botella et al., 2012; Riva et al., 2012; Baños et al., 2017). VR belongs to the technologies cited within the framework of positive technologies, especially as a "hedonic" technology enabling positive and pleasant experiences in the present (Botella et al., 2012; Riva et al., 2012). What makes VR a suitable candidate for fostering positive experiences are its immersive power and the sense of presence that VR experiences generate. Historically, sense of presence has been defined as the feeling of "being physically there" (i.e., spatial presence, Slater, 1999; Steuer, 1992) to which can be added the feeling of "being with others" (i.e., social presence, Biocca et al., 2001).

Recent research has established that VR is arousing (Felnhofer et al., 2015; Marín-Morales et al., 2018) and is an effective tool for inducing emotions in laboratory settings (Bernardo et al., 2021). More precisely, VR has proven effective in inducing various positive emotions, such as joy, relaxation (e.g., see Anderson et al., 2017; Serrano et al., 2016) and more complex emotions such as awe (i.e., feeling of wonder when confronted with vast and transcending stimuli, Chirico et al., 2017; Chirico et al., 2018) and the sublime (i.e., feeling of "amazement tinged with fear" in response to vast or powerful stimuli, Chirico et al., 2021). However, significant divergences can be observed about recruited users and the material used for inducing positive emotions with VR. As these methodological choices can greatly influence the emotions induced, they will be further examined in the present article.

## 1.3 Aim of the Overview

There are already reviews about VR, emotion induction, wellbeing and their links to mental health. A recent systematic review confirmed that VR technology is efficient for inducing both positive and negative emotions in lab-settings (Bernardo et al., 2021). Other reviews highlighted VR's potential for improving mental health (Freeman et al., 2017; Jerdan et al., 2018), and elder's quality of life and emotions (D'Cunha et al., 2019; Kim et al., 2019). However, the aim of these reviews was not about understanding key aspects that need to be considered when inducing positive emotions with VR across the adult-life span. Additionally, VR interventions for mental health mostly relied on exposing participants to negative stimuli, for example in the context of exposure therapies, craving induction, or better understanding paranoia among else (Freeman et al., 2017; Jerdan et al., 2018).

Thus, the goal of the present article is to provide an overview and reflect on key determinants for inducing efficiently and safely positive emotions with VR technology. We specifically aim to survey the methodology used for inducing positive emotions, as well as address theoretical and ethical considerations that need to be taken into account. The following topics will be covered in the subsequent sections:

- How and why to induce positive emotions in healthy adult users;
- Can positive emotion induction through VR be beneficial for elderly users;
- What are the potential underlying cognitive mechanisms involved during positive emotion induction with VR.

## **1.4 Scope and Limitations**

There are several definitions of VR in the literature, focusing rather on its immersive (e.g., Slater and Wilbur, 1997) or interactive (e.g., Steuer, 1992) proprieties. For present purposes, VR will be defined as "inducing targeted behavior in an organism by using artificial sensory stimulation, while the organism has little or no awareness of the interference" (LaValle, 2016). While this is a broad definition, it has the advantage of including varying levels of immersion (LaValle, 2016), ranging from low immersive and more affordable devices such as screens, to highly immersive Cave Automated Virtual Environments, whereby users enter a room with graphical projections onto surrounding walls (Cruz-Neira et al., 1993), and Head-Mounted Displays (HMDs). We decided to include a broad range of devices in order to investigate the degree of immersion and/or interactivity needed for an optimal emotion induction through VR, therefore not limiting the present survey to highly immersive devices such as CAVEs and HMDs. However, as VR technology has been in constant development the last few years it is more than possible that methodological, theoretical and ethical aspects discussed in this paper are prone to change in the future (Elor and Kurniawan, 2020).

Inducing positive emotions through VR implies using it as a Mood Induction Procedure (MIP). MIPs are well-established experimental procedures for inducing temporary emotional states, considered similar to the ones experienced in everyday life (Martin, 1990; Baños et al., 2012). MIPs relies traditionally on presenting arousing pictures (Lang et al., 1997), film sequences (Gross and Levenson, 1995), music (Västfjäll, 2001) or sentences (Velten, 1968). However, a caveat about MIPs must be addressed, as "emotion" and "mood" are often used interchangeably, making it unclear what is truly induced via these procedures. For the sake of clarity and to ensure consistency throughout this overview, "emotions" will be defined as states elicited by precise events or stimuli, and of short duration (Scherer, 2005). Following Sander et al. (2005), emotions will be considered to consist of the following five components: subjective feeling, stimulus evaluation, motivation, motor expression and physiological responses. In contrast, "mood" consists of broader and more diffuse states, and does not necessarily need a contextual stimulus (Ekkekakis, 2012).

We believe that this work will be of interest to researchers in affective cognitive sciences, psychologists, and healthcare providers wondering which material and content to use, and why it is relevant to induce positive emotions in adults users. For a broad picture of this overview, we have presented a Sankey Diagram (**Figure 1**) based on studies included in this overview. The Sankey Diagram allows a quantitative visualization and understanding of the links between recruited populations, employed VR devices, VE contents, affective measures and study aims. The details about each study included in the diagram can be found in **Supplementary Material**.

## 2 Fostering Positive Emotions Among Healthy Young Users

## 2.1 How to Induce Positive Emotions Through VR?

Pivotal studies in the field of positive emotion induction through VR have been conducted on healthy young adults, usually students, to confirm whether it is possible to induce positive emotions with VR (Riva et al., 2007; Baños et al., 2008) and whether the technology employed is acceptable and useful (Baños et al., 2014). Since then, a large body of literature explored which methodological aspects can greatly influence users' experience (see **Supplementary Table S1**). It appears that the level of immersion, interactivity, VE contents, and sensory modalities involved are key determinants for fostering positive emotions. As there are discrepancies in the affective measures used to assess VR's efficacy for inducing positive emotions, they will also be covered in the present section.

Ensuring that VR technology is adequately tolerated by healthy young users is the prerequisite before aiming to induce positive emotion. Cybersickness corresponds to adverse effects during and after VR exposure, and is characterized mainly by symptoms such as eye strain, headaches, sweating, disorientation, and nausea (LaViola, 2000). It is usually assessed by the Simulator Sickness Questionnaire (SSQ) (Kennedy et al., 1993). Intriguingly, only three studies inducing positive emotions with HMDs have explicitly assessed cybersickness symptoms (Bittner et al., 2018; Liszio and Masuch, 2019; Seabrook et al., 2020). However, the results of these studies corroborate good tolerance of HMDs in the context of positive emotion induction (Bittner et al., 2018; Liszio and Masuch, 2019; Seabrook et al., 2020).

The first aspect that needs to be taken into account when inducing positive emotions with VR is the level of immersion. There is a heterogeneity of devices included under the umbrella term VR in the literature, and with varying levels of immersion that can lead to low or more intense emotional states (Visch et al., 2010; Diemer et al., 2015). Surprisingly, a limited number of studies have compared immersion levels needed for positive emotion induction. One study compared the effectiveness of inducing positive emotions using an HMD, a tablet, or reading neutral text (control condition) (Bittner et al., 2018). Although





VR was most effective in improving positive emotions and mild depressive symptoms, the superiority of the HMD over a less immersive tablet was slight (Bittner et al., 2018). A second study showed a superiority of HMD compared to a screen for inducing awe (Chirico et al., 2017), however, as awe is a complex emotion, it is difficult to conclude if this is true for basic positive emotions.

The second aspect that needs to be considered is the level of interactivity and user engagement within the VEs. Interactive VR experiences under a HMD appear to enhance positive emotions (Yeo et al., 2020), and reduce stress (subjective and physiological) (Liszio and Masuch, 2019) better than non-interactive VR experiences. Authors suggest that these results can be explained by the ability of interactive experiences to capture and hold users' attention over time (Yeo et al., 2020). Nevertheless, a consensus about what falls under the term of "interactive" is required, as it sometimes means accomplishing a task in the VE (Liszio and Masuch, 2019), or navigating freely in the VE (Yeo et al., 2020).

Third, contents of the VEs have to be considered, as they can greatly influence induced emotions (Gross and Levenson, 1995). Most of the studies involved natural settings featuring either vegetation or water (see **Figure 1**). This is in line with well known and documented benefits of natural environments on emotions (for a review see McMahan and Estes, 2015). Several studies confirmed that exposure to virtual nature increases positive emotions and/or perceived restoration (Riva et al., 2007; Browning et al., 2020; Mattila et al., 2020; Seabrook et al., 2020; Yeo et al., 2020) while also significantly reducing negative ones (Villani and Riva, 2012; Anderson et al., 2017; Yeo et al., 2020). Additionally, virtual nature has a positive impact on physiological arousal, further confirming its relaxing and restorative properties (Annerstedt et al., 2013; Anderson et al.,

2017; Browning et al., 2020). Similar benefits of real and virtual nature have been observed when using highly-immersive HMDs (Chirico and Gaggioli, 2019; Browning et al., 2020). There are however discrepancies on the best way to deliver virtual nature experiences, as it has been reported similar benefits of computer-generated and 360°natural videos (Brivio et al., 2021), or greater efficacy of computer-generated VEs (Yeo et al., 2020) in inducing positive emotions.

Fewer studies have investigated the effect of other types of VE contents such as art (Valtchanov et al., 2010; Chirico et al., 2021), crowded urban environments (Yu et al., 2018), or personalized VE contents (Evans et al., 2020). Art and urban-based contents have usually been compared to virtual nature's efficacy for inducing positive emotions. It emerged a superiority of natural VE contents for inducing the sublime (Chirico et al., 2021), as well as heightened positive emotions and resource restoration compared to virtual art (Valtchanov et al., 2010). Furthermore, to crowded urban environments, compared natural environments again induced greater positive emotions and vigor in young adults (Yu et al., 2018). However, studies comparing urban and natural environments in VR did not manage to show physiological changes or differences between natural and urban environments. Finally, personalized 360° videos also appeared as efficient for inducing positive emotions (Evans et al., 2020), although their efficacy has not been compared to other VE contents.

The fourth key determinant that needs to be considered is the sensory modality involved in positive VR experiences. Only one study investigated the influence stereoscopy, i.e., the presentation of a different image to each eye in order to give an impression of depth, revealing that it does not impact the valence or intensity of induced emotions (Baños et al., 2008). Furthermore, it is

preferable to include auditory stimuli, rather than relying solely on visual stimuli (Annerstedt et al., 2013; Kern et al., 2020). Auditory stimuli mostly consisted in music and/or ambient environmental sounds (e.g., birds chirping, waves, etc.), and on fewer occasions on positive narratives (e.g., Riva et al., 2007; Seabrook et al., 2020). The added value of olfactory and tactile stimulation have been explored in one study, concluding that auditory and visual information were sufficient in VR for relaxing participants (Serrano et al., 2016).

Finally, VR's efficacy for inducing targeted emotions has mainly been investigated with questionnaires, the most widely used ones being the Positive and Negative Affect Schedule (Watson et al., 1988) and Visual Analogical Scales (VAS, see Baños et al., 2012). More recently, physiological measures have started to be collected in addition to questionnaires, confirming VR's capacity for arousal (Felnhofer et al., 2015). Commonly collected physiological measures are skin conductance, and cardiac measures such as Heart Rate (HR) or Heart Rate Variability (HRV) (see **Figure 1**). In a limited number of studies, electromyography (Chirico et al., 2017), cortisol (Annerstedt et al., 2013; Liszio et al., 2018) or electroencephalography (Marín-Morales et al., 2018) have been used to explore VR's potential for inducing emotions.

# **2.2 Why Induce Positive Emotions in Healthy Users?**

Positive emotions coupled with VR can have great benefits on healthy users' physical activity. For instance, when combined with stationary cycling, a virtual park inducing joy efficiently motivated users (Miragall et al., 2021). However, authors pointed out that inducing joy was not sufficient to increase user's motivation without an appropriate body posture (e.g., leaning forward posture while pedaling) (Miragall et al., 2021). It emerges that coupling VR, positive emotion induction and exercise can have great benefits on users' motivation, although VR and positive emotions by themselves are not sufficient for that goals. It should be noted that the present studies used large screens, possibly because using HMDs for exercise may be challenging and increase cybersickness symptoms.

There is also compelling evidence that VR experiences are efficient for relaxation when combined with VE contents showing natural settings. On numerous occasions, virtual nature (both vegetation and water features) has proven to be efficient for inducing relaxed states in healthy young adults (Riva et al., 2007; Annerstedt et al., 2013; Anderson et al., 2017; Browning et al., 2020; Mattila et al., 2020) and supporting mindfulness practice (Seabrook et al., 2020). Furthermore, it has been verified that the novelty and attractiveness of VR did not distract participants from accessing a relaxed yet focused state needed for biofeedback (Rockstroh et al., 2019) or hypnosis (Thompson et al., 2010). A recent study revealed that VR relaxation applications are overall positively perceived by users (Fagernäs et al., 2021), further confirming their usefulness.

One last application of positive emotions induced through VR among healthy young adults is stress and pain management. Inducing positive emotions with VR appears efficient at recovering from acute stress, with subjective outcomes such as improved self-report emotions, and objective outcomes such as an increased HRV (Villani and Riva, 2012; Annerstedt et al., 2013; Liszio and Masuch, 2019). Additionally, playing a game in an aquatic environment under an HMD has proven efficient in reducing experimentally induced pain (Gordon et al., 2011). However, VR was efficient in reducing only high intensity pain, and both HMDs and CAVE were efficient for accomplishing it (Gordon et al., 2011).

It should be noted that the vast majority of the abovementioned studies used natural contents. This demonstrates the virtues of nature, while again confirming the need for investigating the potential benefits of social contents, notably for physical activity and motivation. For instance, it could be relevant to compare exercising in natural virtual environments and exercising with a virtual coach in order to better understand the influence of the contents on positive VR applications. Additionally, as the previously cited studies about positive emotion induction through VR and their applications were conducted on healthy young adults, their generalization to more vulnerable users needs to be addressed separately.

## **3 Towards Successful Aging With VR**

Although the majority of VR studies on positive emotion induction have been conducted on young adults, a growing number of studies have investigated the use of VR for elderly users (see Supplementary Table S2). Fostering positive experiences can be particularly beneficial to elderly adults, given the previously discussed benefits of positive emotions on health and quality of life (Kuppens et al., 2008; Diener and Chan, 2011). Moreover, it is generally admitted that positive emotions and happiness follow a U-shaped pattern throughout the lifespan, with an improvement from early to advanced adulthood (although see Steptoe et al., 2015). However, advancing in age is often described as a developmental process characterized by social, physical and cognitive losses (Baltes and Baltes, 1990; Baltes and Carstensen, 2003). In contrast, the concept of "successful aging" has emerged, consisting in aging with wellfunctioning physical and cognitive abilities, and minimized risks of developing diseases and disabilities (Rowe and Kahn, 1987; Rowe and Kahn, 2015). Thus, exploring positive VR experiences for elderly users has a twofold advantage, as it may enable a better understanding of why some people are considered to age successfully while also potentially alleviating age-related health issues and decline.

Providing elderly users with VR experiences requires ensuring that the VR devices and high levels of immersion are adapted to them. Elderly users seem to prefer devices with lower levels of immersion, such as smartphones, to highly-immersive HMDs, while the opposite holds for younger adults (Liu et al., 2020). On a similar note, hospitalized patients who were not interested in testing an HMD were older than those who were interested (Mosadeghi et al., 2016). This does not mean that older adults do not appreciate HMDs, as they usually find highly immersive VR experiences enjoyable, and have a rather positive attitude towards HMDs once they have tested them (Huygelier et al., 2019). Furthermore, high levels of acceptance and satisfaction have been reported towards HMDs and CAVE for VR, which can be safely used with elderly users considered "in good health" (Benoit et al., 2015; Huygelier et al., 2019; Chan et al., 2020) or having cognitive and/or physical impairments (Roberts et al., 2019; Appel et al., 2020; Brimelow et al., 2020). The duration of immersion under an HMD may last up to 20 minutes, with little to no adverse side effects (Appel et al., 2020).

In line with these results, several studies confirm VR's efficacy for inducing positive emotions (such as joy and relaxation) in healthy middle-aged (Yu et al., 2020), elderly users (Etchemendy et al., 2011; Baños et al., 2012; Liu et al., 2020; Yu et al., 2020), or among more vulnerable and/or dependent users (e.g., residents of Residential Aged Care Facilities, RACF) (Moyle et al., 2018; Roberts et al., 2019; Appel et al., 2020; Brimelow et al., 2020). As for younger users, most of the studies relied on natural-based VE contents (Baños et al., 2012; Moyle et al., 2018; Huygelier et al., 2019; Appel et al., 2020; Brimelow et al., 2020), mainly because of their well-known benefits and safety of use (Appel et al., 2020). Additionally, it has been showed that nature contents lead to lower feelings of tiredness and depression in middleaged and older adults (Yu et al., 2020). Several studies used other VE contents such as interactive applications (Etchemendy et al., 2011; Baker et al., 2020) or personalized contents (Benoit et al., 2015), mainly in order to investigate elderly users' acceptability and satisfaction of these contents (see Supplementary Material).

Positive emotions induced through VR have proven to be useful in improving cognitive and physical outcomes in people with mild cognitive impairment (Kim et al., 2019) and people living with dementia (D'Cunha et al., 2019). A growing demand for using VR to reduce apathy in RACFs has also sprung up in recent years. Although current evidence is limited to exploratory and preliminary research, VR has potential for reducing apathy in addition to improving overall emotions (Brimelow et al., 2020). This observation is further supported by residents' families and by staff members (Moyle et al., 2018). However, one limitation is the lack of control groups in order to understand to what extent VR by itself is efficient in reducing apathy compared to traditional treatments. A research project aims at answering this limitation by including an active and passive control group for comparison with the VR group (Saredakis et al., 2020).

As a side note, despite high levels of satisfaction and an efficient induction of positive emotions, it has been reported on several occasions that VR also induces negative emotions in elderly users (Appel et al., 2020; Brimelow et al., 2020; Chan et al., 2020; Liu et al., 2020), especially feelings of anxiety or fear (Moyle et al., 2018). These mixed feelings about VR experiences can be explained by characteristics of the users and of the devices. It is plausible that VR experiences, especially those involving HMDs, are less appropriate for users with cognitive deficits, who may experience VR as confusing or even intrusive (Roberts et al., 2019; Baker et al., 2020). Elderly users have reported the following drawbacks of VR experiences: physical discomfort and blurred vision due to inadequate devices, issues for executing required movements in VE, worries about using the equipment without assistance, and personal preference for less immersive experiences (Roberts et al., 2019; Baker et al., 2020; Liu et al., 2020).

## **4 DISCUSSION**

# 4.1 Strengths and Weaknesses of Positive Emotion Induction Through VR

In recent years increased interest in using technology to enhance health and well-being has sprung up (Kitson et al., 2018). The present review aimed specifically at investigating VR's potential for eliciting and fostering positive emotional states. This investigation was conducted on studies that recruited adult users, most of them conducted on young healthy users. It emerged that VR is a safe and potent technology for inducing positive emotions in young and elderly users. The results of the present overview support the claim that the positive emotions induced through VR provide effective leverage for physical activity (Miragall et al., 2021), alleviating induced stress (Annerstedt et al., 2013; Liszio and Masuch, 2019) or pain (Gordon et al., 2011) in healthy young adults, as well as a promising tool for reducing apathy in elderly users (Moyle et al., 2018; Brimelow et al., 2020).

High levels of acceptability, satisfaction and perceived usefulness of positive VR experiences have been reported by young adults, and elderly users. However, a limited number of studies assessed explicitly VR tolerance and cybersickness symptoms when inducing positive emotions. As variable levels of cybersickness symptoms have been reported in the literature, with usually women (Stanney et al., 2020), and elderly users (Arns and Cerney, 2005; Huygelier et al., 2019) being more prone to it, generalizing explicit measures of cybersickness symptoms appears relevant, especially when aiming to induce positive emotions. Employing objective measures in addition to self-reported measures of cybersickness could also be relevant for a better detection of cybersickness symptoms (see Chang et al., 2020).

There are no clear answers about the levels of immersion and interactivity required for inducing positive emotions. Although highly immersive HMDs and CAVE are particularly efficient for inducing positive emotions (Chirico et al., 2017; Chirico et al., 2018; Browning et al., 2020), alleviating negative emotions (Bittner et al., 2018) and sensations (Gordon et al., 2011), their superiority to screens remains to be validated. Moreover, interactivity appears beneficial for inducing positive emotions (Villani and Riva, 2012; Liszio and Masuch, 2019) and preventing users' boredom (Yeo et al., 2020), yet the majority of the studies relied on non-interactive VR experiences. Additionally, low immersive devices and non-interactive VR experiences appeared efficient at conveying positive emotions, especially in elderly users. Further studies are needed to disentangle the optimal levels of immersion and interactivity required based on users' characteristics for fostering positive emotions.

Regarding VE contents employed for inducing positive emotions, it emerged that VEs of nature, i.e., vegetation and aquatic contents are widespread. This is mainly due to nature's health benefits (Twohig-Bennett and Jones, 2018), positive emotion improvement (McMahan and Estes, 2015) and ability to restore resources (Kaplan and Kaplan, 1989; Ulrich et al., 1991). However, several points need to be addressed about natural VE contents. Firstly, a neutral VE has not been systematically used for comparison, therefore making it difficult to fully state natural VE superiority for conveying positive emotions over other types of VE. Furthermore, a new research field consisting in using natural VE for promoting climate change awareness has started developing (Fauville et al., 2020). Natural VE are therefore employed for encouraging conservation behavior (Hsu et al., 2018; Nelson et al., 2020; Hofman et al., 2021), learning about ocean acidification (Markowitz et al., 2018) or visualizing a forest under climate changes (Huang et al., 2021). These natural VE do not necessarily aim at inducing positive emotions, but rather raising awareness which can lead to negative emotion induction (Hsu et al., 2018; Nelson et al., 2020). This means that natural VE are not intrinsically positive (or negative), but rather that their emotional valence relies heavily on the context and the meaning users are willing to give them.

Social contents may also present advantages for fostering positive emotions, yet they have been understudied. This is intriguing given that their use in VR could help to enhance social well-being, as argued within the positive technologies' framework (Botella et al., 2012; Riva et al., 2012; Baños et al., 2017). A research asking participants to record their personalized 360° video revealed that more than half of the participants' videos included family members, friends or loved ones, and that the majority of videos involved the presence of at least one person (Evans et al., 2020). Moreover, it emerged from studies investigating elderly users' preferences that they are particularly willing in using VR for social purposes and interactions (Roberts et al., 2019; Baker et al., 2020). This is in line with researches showing that social contents (i.e., with people present in the pictures/videos) induce greater subjective feelings of positive emotions (Colden et al., 2008), and different physiological responses to non-social contents (Britton et al., 2006). This may for instance explain why studies comparing "natural" and "urban" (therefore social) VE contents (Yu et al., 2018; Yu et al., 2020) failed to reveal clear physiological differences between the two types of content. Developing a database of various VE contents for emotion induction thus appears necessary, and there have been attempts for developing one (e.g., see Li et al., 2017).

VR's efficacy has mostly been investigated with questionnaires reporting "subjective" feelings, although in recent years they started being coupled to more "objective" measures, mainly skin conductance and various cardiac measures. As a matter of fact, it has been argued by various authors that combining questionnaires with "objective" measures helps better understand to what extent VR interventions are effective, and ensuring that participants do not simply experience social desirability-bias (Appel et al., 2020; D'Cunha et al., 2019; Felnhofer et al., 2015; Riva et al., 2007; Bernardo et al., 2021). However, a consensus about the relevant measures and the best way to collect them is needed since considerable heterogeneity was observed regarding the selected measures, the moment and duration of their collection.

More recently, there has been a growing interest in providing VR experiences, especially positive ones, to older users. When proposing positive VR experiences to elderly users, one should have the following considerations in mind. Depending on users' characteristics and preferences, lower immersive devices may be

more suitable, especially when setting up VR interventions for users with cognitive and/or physical impairments, and the benefits of interactivity has yet to be investigated among elderly users. Nevertheless, it has been argued on several occasions that elderly users can find highly immersive CAVEs and HMDs enjoyable and draw benefits from them (Benoit et al., 2015; Huygelier et al., 2019; Appel et al., 2020). Constructors of positive VR experiences under HMDs could consider that their use may be compromised when users rely on hearing and/or visual aid devices (Roberts et al., 2019; Liu et al., 2020); should consider adapting the movements and inputs to be controller-free (Pimentel et al., 2021) and simplify the equipment and interfaces for novice and less autonomous users (Roberts et al., 2019). Lastly, further studies are necessary on middle-aged users, as so far only one study recruited these users (Yu et al., 2020), therefore it is not possible to conclude on VR's efficacy in these users.

Finally, several limitations must be addressed regarding studies that attempt to induce positive emotions through VR. Studies' sample sizes can range from 5 to over a thousand participants per study and experimental condition (see Supplementary Material). Smaller sample sizes have been observed in studies recruiting elderly users in RACFs and impairments, which implies lower statistical power (Akobeng, 2016). Additionally, effect sizes have not been consistently reported in presently selected studies, making it complex to fully conclude on VR's capacity for inducing positive emotions. However, a considerable number of studies with young adults reported medium to large effect sizes (see Supplementary Material) suggesting that VR is at least to some extent efficient for inducing emotions in younger users. More robust studies reporting effect sizes of positive VR interventions are needed to support its efficacy in middle-aged and elderly users. One should have also in mind the possibility of p-hacking, which consists in a set of questionable practices forcing results to be significant even in under-powered studies (Nelson et al., 2018; Botella and Suero, 2020). Lastly, a potential publication bias should be addressed, as the majority of the studies reported significant positive outcomes, while null or negative effects are a minority or non-existing so far in the literature. These statistical and publishing biases can be overcome by carefully reporting sample size measurements (Nelson et al., 2018), significant and non-significant results (Lakens and Etz, 2017), and studies pre-registration and/or replication (Nosek and Lakens, 2014).

# 4.2 Potential Cognitive Mechanisms Involved

While there is no clear explanation of why VR is so efficient in inducing positive emotions nor what its short and long term benefits are (Kenwright, 2018; Bernardo et al., 2021), findings allow us to speculate on the possible operating mechanisms. The **Figure 2** provides a visual illustration of the cognitive mechanisms covered in the present section, which investigates the links behind VR technology, positive emotions and users' characteristics.



It has been argued that highly immersive VR is arousing (Visch et al., 2010; Chirico et al., 2017), able to capture and hold users' attention (Cho et al., 2002; Li et al., 2020; Seabrook et al., 2020), trick their senses (Gallace et al., 2012; Serino et al., 2016; Droit-Volet et al., 2020), as well as distract from negative affects and sensations (Malloy and Milling, 2010; Sharar et al., 2016). However, a neurological perspective on VR's benefits and adverse effects is highly needed. Recently, it has been suggested that VR and the brain may share similarities, i.e. embodied simulations (Riva et al., 2018). For the brain, embodied simulations imply the existence of a "body matrix," involved in coding visual, tactile and proprioceptive information which allows an individual to maintain a mental model of the body and the space around it (Moseley et al., 2012; Riva et al., 2018). Through the integration of several sensory stimuli, the body matrix is able to provide predictions about future actions (Riva et al., 2018). As VR shares the same characteristics of integrating several sensory inputs and predicting future user actions for optimal VR experiences, it has been suggested that VR can be considered as an "embodied technology" (Riva et al., 2018; Yu et al., 2020). Currently, VR is highly efficient at simulating the external world and body, but simulating internal simulations is more complex (although see Riva et al., 2019). When combined, these features may at least partially explain what makes VR suitable for positive emotion induction.

The operating mechanisms behind positive emotions and their influence are better documented, and interestingly, they have complementary benefits to VR. As already discussed, positive emotions present health benefits (Diener and Chan, 2011), can lead to happiness (Diener et al., 1999) and influence cognition and stimuli processing (Phillips et al., 2002; Fredrickson, 2004; Rowe et al., 2007; Holland and Kensinger, 2010). Although there are discrepancies in the literature concerning the physiological markers of positive emotions (Fredrickson, 2003; Kreibig, 2010), they have undoubtedly effects on the cardiac, vascular and electrodermal systems (Shiota et al., 2011). The recent development of a neuroscience of well-being suggests the implication of a broad neural system, involving several neurotransmitters and brain regions traditionally known to be involved in emotion processing (for a review see Alexander et al., 2020).

Beyond complementary added values of VR and emotions for fostering well-being, a user-centered approach is highly needed to elicit optimal user experiences. Fostering positive emotions by means of technology implies taking into account users' age (Liu et al., 2020), gender (Siess and Wölfel, 2019), and physical and cognitive impairments (Roberts et al., 2019; Baker et al., 2020) as all these characteristics may potentially influence users' VR experience (Kenwright, 2018). Personal relevance is another key aspect that may play a major role when opting for preferred VE contents, but has been understudied. Finally, cognitive reappraisal may come into play, as depending on users' goals and regulation strategies employed they will drawn different benefits from emotional experiences (McRae et al., 2012; Brockman et al., 2017). It has also been argued in this overview that VE contents are not intrinsically "positive" or "negative," as their emotional valence depends greatly on the meaning users are willing to give them.

## 4.3 Ethical Considerations and Limitations

Several ethical considerations need to be discussed about positive VR and fostering well-being. Firstly, the devices and material used as VR should be reported clearly, as several devices, with variable levels of immersion, are grouped under the umbrella term of VR. VR material has been reported in the majority of the studies investigated for the present overview (see **Figure 1**). Nevertheless, authors should consistently report the VR material used in their studies.

Although the studies discussed in the present review aimed specifically at inducing positive emotions in users, mixed feelings and negative emotions among elderly users (D'Cunha et al., 2019; Liu et al., 2020; Moyle et al., 2018) and barriers for using HMDs outside lab-settings (Pimentel et al., 2021) have been reported. This raises several concerns, starting with the need to involve elderly users in every feature design, from the early stages of development of a technology to its application (Castilla et al., 2013). Before setting up positive VR experiences for elderly users, some design guidelines that should be considered are simplifying the technology to be accessible to novice users (Kenwright, 2018; Pimentel et al., 2021), limiting the number of choices for a given action in the VE (Castilla et al., 2013), enabling different levels of complexity in order to match users' skills (Castilla et al., 2020), and slow down speech narratives to avoid the double-tasks resulting from such situations (Castilla et al., 2020).

A thorough reflection about which users can benefit from VR interventions, and those for whom it may be detrimental is necessary (Kellmeyer, 2018; Kellmeyer et al., 2019). As literature about VR and emotion induction is nascent, it is normal to start investigating its effects on healthy users before proposing it to more fragile ones. It appears necessary to investigate the benefits, as well as the negative side-effects that may arouse from using VR. For instance, there is to our knowledge no literature about addiction to VR experiences, yet it needs to be investigated, especially when setting positive VR interventions. In line with this observation, it is intriguing that no clear guidelines about the VR exposure duration required and necessary for inducing positive emotions has been reported. For instance, the exposure duration in the cited studies ranges from 90 s (Marín-Morales et al., 2018) to 20 min (Baños et al., 2012; Appel et al., 2020; Miragall et al., 2021) without breaks, and over 45 min with breaks (Anderson et al., 2017). As exposure duration requires to be long enough to elicit positive emotions, but not too lengthy to cause tiredness, confusion or boredom, its thresholds need to be further investigated.

Positive emotions are not valued and expressed in the same way in different cultures (Joshanloo and Weijers, 2014).

Research into positive emotions and well-being should take cultural differences into account, which is still rarely the case (Alexander et al., 2020). For instance, the majority of the cited studies has been on conducted on so-called Western, Educated, Industrialized, Rich and Democratic (WEIRD) populations (Henrich et al., 2010a,b). While it does bring some insights on users' opinions and reactions to positive VR interventions, it remains not generalizable to all potential users because of this bias.

Finally, fostering positive emotions should not in any case become an injunction towards constant well-being and the repression of negative emotions. Several limitations have been raised about the broaden-and-build based literature, which supports the idea that positive emotions, cognition and well-being are tightly linked (Fredrickson, 2004; Fredrickson and Branigan, 2005; Fredrickson, 2006). Firstly, the dichotomy between positive and negative emotions have been criticized (Held, 2018). Thus, positive emotions do not always lead to well-being, and can even become detrimental (Gruber et al., 2008; Ford and Mauss, 2014). In addition, negative emotions can also motivate the construction of useful resources (Moss and Wilson, 2015; Pérez- Álvarez, 2016). Methodological weaknesses of the broaden-and-build literature has also been reviewed, pointing mainly at the experimental methodologies employed for supporting the theory (Nickerson, 2007; Pérez- Álvarez, 2016). For instance, the supposed broadening of attention following positive emotions is not consistently found, as the links between emotions and cognition appear to be more flexible than originally conceptualized (e.g., see Huntsinger, 2012; Taylor et al., 2017). Going further, it has been suggested that rather than purchasing constantly positive experiences and happiness, perhaps it is more relevant to pursue a valuable and meaningful life with its ups and downs (Pérez-Álvarez, 2016).

## **5 CONCLUSION**

In conclusion, the studies presented in this overview reveal the great potential and future that positive VR has for fostering positive emotions in young and adult users. These positive emotions may in return motivate users towards achieving their goals, or help relaxing and managing negative affects and pain. Key aspects that need to be reflected on before setting up positive VR interventions are users' characteristics and needs, levels of immersion, interactivity, VE contents, sensory modalities involved, and exposure duration required for optimal positive emotion induction. In any cases, fostering well-being through VR should be driven by users' characteristics and needs in the first place rather than by technological progresses, about which there is still a lot of gray area on their long-term benefits and side-effects. Overall, fostering positive emotions through VR should remain a proposition, and should not in any case become an injunction towards constant well-being and happiness.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

KP, DV-P, TG, and LC contributed to the conception and planning of the review. KP identified articles relevant to the topic and wrote the first draft of the manuscript. All authors contributed to manuscript revision, read and approved the submitted version.

## FUNDING

This work was supported by the French Research and Technology Association (ANRT, Association Nationale de la Recherche et de

## REFERENCES

- Akobeng, A. K. (2016). Understanding Type I and Type Ii Errors, Statistical Power and Sample Size. Acta Paediatr. 105, 605–609. doi:10.1111/apa.13384
- Alexander, R., Aragón, O. R., Bookwala, J., Cherbuin, N., Gatt, J. M., Kahrilas, I. J., et al. (2020). "The Neuroscience of Positive Emotions and Affect: Implications for Cultivating Happiness and Wellbeing," in *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*.
- Anderson, A. P., Mayer, M. D., Fellows, A. M., Cowan, D. R., Hegel, M. T., and Buckey, J. C. (2017). Relaxation with Immersive Natural Scenes Presented Using Virtual Reality. *Aerospace Med. Hum. Perform.* 88, 520–526. doi:10.3357/amhp.4747.2017
- Annerstedt, M., Jönsson, P., Wallergård, M., Johansson, G., Karlson, B., Grahn, P., et al. (2013). Inducing Physiological Stress Recovery with Sounds of Nature in a Virtual Reality forest - Results from a Pilot Study. *Physiol. Behav.* 118, 240–250. doi:10.1016/j.physbeh.2013.05.023
- Appel, L., Appel, E., Bogler, O., Wiseman, M., Cohen, L., Ein, N., et al. (2020). Older Adults with Cognitive And/or Physical Impairments Can Benefit from Immersive Virtual Reality Experiences: a Feasibility Study. *Front. Med.* 6, 329. doi:10.3389/fmed.2019.00329
- Arns, L. L., and Cerney, M. M. (2005). "The Relationship between Age and Incidence of Cybersickness Among Immersive Environment Users," in IEEE Proceedings. VR 2005. Virtual Reality, 2005, Bonn, Germany, 12-16 March 2005 (IEEE), 267–268.
- Baker, S., Waycott, J., Robertson, E., Carrasco, R., Neves, B. B., Hampson, R., et al. (2020). Evaluating the Use of Interactive Virtual Reality Technology with Older Adults Living in Residential Aged Care. *Inf. Process. Manage.* 57, 102105. doi:10.1016/j.ipm.2019.102105
- Baltes, M. M., and Carstensen, L. L. (2003). "The Process of Successful Aging: Selection, Optimization, and Compensation," in Understanding Human Development (Dordrecht, The Netherlands: Springer), 81–104. doi:10.1007/ 978-1-4615-0357-6\_5
- Baltes, P. B., and Baltes, M. M. (1990). "Psychological Perspectives on Successful Aging: The Model of Selective Optimization with Compensation, in Successful Aging: Perspectives From the Behavioral Sciences. Editors P. B. Baltes and M. M. Baltes (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press), 1–34. doi:10.1017/ cbo9780511665684.003
- Baños, R. M., Carrillo, A., Etchemendy, E., and Botella, C. (2017). Positive Technologies for Understanding and Promoting Positive Emotions. Span J. Psychol. 20, E50. doi:10.1017/sjp.2017.42
- Baños, R. M., Botella, C., Rubió, I., Quero, S., García-Palacios, A., and Alcañiz, M. (2008). Presence and Emotions in Virtual Environments: The Influence of Stereoscopy. *CyberPsychology Behav.* 11, 1–8. doi:10.1089/cpb.2007.9936
- Baños, R. M., Etchemendy, E., Castilla, D., García-Palacios, A., Quero, S., and Botella, C. (2012). Positive Mood Induction Procedures for Virtual Environments Designed for Elderly People. *Interacting Comput.* 24, 131–138. doi:10.1016/j.intcom.2012.04.002
- Baños, R. M., Etchemendy, E., Farfallini, L., García-Palacios, A., Quero, S., and Botella, C. (2014). Earth of Well-Being System: A Pilot Study of an Information and Communication Technology-Based Positive Psychology Intervention. *J. Positive Psychol.* 9, 482–488. doi:10.1080/17439760.2014.927906
- Benoit, M., Guerchouche, R., Petit, P. D., Chapoulie, E., Manera, V., Chaurasia, G., et al. (2015). Is it Possible to Use Highly Realistic Virtual Reality in the Elderly?

la Technologie) exclusively for a doctorate scholarship and program between Université de Paris, Sorbonne Université and SocialDream from 2020 to 2023 (Grant Number 2019/ 0715). The funder had no role in study design, data collection and analysis, decision to publish, or preparation of the manuscript.

## SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/frvir.2022.788820/full#supplementary-material

a Feasibility Study with Image-Based Rendering. *Neuropsychiatr. Dis. Treat.* 11, 557–563. doi:10.2147/NDT.S73179

- Biocca, F., Harms, C., and Gregg, J. (2001). "The Networked Minds Measure of Social Presence: Pilot Test of the Factor Structure and Concurrent Validity," in *4th Annual International Workshop on Presence* (Philadelphia, PA), 1–9.
- Bittner, L., Mostajeran, F., Steinicke, F., Gallinat, J., and Kühn, S. (2018). Evaluation of Flowvr: A Virtual Reality Game for Improvement of Depressive Mood. *Biorxiv*, 451245. doi:10.1101/451245
- Blair, K. S., Smith, B. W., Mitchell, D. G. V., Morton, J., Vythilingam, M., Pessoa, L., et al. (2007). Modulation of Emotion by Cognition and Cognition by Emotion. *Neuroimage* 35, 430–440. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2006.11.048
- Bos, E. H., Snippe, E., de Jonge, P., and Jeronimus, B. F. (2016). Preserving Subjective Wellbeing in the Face of Psychopathology: Buffering Effects of Personal Strengths and Resources. *PloS one* 11, e0150867. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0150867
- Botella, C., Riva, G., Gaggioli, A., Wiederhold, B. K., Alcaniz, M., and Baños, R. M. (2012). The Present and Future of Positive Technologies. *Cyberpsychology, Behav. Soc. Networking* 15, 78–84. doi:10.1089/cyber.2011.0140
- Botella, J., and Suero, M. (2020). Commentary: The Extent and Consequences of P-Hacking in Science. Front. Psychol. 11, 581910. doi:10.3389/fpsyg.2020. 581910
- Brimelow, R. E., Dawe, B., and Dissanayaka, N. (2020). Preliminary Research: Virtual Reality in Residential Aged Care to Reduce Apathy and Improve Mood. *Cyberpsychology, Behav. Soc. Networking* 23, 165–170. doi:10.1089/cyber.2019.0286
- Britton, J. C., Taylor, S. F., Berridge, K. C., Mikels, J. A., and Liberzon, I. (2006). Differential Subjective and Psychophysiological Responses to Socially and Nonsocially Generated Emotional Stimuli. *Emotion* 6, 150–155. doi:10.1037/ 1528-3542.6.1.150
- Brivio, E., Serino, S., Negro Cousa, E., Zini, A., Riva, G., and De Leo, G. (2021). Virtual Reality and 360° Panorama Technology: a media Comparison to Study Changes in Sense of Presence, Anxiety, and Positive Emotions. *Virtual Reality* 25, 303–311. doi:10.1007/s10055-020-00453-7
- Brockman, R., Ciarrochi, J., Parker, P., and Kashdan, T. (2017). Emotion Regulation Strategies in Daily Life: Mindfulness, Cognitive Reappraisal and Emotion Suppression. *Cogn. Behav. Ther.* 46, 91–113. doi:10.1080/16506073. 2016.1218926
- Browning, M. H. E. M., Mimnaugh, K. J., van Riper, C. J., Laurent, H. K., and LaValle, S. M. (2020). Can Simulated Nature Support Mental Health? Comparing Short, Single-Doses of 360-degree Nature Videos in Virtual Reality with the Outdoors. *Front. Psychol.* 10, 2667. doi:10.3389/fpsyg.2019. 02667
- Castilla, D., Garcia-Palacios, A., Bretón-López, J., Miralles, I., Baños, R. M., Etchemendy, E., et al. (2013). Process of Design and Usability Evaluation of a Telepsychology Web and Virtual Reality System for the Elderly: Butler. Int. J. Human-Computer Stud. 71, 350–362. doi:10.1016/j.ijhcs.2012.10.017
- Castilla, D., Suso-Ribera, C., Zaragoza, I., Garcia-Palacios, A., and Botella, C. (2020). Designing Icts for Users with Mild Cognitive Impairment: a Usability Study. *Ijerph* 17, 5153. doi:10.3390/ijerph17145153
- Chan, J. Y. C., Chan, T. K., Wong, M. P. F., Cheung, R. S. M., Yiu, K. K. L., and Tsoi, K. K. F. (2020). Effects of Virtual Reality on Moods in Community Older Adults. A Multicenter Randomized Controlled Trial. *Int. J. Geriatr. Psychiatry* 35, 926–933. doi:10.1002/gps.5314

- Chang, E., Kim, H. T., and Yoo, B. (2020). Virtual Reality Sickness: a Review of Causes and Measurements. Int. J. Human-Computer Interaction 36, 1658–1682. doi:10.1080/10447318.2020.1778351
- Chirico, A., Cipresso, P., Yaden, D. B., Biassoni, F., Riva, G., and Gaggioli, A. (2017). Effectiveness of Immersive Videos in Inducing Awe: an Experimental Study. Sci. Rep. 7, 1218–1311. doi:10.1038/s41598-017-01242-0
- Chirico, A., Clewis, R. R., Yaden, D. B., and Gaggioli, A. (2021). Nature versus Art as Elicitors of the Sublime: A Virtual Reality Study. *PloS one* 16, e0233628. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0233628
- Chirico, A., Ferrise, F., Cordella, L., and Gaggioli, A. (2018). Designing Awe in Virtual Reality: An Experimental Study. *Front. Psychol.* 8, 2351. doi:10.3389/ fpsyg.2017.02351
- Chirico, A., and Gaggioli, A. (2019). When Virtual Feels Real: Comparing Emotional Responses and Presence in Virtual and Natural Environments. *Cyberpsychology*, *Behav. Soc. Networking* 22, 220–226. doi:10.1089/cyber.2018.0393
- Cho, B.-H., Ku, J., Jang, D. P., Kim, S., Lee, Y. H., Kim, I. Y., et al. (2002). The Effect of Virtual Reality Cognitive Training for Attention Enhancement. *CyberPsychology Behav.* 5, 129–137. doi:10.1089/109493102753770516
- Cohen, A. O., Dellarco, D. V., Breiner, K., Helion, C., Heller, A. S., Rahdar, A., et al. (2016). The Impact of Emotional States on Cognitive Control Circuitry and Function. J. Cogn. Neurosci. 28, 446–459. doi:10.1162/jocn\_a\_00906
- Colden, A., Bruder, M., and Manstead, A. S. R. (2008). Human Content in Affect-Inducing Stimuli: A Secondary Analysis of the International Affective Picture System. *Motiv. Emot.* 32, 260–269. doi:10.1007/s11031-008-9107-z
- Cruz-Neira, C., Sandin, D. J., and DeFanti, T. A. (1993). "Surround-screen Projection-Based Virtual Reality: the Design and Implementation of the Cave," in *Proceedings of the 20th Annual Conference on Computer Graphics* and Interactive Techniques, 135–142.
- D'Cunha, N. M., Nguyen, D., Naumovski, N., McKune, A. J., Kellett, J., Georgousopoulou, E. N., et al. (2019). A Mini-Review of Virtual Reality-Based Interventions to Promote Well-Being for People Living with Dementia and Mild Cognitive Impairment. *Gerontology* 65, 430–440. doi:10.1159/000500040
- Desmet, P. M. (2012). Faces of Product Pleasure: 25 Positive Emotions in Human-Product Interactions. *Int. J. Des.* 6 (2), 1–29.
- Diemer, J., Alpers, G. W., Peperkorn, H. M., Shiban, Y., and Mā¼hlberger, A. (2015). The Impact of Perception and Presence on Emotional Reactions: a Review of Research in Virtual Reality. *Front. Psychol.* 6, 26. doi:10.3389/fpsyg.2015.00026
- Diener, E., and Chan, M. Y. (2011). Happy People Live Longer: Subjective Well-Being Contributes to Health and Longevity. *Appl. Psychol. Health Well-Being* 3, 1–43. doi:10.1111/j.1758-0854.2010.01045.x
- Diener, E., Suh, E. M., Lucas, R. E., and Smith, H. L. (1999). Subjective Well-Being: Three Decades of Progress. *Psychol. Bull.* 125, 276–302. doi:10.1037/0033-2909.125.2.276
- Diniz Bernardo, P., Bains, A., Westwood, S., and Mograbi, D. C. (2021). Mood Induction Using Virtual Reality: a Systematic Review of Recent Findings. J. Technol. Behav. Sci. 6, 3–24. doi:10.1007/s41347-020-00152-9
- Dolan, R. J. (2002). Emotion, Cognition, and Behavior. *science* 298, 1191–1194. doi:10.1126/science.1076358
- Droit-Volet, S., El-Azhari, A., Haddar, S., Drago, R., and Gil, S. (2020). Similar Time Distortions under the Effect of Emotion for Durations of Several Minutes and a Few Seconds. *Acta Psychologica* 210, 103170. doi:10.1016/j.actpsy.2020.103170
- Ekkekakis, P. (2012). "Affect, Mood, and Emotion," in Measurement in Sport and Exercise Psychology, 321. doi:10.5040/9781492596332.ch-028
- Elor, A., and Kurniawan, S. (2020). The Ultimate Display for Physical Rehabilitation: A Bridging Review on Immersive Virtual Reality. Front. Virtual Reality 1, 25. doi:10.3389/frvir.2020.585993
- Etchemendy, E., Baños, R. M., Botella, C., Castilla, D., Alcañiz, M., Rasal, P., et al. (2011). An E-Health Platform for the Elderly Population: The butler System. *Comput. Educ.* 56, 275–279. doi:10.1016/j.compedu.2010.07.022
- Evans, C. P., Chiarovano, E., and MacDougall, H. G. (2020). The Potential Benefits of Personalized 360 Video Experiences on Affect: a Proof-Of-Concept Study. *Cyberpsychology, Behav. Soc. Networking* 23, 134–138. doi:10.1089/cyber.2019.0241
- Fagernäs, S., Hamilton, W., Espinoza, N., Miloff, A., Carlbring, P., and Lindner, P. (2021). What Do Users Think about Virtual Reality Relaxation Applications? a Mixed Methods Study of Online User Reviews Using Natural Language Processing. *Internet Interventions* 24, 100370. doi:10.1016/j.invent.2021.100370
- Fauville, G., Queiroz, A. C. M., and Bailenson, J. N. (2020). Virtual Reality as a Promising Tool to Promote Climate Change Awareness. *Techn. Health*, 91–108. doi:10.1016/b978-0-12-816958-2.00005-8

- Felnhofer, A., Kothgassner, O. D., Schmidt, M., Heinzle, A.-K., Beutl, L., Hlavacs, H., et al. (2015). Is Virtual Reality Emotionally Arousing? Investigating Five Emotion Inducing Virtual Park Scenarios. *Int. J. human-computer Stud.* 82, 48–56. doi:10.1016/j.ijhcs.2015.05.004
- Ford, B. Q., and Mauss, I. B. (2014). "The Paradoxical Effects of Pursuing Positive Emotion," in *Positive Emotion: Integrating the Light Sides and Dark Sides*, 363–381. doi:10.1093/acprof:oso/9780199926725.003.0020
- Fredrickson, B. L., and Branigan, C. (2005). Positive Emotions Broaden the Scope of Attention and Thought-action Repertoires. *Cogn. Emot.* 19, 313–332. doi:10. 1080/02699930441000238
- Fredrickson, B. L., and Joiner, T. (2002). Positive Emotions Trigger Upward Spirals toward Emotional Well-Being, Psychol. Sci. 13, 172–175. doi:10.1111/1467-9280.00431
- Fredrickson, B. L. (2004). The Broaden-And-Build Theory of Positive Emotions. Phil. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B 359, 1367–1377. doi:10.1098/rstb.2004.1512
- Fredrickson, B. L. (2006). Unpacking Positive Emotions: Investigating the Seeds of Human Flourishing, J. Positive Psychol. 1, 57–59. doi:10.1080/17439760500510981
- Fredrickson, B. (2003). The Value of Positive Emotions. Amer. Scientist 91, 330–335. doi:10.1511/2003.4.330
- Freeman, D., Reeve, S., Robinson, A., Ehlers, A., Clark, D., Spanlang, B., et al. (2017). Virtual Reality in the Assessment, Understanding, and Treatment of Mental Health Disorders. *Psychol. Med.* 47, 2393–2400. doi:10.1017/s003329171700040x
- Gallace, A., Ngo, M. K., Sulaitis, J., and Spence, C. (2012). "Multisensory Presence in Virtual Reality," in *Multiple Sensorial media Advances and Applications: New Developments in MulSeMedia* Editors G. Ghinea, F. Andres, and S. Gulliver (Hershey, PA: IGI Global), 1–38. doi:10.4018/978-1-60960-821-7.ch001
- Ganesan, B., Al-Jumaily, A., Fong, K. N. K., Prasad, P., Meena, S. K., and Tong, R. K. (2021). Impact of Coronavirus Disease 2019 (Covid-19) Outbreak Quarantine, Isolation, and Lockdown Policies on Mental Health and Suicide. *Front. Psychiatry* 12, 565190. doi:10.3389/fpsyt.2021.565190
- Garland, E. L., Fredrickson, B., Kring, A. M., Johnson, D. P., Meyer, P. S., and Penn, D. L. (2010). Upward Spirals of Positive Emotions Counter Downward Spirals of Negativity: Insights from the Broaden-And-Build Theory and Affective Neuroscience on the Treatment of Emotion Dysfunctions and Deficits in Psychopathology. *Clin. Psychol. Rev.* 30, 849–864. doi:10.1016/j.cpr.2010.03.002
- Gordon, N. S., Merchant, J., Zanbaka, C., Hodges, L. F., and Goolkasian, P. (2011). Interactive Gaming Reduces Experimental Pain with or without a Head Mounted Display. *Comput. Hum. Behav.* 27, 2123–2128. doi:10.1016/j.chb.2011.06.006
- Gross, J. J., and Levenson, R. W. (1995). Emotion Elicitation Using Films. Cogn. Emot. 9, 87–108. doi:10.1080/02699939508408966
- Gruber, J., Johnson, S. L., Oveis, C., and Keltner, D. (2008). Risk for Mania and Positive Emotional Responding: Too Much of a Good Thing? *Emotion* 8, 23–33. doi:10.1037/1528-3542.8.1.23
- Gupta, R. (2019). Positive Emotions Have a Unique Capacity to Capture Attention. Prog. Brain Res. 247, 23–46. doi:10.1016/bs.pbr.2019.02.001
- Held, B. S. (2018). Positive Psychology's A Priori Problem. J. Humanistic Psychol. 58, 313–342. doi:10.1177/0022167817739409
- Henderson, L., and Knight, T. (2012). Integrating the Hedonic and Eudaimonic Perspectives to More Comprehensively Understand Wellbeing and Pathways to Wellbeing. *Intnl. J. Wellbeing* 2, 196–221. doi:10.5502/ijw.v2i3.3
- Henrich, J., Heine, S. J., and Norenzayan, A. (2010a). Most People Are Not Weird. *Nature* 466, 29. doi:10.1038/466029a
- Henrich, J., Heine, S. J., and Norenzayan, A. (2010b). The Weirdest People in the World? Behav. Brain Sci. 33, 61–83. doi:10.1017/s0140525x0999152x
- Hofman, K., Walters, G., and Hughes, K. (2021). The Effectiveness of Virtual vs Real-Life marine Tourism Experiences in Encouraging Conservation Behaviour. J. Sustain. Tourism, 1–25. doi:10.1080/09669582.2021.1884690
- Holland, A. C., and Kensinger, E. A. (2010). Emotion and Autobiographical Memory. Phys. Life Rev. 7, 88–131. doi:10.1016/j.plrev.2010.01.006
- Hsu, W.-C., Tseng, C.-M., and Kang, S.-C. (2018). Using Exaggerated Feedback in a Virtual Reality Environment to Enhance Behavior Intention of Water-Conservation. J. Educ. Techn. Soc. 21, 187–203.
- Huang, J., Lucash, M. S., Scheller, R. M., and Klippel, A. (2021). Walking through the Forests of the Future: Using Data-Driven Virtual Reality to Visualize Forests under Climate Change. *Int. J. Geographical Inf. Sci.* 35, 1155–1178. doi:10.1080/ 13658816.2020.1830997
- Huntsinger, J. R. (2012). Does Positive Affect Broaden and Negative Affect Narrow Attentional Scope? a New Answer to an Old Question. J. Exp. Psychol. Gen. 141, 595–600. doi:10.1037/a0027709

- Huygelier, H., Schraepen, B., Van Ee, R., Vanden Abeele, V., and Gillebert, C. R. (2019). Acceptance of Immersive Head-Mounted Virtual Reality in Older Adults. Sci. Rep. 9, 4519–4612. doi:10.1038/s41598-019-41200-6
- Jerdan, S. W., Grindle, M., van Woerden, H. C., and Kamel Boulos, M. N. (2018). Head-mounted Virtual Reality and Mental Health: Critical Review of Current Research. JMIR serious games 6, e14. doi:10.2196/games.9226
- Joshanloo, M., and Weijers, D. (2014). Aversion to Happiness across Cultures: A Review of where and Why People Are Averse to Happiness. J. Happiness Stud. 15, 717–735. doi:10.1007/s10902-013-9489-9
- Kaplan, R., and Kaplan, S. (1989). The Experience of Nature: A Psychological Perspective. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press.
- Kashdan, T. B., Biswas-Diener, R., and King, L. A. (2008). Reconsidering Happiness: The Costs of Distinguishing between Hedonics and Eudaimonia. *J. Positive Psychol.* 3, 219–233. doi:10.1080/17439760802303044
- Kellmeyer, P., Biller-Andorno, N., and Meynen, G. (2019). Ethical Tensions of Virtual Reality Treatment in Vulnerable Patients. *Nat. Med.* 25, 1185–1188. doi:10.1038/s41591-019-0543-y
- Kellmeyer, P. (2018). Neurophilosophical and Ethical Aspects of Virtual Reality Therapy in Neurology and Psychiatry. *Camb Q. Healthc. Ethics* 27, 610–627. doi:10.1017/s0963180118000129
- Kennedy, R. S., Lane, N. E., Berbaum, K. S., and Lilienthal, M. G. (1993). Simulator Sickness Questionnaire: An Enhanced Method for Quantifying Simulator Sickness. Int. J. aviation Psychol. 3, 203–220. doi:10.1207/s15327108ijap0303\_3
- Kenwright, B. (2018). Virtual Reality: Ethical Challenges and Dangers [opinion]. IEEE Technol. Soc. Mag. 37, 20–25. doi:10.1109/mts.2018.2876104
- Kern, A. C., Ellermeier, W., and Jost, L. (2020). "The Influence of Mood Induction by Music or a Soundscape on Presence and Emotions in a Virtual Reality Park Scenario," in *Proceedings of the 15th International Conference on Audio Mostly*, 233–236. doi:10.1145/3411109.3411129
- Killgore, W. D. S., Cloonan, S. A., Taylor, E. C., and Dailey, N. S. (2020). Loneliness: A Signature Mental Health Concern in the Era of Covid-19. *Psychiatry Res.* 290, 113117. doi:10.1016/j.psychres.2020.113117
- Kim, O., Pang, Y., and Kim, J. H. (2019). The Effectiveness of Virtual Reality for People with Mild Cognitive Impairment or Dementia: a Meta-Analysis. BMC psychiatry 19, 219–310. doi:10.1186/s12888-019-2180-x
- Kitson, A., Prpa, M., and Riecke, B. E. (2018). Immersive Interactive Technologies for Positive Change: a Scoping Review and Design Considerations. *Front. Psychol.* 9, 1354. doi:10.3389/fpsyg.2018.01354
- Kreibig, S. D. (2010). Autonomic Nervous System Activity in Emotion: A Review. Biol. Psychol. 84, 394–421. doi:10.1016/j.biopsycho.2010.03.010
- Kuppens, P., Realo, A., and Diener, E. (2008). The Role of Positive and Negative Emotions in Life Satisfaction Judgment across Nations. J. Personal. Soc. Psychol. 95, 66–75. doi:10.1037/0022-3514.95.1.66
- Lakens, D., and Etz, A. J. (2017). Too True to Be Bad. Soc. Psychol. Personal. Sci. 8, 875–881. doi:10.1177/1948550617693058
- Lang, P. J., Bradley, M. M., and Cuthbert, B. N. (1997). International Affective Picture System (Iaps): Technical Manual and Affective Ratings. *NIMH Cent. Study Emot. Attention* 1, 39–58.
- LaValle, S. (2016). Virtual Reality.
- LaViola, J. J., Jr (2000). A Discussion of Cybersickness in Virtual Environments. SIGCHI Bull. 32, 47–56. doi:10.1145/333329.333344
- Lent, R. W. (2004). Toward a Unifying Theoretical and Practical Perspective on Well-Being and Psychosocial Adjustment. J. Couns. Psychol. 51, 482–509. doi:10.1037/0022-0167.51.4.482
- Li, B. J., Bailenson, J. N., Pines, A., Greenleaf, W. J., and Williams, L. M. (2017). A Public Database of Immersive Vr Videos with Corresponding Ratings of Arousal, Valence, and Correlations between Head Movements and Self Report Measures. *Front. Psychol.* 8, 2116. doi:10.3389/fpsyg.2017.02116
- Li, G., Anguera, J. A., Javed, S. V., Khan, M. A., Wang, G., and Gazzaley, A. (2020). Enhanced Attention Using Head-Mounted Virtual Reality. J. Cogn. Neurosci. 32, 1438–1454. doi:10.1162/jocn\_a\_01560
- Liszio, S., Graf, L., and Masuch, M. (2018). The Relaxing Effect of Virtual Nature: Immersive Technology Provides Relief in Acute Stress Situations. Annu. Rev. Cyberther. Telemed. 16, 87–93.
- Liszio, S., and Masuch, M. (2019). Interactive Immersive Virtual Environments Cause Relaxation and Enhance Resistance to Acute Stress. *Annu. Rev. Cyberther Telemed.* 17, 65–71.

- Liu, Q., Wang, Y., Yao, M. Z., Tang, Q., and Yang, Y. (2020). The Effects of Viewing an Uplifting 360-degree Video on Emotional Well-Being Among Elderly Adults and College Students under Immersive Virtual Reality and Smartphone Conditions. *Cyberpsychology, Behav. Soc. Networking* 23, 157–164. doi:10. 1089/cyber.2019.0273
- Lyubomirsky, S., King, L., and Diener, E. (2005). The Benefits of Frequent Positive Affect: Does Happiness lead to success? *Psychol. Bull.* 131, 803–855. doi:10. 1037/0033-2909.131.6.803
- Malloy, K. M., and Milling, L. S. (2010). The Effectiveness of Virtual Reality Distraction for Pain Reduction: a Systematic Review. *Clin. Psychol. Rev.* 30, 1011–1018. doi:10.1016/j.cpr.2010.07.001
- Marín-Morales, J., Higuera-Trujillo, J. L., Greco, A., Guixeres, J., Llinares, C., Scilingo, E. P., et al. (2018). Affective Computing in Virtual Reality: Emotion Recognition from Brain and Heartbeat Dynamics Using Wearable Sensors. *Sci. Rep.* 8, 13657–13715. doi:10.1038/s41598-018-32063-4
- Markowitz, D. M., Laha, R., Perone, B. P., Pea, R. D., and Bailenson, J. N. (2018). Immersive Virtual Reality Field Trips Facilitate Learning about Climate Change. Front. Psychol. 9, 2364. doi:10.3389/fpsyg.2018.02364
- Martin, M. (1990). On the Induction of Mood. Clin. Psychol. Rev. 10, 669–697. doi:10.1016/0272-7358(90)90075-1
- Mattila, O., Korhonen, A., Pöyry, E., Hauru, K., Holopainen, J., and Parvinen, P. (2020). Restoration in a Virtual Reality forest Environment. *Comput. Hum. Behav.* 107, 106295. doi:10.1016/j.chb.2020.106295
- McMahan, E. A., and Estes, D. (2015). The Effect of Contact with Natural Environments on Positive and Negative Affect: A Meta-Analysis. J. Positive Psychol. 10, 507–519. doi:10.1080/17439760.2014.994224
- McRae, K., Ciesielski, B., and Gross, J. J. (2012). Unpacking Cognitive Reappraisal: Goals, Tactics, and Outcomes. *Emotion* 12, 250–255. doi:10.1037/a0026351
- Miragall, M., Vara, M. D., Cebolla, A., Etchemendy, E., and Baños, R. M. (2021). Leaning Forward to Increase Approach Motivation! the Role of joy, Exercise, and Posture in Achieving Goals. Curr. Psychol. 40, 2390–2399. doi:10.1007/s12144-019-00175-3
- Mosadeghi, S., Reid, M. W., Martinez, B., Rosen, B. T., and Spiegel, B. M. (2016). Feasibility of an Immersive Virtual Reality Intervention for Hospitalized Patients: an Observational Cohort Study. *JMIR Ment. Health* 3, e28. doi:10.2196/mental.5801
- Moseley, G. L., Gallace, A., and Spence, C. (2012). Bodily Illusions in Health and Disease: Physiological and Clinical Perspectives and the Concept of a Cortical 'body Matrix'. *Neurosci. Biobehavioral Rev.* 36, 34–46. doi:10.1016/j.neubiorev.2011.03.013
- Moss, S. A., and Wilson, S. G. (2015). The Positive Emotions that Facilitate the Fulfillment of Needs May Not Be Positive Emotions at All: The Role of Ambivalence. *Explore* 11, 40–50. doi:10.1016/j.explore.2014.10.006
- Moyle, W., Jones, C., Dwan, T., and Petrovich, T. (2018). Effectiveness of a Virtual Reality forest on People with Dementia: A Mixed Methods Pilot Study. *The Gerontologist* 58, 478–487. doi:10.1093/geront/gnw270
- Nelson, K. M., Anggraini, E., and Schlüter, A. (2020). Virtual Reality as a Tool for Environmental Conservation and Fundraising. *Plos one* 15, e0223631. doi:10. 1371/journal.pone.0223631
- Nelson, L. D., Simmons, J., and Simonsohn, U. (2018). Psychology's Renaissance. Annu. Rev. Psychol. 69, 511–534. doi:10.1146/annurev-psych-122216-011836
- Nickerson, C. (2007). Theory/Analysis Mismatch: Comment on Fredrickson and Joiner's (2002) Test of the Broaden-And-Build Theory of Positive Emotions. J. Happiness Stud. 8, 537–561. doi:10.1007/s10902-006-9030-5
- Nosek, B. A., and Lakens, D. (2014). Registered Reports. Soc. Psychol. 45, 137–141. doi:10.1027/1864-9335/a000192
- Ong, A. D. (2010). Pathways Linking Positive Emotion and Health in Later Life. Curr. Dir. Psychol. Sci. 19, 358–362. doi:10.1177/0963721410388805
- Pérez-Álvarez, M. (2016). The Science of Happiness: As Felicitous as it Is Fallacious. J. Theor. Philos. Psychol. 36, 1–19. doi:10.1037/teo0000030
- Phillips, L. H., Bull, R., Adams, E., and Fraser, L. (2002). Positive Mood and Executive Function: Evidence from Stroop and Fluency Tasks. *Emotion* 2, 12–22. doi:10.1037/1528-3542.2.1.12
- Pimentel, D., Foxman, M., Davis, D. Z., and Markowitz, D. M. (2021). Virtually Real, but Not Quite There: Social and Economic Barriers to Meeting Virtual Reality's True Potential for Mental Health. *Front. Virtual Reality* 2, 2. doi:10.3389/frvir.2021.627059
- Riva, G., Baños, R. M., Botella, C., Wiederhold, B. K., and Gaggioli, A. (2012). Positive Technology: Using Interactive Technologies to Promote Positive Functioning. *Cyberpsychology, Behav. Soc. Networking* 15, 69–77. doi:10. 1089/cyber.2011.0139

- Riva, G., Mantovani, F., Capideville, C. S., Preziosa, A., Morganti, F., Villani, D., et al. (2007). Affective Interactions Using Virtual Reality: the Link between Presence and Emotions. *CyberPsychology Behav.* 10, 45–56. doi:10.1089/cpb. 2006.9993
- Riva, G., Wiederhold, B. K., Chirico, A., Di Lernia, D., Mantovani, F., and Gaggioli, A. (2018). Brain and Virtual Reality: what Do They Have in Common and How to Exploit Their Potential. Annu. Rev. CyberTherapy Telemed. 16, 3–7.
- Riva, G., Wiederhold, B. K., and Mantovani, F. (2019). Neuroscience of Virtual Reality: from Virtual Exposure to Embodied Medicine. *Cyberpsychology, Behav. Soc. Networking* 22, 82–96. doi:10.1089/cyber.2017.29099.gri
- Roberts, A. R., De Schutter, B., Franks, K., and Radina, M. E. (2019). Older Adults' Experiences with Audiovisual Virtual Reality: Perceived Usefulness and Other Factors Influencing Technology Acceptance. *Clin. gerontologist* 42, 27–33. doi:10.1080/07317115.2018.1442380
- Rockstroh, C., Blum, J., and Göritz, A. S. (2019). Virtual Reality in the Application of Heart Rate Variability Biofeedback. *Int. J. Human-Computer Stud.* 130, 209–220. doi:10.1016/j.ijhcs.2019.06.011
- Rowe, G., Hirsh, J. B., and Anderson, A. K. (2007). Positive Affect Increases the Breadth of Attentional Selection. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 104, 383–388. doi:10. 1073/pnas.0605198104
- Rowe, J. W., and Kahn, R. L. (1987). Human Aging: Usual and Successful. Science 237, 143–149. doi:10.1126/science.3299702
- Rowe, J. W., and Kahn, R. L. (2015). Successful Aging 2.0: Conceptual Expansions for the 21st century. *Geronb* 70, 593–596. doi:10.1093/geronb/gbv025
- Ryff, C. D. (1989). Happiness Is Everything, or Is it? Explorations on the Meaning of Psychological Well-Being. J. Personal. Soc. Psychol. 57, 1069–1081. doi:10. 1037/0022-3514.57.6.1069
- Sander, D., Grandjean, D., and Scherer, K. R. (2005). A Systems Approach to Appraisal Mechanisms in Emotion. *Neural networks* 18, 317–352. doi:10.1016/j. neunet.2005.03.001
- Saredakis, D., Keage, H. A., Corlis, M., and Loetscher, T. (2020). Using Virtual Reality to Improve Apathy in Residential Aged Care: Mixed Methods Study. J. Med. Internet Res. 22, e17632. doi:10.2196/17632
- Scherer, K. R. (2005). What Are Emotions? and How Can They Be Measured? Soc. Sci. Inf. 44, 695–729. doi:10.1177/0539018405058216
- Seabrook, E., Kelly, R., Foley, F., Theiler, S., Thomas, N., Wadley, G., et al. (2020). Understanding How Virtual Reality Can Support Mindfulness Practice: Mixed Methods Study. J. Med. Internet Res. 22, e16106. doi:10.2196/16106
- Seligman, M. E. P., and Csikszentmihalyi, M. (2000). Positive Psychology: An Introduction. Am. Psychol. 55, 5–14. doi:10.1037/0003-066x.55.1.5
- Serino, S., Pedroli, E., Keizer, A., Triberti, S., Dakanalis, A., Pallavicini, F., et al. (2016). Virtual Reality Body Swapping: a Tool for Modifying the Allocentric Memory of the Body. *Cyberpsychology, Behav. Soc. Networking* 19, 127–133. doi:10.1089/cyber.2015.0229
- Serrano, B., Baños, R. M., and Botella, C. (2016). Virtual Reality and Stimulation of Touch and Smell for Inducing Relaxation: A Randomized Controlled Trial. *Comput. Hum. Behav.* 55, 1–8. doi:10.1016/j.chb.2015.08.007
- Sharar, S. R., Alamdari, A., Hoffer, C., Hoffman, H. G., Jensen, M. P., and Patterson, D. R. (2016). Circumplex Model of Affect: a Measure of Pleasure and Arousal during Virtual Reality Distraction Analgesia. *Games Health J.* 5, 197–202. doi:10.1089/g4h.2015.0046
- Shiota, M. N., Neufeld, S. L., Yeung, W. H., Moser, S. E., and Perea, E. F. (2011). Feeling Good: Autonomic Nervous System Responding in Five Positive Emotions. *Emotion* 11, 1368–1378. doi:10.1037/a0024278
- Siess, A., and Wölfel, M. (2019). User Color Temperature Preferences in Immersive Virtual Realities. *Comput. Graphics* 81, 20–31. doi:10.1016/j.cag.2019.03.018
- Slater, M. (1999). Measuring Presence: A Response to the Witmer and Singer Presence Questionnaire. *Presence* 8, 560–565. doi:10.1162/105474699566477
- Slater, M., and Wilbur, S. (1997). A Framework for Immersive Virtual Environments (Five): Speculations on the Role of Presence in Virtual Environments. Presence: Teleoperators & Virtual Environments 6, 603–616. doi:10.1162/pres.1997.6.6.603
- Stanney, K., Fidopiastis, C., and Foster, L. (2020). Virtual Reality Is Sexist: but it Does Not Have to Be. Front. Robot. AI 7, 4. doi:10.3389/frobt.2020.00004
- Steptoe, A., Deaton, A., and Stone, A. A. (2015). Subjective Wellbeing, Health, and Ageing. *The Lancet* 385, 640–648. doi:10.1016/s0140-6736(13)61489-0

- Steuer, J. (1992). Defining Virtual Reality: Dimensions Determining Telepresence. J. Commun. 42, 73–93. doi:10.1111/j.1460-2466.1992.tb00812.x
- Suardi, A., Sotgiu, I., Costa, T., Cauda, F., and Rusconi, M. (2016). The Neural Correlates of Happiness: A Review of Pet and Fmri Studies Using Autobiographical Recall Methods. *Cogn. Affect Behav. Neurosci.* 16, 383–392. doi:10.3758/s13415-016-0414-7
- Taylor, A., Bendall, R., and Thompson, C. (2017). Positive Emotion Expands Visual Attention ... or Maybe Not J. Exp. Psychol. 8 (4), 521–535.
- Thompson, T., Steffert, T., Steed, A., and Gruzelier, J. (2010). A Randomized Controlled Trial of the Effects of Hypnosis with 3-d Virtual Reality Animation on Tiredness, Mood, and Salivary Cortisol. *Int. J. Clin. Exp. Hypnosis* 59, 122–142. doi:10.1080/00207144.2011.522917
- Twohig-Bennett, C., and Jones, A. (2018). The Health Benefits of the Great Outdoors: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Greenspace Exposure and Health Outcomes. *Environ. Res.* 166, 628–637. doi:10.1016/j.envres.2018.06.030
- Ulrich, R. S., Simons, R. F., Losito, B. D., Fiorito, E., Miles, M. A., and Zelson, M. (1991). Stress Recovery during Exposure to Natural and Urban Environments. *J. Environ. Psychol.* 11, 201–230. doi:10.1016/s0272-4944(05)80184-7
- Valtchanov, D., Barton, K. R., and Ellard, C. (2010). Restorative Effects of Virtual Nature Settings. *Cyberpsychology, Behav. Soc. Networking* 13, 503–512. doi:10. 1089/cyber.2009.0308
- Västfjäll, D. (2001). Emotion Induction through Music: A Review of the Musical Mood Induction Procedure. *Musicae Scientiae* 5, 173–211. doi:10.1177/ 10298649020050s107
- Velten, E. (1968). A Laboratory Task for Induction of Mood States. Behav. Res. Ther. 6, 473-482. doi:10.1016/0005-7967(68)90028-4
- Villani, D., and Riva, G. (2012). Does Interactive media Enhance the Management of Stress? Suggestions from a Controlled Study. *Cyberpsychology, Behav. Soc. Networking* 15, 24–30. doi:10.1089/cyber.2011.0141
- Visch, V. T., Tan, E. S., and Molenaar, D. (2010). The Emotional and Cognitive Effect of Immersion in Film Viewing. *Cogn. Emot.* 24, 1439–1445. doi:10.1080/ 02699930903498186
- Watson, D., Clark, L. A., and Tellegen, A. (1988). Development and Validation of Brief Measures of Positive and Negative Affect: the Panas Scales. J. Personal. Soc. Psychol. 54, 1063–1070. doi:10.1037/0022-3514.54.6.1063
- Yeo, N. L., White, M. P., Alcock, I., Garside, R., Dean, S. G., Smalley, A. J., et al. (2020). What Is the Best Way of Delivering Virtual Nature for Improving Mood? an Experimental Comparison of High Definition TV, 360° Video, and Computer Generated Virtual Reality. J. Environ. Psychol. 72, 101500. doi:10. 1016/j.jenvp.2020.101500
- Yu, C.-P., Lee, H.-Y., Lu, W.-H., Huang, Y.-C., and Browning, M. H. E. M. (2020). Restorative Effects of Virtual Natural Settings on Middle-Aged and Elderly Adults. Urban For. Urban Green. 56, 126863. doi:10.1016/j.ufug.2020.126863
- Yu, C.-P., Lee, H.-Y., and Luo, X.-Y. (2018). The Effect of Virtual Reality forest and Urban Environments on Physiological and Psychological Responses. Urban For. Urban Green. 35, 106–114. doi:10.1016/j.ufug.2018.08.013

Conflict of Interest: Authors KP and TG were employed at SocialDream

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Pavic, Vergilino-Perez, Gricourt and Chaby. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## Socially Supported by an Embodied Agent: The Development of a Virtual-Reality Paradigm to Study Social Emotion Regulation

Lina Stallmann<sup>1,2†</sup>, Daniel Dukes<sup>1,2†</sup>, Michel Tran<sup>1,3</sup>, Valentin Durand de Gevigney<sup>2,5†</sup>, David Rudrauf<sup>2,4†</sup> and Andrea C. Samson<sup>1,2,3\*†</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Institute of Special Education, University of Fribourg, Fribourg, Switzerland, <sup>2</sup>Swiss Center for Affective Sciences, University of Geneva, Geneva, Switzerland, <sup>3</sup>Faculty of Psychology, Unidistance Suisse, Brig, Switzerland, <sup>4</sup>Faculty of Psychology and Educational Sciences, University of Geneva, Geneva, Switzerland, <sup>5</sup>Institut de Recherche en Informatique et Systèmes Aléatoires, Lannion, France

Social emotion regulation, which can be understood as the intentional efforts by one person to regulate emotions of another person, is something we encounter and benefit from every day, and becomes especially important when a person is unable to handle an emotion or an emotional event by themselves. A paradigm that examines whether someone can perceive and benefit from regulatory efforts by another person, represented here by a virtual agent, would be highly relevant for experimental studies investigating social emotion regulation, as well as for interventions in the clinical and subclinical context. Virtual reality (VR) provides perhaps the ideal opportunity to test social interactions and difficulties with them, as it counters typical methodological problems of behavioral experiments, such as the trade-off between ecological validity and experimental control, as well as the difficulty of replicating social situations. The goal of the present methods paper is twofold: to provide a detailed description of the development of a novel paradigm consisting of two scenarios in VR designed to test the efficacy of social emotion regulation, and to present the anticipated results for the target populations of typically developing and autistic youth. Participants are presented with a virtual school environment and take part in two activities with a class of students and a teacher, all of whom are virtual agents. In both scenarios, participants experience a potentially stressful situation and are subsequently offered emotional support by a friendly student. Throughout the experiment, self-reports in the form of virtual smiley scales and psychophysiological measurements are collected as markers of the participants' emotional states. Pilot results will be discussed in line with anticipated outcomes, to indicate that the experiment will be able to show the efficacy of social support by a virtual agent and provide insight into social emotion regulation for different populations. The school environment and the character of the friendly student also have the potential to be adapted for follow-up experiments on additional aspects of social emotion regulation for a variety of contexts.

## **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Ali Oker, Université de Reims Champagne-Ardenne, France

#### Reviewed by:

Thomas Schubert, University of Oslo, Norway Shuo Zhou, University of Colorado Denver, United States

#### \*Correspondence:

Andrea C. Samson andrea.samson@unifr.ch

#### <sup>†</sup>ORCID:

Lina Stallmann orcid.org/0000-0003-1549-9433 Daniel Dukes orcid.org/0000-0001-8360-849X Valentin Durand de Gevigney orcid.org/0000-0002-8714-9355 David Rudrauf orcid.org/0000-0002-9621-1800 Andrea C. Samson orcid.org/0000-0001-6807-3132

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Virtual Reality and Human Behaviour, a section of the journal Frontiers in Virtual Reality

> Received: 30 November 2021 Accepted: 15 February 2022 Published: 10 March 2022

#### Citation:

Stallmann L, Dukes D, Tran M, Durand de Gevigney V, Rudrauf D and Samson AC (2022) Socially Supported by an Embodied Agent: The Development of a Virtual-Reality Paradigm to Study Social Emotion Regulation. Front. Virtual Real. 3:826241. doi: 10.3389/frvir.2022.826241

Keywords: virtual reality, cyberball, virtual agent, social support, social exclusion, social emotion regulation

56

## INTRODUCTION

Emotion regulation, the process of modifying how one experiences and expresses one's emotions, is an integral part of a person's life and highly relevant for their wellbeing (Gross 1998; Gross 2015). Social, or interpersonal, emotion regulation can be understood as the intentional efforts by one person, the regulator, to regulate the emotions of another person, the regulatee (or target) (Reeck et al., 2016; Nozaki and Mikolajczak 2020). It can also be one person's efforts to regulate their own emotions by receiving and implementing input from another person - this in turn is called intrinsic, as opposed to the extrinsic part played by the regulator (Zaki and Williams 2013). This paper presents a method to study social emotion regulation, from the perspective of the regulatee, by simulating situations of social support in virtual reality, and explores why and how this method could inform research on populations who experience difficulties regulating their emotions in general, and youth with and without autism in particular.

Social emotion regulation is an important aspect in the field of emotion regulation that has grown increasingly in the last decade, with over 350 results on Google Scholar including 'social emotion regulation' since 2011, compared to 34 from the decade before. Similarly, for 'interpersonal emotion regulation' results grew from 134 to over 2'800 between the same time periods. Social emotion regulation is essential in a variety of contexts, particularly when someone is not able to appropriately deal with their emotions by themselves. Such inability may be caused by age, when a child is still developing their emotional competences (Martin and Ochsner 2016), context, when one's abilities are temporally impaired (Marroquín 2011), or the magnitude of the precipitating event, when a person is overwhelmed, but it appears to be particularly prevalent for individuals with neurodevelopmental disorders, since they consistently report emotion regulation difficulties (Cai et al., 2018).

People with neurodevelopmental disorders, specifically those on the autism spectrum, typically present with a variety of difficulties in emotion regulation at all stages of the regulatory process. They tend to have trouble with recognizing and understanding emotions and might thus not be able to set appropriate or relevant regulation goals (Mazefsky and White 2014). They are also often less flexible in their choice of regulatory strategy due to a reduced variety of options and the preference for a few, familiar ones, and also tend to have more difficulty implementing them (Samson et al., 2012; Samson et al., 2015a; Samson et al., 2015b; Cai et al., 2018). Difficulties in satisfactorily regulating one's own emotions can affect one's social life, but there are additional challenges when it comes to the regulation of another person's emotions: Failure to correctly identify another person's emotional state and their need or wish for regulation, the choice of a regulatory strategy not suitable for the other person's disposition, and the inappropriate implementation of an otherwise sensible strategy, can all be detrimental to the interaction with said person. At the same time, the probability of such failure is highly dependent on one's social understanding and skills (Nozaki and Mikolajczak 2020) - skills that individuals

on the autism spectrum often struggle with (Williams White et al., 2007).

From the perspective of the regulatee, potential difficulties also concern one's self-regulation abilities. As formulated by (Zaki and Williams 2013), the intrinsic part of the interpersonal regulation process, i.e., the perception and reception of the process by the regulatee, is dependent on one's ability to label appropriately how one is feeling and to recognize intended safety signaling by others. But whether one can benefit from another person's attempt is also dependent on one's social motivation, i.e., the preference of the individual to orient to the social world, seek social interactions and work to maintain social bonds (Chevallier et al., 2013). It is not only: Do I understand regulation attempts by others? But also: Do I seek them out and/or appreciate them? This is particularly important, since research suggests reduced social motivation as a main characteristic in autism (Chevallier et al., 2013; Treichel et al., 2021). When taken into consideration with the many significant points raised above, the study of social emotion regulation becomes particularly important for people with emotion regulation difficulties and/or social interaction in general and for individuals on the autism spectrum in particular, in order to gain a more profound understanding of the processes involved in order to provide targeted support and interventions in the clinical and non-clinical context.

The study of social situations and interactions faces the perennial methodological problems of getting the balance right between ecological validity and experimental control, and the difficulty of replicating situations including the verbal and nonverbal behavior of a person (Blascovich et al., 2002; Meuleman and Rudrauf 2018). These problems can undoubtably help explain why the experimental research on social emotion regulation is relatively restricted, in spite of its importance. Many papers deal with its theoretical implications and connections with other constructs, be it a collection of regulation strategies (Niven et al., 2009), an integration with the concept of empathy (Zaki, 2020), or the role of maternal coregulation for the development of socio-emotional competences (Silkenbeumer et al., 2016). Others with a more empirical approach rely on recall and self-assessment about social emotion regulation skills, strategies and goals (Williams White et al., 2007; Coats et al., 2008; Hofmann et al., 2016; Liddell and Williams 2019; Chan and Rawana 2021). There are notable experimental paradigms used in related fields, such as the manipulation of physical closeness by having mother-daughter dyads either hold hands or not, and examining its impact on socalled 'load sharing', the distribution of the load of emotional distress among relationship partners (Lougheed et al., 2016), and also non-experimental studies like the exploratory observation of co-regulation tactics employed by mothers and their children with autism (Gulsrud et al., 2010). Still, re-enactment or simulation of the actual, relevant situation for the experimental assessment of social emotion regulation is as rare as it is difficult. One way to bypass these problems was chosen by Hallam and colleagues in an fMRI study, who showed participants pre-recorded videos of other people supposedly watching the same emotional video clip as they were at the same time and asked them to help the others regulate their reactions (Hallam et al., 2014).

Virtual Reality thus enriches this area of research by allowing us to take a look at social interaction in a maximally controlled environment, using virtual agents as either the intended regulator or regulatee for the participant. By developing relevant environments and scenarios, we now have the ability to untangle social interaction in concrete situations which a person can experience more acutely, even possibly enhancing relevant stimuli, while at the same time benefiting from a unique level of standardization and control. This is done with the expectation that virtual social cues can elicit affective experiences and reactions equivalent to, or at least very similar to, those of the real world (for a review of relevant studies, see Bombari et al., 2015).

The two virtual scenarios created in this current project focus on social emotional support. Social support can be defined as an individual's or a social network's "provision of psychological and material resources intended to benefit an individual's ability to cope with stress" (Cohen, 2004, 676; Nozaki and Mikolajczak, 2020). It can thus only be considered a strategy of social emotion regulation, when defined as intentional, not contextual, and specifically focused on emotion. We operationalize the term here as an offer of a supportive regulatory attempt towards a person experiencing emotional distress and focus on the receiving end, the regulatee.

The backdrop is a novel school environment with the participant being introduced as a new student and experiencing their first day at school. By making the participant the regulatee and a virtual agent the regulator, we aim to assess the impact of emotional support by another, rather unfamiliar person on one's emotion regulation. This will be assessed in the two different situations and with two different populations here, namely school-aged children and adolescents who are either typically developing or who are on the autism spectrum and who have no intellectual disability. Each scenario provides a situation to which people respond negatively: the first concerns an ambiguous or confusing situation of being scolded by a classroom teacher. An agent, a fellow student, who has previously been established as friendly towards the participant, then gives a positive appraisal of the situation. The idea is that the participant can adopt this for their own cognitive reappraisal, the reinterpretation of emotional events, which has been shown to be a potentially highly apt self-regulation strategy (Gross, 2002). The second scenario concerns being excluded from a group in the context of a ball game, an adaptation of the Cyberball paradigm (Williams and Jarvis, 2006). After experiencing exclusion, once again the fellow student offers support in the form of a positive appraisal of the situation, but this time it is juxtaposed with two other forms of social support a person could benefit from: distraction by the virtual agent away from the exclusion situation, a strategy aimed at emotional disengagement (Sheppes et al., 2011), and social buffering, an effect capable of ameliorating stress responses through the sheer presence of another person. Social buffering occurs in many situations although not always necessarily intentionally (Zaki and Williams, 2013; Bratec et al., 2020), and can be seen as a baseline to every condition including the agent.

These regulatory strategies and/or processes are situated at different stages of the social emotion regulation process, are employed to differentiate potential layers of a discovered effect, and provide evidence of the strategies to be focused upon in the future, since they might differ in efficacy. This is addressed in the Cyberball conditions and not in the randomized Classroom conditions, due to practical assessment restrictions concerning the large number of subgroups (particularly when recruiting clinical populations) that would be necessary to vary three forms of support over three conditions. In terms of autistic individuals, there is reason to believe that distraction as an attentional deployment strategy might be an effective strategy, while cognitive reappraisal might not be (Samson et al., 2012). Social buffering is believed to be reliant on at least a normatively well-established relationship with a person (Bratec et al., 2020) that this experiment might not be able to create.

The goal of these scenarios is thus to present the participant with relatable virtual situations that trigger negative emotional responses and subsequently offer emotional support through an agent. To achieve this, a number of areas have to be covered: First, the main target groups are school-aged children and adolescents with and without developmental disorders, with these being at critical stages in their life concerning their emotional and social development (Samson et al., 2015a; Volkaert et al., 2020). The scenarios therefore need to be developed with this age group in mind. Second, the context and environment should be engaging and interesting to the participants, while still being standardized enough for experimental conditions. Thirdly, the relevant virtual characters need to be able to form a relationship with them, since social support is partly dependent on the relationship between the regulator and the regulatee (Reeck et al., 2016; Lindsey, 2020). And lastly, the emotional reactions need to be measured reliably in a way that is accessible to children. The explanations of how we worked towards this goal will be supported by results of a pilot study on a typically developing adult population and by feedback from youth with and without developmental disorders.

This article presents a method suitable to study social emotion regulation in virtual reality. Using said method, our ongoing study of our target group of children and adolescents serves as an evaluation of the virtual environment for the purpose of assessing the efficacy of virtual social support, and as a step towards a wider approach of studying social emotion regulation in VR.

Gaining insight into this part of the process of social emotion regulation will ultimately help uncover the kind of support that can and should be provided to young individuals struggling with emotion regulation. This includes finding out the type of regulatory strategy to focus on and the direction of a training, either towards understanding the intent and content of the regulatory attempt, or towards a more habitual call for support from others.

## MATERIALS AND EQUIPMENT

## Hardware and Software Needed for the Experiment

The virtual world was designed and programmed in Unity3D 2018.2.21f1 and C#, with the visual editing, modeling, animation,



sound production and other aspects developed using a list of other software (see **Supplementary Material**). The Unity Asset Store provided two sets of VR avatars that were purchased to create the virtual human characters populating the school grounds, *Toon people* for the teacher (JBGarraza, 2021b) and *Toon kids* (JBGarraza, 2021a) for the students. Other Unity assets were obtained for free (see **Supplementary Material**) or developed in-house. Character voices were recorded on a Zoom H5 portable recorder for both a German and a French version.

The experiment is run on Microsoft<sup>®</sup> Windows 10 in Steam<sup>®</sup> VR 1.13.10 using the Unity3D game engine and hardware of the HTC VIVE<sup>®</sup> line, consisting of a head-mounted display with built-in microphone, one wireless hand-held controller and two base stations. Depending on the location of the session, in lab or off-site, the set is either from the VIVE<sup>®</sup> Pro series with built-in audio straps and base stations and controllers 2.0, or from the VIVE<sup>®</sup> series with additional headphones (Beyerdynamic Custom Street) and base stations and controllers 1.0. The sessions are recorded as in-game screen capture and externally as camcorder footage from a corner of the room, using a Canon Legria HF R806. The participant spends the experiment sitting in a revolving chair with the possibilities to turn around in it freely and use the controller for any other movement and interaction.

## **Emotion Self-Reports**

As the main measure of emotional experience, two 4-point smiley scales were created to pop up one after the other as rows of floating boxes in the virtual environment and to be grabbed by the VR controller whenever a self-report reply is required (see Figure 1 for a picture of the negative scale). The scale always appears in front of the participant. One scale is of negative valence, one of positive, with accompanying voice messages by a robot named Marvin (see Figure 1), stating respectively "please state how negatively you are feeling right now" and "please state how positively you are feeling right now". The scales consist of the categories "Not at all", "A little", "Medium" and "Very" and are read aloud by Marvin each time the controller touches the respective smiley. For the benefit of the reader, the English translation of the original language versions is used here (see Supplementary Material, Section 2, for the other languages). The respective smiley is

chosen after being grabbed by the participant for 3 s and there is no time limit for the response.

## **Psychophysiological Measurement**

For the relevant physiological signals, Biopac® Bionomadix 2-CH Wireless hardware is used, with the recording software Acqknowledge 5.0.2. The four domains collected are pulse (PPG), skin conductance (EDA, exosomatic with direct current), respiration (RSP) and heart rate (three-lead ECG), thus requiring the two joint transmitters for PPG-EDA and RSP-ECG (BN-PPGED-T and BN-ECG2-T respectively). For EDA, one-way adhesive gel electrodes (EL507) are attached to the middle and fourth finger of the non-dominant hand, while one-way adhesive cloth snap electrodes (EL513) are also used for the ECG. Said hand is then rested on the armrest of a revolving chair the participant is asked to sit in, to reduce artifacts in the recording. The recording includes trigger points at important events throughout the experiment that are being fed into the recording from the SteamVR log through a Neurospec trigger box converting from a USB serial device to a parallel port. To ensure an accurate interpretation of the collected data, a baseline period of 3 min is collected early in the experiment. Post-processing scripts were written using Python 3.0 and the integrated development environment Spyder. Kubios HRV 2.2 is used for manual artifact correction and calculation of heart-rate values.

## **Post-Experiment Questionnaires**

A VR questionnaire (VRQ) administered post-experiment consists of demographic information, an item on whether the participant has already experienced immersive VR to check for potential effects of experience, and several open or mixed questions concerning their experience of the VR experiment, designed to help improve the environment in the future: They are asked how they found the VR experience in general, whether they noticed anything about the experiment, how they experienced the steering/control inside the environment (with a 5-point difficulty scale and free lines to comment), whether they would change anything about the experiment, and whether they found the virtual characters likeable. In addition, as a manipulation check for the social relevance of the presented virtual agents, participants are questioned about the two most notable students of the school environment, specifically, the friendly student offering social support in both scenarios, and the "troublemaker", the student disrupting the class in the Classroom scenario. Their perceived relationship with the two characters is evaluated with two 5-point scales on valence and closeness of the relationship each, and participants are given the opportunity to comment verbally to add to their responses on the scales, and about whether they felt that the two virtual agents had any impact on their own behavior, again with two 5-point scales to measure the extent and valence of that impact plus a further opportunity to comment verbally. The questionnaire ends with a manipulation check on the exclusion and social support of the Cyberball scenario: participants can check the respective boxes whether and in which games they felt included or excluded, and are asked what they think about the friendly student's arrival after the third ballgame, and whether they felt comforted by him (see procedure in 3.1.3 below). In case the participant has trouble understanding the scales and questions, the questionnaire is completed with the help of the experimenter.

## METHODS

#### **Overview of the Experimental Procedure**

The experiment was performed in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki and approved by the local ethics committee. When participants arrive and have given their informed consent, or if their parents have given theirs when the potential participant is under 18 years old, the participants are instructed to sit on a revolving chair in the center of the experiment room, calibrated as the starting position for the VR equipment. They are free to turn and move their arms in every direction to orientate themselves and take in the visual experience of the virtual world.

All four points of psychophysiological measurements (PPG, EDA, RSP, ECG) are attached on the body and the non-dominant hand, with the experimenter showing the resulting signals on screen and describing their general function. Then the HMD and handheld controller are explained and the experimenter outlines the order of events that is to come: First a tutorial is given of how to use the controller and interact with the environment, secondly there is a break of 3 minutes to create a baseline for the physiological measurements, thirdly there is a situation in the classroom with the new class, and lastly, there are ball games in the school's gymnasium. The participants are instructed that they can stop the experiment at any point if they feel dizzy or have other problems and that the experimenter will always be near to help. After this explanation and when they have no more questions, the participant puts on the HMD, receives the controller for their dominant hand, and is ready to start the experiment. The camcorder recording the session is started.

The VR experiment itself consists of the forementioned introduction to the novel virtual environment, including the tutorial of about 2.5–4 min, and a 3-min baseline period for the psychophysiological measurements, a first "Classroom" scenario of about 8.5–10 min, then a "Cyberball" scenario of about 7.5–8.5 min, followed by a reward sequence at the end. In total, completion of the VR experience should take

25–30 min—depending on the participant's reaction times and how much they choose to explore the environment. When it is finished, the experimenter helps the participant remove the HMD and the different points of physiological measurement. Once the participant has completed the post-VR questionnaire, and when they have no further questions or comments, they are remunerated for their time, thanked, and free to leave.

#### General Aspects of the Environment

The developed virtual environment consists of the school grounds which are accessible from a front gate on a suburban looking street. The front gate functions as the starting point of the participant's experience. Implementations in the virtual world to make it more immersive include explorable features of the grounds like green and planted areas with grass and leaves moving in the wind, picnic and play areas on the playground, additional classrooms (empty of people), a hot-air balloon (relevant for the ending of the experiment), a pond, a fencedoff forest at the back, and a rotating windmill and mountain scenery visible in the distance. In addition, sound is spatialized, characters move their lips in synchrony with voice recordings, and there are environmental sounds like birds chirping noisily outside (and quieter inside) and the students' excited cries while playing ball in the gymnasium. To add to the playing experience during the Cyberball games, every throw from the participant results in a celebratory sound, while there is no score being kept to avoid inducing competitiveness.

Several times throughout the experiment, after a virtual character has announced a next step or task, glowing circles and lines on the ground are incorporated as a visual guide to where or in which direction to teleport. Following the instructions and teleporting to the appropriate place acts as a trigger for the next step of the experiment to begin. This means, while participants can often teleport around freely and discover the whole map, the experimental paradigm does not continue unless they follow the lines or enter the circles. Indeed, participants are eventually encouraged by the experimenter to resume their places and tasks when they have decided to roam the school grounds instead. Other characters of the virtual world only interact with the participants when the latter are following the instructions and partaking in the scenarios, keeping the experience as standardized as possible without constricting wishes to explore.

#### The Introduction in Virtual Reality

The participant starts off at the front entrance of the school grounds and is greeted by Marvin, the school's janitor robot. Marvin welcomes the participant at their new school and demonstrates how the controller can be used to grab virtual objects with a button activated by the index finger (holding the object until the button is released) and teleport to a spot of one's choice within a certain distance using the directional pad activated by the thumb (**Figure 2**). The emotion smiley scales are explained and presented in-game for the first time and, after a successful response on both, a star appears that can be collected (**Figure 3**). Marvin states that he would be delighted if the participant could collect stars that they might encounter during their day, since he has lost his and is looking for them.



FIGURE 2 | Usage of the hand-held controller to teleport.



FIGURE 3 | Example of the stars collectable as rewards during the experiment.

In fact, a star appears each time the participant has completed an important step in the two scenarios. When practicing the teleportation method, the participant is asked to teleport into a white circle marked on the ground in front of an easel carrying a map of the world (visible in **Figure 2**). The participant then has to wait for 3 minutes looking at the world map, before Marvin continues the experiment by inviting the participant to go to their class. A blue line on the ground shows them where to teleport, step by step, but they are also free to explore the school grounds before finally arriving in front of their class for the experiment to continue.

#### The Classroom Scenario

Once the participant arrives in front of the classroom in a marked blue square, they are invited in by the female teacher. When inside, the participant is asked to introduce themselves to the other students. The introduction task ends either when the experimenter presses a button, or automatically after 10 s. After introducing themselves to the class, participants can collect a star appearing on top of the teacher's desk as a reward. The teacher then asks the participant to sit down next to student Pete, a place marked by a white circle, and Pete introduces himself and also asks the participant to sit down next to him. Pete is the friendly student who will provide support throughout the paradigm (see Figure 4). He is, like the other students, a more cartoon-like than real-looking human character, since this has not only been shown to be more readily accepted by people, but also to be perceived as more friendly (McDonnell et al., 2012; Ring et al., 2014). Since studies evaluating the difference a virtual agent's gender may make on their effect on participants have as yet not been conclusive (Krämer et al., 2016; Shang et a., 2019), and to keep the design simple, it was decided on the toss of a coin that the virtual agent would be designed as a boy (see Section 4.1 for a discussion of this point). He is the first and only student of the class who directly talks directly to the new arrival, is seated closer to him than anyone else, and is the only

one who introduces himself, thus establishing an at least normatively special and positive (or at the very least, neutral) connection to the participant. The teacher then explains they will be watching a movie (A short introduction of the Hubble Telescope in the respective language). The participant is asked how they feel at this stage and the smiley scales are presented. When successfully answered, the scales disappear and the movie starts. During the playing of the movie, the participant cannot teleport away from the seat they are in (setup seen in **Figure 5**).

The teacher interrupts the movie three times, forming three different conditions of different intensity of stress induction presented in a randomized order across participants. Each time, the participant is asked twice how they feel and the negative and positive smiley scales appear: First, the teacher scolds a student, then Pete says he is not sure about the cause of this and the participant is prompted with the scales for the first time. For the second time, the teacher resumes the scolding, next Pete offers emotional support and the participant is prompted with the scales once more. This effectively splits the situation into two halves that can be compared later in their effect on the participant, one without support and one with social support (see **Figure 6**,  $t_{CR1}$  and  $t_{CR2}$ ).

In the "Ambiguous" condition, the teacher scolds someone who apparently has made noises, while looking directly at the participant. Pete explains he is not sure whether the participant is addressed. The other students are either looking at the participant (half of the class) or the student behind them, the "troublemaker" (other half of the class, see schematic depiction of the three conditions with lines of sight displayed in **Figure 6**). Pete proceeds to comfort the participant by saying that it was probably not them who was the target of the scolding.

In the "Participant" condition, the teacher also scolds the person who has made noises, while looking directly at the participant. Pete again says he is not sure whether the participant or the troublemaker behind them is the target. This time, the other students are all looking at the participant.









Pete again comforts the participant and explains that they were probably not the actual target.

In the "Troublemaker" condition, the teacher again scolds the person who has made noises, while looking directly at the participant. Again, Pete expresses uncertainty about whether the participant is the target. This time, the other students are all looking at the troublemaker, the student behind the participant. Pete comforts the participant again, saying that they were probably not the target.

After all three conditions have appeared, the movie ends and the participant can collect a star as a reward, after which



the teacher dismisses the class and the students leave the building.

#### The Cyberball Scenario

The participant is told by the voice of Marvin that Pete is waiting for them in the hallway. After they have joined Pete in the hallway, Pete tells them that the students are playing ball games in the gymnasium and that the participant can join each game once one of the three students playing each game leaves. The play area is indicated by a blue circle. The participant is asked to follow Pete towards the gymnasium as he continues to walk along a blue line on the ground. Once they arrive, a slingshot-like throwing device or bat appears on top of the participant's controller (see **Figure 7**).

Pete explains that they can use the button activated by the index finger on their controller to throw the ball when it has been thrown at them, and leaves again. The participant then goes through three consecutive games of 60 s each, with play areas spread inside the building (also seen in **Figure 7**), constituting three conditions in a fixed order. The different conditions, inclusion in the game to exclusion from the game to then exclusion with the offer of emotional support, can then be compared in terms of their effect on the participant.

Each play area can house three players for a ball game, although the first one only has two players as the participant enters the room, allowing the participant to begin immediately. The second and third game can only be joined once one of the playing agents has left the relevant play area. After 50 s of each game, the participant is asked how they feel with the smiley scales. Then, 15 s after each game has finished, they are asked again. During each game and the 15 s afterwards, the participants are not allowed to leave the play area and can only teleport around inside of it. After they have picked their answer on the second smiley scale, they are free to leave the area and can join the next one once one of the other players has left. The three conditions are shown in **Figure 8**.

In the first (Inclusion) condition, two students play with the participant, with the participant generally receiving the ball a third of the time, i.e. at the same frequency as the other two players.

In the second (first Exclusion) condition (without social support), two students throw the ball to the participant for the

first two times. After that, they exclude the participant completely for the rest of the game.

In the third (second Exclusion) condition (with social support), two students throw the ball to the participant for the first two times and afterwards exclude the participant completely for the rest of the game. After the game, Pete joins the participant standing in the gym and there are three options for the intended social support, varying randomly between participants: either Pete is only present and keeps quiet for 15 s (s), or he talks to the participant about information related to ball playing for 15 s and thus offers distraction, or he talks to the participant, offering a positive appraisal of the situation for 15 s. As a final reward, a star appears and can be collected.

#### The Reward Sequence

After the last star has been collected, robot Marvin's voice invites the participant to take a hot-air balloon ride over the school grounds. Marvin, the teacher and all the students are already waiting next to the balloon. Marvin explains that he would like to reward the participant's successful star collecting with a balloon ride together with Pete. This also serves as a positive final experience to leave participants with the best possible emotional state after having gone through the two scenarios created to induce a negative emotional reaction. After everyone has started clapping and the participant has teleported into a white circle where Pete is already standing, they are automatically transported into the balloon that begins to take off. A tune is played and a few stars dance around the basket of the hot-air balloon while it is slowly rising up. The surrounding neighborhood and landscape come into view. At this point, the experimenter helps the participant remove the HMD.

## **Pre-Processing**

The two data sources for pre-processing and analysis are the SteamVR data and the Acqknowledge recording of psychophysiological data in reference to the relevant time markers transferred from the VR experiment. The smiley self-reports, coded as values from 0 to three for each scale, are exported from the SteamVR log in long-format single file and ready to be analyzed. The Acqknowledge recording is converted to a Matlab file and slices for the relevant time frames, or epochs, are extracted for the two domains that are in focus here: skin conductance and heart rate. For both domains, the epochs are



each half of each condition in the Classroom scenario (**Figure 7**,  $t_{a1}$  and  $_{a2}$ ,  $t_{p1}$  and  $_{p2}$ ,  $t_{t1}$  and  $_{t2}$ ), each condition in-game and during recovery period respectively in the Cyberball scenario (**Figure 8**,  $t_{c1}$  and  $t_{c3}$ ) and the last minute of the baseline period at the beginning.

Individual skin conductance level (SCL, tonic EDA) minimum and mean values for these slices are exported and range-corrected using the minimum of the baseline and the formula suggested by Lykken et al. (1966):  $\varphi_{\rho} = (\rho_{ix} - \rho_{i(min)})/(\rho_{i(max)} - \rho_{i(min)})$ , with  $\rho_{ix}$  as the raw value and  $\rho_{i(max)}$  and  $\rho_{i(min)}$  as the maximum and minimum overall value of the respective participant. Skin conductance response (SCR, phasic EDA) is derived from the EDA signal by high-pass filtering with a frequency cutoff of 0.05 Hz in accordance with the Acqknowledge five Software Guide (Braithwaite et al., 2013). It is exported as mean and maximum values and as the peak count (non-specific SCR), the latter being computed using the SciPy function *arglextrema* from the scipy. signal package (Virtanen et al., 2020), and their cumulative amplitudes.

The heart rate signal slices are loaded into Kubios and artifacts are corrected manually, before the two variables, mean heart rate (or beats per minute) and root mean square of differences (RMSSD) between interbeat intervals, are computed. The latter being a measure of heart rate variability that can be used with ultra-short time spans of 1 minute and lower (Nussinovitch et al., 2011).

Having prepared the data in this way, it is possible to analyze the different variables using repeated-measure ANOVAs and paired-sample T-tests over the different conditions.

## RESULTS

## Pilot Results: Implementations and Adjustments

The presented paradigm includes two scenarios: Classroom and Cyberball. A pilot study using an earlier version of the paradigm (article submitted, Stallmann et al., 2021) with a sample of 29 typically developed adults recruited through online study advertising and university bulletin boards, showed that the experimental design (here with a focus on the Cyberball scenario) was able to elicit the desired emotional responses: participants reported more negative and less positive emotions in the exclusion conditions than in the inclusion condition, and less negative and more positive emotions after having received social support. However, the psychophysiological measures, specifically electrodermal activity and heart rate variability, while suggesting differences between conditions, were inconclusive. When asked an open question on how they liked the experiment in the earlier, less detailed version of the postexperiment questionnaire, participants reported that they experienced it as positive and interesting or exciting. The tutorial at the beginning was accepted well by the participants, there were no dropouts, and everyone managed to get through the experiment using the controller. Still, due to a few observations during this earlier pilot and other concerns regarding our intended target populations, certain aspects and details in the design have been modified and are presented below.

After taking into account the intended target population of people with developmental disorders and pre-testing of the scale with children, the positive and negative smiley scales were reduced from a 5-point to a 4-point scale, since 5-point scales seemed to overwhelm the children in the pre-test. As this scale is also part of other connected studies and integral to our emotion report, young participants are presented with the scale beforehand, either on a touch screen or with the help of cardboard boxes, in a short training session in which its logic is applied to real-life situations familiar to the participants. Another adjustment for a younger and potentially less physically mobile or cognitively impaired population was the implementation of a non-self-steering mode: if the experimenter sees the participant having acute trouble with teleportation during the tutorial, the self-steering can be modified so that the participant can confirm whether they would like to be teleported to a predetermined spot in their visual field via the grabbing button at their index finger. This continues throughout the experiment and enables the experience to be as close to the self-steering one as possible.

Other adjustments making the relevant points of comparison as standardized as possible affected the Cyberball scenario: Having the three play areas spread across the playground, as it was in the previous version, prompted some participants to leave the ongoing games when they were getting bored (for example, when they were excluded) to explore the rest of the school grounds. To possibly instill a stronger feeling of commitment and make the self-report and psychophysiological data more comparable, the setting was changed to that of a gymnasium, making it less of a free-time activity and more of the continuation of school hours. Importantly, the play areas are also enclosed by an invisible wall from the point the participant enters them to play until they have responded to the second smiley scales 15 s after the ball game has finished. This restricts movement, distraction and other confounding influences on the comparison of the conditions.

Further testing is being carried out with the current version of the presented paradigm and using the current post-experiment questionnaire. This time, 30 typically-developing youth and 30 autistic youth without intellectual disability will take part for statistical analysis of the self-report and psychophysiological data (see **Section 4.2** for sample size calculation). Taking a first, descriptive look at the questionnaire data, 20 of the 23 participants tested so far (age range: 9–17 years, four of 23 on the autism spectrum), recruited through sports clubs and through associations, gave positive feedback when asked about their general experience, and there were no dropouts. When focusing specifically on the four participants on the autism spectrum, two reported finding the experiment interesting and fun, while the other two found the experiment to be made for children younger than them. Steering through the environment was found to be easy, scoring a general average of 1.4 on a difficulty scale from 1 to 5, with three of the 23 participants marking a three and everyone else answering lower. This experiment thus promises to be indeed quite accessible to a younger target group.

The participants rated their relationship to Pete, the supportive student, on average as rather close (3.9 on a scale from 1 [very distant] to 5 [very close]; SD = 1.0) and rather positive (4.3 on a scale from 1 [very negative] to 5 [very positive]; SD = 0.9), while that to the "troublemaker", the disruptive student, was judged as rather distant (M = 2.0; SD = 1.0) and rather negative (M = 2.2; SD = 0.9). Concerning the Cyberball scenario, the majority of the participants (13 of 17 filling in the respective items of the questionnaire) felt included only in the first ball game. 11 of 17 felt excluded in both the second and third ball game, while four people only felt excluded in either the second or third. When being asked what they thought of Pete's appearance after the game, 12 of 17 participants responded positively about it, and when specifically asked whether he had been a comfort to them, 9 of 17 agreed that indeed he had. When focusing only on the participants grouped into the two support conditions in which Pete is talking to the participant (appraisal and distraction), 8 out of 11 agreed.

While the manipulation seems to be adapted to this young population, this also shows the limits of the experimental situation created. Clearly, not everyone will react in the same manner in a social situation: four participants reported that they did not feel supported since Pete had not stayed with them during the games, but only reappeared afterwards. Furthermore, the aspect of it being virtual adds another possible filter: Two participants expected Pete to present them with the next task of the experiment instead of coming to support them, as he had already played a big part in structuring the other two scenarios, representing a potential bias because of one's expectations about the structure of computer games. One participant stated that they did not care about Pete being there at all, since everyone was computer-generated anyway.

One open question concerns the importance of the supportive agent's gender, as current research has not yet established the specific contexts in which either same-gender or cross-gender interactions might be more beneficial (Krämer et al., 2016). While the questionnaire data indicates that both male and female participants accepted Pete (a boy) equally, as intended, future research could include a design to evaluate the role the regulator's gender might play in social emotion regulation, and adaptations of the paradigm for more individual and targeted intervention approaches could consider more variability in the regulator's appearance.

## **Anticipated Results**

When conducting future studies on the two targeted populations of typically-developing and autistic children and adolescents, we



expect a pattern similar to that of a previous version with adults to emerge. Considerations of feasibility, distributional convergence of the data and of a-priori power analyses using G\*Power 3.1.9.7 (Faul et al., 2007) resulted in a goal of 30 participants per group.<sup>1</sup> Looking at the negative smiley scale, participants should report more negative emotions when being confronted with the difficult situations of both scenarios, and they should benefit from the support offered by virtual agent Pete.

Getting potentially scolded by the teacher and having the whole class look at you should create a more intensive negative reaction than the potential scolding in a situation in which everybody else is looking at a different potential perpetrator. For the Classroom scenario, we would thus find a condition effect, with reported emotions being most negative in the Participant condition, when all students are looking at the participant, and least negative in the Troublemaker condition, when all students are looking at the troublemaker. In addition, we would expect the support offered by Pete to have a positive impact (see Figure 9 for a depiction of these anticipated results). Given the differences in the reception of social cues individuals on the autism spectrum tend to show, they might be less susceptible to the awkwardness of the ambiguous situation and thus report less negative reaction to it when all students are looking at the participant in the Participant condition. On the other hand, they might also benefit less from the support offered by Pete.

For the Cyberball scenario, being excluded in the ball games should result in more negative self-reports than being included and Pete's support should again alleviate negative reactions (compare **Figure 9**), but it is again possible that individuals on the autism spectrum might not benefit as much from the social support offered.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>In the pilot study on an adult sample, both a rmANOVA on the emotion reports during the three Cyberball conditions ( $\eta_p^2 = 0.64$  for the negative scales) and a 2 × 2 rmANOVA on the emotion reports of the two exclusion conditions with and without support during and after the game ( $\eta_p^2 = 0.24$  for timing and  $\eta_p^2 = 0.28$  for the interaction) produced extremely large effect sizes. Thus, a minimum sample size for the first analysis, with a more conservatively estimated, medium effect size ( $\eta_p^2 = 0.06$ ), two groups, a mean correlation of 0.38 between measurements taken from the pilot, a significance criterion of  $\alpha = 0.05$  and power = 0.80, would be N = 34. A minimum sample size for the second was again calculated with a medium effect size ( $\eta_p^2 = 0.06$ ), two groups, a number of four measurements, a correlation between measurements of 0.56 taken from the pilot,  $\alpha = 0.05$  and power = 0.80, resulting in N = 22. 60 participants will be ample for our research goal.

The three different types of support Pete offers towards the ending of the Cyberball scenario, presence, distraction and reappraisal, are expected to differ, although results might vary, and reappraisal might be more effective for TD youth than for autistic youth (Samson et al., 2012), while the presence condition is expected to be the least effective, given that Pete is always present.

Concerning the psychophysiological measurement, with the order of the ambiguity conditions randomized and the movement of the participant restricted and reduced to potential head turns, the Classroom scenario presents a cleaner measurement situation than the Cyberball scenario. We would expect the most stressful condition, the participant condition, to induce the highest arousal, and the least stressful condition, the troublemaker condition, to induce the lowest arousal. When separating the first half of each condition from the second half ( $t_{a1}$ ,  $t_{p1}$ ,  $t_{t1}$  from  $t_{a2}$ ,  $t_{p2}$ ,  $t_{t2}$ ), expectations become less clear. Receiving support from Pete in the second half might lower arousal levels compared to the first half, but any spontaneous reactions like excitement and appreciation towards Pete, would blur this result.

The Cyberball scenario with its definite order of events does not offer the ultimate context for physiological measurements, since order effects might occur and participants move relatively often but inconsistently to catch and throw balls. Taking into account findings by Iffland et al. (2014) who worked on the physiological effects of social exclusion in Cyberball, one would expect a decrease in skin conductance level and an increase in heart rate (potentially accompanied by a decrease in heart rate variability) over the course of the three conditions.

The interpretability of these physiological results is limited, given the restrictions of the paradigm and the expectation of inconsistent movement by the participants. Still, one of the advantages of this virtual experience is that it is closer to a real-life experience and people are more physically active to play ball. The results can thus offer additional data to support the findings of the self-report measurements and act as a check on whether the experiment is indeed able to elicit emotional reactions, also on a physiological basis.

## DISCUSSION

This new VR experiment was developed to assess an aspect of social emotion regulation in youth with and without neurodevelopmental disorders, namely the impact of social support on one's self-regulation. This was achieved by creating two scenarios triggering negative emotional reactions and a virtual agent offering emotional support to help with regulation in a school environment.

Early results, including the outcome of a pilot realized with an adult sample, and insights from feedback by school-aged children and adolescents, reveal the potential of this environment for future studies. These early results were obtained after careful development of a relatively large, explorable and realistic environment, complete with a janitor robot, a class of students and a teacher, characters who can be interacted with at certain points. Participants are able to engage with the virtual world, form relationships with the relevant virtual agents and report emotional reactions through the use of smiley scales.

Results on the efficacy of virtual social support, after the induction of a negative emotional reaction, in the two samples of typically-developing and autistic youth with no intellectual disability will, firstly, inform the study on autistic traits on potential new avenues for research and training. Current research increasingly suggests reduced social motivation as a main factor in autism characteristics (Treichel et al., 2021) rather than impairment of social cognition. More detailed results about whether and how much individuals on the spectrum would accept and benefit from social regulation would inform current and future training programs on emotion regulation and social skills.

Insights on the more impactful strategies of social support, be it reappraisal, distraction or even presence only, will also help with future developments of both assessments or training. Reappraisal is the most dependent on the regulatee's understanding of the intent and content of the regulatory attempt, while presence is the least dependent. However, the simple presence of someone else, although helpful, is likely to be the least effective support given the participant's short acquaintance with regulator Pete. In any case, it is useful as a baseline condition for the other social support conditions. At the same time, presence would also be the least effortful strategy for the regulator, once the regulator is not computer-generated anymore.

This leads to a promising route for the future of this method: Having established the virtual environment as engaging and even enjoyable, and the virtual characters as socially relevant, the environment has great potential as a basis for other research programs on social emotion regulation and perhaps even in social interaction, more generally. Research paradigms could most obviously include role-reversals with participants being asked to offer support to virtual agents, thus evaluating the other side of the interaction, although many directions could be envisaged given the possibility to create different social and non-social scenarios, and integrating other possible regulation strategies offered.

While adaptations and further developments of this particular environment are possible and promising, the experiment itself also encourages virtual reality to be used more frequently as a general method in the study of social interactions and emotions. There are a number of applications for immersive virtual worlds to date in rehabilitation programs (Howard, 2017), vocational training (Bernardo, 2017; Burke et al., 2018), and also in a line of social-skill trainings for people on the autism spectrum (Parsons and Cobb, 2011). With virtual reality becoming more accessible for private households, training programs and serious games have the potential to reach a wider audience and expand the duration of their programs almost indefinitely.

## DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

## **ETHICS STATEMENT**

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Cantonal Commission for Ethics and Research, Geneva. Written informed consent to participate in this study was provided by the participants' legal guardian/ next of kin.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

AS, DR, LS, DD, MT, and VD contributed to theoretical conception, methodological and game design of the study. AS supervised the research, acquired funding and provided the resources. MT and VD developed the virtual environment. LS and MT conducted the assessment, curated the data and performed formal analysis. LS wrote the first draft of the

## REFERENCES

- Bernardo, A. (2017). Virtual Reality and Simulation in Neurosurgical Training. World Neurosurg. 106, 1015–1029. doi:10.1016/j.wneu.2017.06.140
- Blascovich, J., Jim, Jack., Loomis, J., Beall, A. C., Swinth, K. R., Hoyt, C. L., et al. (2002). TARGET ARTICLE: Immersive Virtual Environment Technology as a Methodological Tool for Social Psychology. *Psychol. Inq.* 13 (2), 103–124. doi:10.1207/S15327965PLI1302doi:10.1207/s15327965pli1302\_01
- Bombari, D., Schmid Mast, M., Canadas, E., and Bachmann, M. (2015). Studying Social Interactions through Immersive Virtual Environment Technology: Virtues, Pitfalls, and Future Challenges. *Front. Psychol.* 6 (June), 1–11. doi:10.3389/fpsyg.2015.00869
- Braithwaite, J. J., Watson, D. G., Jones, R., and Rowe, M. (2013). A Guide for Analysing Electrodermal Activity (EDA) & Skin Conductance Responses (SCRs) for Psychological Experiments. *Psychophysiology* 49 (1), 1017–1034.
- Burke, S. L., Bresnahan, T., Li, T., Epnere, K., Albert, R., Mary, P., et al. (2018). Using Virtual Interactive Training Agents (ViTA) with Adults with Autism and Other Developmental Disabilities. J. Autism Dev. Disord. 48 (3), 905–912. doi:10.1007/s10803-017-3374-z
- Cai, R. Y., Richdale, A. L., Dissanayake, C., Trollor, J., and Uljarević, M. (2018). Emotion Regulation in Autism: Reappraisal and Suppression Interactions. *Autism* 23 (3), 737–749. doi:10.1177/1362361318774558
- Chan, S., and Rawana, J. S. (2021). "Examining the Associations between Interpersonal Emotion Regulation and Psychosocial Adjustment in Emerging Adulthood.". Cogn. Ther. Res. 45 (4), 652–662. doi:10.1007/ s10608-020-10185-2
- Chevallier, C., Kohls, G., Troiani, V., Brodkin, E. S., and Schultz, R. T. (2013). The Social Motivation Theory of Autism. *Trends Cogn. Sci.* 16 (4), 231–239. doi:10. 1016/j.tics.2012.02.007
- Coats, A. H., Blanchard-Fields, F., and Blanchard-Fields, F. (2008). Emotion Regulation in Interpersonal Problems: The Role of Cognitive-Emotional Complexity, Emotion Regulation Goals, and Expressivity. *Psychol. Aging* 23 (1), 39–51. doi:10.1037/0882-7974.23.1.39
- Cohen, S. (2004). Social Relationships and Health. Am. Psychol. 59 (8), 676–684. doi:10.1037/0003-066x.59.8.676
- Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Lang, A.-G., and Buchner, A. (2007). G\*Power 3: A Flexible Statistical Power Analysis Program for the Social, Behavioral, and Biomedical Sciences. *Behav. Res. Methods* 39 (2), 175–191. doi:10.3758/BF03193146
- Gross, J. J. (2015). Handbook of Emotion Regulation. Guilford.
- Gross, J. J. (1998). The Emerging Field of Emotion Regulation: An Integrative Review. Rev. Gen. Psychol. 2 (3), 271–299. doi:10.1037/1089-2680.2.3.271
- Gross, J. J. (2002). Emotion Regulation. Affective, Cogn. Soc. Consequences. Psychophysiology. *The Regulation of Emotion*. 39, 281–291. doi:10.1017/ S0048577201393198

manuscript. All authors contributed to manuscript revision, read, and approved the submitted version.

## FUNDING

This project was supported by the Swiss National Science Foundation (SNSF; PP00P1\_176,722 for AS), the Incentive Funding from the Swiss Center for Affective Sciences and the Research Fund of Unidistance Suisse.

## SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/frvir.2022.826241/full#supplementary-material

- Gulsrud, A. C., Jahromi, L. B., and Kasari, C. (2010). The Co-regulation of Emotions between Mothers and Their Children with Autism. J. Autism Dev. Disord. 40, 227–237. doi:10.1007/s10803-009-0861-x
- Hallam, G. P., Webb, T. L., Sheeran, P., Miles, E., Niven, K., Wilkinson, I. D., et al. (2014). The Neural Correlates of Regulating Another Person's Emotions: An Exploratory FMRI Study. *Front. Hum. Neurosci.* 8 (JUNE), 1–12. doi:10.3389/ fnhum.2014.00376
- Hofmann, S. G., CarpenterCarpenter, J. K., and Curtiss, J. (2016). Interpersonal Emotion Regulation Questionnaire (IERQ): Scale Development and Psychometric Characteristics. *Cogn. Ther. Res.* 40 (3), 341–356. doi:10.1007/ s10608-016-9756-2
- Howard, M. C. (2017). A Meta-Analysis and Systematic Literature Review of Virtual Reality Rehabilitation Programs. *Comput. Hum. Behav.* 70, 317–327. doi:10.1016/j.chb.2017.01.013
- Iffland, B., Sansen, L. M., Catani, C., and Neuner, F. (2014). Rapid Heartbeat, but Dry Palms: Reactions of Heart Rate and Skin Conductance Levels to Social Rejection. *Front. Psychol.* 5 (AUG), 1–10. doi:10.3389/fpsyg.2014.00956
- JBGarraza (2021a). Toon Kids. Unity Asset Store. Available at: https://assetstore. unity.com/packages/3d/characters/humanoids/toon-kids-55945.
- JBGarraza (2021b). Toon People. Unity Asset Store. Available at: https://assetstore. unity.com/packages/3d/characters/humanoids/toon-people-111042.
- Krämer, N. C., Karacora, B., Lucas, G., Dehghani, M., Rüther, G., and Gratch, J. (2016). Closing the Gender gap in STEM with Friendly Male Instructors? on the Effects of Rapport Behavior and Gender of a Virtual Agent in an Instructional Interaction. *Comput. Edu.* 99, 1–13. doi:10.1016/j.compedu. 2016.04.002
- Liddell, B. J., and Williams, E. N. (2019). Cultural Differences in Interpersonal Emotion Regulation. Front. Psychol. 10 (999). doi:10.3389/fpsyg.2019.00999
- Lindsey, E. W. (2020). Relationship Context and Emotion Regulation across the Life Span. *Emotion* 20 (1), 59–62. doi:10.1037/emo0000666
- Lougheed, J. P., Koval, P., and Hollenstein, T. (2016). Sharing the burden: The Interpersonal Regulation of Emotional Arousal in Mother–daughter Dyads. *Emotion* 16 (1), 83–93. doi:10.1037/emo0000105
- Lykken, D. T., Rose, R., Luther, B., and Maley, M. (1966). Correcting Psychophysiological Measures for Individual Differences in Range. *Psychol. Bull.* 66 (6), 481–484. doi:10.1037/h0023922
- Marroquín, B. (2011). Interpersonal Emotion Regulation as a Mechanism of Social Support in Depression. *Clin. Psychol. Rev.* 31 (8), 1276–1290. doi:10.1016/j.cpr. 2011.09.005
- Martin, R. E., and Ochsner, K. N. (2016). The Neuroscience of Emotion Regulation Development: Implications for Education. *Curr. Opin. Behav. Sci.* 10, 142–148. doi:10.1016/j.cobeha.2016.06.006
- Mazefsky, C. A., and White, S. W. (2014). Emotion Regulation: Concepts & Practice in Autism Spectrum Disorder. *Child Adolesc. Psychiatr. Clin. North America North America* 23 (1), 1–12. doi:10.1016/j.chc.2013.07.002.Emotion

- McDonnell, R., Breidty, M., and Bülthoff, H. H. (2012). Render Me Real? Investigating the Effect of Render Style on the Perception of Animated Virtual Humans. *ACM Trans. Graphics* 31 (4). doi:10.1145/2185520. 2185587
- Meuleman, E. J. H., and Rudrauf, David. (2018). Oud Worden. IEEE Trans. Affective Comput. 12 (1), 189–195. doi:10.1109/TAFFC.2018.286473010.1007/ 978-90-368-2064-6\_13
- Mulej Bratec, S., Bertram, T., Starke, G., Brandl, F., Xie, X., Sorg, C., et al. (2020). Your Presence Soothes Me: a Neural Process Model of Aversive Emotion Regulation via Social Buffering. Soc. Cogn. Affective Neurosci. 15 (5), 561–570. doi:10.1093/scan/nsaa068
- Niven, K., Totterdell, P., and Holman, D. (2009). A Classification of Controlled Interpersonal Affect Regulation Strategies. *Emotion* 9 (4), 498–509. doi:10. 1037/a0015962
- Nozaki, Y., and Mikolajczak, M. (2020). Extrinsic Emotion Regulation. *Emotion* 20 (1), 10–15. doi:10.1037/emo0000636
- Nussinovitch, U., Elishkevitz, K. P., Katz, K., Nussinovitch, M., Segev, S., Volovitz, B., et al. (2011). Reliability of Ultra-short ECG Indices for Heart Rate Variability. *Ann. Noninvasive Electrocardiol.* 16 (2), 117–122. doi:10.1111/j. 1542-474X.2011.00417.x
- Parsons, S., and Cobb, S. (2011). State-of-the-art of Virtual Reality Technologies for Children on the Autism Spectrum. *Eur. J. Spec. Needs Edu.* 26 (3), 355–366. doi:10.1080/08856257.2011.593831
- Reeck, C., Ames, D. R., and Ochsner, K. N. (2016). The Social Regulation of Emotion: An Integrative, Cross-Disciplinary Model. *Trends Cogn. Sci.* 20 (1), 47–63. doi:10.1016/j.tics.2015.09.003
- Ring, L., Utami, D., and Bickmore, T. 2014. *The Right Agent for the Job?* 374–384. doi:10.1007/978-3-319-09767-1\_49
- Samson, A. C., Hardan, A. Y., Podell, R. W., Phillips, J. M., and Gross, J. J. (2015a). Emotion Regulation in Children and Adolescents with Autism Spectrum Disorder. *Autism Res.* 8 (1), 9–18. doi:10.1002/aur.1387
- Samson, A. C., Huber, O., and Gross, J. J. (2012). Emotion Regulation in Asperger's Syndrome and High-Functioning Autism. *Emotion* 12 (4), 659–665. doi:10. 1037/a0027975
- Samson, A. C., Wells, W. M., Phillips, J. M., Hardan, A. Y., and Gross, J. J. (2015b). Emotion Regulation in Autism Spectrum Disorder: Evidence from Parent Interviews and Children's Daily Diaries. J. Child. Psychol. Psychiatr. 56 (8), 903–913. doi:10.1111/jcpp.12370
- Shang, X., Kallmann, M., and Arif, A. S. (2019). "Effects of Virtual Agent Gender on User Performance and Preference in a VR Training Program," in *Advances in Information and Communication. FICC 2019. Lecture Notes in Networks and Systems.* Editors K. Arai and R. Batia. 69th ed (Cham: Springer), 482–495. doi:10.1007/978-3-030-12388-8\_34
- Sheppes, G., Scheibe, S., Suri, G., and Gross, J. J. (2011). Emotion-Regulation Choice. Psychol. Sci. 22 (11), 1391–1396. doi:10.1177/0956797611418350
- Silkenbeumer, J., Schiller, E. M., Holodynski, M., and Kärtner, J. (2016). The Role of Co-regulation for the Development of Social-Emotional

Competence. J. Self-Regulation Regul. 02 (1), 16-33. doi:10.11588/josar. 2016.2.34351

- Stallmann, L., Michel, T., Rudrauf, D., Dukes, D., and Samson, A. C. (2021). Simulating Social Emotion Regulation in Virtual Reality: Effect of Virtual Social Support Following Ostracism in a Cyberball Game. *Manuscript submitted for publication*.
- Treichel, N., Dukes, D., Barisnikov, K., and Samson, A. C. (2021). How Cognitive, Social, and Emotional Profiles Impact Humor Appreciation: Sense of Humor in Autism Spectrum Disorder and Williams Syndrome. *HUMOR* 35 (1), 113–133. doi:10.1515/humor-2021-0038
- Virtanen, P., GommersOliphant, R., Oliphant, T. E., Haberland, M., Reddy, T., Cournapeau, D., et al. (2020). SciPy 1.0: Fundamental Algorithms for Scientific Computing in Python. *Nat. Methods* 17 (3), 261–272. doi:10.1038/s41592-019-0686-2
- Volkaert, B., Wante, L., Van Beveren, M.-L., Vervoort, L., and Braet, C. (2020). Training Adaptive Emotion Regulation Skills in Early Adolescents: The Effects of Distraction, Acceptance, Cognitive Reappraisal, and Problem Solving. *Cogn. Ther. Res.* 44 (3), 678–696. doi:10.1007/s10608-019-10073-4
- Williams, K. D., and Jarvis, B. (2006). Cyberball: A Program for Use in Research on Interpersonal Ostracism and Acceptance. *Behav. Res. Methods* 38 (1), 174–180. doi:10.3758/BF03192765
- Williams White, S., Keonig, K., Scahill, L., and Scahill, L. (2007). Social Skills Development in Children with Autism Spectrum Disorders: A Review of the Intervention Research. J. Autism Dev. Disord. 37 (10), 1858–1868. doi:10.1007/ s10803-006-0320-x
- Zaki, J. (2020). Integrating Empathy and Interpersonal Emotion Regulation. *Annu. Rev. Psychol.* 71, 517–540. doi:10.1146/annurev-psych-010419-050830
- Zaki, J., and Williams, W. C. (2013). Interpersonal Emotion Regulation. *Emotion* 13 (5), 803–810. doi:10.1037/a0033839

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Stallmann, Dukes, Tran, Durand de Gevigney, Rudrauf and Samson. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



## Virtual Reality to Evaluate the Impact of Colorful Interventions and Nature Elements on Spontaneous Walking, Gaze, and Emotion

Adamantia Batistatou, Florentin Vandeville and Yvonne N. Delevoye-Turrell\*

UMR 9193-SCALab-Sciences Cognitives et Sciences Affectives, Univ. Lille, Lille, France

Green environments are said to have a positive impact on spontaneous physical activity and well-being. However, high quality psychological measures in natural settings are difficult to collect. In the present study, we offer a detailed report on how virtual reality may provide a controlled environment for immersive user testing. Virtual Reality (VR) was here used to test the impact of colorful floor markings on the spontaneous speed of walking, gaze behaviour, as well as perceived changes in and physiological mesures of affective states. The reactions of 36 adult participants were evaluated in Grey and Green VR environments of an urban university campus. Results in VR revealed similar results than that reported in natural settings: participants walked slower and had higher heart rates in Green than in Grey urban settings, indicating more pleasurable experiences. VR results provided nevertheless more detailed description of user experience with the possibility to quantify changes in gaze strategy as a function of the presence or absence of color designs. Spontaneous walking was slower with colorful designs than without. Gaze behaviour presented longer fixation times with colorful designs than without. Finally, physiological responses indicated that mean heart rates were similar across environments and predicted the physical effort of the task. However, greater means in heart rates were observed in the environments presenting colorful designs, suggesting that colors may be a powerful tool to trigger alertness and pleasure in Grey urban cities. Virtual reality is reported here as an innovative method to quantify psychological experiences during free exploration in gait. Applicable to a broad range of research topics in the psychological sciences, explicit guidelines are made available to share computer code and data sets for further exploitation.

Keywords: virtual environment, gait, affective responses, restorative theory, vegetation, eye tracking, systematic representative design

## **1 INTRODUCTION**

Living in the city can be unhealthy. The concrete infrastructure of a busy urban scenario plays an important role in the levels of psychological and emotional wellbeing of its citizens (Handy et al., 2002). Urban elements such as visibility (Knöll et al., 2018) and building facades (Elsadek et al., 2019) have been reported to trigger important levels of perceived stress and fatigue. Crowded streets elicit negative emotions and behaviors, which accentuate psychological stress and feelings of aggression

## OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Ali Oker, Université de Reims Champagne-Ardenne, France

#### Reviewed by:

Marius Rubo, Université de Fribourg, Switzerland Laurence Chaby, Université de Paris, France

#### \*Correspondence:

Yvonne N. Delevoye-Turrell yvonne.delevoye@univ-lille.fr orcid.org/0000-0003-4034-3684

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Virtual Reality and Human Behaviour, a section of the journal Frontiers in Virtual Reality

> Received: 21 November 2021 Accepted: 02 May 2022 Published: 17 June 2022

#### Citation:

Batistatou A, Vandeville F and Delevoye-Turrell YN (2022) Virtual Reality to Evaluate the Impact of Colorful Interventions and Nature Elements on Spontaneous Walking, Gaze, and Emotion. Front. Virtual Real. 3:819597. doi: 10.3389/frvir.2022.819597

70

(Engelniederhammer et al., 2019), whereas the exposure to road traffic and noise causes physiological stress, expressed as hypertension (Bluhm et al., 2007). The simple exposition to nature may support human wellbeing. Plantations and trees (Lin et al., 2014) as well as patches of grass (Huang et al., 2020) can play a major role in restoring positive moods and affective states in concrete urban environments. Individuals report feeling more relaxed when viewing green buildings ornated with climbing plants than when looking at concrete nuded buildings (Elsadek et al., 2019). These results have convinced the general public that green elements in the built environment offer beneficial effects (Gillis & Gatersleben, 2015; Bolten & Barbiero, 2020). Unfortunately, it is not always possible to introduce nature vegetation into a built environment. Many reasons have been pinpointed, e.g., design constraints, low budgets, climate changes and lack of political decisions. Hence, city designers have been inspired to use colors to include at minima green patches of color on building walls and streets. The question remains however whether color alone is sufficient to offer the restorative effects of vegetation.

The restorative power of nature is grounded in the psychoevolutionary theory that humans evolved in nature from the beginning of time. Thus, human beings are physiologically better adapted to live in green vegetation than in concrete environments. Green nature would have the power to lower stress levels by providing positive affective states and mild physiological arousal compared to urban human-made habitats (Ulrich et al., 1991). The innate tendency to respond positively to nature would also trigger a spontanenous state of fascination that would lead to a perception of safety (S. Kaplan, 1992). Consequently, green environments should offer a setting in which mental fatigue, attentional effort and cognitive load are minimal (Berto, 2014; Berto et al., 2014). Following these theoretical considerations, the restorative beneficits of nature should have both a physiological affective component (as stated in the stress reduction theory) and a cognitive component (as stated in the attention restorative theory).

## 1.1 Spontaneous Walking and Affective States to Test the Stress Reduction Theory of Vegetation and Color-Designs

Walking speed in the urban space has been linked to stress. Environmental elements of the urban setting can cause a feeling of anxiety or alertness that trigger an increase in walking pace. Research has shown for example that elements such as light dimming and traffic noise make walkers speed up, suggesting an increase in stress under busy urban settings (Franěk et al., 2018; Pedersen & Johansson, 2018). On the other hand, vegetation lead walkers unconsciously to slow down (Franěk, 2013). Inlaboratory studies have defined the spontaneous motor tempo (or SMT) as an automatic regular sequence of movements corresponding to the preferred and natural rhythm at which an individual decides to move (Fraisse, 1982). SMT is naturally observed in daily activities, such as clapping and walking (Rose et al., 2020) and has been associated to the pace for which movement production is the easiest, providing the most pleasure (Delevoye-Turrell et al., 2014). SMT is thought to be associated directly to the physiological affective nature of the walking experience. It is a value that can capture the daily rhythm of people's lives and reveals how calm or hurried is one's walking behavior (Bornstein & Bornstein, 1976).

Affect is a psycho-physiological response that describes a broad term of feelings that a person can have, consciously or unconsciously, towards an event or a stimuli (Batson et al., 1992). Affective states have two principal dimensions. Valence characterizes the perceived quality of a stimuli as pleasant or unpleasant (Russel, 1989). Arousal indicates the physiological levels of activation associated to the stimulus at a given moment in time. In cognitive psychology, the valence is mainly quantified through self-declared questionnaires, whereas arousal can be assessed objectively through the measurement of heart rate (Wang et al., 2018). The combination of declarative and objective measurements is recommended today in the affective field of sciences for a better description of changes in users' affective states (Kondo et al., 2018).

Valence is associated to pleasantness. Urban environments such as traffic (Coensel et al., 2011) and build spaces (Berg et al., 2003; Özügner & Kendle, 2006; Wilkie & Stavridou, 2013) have been shown to impact negatively the pleasurable experience of walking. On the other hand, vegetation (Egorov et al., 2017), integrated urban vegetation (White & Gatersleben, 2011), walking in the forest (Hartig & Staats, 2006), and physical exercise in natural environments (Focht, 2009) lead to positive affective experiences. Similarly, changes in arousal have been linked to stress and many studies have reported the negative impact of concrete urban environments on emotional wellbeing. Elements such as crowd density (Fleming et al., 1987; Engel et al., 1997), urban noise (Münzel et al., 2018), and high building facades (Kalantari & Shepley, 2020) increase arousal levels. On the other hand, vegetation (Egorov et al., 2017) and green nature scenes (Ward Thompson et al., 2012) lead walkers to experience lower levels of arousal. The question is then can colors offer similar changes in affective states? A few studies in color psychology have reported that blue and green colors are linked to more positive affective states than other colors (Kaya, 2004; Savavibool et al., 2018). Ecological testing has also suggested that red triggers a significant increase whereas green decreases perceived and physiological arousal (Kutchma, 2014), which may indicate the power of colors to modulate stress levels. However, such studies are limited in number and suffer a lack of internal validity (cause-effect relationship in one condition is not forceably observed in others).

We will here test in a controlled virtual reality environment whether color-designs can offer positive affective states and decrease the speed of walking in urban settings at a similar degree than that provoked by nature green elements.

## **1.2 Gaze Behavior to Test the Attention Restorative Effects of Vegetation and Color-Designs**

Following the attention theory by Kaplan, the restorative effects of nature should be associated to a strong cognitive component.
The analysis of eye blinks and movements reveal what is being looked at across time: the sky, the ground or a specific Area Of Interest (AOI) (Chevalier et al., 2010). During spontaneous walking for example, individuals show distinct gaze strategies appropriate for the demands of different terrains, and this information can be used to characterize the cognitive load and mental fatigue associated to navigation (Matthis et al., 2018). Gaze patterns reveal both active exploration and passive detection, which are key processes when trying to understand human-environment interaction (Colombo, 2001). Hence, by quantifying eye blink frequency, gaze direction and fixation duration, it is possible to model the cognitive component of spontaneous motor behavior both in laboratory and real-world testing.

Blinking is the involuntary reflex of opening and closing the eyes (Volkmann et al., 1982). Blink rate varies systematically in cognitive tasks such as reading, talking and video watching (Fukuda, 1994; Himebaugh et al., 2009). This is typically attributed to variations in cognitive load (Orchard & Stern, 1991). Despite evidence for some systematic variation with dopamine level, blinking is universally regarded as epiphenomenal, rather than functional. Much more research has been conducted on gaze control. Gaze direction in the urban space has been linked to "journey fixation". During free walk, participants with normal vision direct their gaze primarily straight ahead targeting a goal (Turano et al., 2001). Furthermore, the complexity of the walking surface (Matthis et al., 2018) as well as the density of circulation (Trefzger et al., 2018) modulate systematically gaze direction and lead it to focus more frequently towards the ground.

The duration of gaze fixations is predicted in the urban space by the levels of interest given to an object. Environmental elements placed in an urban scenery may increase alertness, which also tend to increase fixation duration because of an augmented focus of attention to interesting/meaningful/ threatening elements (Leveque et al., 2020). Indeed, crossroads and traffic lights increase duration of fixations (Fotios et al., 2014; Biassoni et al., 2018). On the other hand, grass (Egorov et al., 2017) and nature scenes (Ward Thompson et al., 2012) lead walkers to decrease the number and duration of fixation points. Nevertheless, it is unclear whether these effects are due to the nature per se or to the color patches. Indeed, in the field of cognitive psychology, perceptual studies have reported that people scored more fixations in counts and in duration when presented with their preferred colors, which sometimes included the color green (Lee et al., n.d.).

In the present study, we questioned how colorful designs in the urban environment could influence gaze strategies. Using a virtual reality headset with an integrated eye-tracker, we report the number of blinks per minute to quantify changes in cognitive load. Gaze direction and fixation durations were also measured to test the attention restorative effects of vegetation and color-designs.

## **1.3 Paradigm Shift in Experimental Design** to Model the Effects of Colorful Interventions

Paint is a flexible intervention tool applicable to urban architectures as it is ephemeral and non-invasive. Colorful

floor markings have been used as design solutions in rezoning urban spaces and guiding pedestrians. Colors are indeed an essential visual factor of the environment (Jalil et al., 2012). Empirical observations have reported the impact that colors may have on walking perception and behavior. For example, runners with red T-shirts were perceived as running faster than those wearing blue T-shirts (Mentzel et al., 2019). Pedestrians were reported to walk faster when presented with red stimuli compared to trials for which blue stimuli were used (Meier et al., 2012). These results echo the empirical data that have been reported for decades during color walks: color is a key solution to improve walking experience and pleasure in the city (Evans, 2019). Nevertheless, little quantification has been reported. Even with the advances of wearable technology, testing in natural habitats remains complicated with difficulties associated to data collection, limits in replicability (e.g., weather dependency) and the absence of baseline controlled conditions.

Virtual reality (VR) has made its entry in psychological testing by offering a solution to the traditional trade-off between control and generalization: (1) in lab protocols to provide systematic manipulations of the visual displays vs. (2) the use of naturalistic whole-body tasks to augment transferability in more natural organism-environmental conditions. VR is a paradigm shift in experimental design as it offers the means to present systematic representative designs while quantifying changes in human behavior and experience (Miller et al., 2019). In the present study, we report the use of VR as a method to test the impact of color and vegetation on pedestrian walking in an urban environment, while factoring in both the cognitive load and the emotional experience of the task. Physiological and behaviarol parameters (walking speed; gaze behaviors) were collected during free exploration of an urban university campus; questionnaires were included in a pre-post design procedure. The question was specifically to assess whether color patterns can offer similar positive restorative effects than vegetation in urban spaces. The following hypotheses were formulated:

- H1: (a) Urban vegetation will be perceived as more pleasant than urban concrete. (b) Perceived pleasantness will be greater in urban concrete with color-designs than without.
- H2: (a) Alertness and heart rate will be reduced in urban vegetation compared to urban concrete. (b) Color-designs will decrease aleterness and thus, lower heart rates will be observed in urban concrete with color-designs than without.
- H3: (a) Speed of walking will be reduced in urban vegetation compared to urban concrete. (b) Speed of walking will be lower in urban concrete scenes with color-designs than without.
- H4: Blink rates will be lower in urban concrete than in urban vegetation.
- H5: (a) Gaze will be directed less frequently towards the ground in urban vegetation than in urban concrete. (b) Frequency of gaze towards the ground will be lower in urban concrete with color-designs than without.
- H6: (a) Number of gaze fixations will be lower in urban vegetation than in urban concrete. (b) Number of gaze

fixations will be lower in urban concrete with color-designs than without.

# 2 METHODS

## 2.1 Participants

Young healthy adults were recruited from amongst the corpus of staff and students at the University of Lille. All participants had normal to corrected-to-normal vision, and did not present motor dysfunction, neurological/psychiatric disorders or colorblindness. Each participant provided written informed consent and demographic information (sex, age, and VR expertise) before coming to the laboratory to participate in a unique experimental session lasting 90 min. This protocol is registered by the CNIL for good management of human personal data (GED UnivLilleN1-201816).

A within-subjects design was applied wherein each condition was performed in a semi-randomized order. The sample size required for the present study was calculated using G\*Power (3.1.9.2). The walking speed data of Franek et al. (2018) were used as group parameters and the power analysis indicated that a total of 32 participants was required for walking speed (f = 0.417;  $\alpha$  = 0.05; 1- $\beta$  = 0.80). The gaze data of Matthis et al. (2018) were used as group parameters and the power analysis indicated that a total of 18 participants was required for fixation duration (f = 2.565;  $\alpha$ = 0.05; 1 -  $\beta$  = 0.80). Accordingly, a sample of 35 individuals (16 males, 19 females; mean age = 23.59 ± SD = 8.79: 18–51 years) was recruited to guard against technical failure.

## 2.2 Materials

### 2.2.1 Task and Visual Environments

The task was to wear a virtual reality (VR) helmet and to step-onthe-spot while discovering different versions of an urban university campus. We decided to use a minimalistic representation of the main library campus to favor the focus of attention of the participants on the effects of color and vegetation. All participants were familiar with the true University grounds and buildings, and the identical minimalistic representation was used across the six experimental trials. Each participant was invited to take their time to discover the library environment by following a pathway that appeared in front of them. Depending on the condition, the landscape displayed buildings and grey sidewalks or the same buildings set within a green environment that included plantations such as trees and large patches of grass. The path to follow was a painted line, which was white or colored (redgreen-blue). Finally, colorful designs could be displayed upon the path. Hence, each participant walked around the university library six times in seperate trials, characterized by specific ambiances. During the VR task, participants were asked to stand on a textured mat to help maintain body stability during the stepping-on-the-spot task (Figure 1). Hence, at the start of the session, participants were invited to take their shoes off. Participants moved continuously, which is know to cause nausea (Birenboim et al., 2019). Air conditioning was used to maintain the temperature of the room at a constant 19.5°, to prevent



FIGURE 1 | Picture of a typical participant performing the walking on the SPOT task. Breaks were taken between trials to limit nausea as the task required continuous movement.

overheating and sweating during stepping. Between the 15min trial runs, 5-min breaks were taken to limit the emergence of nausea. During this break, participants were invited to sit and take the VR helmet off. For all participants, the Simulator Sickness Questionnaire was administered at the end of each trial in order to gain a self-declared description of the degree of simulator sickness experienced. The scale is from 1: no nausea; 4: severe nausea. In the present study, nausae levels was scored at 1.50 (1.2–1.8), confirming the absence of nausea across trials.

Unity code was used to create the virtual replication of the University campus grounds. In the Concrete urban environment, there were no green elements, only buildings. In the Vegetation urban environment, grass and trees were included using different shades of green. The trees were placed far from the path to avoid the perception of the trees as obstacles. In both types of environments, a total of three design scenarios were tested as floor markings. The path was (1) a white line (control), (2) a line painted in three RGB colours (red, blue or green) and (3) color designs embedded within the RGB line. The position and size of the designs were randomized between participants. Illustrations of the VR environments are provided in **Figure 2**.



FIGURE 2 | Illustration of the six virtual environments that were created using UNITY. The protocol provided the means to evaluate the impact of color visual environments on user experience. Top row = no color floor marking; Middle row = RGB color lines (red, blue, green); Bottom row = RGB colors embedded in playful designs.

### 2.2.2 Virtual Reality System and Eye Tracking

The virtual reality HTC Vive was used. The light-weight headset displayed visual environments with a resolution of  $1,080 \times 1,200$  pixels per eye for a 110°field of view. The refreshing rate was 90 Hz. The HTC Vive headset was implemented with an eye-tracking system from Senso Motoric Instruments (SMI) that recorded gaze position and movement of both eyes at a rate of 250 Hz. The HTC Vive comes with a ensemble of sensors that capture behavioral changes during user testing (accelerometers, gyroscopes, proximity sensors).

In the present study, two vive controllers were used to offer the participant the possibility to interact and move freely in the VR environment. Held in both hands, the user pressed the trigger

buttons and was required to maintain the light pressure on these triggers throughout the exploration. Then, she/he could swing the arms to move forward in the direction in which the controllers were pointed. The speed in the virtual environment depended on the speed of arm swing. Two vive base stations were placed 4 m away from the participant and tracked the vive controllers to create a 360° virtual space. This virtual "room scaled" environment offered a space in which the user could walk fast and slow, stop and interact (e.g., touch a leaf or the building walls). The speed scale was set to high. Thus, the true mean speed of spontaneous arm swing during stepping was in fact 15–20% slower than that presented in the VR environment. The vive base stations detected the 3D position of the helmet. This information



was used to measure gaze direction. All tracking was performed with infrared pulses set at 60 Hz.

# 2.2.3 Objective Measure and Declarative Evaluation of the Affective States

The Empatica E4 wristband (Empatica S.r.l, Milano, Italy) is a portable wristband that provides real-time physiological data streaming and visualization. It records photoplethysmographic data, temperature and electrodermal activity. In the absence of cables, it offers free movement and accurate measurements of cardiac responses (Richardson et al., 2020). Heart Rate (HR) means were calculated from the pulse peak intervals and are reported in beats per minutes (BPM). All signal processing steps were performed using the python's package HeartPy (van Gent et al., 2018; van Gent et al., 2019). A third order band-pass Butterworth filter was applied with cutoff frequencies of 0.7 and 3.5 Hz. Before filtering, the matrix of pulse intervals was cleaned for outliers by applying the interquartile range method.

Within the current models of emotion, affect is a neurophysiological state that is always present and can arise to consciousness by voluntary re-orientation of attention (Barrett & Bliss-Moreau, 2009). Hence, the use of a self-evaluating grid can help guide individuals to gain an insight on interior states of emotion (Brossard & Delevoye-Turrell, 2022). The self-declared affective experiences were collected with the Feeling and Affect Table to score Arousal and Appraisal (**Figure 3**). The FAtAAL is a 2dimensional digital grid that is adapted from the Russell grid for Affective States (Russel, 1989). Implemented within the VR scene at the end of the trial, the 18-by-18 bingo grid guides a participant to evaluate her/his affective state, considering at the same time both the intensity (arousal) and the pleasantness (valence) of an experience. A simple number verbalized by the participant is sufficient to code the affective state at a given moment in time.

## 2.3 Design and Measures

Participants were encouraged to engage in a spontaneous and natural walking-on-the-spot movement during free exploration. A military sort of stepping movement was encouraged to have participants swing arms during body movement. Objective measures were collected throughout the unique session to characterize tempo of spontaneous gait, gaze strategy and affective states (**Figure 1**). Self-declared questionnaires were administered at the end of each trial to limit interfering with user experiences.

### 2.3.1 Spontaneous Walking Behavior

The time spent exploring each environment was measured in seconds as the duration of a trial. This time interval was calculated as the difference between the first moment participants stepped on the path and the instant they reached the end of the path. The number of stops was counted as the number of times participants released the triggerbutton of one of the two controllers. The mean duration of a trial in seconds and the mean number of stops are reported for each participant and condition.

Walking speed was extracted from the relative 3D coordinates of the headset, every 200 ms. The total distance for a trial was calculated by summing the vectorial distance of each frame. The average speed was then calculated in m/s and converted in km/h, for each participant and condition.

### 2.3.2 Gaze Behavior

The SMI eye-tracking system recorded gaze position and direction. The 9-point calibration procedure was performed before the start of each session. It provided the means to scale the visual environment as a function of the morphology of each participant.

The absence of eye tracking recordings at a given moment coded for the presence of an eye blink. After the detection of a possible eye blink, a time interval of 100 ms was applied before searching for the next event, as the minimum duration of a blink is 100 ms (Schiffman, 1990). Mean number of eye blinks was calculated for each participant and condition as an indicator of cognitive load.

Gaze direction was grouped in three distinct categories. Participants were considered to be looking straight ahead if their gaze remained within a range of 20°, centered around the horizontal gaze line (calculation based on the dot product–see supplementary data). The number and duration of fixation points higher, lower and around the horitonal gaze line were calculated for each participant and condition.

Gaze fixations were extracted using the MATLAB toolbox, EyeMMV (Krassanakis et al., 2014). Specifically, the XY coordinates were measured at each recording frame and averaged across both eyes. The EyeMMV algorithm relies on a two-step spatial dispersion thresold. Detection is then extracted to determine number of fixations and mean duration of fixation, for each participant and condition.

The VR environment was tagged with imaginary areas of interest (AOI). The AOI were locations in which the colorful designs could be present, i.e., they were present in the colordesign conditions but absent in all other conditions. To gain an insight on the role played by color visual environments on gaze behavior, the mean number and duration of AOI fixations were calculated for each participant and condition.

## 2.4 Affective States

Self-declared affective states were collected using the FAtAAL grid. The levels of arousal and valance were calculated by converting each 9-point Likert-type scale with anchors coding for 1 = unpleasant, and 9 = pleasant feelings on the valence x-axis, and for 1 = active arousal, and 9 = passive arousal on the y-axis. A score above six on the valence scale indicated positive affective states. A score above six on the arousal scale indicated relatively high levels of perceived arousal.

Heart rate is an objective indicator of physiological arousal. Baseline levels were claculated during rest, for a total of 2 min when participants were seated. Then, during each trial, the mean HR was calculated during the two last minutes of each trial. Mean delta HR was calculated for each participant and condition.

# 2.5 Procedure

## 2.5.1 Welcome Phase

Upon arrival at the laboratory, the participant was asked to read and sign a consent form. The study was conducted in a large and quiet room, without windows. Care was taken to clear the area from any obstacles to provide a comforting and reassuring user experience. Participants were invited to put the VR helmet on, and to take a few minutes to get familiarized with the VR setup while performing the walking task, using the arms to navigate in the VR environment. For this familiarization phase, participants were immersed in a green neighborhood outdoor basketball court.

## 2.5.2 Baseline Phase

Before the start of the session, each participant was invited to sit for 4 min to relax. This was important in order to obtain two types of baseline (resting and stressor baselines) that would then be used to compute relative physiological reactions to the green or colorful visual environments.

After sitting calmly for 4 min, participants were invited to put the VR helmet on, and the resting baseline was taken during 3 min. Participants were then invited to engage in a series of mental calculation tasks that consisted in counting backwards from a random four-digit number, in steps of a random two-digit number. The participant was informed of the following: "You will be monitored carefully during the tasks by the research staff and a buzzer will sound every time you give an incorrect answer." At the end of the mental calculation tasks that lasted 90 s, the stressor baseline was taken for 3 min (Dedovic et al., 2005; Al-Shargie et al., 2016).

### 2.5.3 Experimental Phase

After the baseline phase, participants were invited to stand and place their feet in the center of the mat. Participants were encouraged to engage in a gait pattern that was spontaneous and easy, to walk at their preferred pace, on-the-spot, while moving the arms naturally and freely. At the end of the exploration time, participants answered the FAtAAL grid, took the helmet off, and sat down to relax for 4 min by concentrating on their breathing. During pre-testing, these pre-set break times were found to be efficient in limiting the emergence of discomfort and nausea.

When ready to start the experimental trials, participants were invited to put the helmet on to record the 2-min HR baseline while remaining seated. Then, with the experimenter's help, the participant stood and engaged in the trial. At the end of block 6, participants received a detailed debriefing of the general objectives of the study and was thanked for her/ his time.

# 2.6 Data Processing and Statistical Analyses

Data processing and analyses were performed with personal code written in Python, which can be made available upon request (see Supplementary Data 2). The experiment was composed of 1 block of six trials. Classic null-hypothesis significance tests were applied to reveal the effect of Environment and Condition on the user experience. A two-way repeated measure ANOVA was conducted with Environment (Urban Concrete; Urban Nature) and Condition (White-line, Color-line, Color-design) as the two independent factors. The probability level was set to 0.05 for test interpretation. Partial etas squared ( $\eta_p$ 2) were calculated to report effect sizes. Pairwise t-tests were computed when ANOVA was significant and were adjusted for multiple comparisons using Holm-Bonferroni corrections.









three urban virtual environments.

# **3 RESULTS**

### **3.1 Emotional Responses**

The Empatica E4 wristband and the FAtAAl grid provided the means to collect the objective and perceived changes in affective states. Results test H1 and H2 and are presented in **Figures 4–6**.

#### 3.1.1 Perceived Valence and Arousal

The two-way ANOVA revealed a significant main effect of Environment for valence, F (1,31) = 12.38, p = 0.001,  $\eta_p 2 = 0.29$ , with higher scores in Urban Vegetation (M = 6.55, SD = 1.70) than in Urban Concrete (M = 5.60, SD = 2.01). There was also a main effect of Condition, F (2, 62) = 4.16, p = 0.02,  $\eta_p 2 = 0.12$ , with higher scores in Color Design (M = 6.58, SD = 1.64) than in White Line (M = 5.94, SD = 2.05) and Color Line conditions (M = 5.72, SD = 1.96). Post hoc tests confirmed the differences between Color Design and Color Line (p = 0.001). The interaction effect was not significant, F (2,62) = 2.16, p = 0.12.

The two-way ANOVA revealed a significant main effect of Condition for arousal, F (2,62) = 5.03, p = 0.001,  $\eta_p 2 = 0.14$ , with lower scores in White Line (M = 4.86, SD = 1.65) than in Color Line (M = 5.41, SD = 1.70) and in Color Design conditions (M = 5.64, SD = 1.79). Post hoc tests confirmed

the differences between Color Design and White Line (p = 0.001). Both the main effect of Environment, F (1,31) = 0.86, p = 0.36, and the interaction effect were none significant, F (2,62) = 0.39, p = 0.68.

#### 3.1.2 Changes in Heart Rate

The two-way ANOVA revealed a significant main effect of Condition on the changes in HR, F (2,62) = 4.22, p = 0.02,  $\eta_p 2 = 0.12$ , with higher scores in Color Design (M = 19.09, SD = 14.94) than in White Line (M = 14.99, SD = 18.59) and in Color Line conditions (M = 15.43, SD = 17.37). Post hoc tests confirmed the differences between Color Design and the other conditions (p = 0.04). The main effect of Environment was none significant, F (1,31) = 0.60, p = 0.45, as well as the interaction effect, F (2,62) = 1.01, p = 0.37.

### 3.2 Walking Behavior

Results in this section test H3 and are presented in Figure 7.

#### 3.2.1 Number of Stops

The two-way ANOVA on the number of stops revealed an absence of main effects of Environment (F (1,31) = 0.17, p = 0.68) and Condition (F (2,62) = 1.65, p = 0.20). The interaction effect was not significant (F (2,62) = 0.03, p = 0.97). On



average, participants stopped 1.791 times during the course of a trial (min = 0; max = 9).

#### 3.2.2 Walking Speed

The two-way ANOVA revealed a significant main effect of Environment on the speed of spontaneous walking, F (1,31) = 14.16, p < 0.001,  $\eta_p 2 = 0.31$ , with higher scores in Urban Concrete (M = 10.73, SD = 2.76) than in Urban Vegetation (M = 9.78, SD = 2.41). There were no main effects of Condition, F (2,62) = 2.82, p = 0.07, and the interaction effect was not significant, F (2,62) = 0.80, p = 0.45.

### 3.3 Gaze Behavior

The eye-tracking system that was integrated within the HTC Vive helmet provided the means to characterize gaze strategies through the measurements of blink rates and gaze direction. These results test H4 and H5. Results are presented in **Figures 8**, **9**. To test H6, we quantified the number and duration of gaze fixations overall but also specifically to the AOIs. These results are presented in **Figures 10**, **11**.

#### 3.3.1 Blink Rates

The two-way ANOVA revealed an absence of main effects of Environment (F (1,31) = 0.10, p = 0.75) and Condition (F (2,62) = 0.47, p = 0.63). The interaction effect was also not significant (F

(2,62) = 0.37, p = 0.69) for the number of eye blinks per minute (M = 14.78, SD = 9.81, min = 2.59, max = 41.86).

#### 3.3.2 Gaze Direction

The two-way ANOVA revealed a significant main effect of Environment on the proportion of time spent with gaze direction toward the horizon, F (1,31) = 5.35, p = 0.03,  $\eta_p 2 = 0.15$ . Results indicated higher scores in Urban Vegetation (M = 75.88, SD = 18.57) than in Urban Concrete (M = 72.85, SD = 20.38). The main effect of Condition was not significant, F (2,62) = 1.31, p = 0.28. However, the interaction was significant, F (2,62) = 3.96, p = 0.02,  $\eta_p 2 = 0.11$ , indicating that the differences between Urban Concrete and Vegetation environments were only verified in the White Line and Color Line conditions.

The two-way ANOVA revealed a significant main effect of Environment on the proportion of time spent with gaze direction towards the ground, F (1,31) = 6.11, p = 0.02,  $\eta_p 2$ = 0.16. Results indicated lower scores in Urban Vegetation (M = 22.54, SD = 18.76) than in Urban Concrete (M = 25.93, SD = 20.7). The main effect of Condition was not significant, F (2,62) = 1.38, p = 0.26. However, the interaction was significant, F (2,62) = 4.23, p = 0.02,  $\eta_p 2 = 0.12$ , suggesting that the differences between Urban Concrete and Vegetation



FIGURE 8 | Bar charts illustrating the impact of Environment (Concrete vs. Vegetation) on the proportion of time spent looking straight ahead during spontaneous walking in the six urban virtual environments.









FIGURE 11 | Bar charts illustrating the impact of Environment (Concrete vs. Vegetation) on the duration of gaze fixations to the areas of interest (AIO) during spontaneous walking in the six urban virtual environments.

environments were only verified in the White Line and Color Line conditions.

## 3.4 Number and Duration of Gaze Fixations

The two-way ANOVA revealed a significant main effect of Environment on the number of fixations, F (1,30) = 8.87, p = 0.006,  $\eta_p 2 = 0.23$ , with higher scores in Urban Vegetation (M = 160.29, SD = 74.27) than in Urban Concrete (M = 140.33, SD = 59.65). The main effect of Condition was also significant, F (2,60) = 3.18, p = 0.049,  $\eta_p 2 = 0.10$ , with higher scores in White Line (M = 160.05, SD = 76.89) than in Color Line (M = 139.71, SD = 61.81) and Color Design (M = 151.18, SD = 63.6). The interaction was not significant, F (2,60) = 0.28, p = 0.76.

The two-way ANOVA on duration of fixation indicated an absence of main effects of Environment (F (1,30) = 0.04, p = 0.84) and of Condition (F (2,60) = 2.85, p = 0.07). The interaction effect was not significant (F (2,60) = 0.14, p = 0.87). When considering specifically the gaze fixations to AOIs, the results on gaze fixation duration revealed a significant main effect of Condition, F (2,62) = 112.72, p < 0.001,  $\eta_p 2 = 0.78$ , with higher scores in Color Design (M = 46.12, SD = 20.41) than in White Line (M = 15.09, SD = 6.26) and Color Line conditions (M = 14.77, SD = 6.11). Post hoc tests confirmed the difference between Color Design and the other conditions (p < 0.001). Neither the main effect of Environment, F (1,31) = 0.15, p = 0.71, nor the interaction effect were significant, F (2,62) = 0.28, p = 0.75.

# **4 DISCUSSION**

Virtual reality (VR) is the use of computer technology to create a simulated environment. The benefits of VR testing for cognitive science have been discussed in thorough theoretical papers (Miller et al., 2019). By combining physiological and behavioral measures during spontaneous walking, we present novel data confirming that VR can help tackle the key question of whether color design can mimic the beneficial effects of nature on human spontaneous motor behavior and wellbeing.

# 4.1 Stepping-On-The-Spot to Mimic Spontaneous Walking

Our first aim was to report data and scripts that describe the psychological experiences of human users in an ecologicallyvalid behavioral task. We considered the difficulty in choosing the natural behavior of walking. VR studies have used different tasks to simulate walking in VR environments: joy-stick clicking, arm-swing, stepping-on-the spot. These approaches will never offer the exact same experience than true walking in 3D space (Nilsson et al., 2016). Nevertheless, the stepping-onthe-spot task has been reported to offer a good experience of immersion (Nilsson et al., 2013a) with better performance levels in orientation tasks than that observed when using joystick controllers (McCullough et al., 2015) or arm-swing (Wilson et al., 2013). The stepping task is also more realistic, with levels of perceived effort greater than that reported for arm-swing (Nilsson et al., 2013b; Pai & Kunze, 2017) and thus, more similar to that reported during real-world walking. Hence, we selected the stepping-on-the-spot task to assess whether green elements can promote similar changes in a virtual environment than that observed in natural settings.

## 4.2 Walking in Green VR Environments

Natural elements such as green landscapes have a calming effect on physiological arousal (An et al., 2016). One of the long-term effects of access to nature is a positive attitude towards life and an increased satisfaction with one's own home, one's own work and generally one's own life (R. Kaplan, 2001). Our VR data confirmed that urban vegetation was perceived as more pleasant than urban concrete environments (H1a confirmed). Speed of walking was reduced in urban vegetation compared to urban concrete (H3a confirmed) confirming previous ecological data (Franěk et al., 2018). Overall, these findings suggest that walking in green urban settings offers a certain level of physiological restoration (Valtchanov et al., 2010). However, we did not find that green elements impacted alertness and heart rates (H2a not confirmed). To decrease physiological arousal, time is needed. Hence, the possible calming effect of vegetation may have been masked by the random order design that was applied to short trial durations (<30 s).

Gaze in the urban space is rarely directed straight a head (von Stülpnagel, 2020), especially in the absence of plantations. In more clouted environments as it is the case in urban settings, gaze orientation is directed towards the ground in order to detect possible obstacles (Van Cauwenberg et al., 2016). Even when contrasting different types of urban environments, we revealed an effect of vegetation. Indeed, gaze was directed less frequently towards the ground in urban vegetation than in urban concrete trials (H5a confirmed). This change in strategy was possibly motivated by the intention to widen the angle of view, by opening the torso and raising the head. This change in posture would offer individuals the means to observe more clearly the implemented trees and green surroundings.

Contrary to our predictions fixation points were more numerous and longer in urban vegetation than in urban concrete settings (H6a not confirmed). In nature green, gaze is free and offers walking experiences that are characterized by fewer gaze fixations than in urban environments (Valtchanov & Ellard, 2015). Gaze fixation durations are also longer to offer time for the viewer to focus attention and experience fascination. In our VR experiment, care was taken to offer realistic green elements. The design of the trees was modelled to resemble as best possible the different shades of natural green observed in Northern France in the spring. Using a simple Lickert scale, participants reported being fascinated by the design green elements, which probably contributed in increasing the number of fixations. Hence, journey fixations similar to those observed in natural settings were revealed here in VR offering time to the viewers for fascination and curiosity. Overall, our vegetation VR environments offered both the physiological affective component and the fascination aspect of the restorative benefits of nature, which are key features for clinical applications (Browning et al., 2020; Calogiuri et al., 2021).

# 4.3 The Impact of Color-Designs in VR Environments

The third objective of our study was to assess the impact of colorful designs and to assess whether color-designs are sufficient to offer the restorative effects of vegetation. Hence, we measured walking speed, which in previous research was reported to be lower in natural environments implemented with green and blue design elements (Meier et al., 2012; Mentzel et al., 2019). In our VR study, participants were invited to walk around the campus grounds following a painted line that could be white, colored or augmented with patches of color-designs. Results did not reveal effects of color-designs on walking speed (H3b not confirmed). Interest and arousal were however triggered with colors: perceived pleasantness was greater with color-designs than without (H1b confirmed). Furthermore, mean heart rates were greater with color-designs in both types of urban environments indicating that color-designs increased physiological arousal (H2b not confirmed). Hence, color-designs impact significantly both the valence and the arousal component of the affective states. Nevertheless, we had predicted the opposite effect of colordesigns on arousal. It is the case that our color patches were multi colored, i.e., contained a mix of red, green and blue. Hence, our results confirm those reported in an ecological situation for which red colors were reported to trigger significant increases in perceived and physiological arousal when compared to green colors (Kutchma, 2014). The use of colorful design techniques could be used to encourage spontaneous movement and motivate fun physical activity. To promote calm and wellness, future studies should test the impact of design elements using green shades of color only.

Nature walks free gaze (Marti 'nez-Soto et al., 2019). Hence, we predicted that color-designs could do the same. However, individuals looked more frequently towards the ground with design-colors than without, especially in the vegetation urban environments (H5b not verified). They also revealed greater numbers of fixation points. In other words, with floor markings, participants looked down and more frequently at their feet. Color patches attracted attention and may be able to offer a restorative effect by focusing attention outwards, away from the everyday inner worries that bugger the mind. Future studies could confirm such hypothesis by including an estimation of the power of color-designs to help individuals lose track of time (Davydenko & Peetz, 2017). In the city, gaze is captured by the cluttered visual environment and engages attention; such noisy visual surroundings is a plausible explanation of why cities are perceived as mentally tiring. A freeing gaze is a source of mental relaxation. The data reported here confirm the restorative effect of virtual green environments with lower proportions of gaze fixation in the green environments (Nature and Nature Color Lines). On the other hand, the colorful designs limited the freezing of gaze.

Colors are identified faster than other features like shape and size (MacKay & Ahmetzanov, 2005). Therefore, urban planners could use our VR method and use scientifically based visual interventions to encourage citizens to pay attention to ground surfaces, e.g., when a road is under construction or in threat of flooding. The use of color-design principles could be also powerful to guide popup interventions that would control gaze travel through the city and the woods. Used to catch the attention, designs that stick out and automatically capture the curiosity of pedestrians could be created specifically to nudge more active life styles. In all these case studies, VR would be a well suited and innovating tool to guide design choices.

## **5 LIMITATIONS**

Although our work reports significant results, several limiting factors remain. The number of blinks per minute was used as a measure of pedestrian cognitive process. Previous research has shown that blink rate is around, and a lower cognitive load produces a higher blink rate (Ledger, 2013). We report blink rates of similar frequency than that reported in natural settings e.g., (Barbato et al., 2007). However, there was an absence of effects of both environment and condition. Such measure may not be sensitive enough in VR and confirms similar levels of cognitive load across conditions.

Secondly, we adopted an experimental design that recorded short trials to avoid fatigue and nausea. Hence, the familiarisation phase was short, which may be the cause of certain order effects reported in the results section. More importantly, parameters such as cognitive performance and electrodermal activity could not be measured. Indirect measures were proposed with, for example, the measure of blink rates and heart rate variability (HRV) to estimate cognitive load and physiological stress, respectively. However, even if a tendency was observed for the later, we report an absence of significant effects; hence, we can not here report data to confirm the beneficial effects of green and colorful elements on well being. Further developments in VR technology will quickly offer the means to implement longer trials, which will be key to further study the influence of color interventions in the urban environment on cognitive stress.

Finally, this study used a limited number of designs and a unique urban setting. Hence, we can not report on the impact of, e.g., shape, size, brightness and achromatic patterns of design elements in the environment. Our aim here was to demonstrate the usefulness of VR technology in design choices. Future studies will be able now to further develop our code to consider more specifically what design principles can impact a pedestrian's walking experience to nudge the desire to be active.

## **6 CONCLUSION**

We have reported a pre-post method that demonstrated that trees and green patches of grass can offer beneficial levels of fascination and low stress levels by providing positive affective states. Color alone is not sufficient to offer the restorative effects of vegetation in urban cities, but color interventions in urban spaces can increase fascination, curiosity and physiological levels of arousal. We demonstrate that nature and color interventions do not have similar impacts on the users. Color-designs promote greater levels of arousal that can be used to engage individuals in soft mobility. Our results are important as they suggest the importance of prototyping and of the design-evaluation. Even if painting is a low-cost technique, the financial cost of street art and color design implementation is none negligible. Virtual reality applications may be used to predict behavioral changes and hence, may offer guidelines to orient decisions on what and how to implement changes in the real world.

## DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets presented in this study can be found in online repositories. The names of the repository/repositories and accession number(s) can be found below: https://doi.org/10. 5281/zenodo.5658185.

## ETHICS STATEMENT

Ethical review and approval was not required for the study on human participants in accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

## REFERENCES

- Al-Shargie, F., Kiguchi, M., Badruddin, N., Dass, S. C., Hani, A. F. M., and Tang, T. B. (2016). Mental Stress Assessment Using Simultaneous Measurement of Eeg and Fnirs. *Biomed. Opt. Express* 7 (10), 3882–3898. doi:10.1364/boe.7.003882
- An, M., Colarelli, S. M., O'Brien, K., and Boyajian, M. E. (2016). Why We Need More Nature at Work: Effects of Natural Elements and Sunlight on Employee Mental Health and Work Attitudes. *PloS one* 11 (5), e0155614. doi:10.1371/ journal.pone.0155614
- Barbato, G., De Padova, V., Paolillo, A. R., Arpaia, L., Russo, E., and Ficca, G. (2007). Increased Spontaneous Eye Blink Rate Following Prolonged Wakefulness. *Physiology Behav.* 90 (1), 151–154. doi:10.1016/j.physbeh.2006. 09.023
- Barrett, L. F., and Bliss-Moreau, E. (2009). Chapter 4 Affect as a Psychological Primitive. Adv. Exp. Soc. Psychol. 41, 167–218. doi:10.1016/s0065-2601(08) 00404-8
- Batson, C., Shaw, L. L., and Oleson, K. (1992). Differentiating Affect, Mood, and Emotion: Toward Functionally Based Conceptual Distinctions. *undefined*. Available at: https://www.semanticscholar.org/paper/Differentiating-affect% 2C-mood%2C-and-emotion%3A-Toward-Batson-Shaw/ 9848f7eb1f8995c9f7d46321d1776c7b218741cb (Accessed July 13, 2021).
- Berg, A. E. V. D., Belt, H., Koole, S., and Van der wulp, N. (2003). Environmental Preference and Restoration: (How) Are They Related? J. Environ. Psychol. 23 (2), 23. doi:10.1016/s0272-4944(02)00111-1
- Berto, R., Massaccesi, S., and Pasini, M. (2014). Do eye Movements Measured across High and Low Fascination Photographs Differ? Addressing Kaplan's Fascination Hypothesis. J. Environ. Psychol. 28 (2), 185–191.
- Berto, R. (2014). The Role of Nature in Coping with Psycho-Physiological Stress: a Literature Review on Restorativeness. *Behav. Sci.* 4 (4), 394–409. doi:10.3390/ bs4040394

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

AB and YD-T were responsible for the conceptualization and management of this study. AB and FV devised the methodology, conducted the investigation. FV contributed to the data and statistical analyses. AB wrote the original draft. FV contributed editing and visualization of data. YD-T contributed resources, review and editing.

## FUNDING

The study received financial support by the I-SITE ULNE Foundation (MAUVE 2020) and from the ANR-21-ESRE-0030- Equipex+ Continuum National Grant from the Programme of Investments for the Future. AB was financed by the MEL and the region Hauts-de-France (France).

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors thank Julien Wylleman, Nicolas Bremard, and Samuel Degrande (CRIStAL/PIRVI) for their help in eye tracking implementation within the VR system. Special thanks to Yoann Sarels and his team (VERTICAL SARL) for the creation of the virtual reality environment of the university campus.

- Biassoni, F., Bina, M., Confalonieri, F., and Ciceri, R. (2018). Visual Exploration of Pedestrian Crossings by Adults and Children: Comparison of Strategies. *Transp. Res. Part F Traffic Psychol. Behav.* 56, 227–235. doi:10.1016/j.trf. 2018.04.009
- Birenboim, A., Dijst, M., Ettema, D., de Kruijf, J., de Leeuw, G., and Dogterom, N. (2019). The Utilization of Immersive Virtual Environments for the Investigation of Environmental Preferences. *Landsc. Urban Plan.* 189, 129–138. doi:10.1016/j.landurbplan.2019.04.011
- Bolten, B., and Barbiero, G. (2020). Biophilic Design: How to Enhance Physical and Psychological Health and Wellbeing in Our Built Environments. *Visions Sustain.* 13, 11–16.
- Bornstein, M. H., and Bornstein, H. G. (1976). The Pace of Life. *Nature* 259 (5544), 557–559. doi:10.1038/259557a0
- Brossard, V., and Delevoye-Turrell, Y. N. (2022). Measuring the Embodied Nature of Emotional Experience: Aligning Methodology and Theory.
- Browning, M. H. E. M., Mimnaugh, K. J., Van Riper, C. J., Laurent, H. K., and LaValle, S. M. (2020). Can Simulated Nature Support Mental Health? Comparing Short, Single-Doses of 360-degree Nature Videos in Virtual Reality with the Outdoors. *Front. Psychol.* 10, 2667. doi:10.3389/fpsyg.2019. 02667
- Calogiuri, G., Litleskare, S., and Fröhlich, F. (2021). Physical Activity and Virtual Nature: Perspectives on the Health and Behavioral Benefits of Virtual Green Exercise. *Nat. Health* 2021, 127–146. doi:10.4324/9781003154419-10
- Chevalier, N., Blaye, A., Dufau, S., and Lucenet, J. (2010). What Visual Information Do Children and Adults Consider while Switching between Tasks? Eye-Tracking Investigation of Cognitive Flexibility Development. *Dev. Psychol.* 46, 955–972. doi:10.1037/a0019674
- Coensel, B. D., Vanwetswinkel, S., and Botteldooren, D. (2011). Effects of Natural Sounds on the Perception of Road Traffic Noise. J. Acoust. Soc. Am. 129 (4), EL148–EL153. doi:10.1121/1.3567073
- Colombo, J. (2001). The Development of Visual Attention in Infancy. Annu. Rev. Psychol. 52 (1), 337–367. doi:10.1146/annurev.psych.52.1.337

- Davydenko, M., and Peetz, J. (2017). Time Grows on Trees: the Effect of Nature Settings on Time Perception. J. Environ. Psychol. 54, 20–26. doi:10.1016/j.jenvp. 2017.09.003
- Dedovic, K., Renwick, R., Mahani, N. K., Engert, V., Lupien, S. J., and Pruessner, J. C. (2005). The Montreal Imaging Stress Task: Using Functional Imaging to Investigate the Effects of Perceiving and Processing Psychosocial Stress in the Human Brain. J. Psychiatry Neurosci. 30 (5), 319–325.
- Delevoye-Turrell, Y., Dione, M., and Agneray, G. (2014). Spontaneous Motor Tempo Is the Easiest Pace to Act upon for Both the Emergent and the Predictive Timing Modes. *Procedia - Soc. Behav. Sci.* 126, 121–122. doi:10.1016/j.sbspro. 2014.02.338
- Egorov, A. I., Griffin, S. M., Converse, R. R., Styles, J. N., Sams, E. A., Wilson, A., et al. (2017). Vegetated Land Cover Near Residence Is Associated with Reduced Allostatic Load and Improved Biomarkers of Neuroendocrine, Metabolic and Immune Functions. *Environ. Res.* 158, 508–521. doi:10.1016/j.envres.2017. 07.009
- Elsadek, M., Liu, B., and Lian, Z. (2019). Green Façades: Their Contribution to Stress Recovery and Well-Being in High-Density Cities. *Urban For. Urban Green.* 46, 126446. doi:10.1016/j.ufug.2019.126446
- Engel, S., Zhang, X., and Wandell, B. (1997). Colour Tuning in Human Visual Cortex Measured with Functional Magnetic Resonance Imaging. *Nature* 388, 68–71. doi:10.1038/40398
- Engelniederhammer, A., Papastefanou, G., and Xiang, L. (2019). Crowding Density in Urban Environment and its Effects on Emotional Responding of Pedestrians: Using Wearable Device Technology with Sensors Capturing Proximity and Psychophysiological Emotion Responses while Walking in the Street. J. Hum. Behav. Soc. Environ. 29 (5), 630–646. doi:10.1080/10911359.2019.1579149

Evans, D. (2019). Colour Walks Uncover New Visions of the City.

- Fleming, I., Baum, A., and Weiss, L. (1987). Social Density and Perceived Control as Mediators of Crowding Stress in High-Density Residential Neighborhoods. J. Personality Soc. Psychol. 52 (5), 899–906. doi:10.1037/0022-3514.52.5.899
- Focht, B. C. (2009). Brief Walks in Outdoor and Laboratory Environments. Res. Q. Exerc. sport 80, 611–620. doi:10.1080/02701367.2009.10599600
- Fotios, S., Uttley, J., Cheal, C., and Hara, N. (2014). Using Eye-Tracking to Identify Pedestrians' Critical Visual Tasks, Part 1. Dual Task Approach. *Light. Res. Technol.* 47, 133–148. doi:10.1177/1477153514522472
- Fraisse, P. (1982). Rhythm and Tempo. Psychol. music 1, 149–180. doi:10.1016/ b978-0-12-213562-0.50010-3
- Franěk, M. (2013). Environmental Factors Influencing Pedestrian Walking Speed. Percept. Mot. Ski. 116 (3), 992–1019. doi:10.2466/06.50.PMS.116.3.992-1019
- Franěk, M., Režný, L., Šefara, D., and Cabal, J. (2018). Effect of Traffic Noise and Relaxations Sounds on Pedestrian Walking Speed. Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health 15 (4), 752. doi:10.3390/ijerph15040752
- Fukuda, K. (1994). Analysis of Eyeblink Activity during Discriminative Tasks. Percept. Mot. Ski. 79 (3\_Suppl. l), 1599–1608. doi:10.2466/pms.1994.79.3f.1599
- Gillis, K., and Gatersleben, B. (2015). A Review of Psychological Literature on the Health and Wellbeing Benefits of Biophilic Design. *Buildings* 5 (3), 948–963. doi:10.3390/buildings5030948
- Handy, S. L., Boarnet, M. G., Ewing, R., and Killingsworth, R. E. (2002). How the Built Environment Affects Physical Activity. Am. J. Prev. Med. 23 (2), 64–73. doi:10.1016/s0749-3797(02)00475-0
- Hartig, T., and Staats, H. (2006). The Need for Psychological Restoration as a Determinant of Environmental Preferences. J. Environ. Psychol. 26 (3), 215–226. doi:10.1016/j.jenvp.2006.07.007
- Himebaugh, N. L., Begley, C. G., Bradley, A., and Wilkinson, J. A. (2009). Blinking and Tear Break-Up during Four Visual Tasks. *Optometry Vis. Sci.* 86 (2), E106–E114. doi:10.1097/opx.0b013e318194e962
- Huang, Q., Yang, M., Jane, H.-a., Li, S., and Bauer, N. (2020). Trees, Grass, or Concrete? the Effects of Different Types of Environments on Stress Reduction. *Landsc. Urban Plan.* 193, 103654. doi:10.1016/j.landurbplan.2019.103654
- Jalil, N. A., Yunus, R. M., and Said, N. S. (2012). Environmental Colour Impact upon Human Behaviour: A Review. *Procedia - Soc. Behav. Sci.* 35, 54–62. doi:10. 1016/j.sbspro.2012.02.062
- Kalantari, S., and Shepley, M. (2020). Psychological and Social Impacts of High-Rise Buildings: a Review of the Post-occupancy Evaluation Literature. *Hous. Stud.* 36, 1–30. doi:10.1080/02673037.2020.1752630
- Kaplan, R. (2001). The Nature of the View from Home. *Environ. Behav.* 33 (4), 507–542. doi:10.1177/00139160121973115

- Kaplan, S. (1992). *The Restorative Environment: Nature and Human Experience*. Portland, Oregon: Timber Press.
- Kaya, N. (2004). Relationship between Color and Emotion: a Study of College Students. Coll. student J. 38 (3), 396–405.
- Knöll, M., Neuheuser, K., Cleff, T., and Rudolph-Cleff, A. (2018). A Tool to Predict Perceived Urban Stress in Open Public Spaces. *Environ. Plan. B Urban Anal. City Sci.* 45 (4), 797–813.
- Kondo, M., Fluehr, J., McKeon, T., and Branas, C. (2018). Urban Green Space and its Impact on Human Health. *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health* 15 (3), 445. doi:10.3390/ijerph15030445
- Krassanakis, V., Filippakopoulou, V., and Nakos, B. (2014). Eyemmv Toolbox: an Eye Movement Post-analysis Tool Based on a Two-step Spatial Dispersion Threshold for Fixation Identification. J. Eye Mov. Res. 7 (1), 1. doi:10.16910/jemr.7.1.1
- Kutchma, T. (2014). The Effects of Room Color on Stress Perception: Red versus Green Environments. J. Undergrad. Res. A. T. Minn. State Univ. Mankato 3 (1). Available at: https://cornerstone.lib.mnsu.edu/jur/vol3/iss1/3.
- Ledger, H. (2013). *The Effect Cognitive Load Has on Eye Blinking*. Plymouth, England: University of Plymouth, 19.
- Lee, T.-R., Tang, D.-L., and Tsai, C.-M. (n.d.). *Exploring Color Preference through Eye Tracking*. Jeju, Korea: Congress of the International Colour Association, 4.
- Leon Bluhm, G., Berglind, N., Nordling, E., and Rosenlund, M. (2007). Road Traffic Noise and Hypertension. Occup. Environ. Med. 64 (2), 122–126. doi:10.1136/ oem.2005.025866
- Leveque, L., Ranchet, M., Deniel, J., Bornard, J.-C., and Bellet, T. (2020). Where Do Pedestrians Look when Crossing? A State of the Art of the Eye-Tracking Studies. *IEEE Access* 8, 164833–164843. doi:10.1109/ACCESS. 2020.3021208
- Lin, Y.-H., Tsai, C.-C., Sullivan, W. C., Chang, P.-J., and Chang, C.-Y. (2014). Does Awareness Effect the Restorative Function and Perception of Street Trees? *Front. Psychol.* 5, 906. doi:10.3389/fpsyg.2014.00906
- MacKay, D. G., and Ahmetzanov, M. V. (2005). Emotion, Memory, and Attention in the Taboo Stroop Paradigm. *Psychol. Sci.* 16 (1), 25–32. doi:10.1111/j.0956-7976.2005.00776.x
- Martínez-Soto, J., de la Fuente Suárez, L. A., Gonzáles-Santos, L., and Barrios, F. A. (2019). Observation of Environments with Different Restorative Potential Results in Differences in Eye Patron Movements and Pupillary Size. *IBRO Rep.* 7, 52–58. doi:10.1016/j.ibror.2019.07.1722
- Matthis, J. S., Yates, J. L., and Hayhoe, M. M. (2018). Gaze and the Control of Foot Placement when Walking in Natural Terrain. *Curr. Biol.* 28 (8), 1224–1233. e5. doi:10.1016/j.cub.2018.03.008
- McCullough, M., Xu, H., Michelson, J., Jackoski, M., Pease, W., Cobb, W., et al. (2015). "Myo Arm: Swinging to Explore a Ve," in Proceedings of the ACM SIGGRAPH symposium on applied perception, 107–113.
- Meier, B. P., D'Agostino, P. R., Elliot, A. J., Maier, M. A., and Wilkowski, B. M. (2012). Color in Context: Psychological Context Moderates the Influence of Red on Approach- and Avoidance-Motivated Behavior. *PLOS ONE* 7 (7), e40333. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0040333
- Mentzel, S. V., Schücker, L., Hagemann, N., and Strauss, B. (2019). Perceiving Speed-The Color Can Matter. *Color Res. Appl.* 44 (6), 957–966. doi:10.1002/col. 22429
- Miller, L. C., Shaikh, S. J., Jeong, D. C., Wang, L., Gillig, T. K., Godoy, C. G., et al. (2019). Causal Inference in Generalizable Environments: Systematic Representative Design. *Psychol. Inq.* 30 (4), 173–202. doi:10.1080/1047840x. 2019.1693866
- Münzel, T., Schmidt, F. P., Steven, S., Herzog, J., Daiber, A., and Sørensen, M. (2018). Environmental Noise and the Cardiovascular System. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 71 (6), 688–697. doi:10.1016/j.jacc.2017.12.015
- Nilsson, N. C., Serafin, S., Laursen, M. H., Pedersen, K. S., Sikström, E., and Nordahl, R. (2013a). "Tapping-in-place: Increasing the Naturalness of Immersive Walking-In-Place Locomotion through Novel Gestural Input," in 2013 IEEE symposium on 3d user interfaces (3dui), 31–38. doi:10.1109/3dui. 2013.6550193
- Nilsson, N. C., Serafin, S., and Nordahl, R. (2013b). "The Perceived Naturalness of Virtual Locomotion Methods Devoid of Explicit Leg Movements," in Proceedings of motion on games, 155–164. doi:10.1145/2522628.2522655
- Nilsson, N. C., Serafin, S., and Nordahl, R. (2016). "Walking in Place through Virtual Worlds," in International conference on human-computer interaction, 37–48. doi:10.1007/978-3-319-39516-6\_4

- Orchard, L. N., and Stern, J. A. (1991). Blinks as an Index of Cognitive Activity during Reading. *Integr. Physiological Behav. Sci.* 26 (2), 108–116. doi:10.1007/ bf02691032
- Özgüner, H., and Kendle, A. D. (2006). Public Attitudes towards Naturalistic versus Designed Landscapes in the City of Sheffield (UK). *Landsc. Urban Plan.* 74 (2), 139–157. doi:10.1016/j.landurbplan.2004.10.003
- Pai, Y. S., and Kunze, K. (2017). "Armswing: Using Arm Swings for Accessible and Immersive Navigation in Ar/vr Spaces," in Proceedings of the 16th international conference on mobile and ubiquitous multimedia, 189–198.
- Pedersen, E., and Johansson, M. (2018). Dynamic Pedestrian Lighting: Effects on Walking Speed, Legibility and Environmental Perception. *Light. Res. Technol.* 50 (4), 522–536. doi:10.1177/1477153516684544
- Richardson, D. C., Griffin, N. K., Zaki, L., Stephenson, A., Yan, J., Curry, T., et al. (2020). Engagement in Video and Audio Narratives: Contrasting Self-Report and Physiological Measures. Sci. Rep. 10 (1), 11298–8. doi:10.1038/s41598-020-68253-2
- Rose, D., Cameron, D. J., Lovatt, P. J., Grahn, J. A., and Annett, L. E. (2020). Comparison of Spontaneous Motor Tempo during Finger Tapping, Toe Tapping and Stepping on the Spot in People with and without Parkinson's Disease. J. Mov. Disord. 13 (1), 47–56. doi:10.14802/jmd.19043
- Russell, J. A., Weiss, A., and Mendelsohn, G. A. (1989). Affect Grid: A Single-Item Scale of Pleasure and Arousal. J. Personality Soc. Psychol. 57 (3), 493–502. doi:10.1037/0022-3514.57.3.493
- Savavibool, N., Gatersleben, B., and Moorapun, C. (2018). The Effects of Colour in Work Environment: A Systematic Review. Asian J. Behav. Stud. 3 (13), 149. doi:10.21834/ajbes.v3i13.152
- Schiffman, H. R. (1990). Sensation and Perception: An Integrated Approach. Hoboken, NJ, USA: John Wiley & Sons.
- Trefzger, M., Blascheck, T., Raschke, M., Hausmann, S., and Schlegel, T. (2018). "A
  Visual Comparison of Gaze Behavior from Pedestrians and Cyclists," in ETRA
  '18: Proceedings of the 2018 ACM Symposium on Eye Tracking Research &
  Applications, 5. doi:10.1145/3204493.3214307
- Turano, K. A., Geruschat, D. R., Baker, F. H., Stahl, J. W., and Shapiro, M. D. (2001). Direction of Gaze while Walking a Simple Route: Persons with Normal Vision and Persons with Retinitis Pigmentosa. *Optometry Vis. Sci.* 78 (9), 667–675. doi:10.1097/00006324-200109000-00012
- Ulrich, R. S., Simons, R. F., Losito, B. D., Fiorito, E., Miles, M. A., and Zelson, M. (1991). Stress Recovery during Exposure to Natural and Urban Environments. *J. Environ. Psychol.* 11 (3), 201–230. doi:10.1016/S0272-4944(05)80184-7
- Valtchanov, D., Barton, K. R., and Ellard, C. (2010). Restorative Effects of Virtual Nature Settings. *Cyberpsychology, Behav. Soc. Netw.* 13 (5), 503–512. doi:10. 1089/cyber.2009.0308
- Valtchanov, D., and Ellard, C. G. (2015). Cognitive and Affective Responses to Natural Scenes: Effects of Low Level Visual Properties on Preference, Cognitive Load and Eye-Movements. J. Environ. Psychol. 43, 184–195. doi:10.1016/j. jenvp.2015.07.001
- Van Cauwenberg, J., De Bourdeaudhuij, I., Clarys, P., Nasar, J., Salmon, J., Goubert, L., et al. (2016). Street Characteristics Preferred for Transportation Walking Among Older Adults: a Choice-Based Conjoint Analysis with Manipulated Photographs. *Int. J. Behav. Nutr. Phys. Act.* 13 (1), 6–17. doi:10.1186/s12966-016-0331-8

- van Gent, P., Farah, H., Nes, N., and van Arem, B. (2018). "Heart Rate Analysis for Human Factors: Development and Validation of an Open Source Toolkit for Noisy Naturalistic Heart Rate Data," in Proceedings of the 6th HUMANIST conference, 173–178.
- van Gent, P., Farah, H., van Nes, N., and van Arem, B. (2019). Heartpy: a Novel Heart Rate Algorithm for the Analysis of Noisy Signals. *Transp. Res. Part F Traffic Psychol. Behav.* 66, 368–378. doi:10.1016/j.trf.2019.09.015
- Volkmann, F. C., Riggs, L. A., Ellicott, A. G., and Moore, R. K. (1982). Measurements of Visual Suppression during Opening, Closing and Blinking of the Eyes. Vis. Res. 22 (8), 991–996. doi:10.1016/0042-6989(82)90035-9
- von Stülpnagel, R. (2020). Gaze Behavior during Urban Cycling: Effects of Subjective Risk Perception and Vista Space Properties. Transp. Res. part F traffic Psychol. Behav. 75, 222–238.
- Wang, C.-A., Baird, T., Huang, J., Coutinho, J. D., Brien, D. C., and Munoz, D. P. (2018). Arousal Effects on Pupil Size, Heart Rate, and Skin Conductance in an Emotional Face Task. *Front. Neurol.* 9, 01029. doi:10.3389/fneur.2018. 01029
- Ward Thompson, C., Roe, J., Aspinall, P., Mitchell, R., Clow, A., and Miller, D. (2012). More Green Space Is Linked to Less Stress in Deprived Communities: Evidence from Salivary Cortisol Patterns. *Landsc. Urban Plan.* 105 (3), 221–229. doi:10.1016/j.landurbplan.2011.12.015
- White, E. V., and Gatersleben, B. (2011). Greenery on Residential Buildings: Does it Affect Preferences and Perceptions of Beauty? J. Environ. Psychol. 31 (1), 89–98. doi:10.1016/j.jenvp.2010.11.002
- Wilkie, S., and Stavridou, A. (2013). Influence of Environmental Preference and Environment Type Congruence on Judgments of Restoration Potential. Urban For. Urban Green. 12 (2), 163–170. doi:10.1016/j.ufug.2013.01.004
- Wilson, P. T., Kalescky, W., MacLaughlin, A., and Williams, B. (2013). "Vr Locomotion: Walking> Walking in Place> Arm Swinging," in Proceedings of the 15th ACM SIGGRAPH conference on virtual-reality continuum and its applications in industry-volume 1, 243–249.

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Batistatou, Vandeville and Delevoye-Turrell. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



# Embodied Virtual Patients as a Simulation-Based Framework for Training Clinician-Patient Communication Skills: An Overview of Their Use in Psychiatric and Geriatric Care

Laurence Chaby <sup>1,2</sup>\*, Amine Benamara<sup>3</sup>, Maribel Pino<sup>4,5</sup>, Elise Prigent<sup>3</sup>, Brian Ravenet<sup>3</sup>, Jean-Claude Martin<sup>3</sup>, Hélène Vanderstichel<sup>6</sup>, Raquel Becerril-Ortega<sup>6</sup>, Anne-Sophie Rigaud<sup>4,5</sup> and Mohamed Chetouani<sup>2</sup>

### OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Ali Oker, Université de Reims Champagne-Ardenne, France

#### Reviewed by:

Mariano Alcañiz, Universitat Politècnica de València, Spain Jordi Vallverdu, Universitat Autònoma de Barcelona, Spain

> \*Correspondence: Laurence Chaby laurence.chaby@u-paris.fr

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Virtual Reality and Human Behaviour, a section of the journal Frontiers in Virtual Reality

> Received: 01 December 2021 Accepted: 25 May 2022 Published: 29 June 2022

#### Citation:

Chaby L, Benamara A, Pino M, Prigent E, Ravenet B, Martin J-C, Vanderstichel H, Becerril-Ortega R, Rigaud A-S and Chetouani M (2022) Embodied Virtual Patients as a Simulation-Based Framework for Training Clinician-Patient Communication Skills: An Overview of Their Use in Psychiatric and Geriatric Care. Front. Virtual Real. 3:827312. doi: 10.3389/frvir.2022.827312 <sup>1</sup>Université Paris Cité, UFR de Psychologie, Boulogne-Billancourt, France, <sup>2</sup>Sorbonne Université, CNRS, Institut des Systèmes Intelligents et de Robotique, ISIR, Paris, France, <sup>3</sup>Université Paris-Saclay, CNRS, Laboratoire interdisciplinaire des sciences du numérique, Orsay, France, <sup>4</sup>Université Paris Cité, Maladie d'Alzheimer, Paris, France, <sup>5</sup>Service gériatrie 1&2, Centre Mémoire de Ressources et Recherches IIe de France-Broca, AP-HP, Hôpital Broca, Paris, France, <sup>6</sup>Univ. Lille, ULR 4354 - CIREL - Centre Interuniversitaire de Recherche en Éducation de Lille, France

Clinician-patient communication is essential to successful care and treatment. However, health training programs do not provide sufficient clinical exposure to practice communication skills that are pivotal when interacting with patients exhibiting mental health or age-related disorders. Recently, virtual reality has been used to develop simulation and training tools, in particular through embodied virtual patients (VP) offering the opportunity to engage in face-toface human-like interactions. In this article, we overview recent developments in the literature on the use of VP-simulation tools for training communicative skills in psychiatry and geriatrics, fields in which patients have challenging social communication difficulties. We begin by highlighting the importance of verbal and non-verbal communication, arguing that clinical interactions are an interpersonal process where the patient's and the clinician's behavior mutually shape each other and are central to the therapeutic alliance. We also highlight the different simulation tools available to train healthcare professionals to interact with patients. Then, after clarifying what communication with a VP is about, we propose an overview of the most significant VP applications to highlight: 1) in what context and for what purpose VP simulation tools are used in psychiatry (e.g. depression, suicide risk, PTSD) and geriatrics (e.g., care needs, dementia), 2) how VP are conceptualized, 3) how trainee behaviors are assessed. We complete this overview with the presentation of VirtuAlz, our tool designed to train health care professionals in the social skills required to interact with patients with dementia. Finally, we propose recommendations, best practices and uses for the design, conduct and evaluation of VP training sessions.

Keywords: virtual and e-learning, virtual patient, geriatrics and gerontology, psychiatry, clinician-patient communication/relationship, non-verbal communication (NVC), embodied conversational agent (ECA), human-agent interaction (HAI)

# INTRODUCTION

"Medicine is an art whose magic and creative ability have long been recognized as residing in the interpersonal aspects of patientphysician relationship" (Hall et al., 1981). Creating and maintaining an effective and trustworthy clinician-patient relationship is fundamental for providing high-quality care (Ha and Longnecker, 2010). More specifically, the professional practice of health providers includes important verbal and nonverbal communication skills, especially during face-to-face interaction in order to promote therapeutic alliance (Zolnierek and DiMatteo, 2009) and patient's satisfaction (Brown et al., 1999). Communication skills refer to the ability to convey information to another person effectively (Beaulieu et al., 2011). Thus, they refer not only to what is said but how it is said through non-verbal behavior, including tone of voice (prosody), active listening, empathy, gestures, body language, and facial expressions used when interacting with another person. Training in communication techniques for health professionals has become a major issue in health education. However, health training programs do not provide sufficient clinical exposure and supervision to acquire these essential skills (Brown et al., 1999). Recently, virtual reality (VR) has been used to develop simulation and training tools (Pottle, 2019), notably through embodied virtual agents (Lee et al., 2020), in order to respect the fundamental ethical principle of "never the first time on a patient" (Granry and Moll, 2012).

# Clinician-Patient Communication: Why and How?

Interactions between a clinician and a patient can vary greatly depending on the clinical context (anesthesia, surgery, nursing, neurology or psychiatry), age (pediatrics, geriatrics) or state of the patient (comprehension capacity, cognitive or psychological profile). In any clinical context, successful interactions are generally associated with better adherence to care or treatment (Catty, 2004), medical outcome (Ruberton et al., 2016), enhanced mutual trust (Khullar, 2019) and patient satisfaction (Williams et al., 1998). Conversely, poorer or negative interactions can lead to medical non-adherence (Piette et al., 2005), patient distrust (Hawley, 2015) or clinician burnout (Chang et al., 2018). Successful interactions are driven by verbal and non-verbal communication. Verbal communication serves to evoke a reality and includes the content of what is said (intonation, choice of words) or even active listening (Kee et al., 2018). whether Non-verbal communication, intentional or unintentional, enables information to be shared without using speech, and includes social signals such as facial expressions, eye contact, head movements, posture, touch, interpersonal distance or tone of voice (for a review see Hall et al., 2019). While verbal communication is undoubtedly important during medical consultations and care (Conigliaro, 2007), non-verbal communication also plays a crucial role as it can reinforce or contradict verbal communication and thereby be instrumental to patient satisfaction or treatment outcome (Ambady et al., 2002; Lorié et al., 2017).

Clinicians should be concerned about their own non-verbal behavior as it influences the success of the consultation (Strasser et al., 2005; Roter et al., 2006). Specifically, maintaining eye contact, smiling, maintaining an adequate distance or direct body orientation with legs and arms uncrossed, and arm symmetry is generally associated with greater patient satisfaction (Beck et al., 2002). In addition, communicating positive messages and signs of empathy to patients can lead to better therapy outcomes, even in patients with serious illnesses (Hojat et al., 2011; Howick et al., 2018). Such elements may also lead the patient to judge the clinician as being warm and competent (Howe et al., 2019). Clinicians should also be skilled at identifying patients' non-verbal behaviors, typically for diagnostic purposes, such as using facial or vocal cues to assess patient pain (Ruben et al., 2018) or mood changes in severe depression (Ellgring and Scherer, 1996; Douglas and Porter, 2010).

In the psychiatric or geriatric field, clinicians are expected to interpret specific non-verbal cues associated with patients' psychological and behavioral symptoms, including signs such as emotional blunting, anxiety, apathy or aggression (Lehman et al., 2004; Templier et al., 2015). These behavioral symptoms are known to be difficult for clinicians to address and may even lead them to experience stress and burnout (O'Connor et al., 2018; Isik et al., 2019).

The dynamic non-verbal interaction between clinician and patient, which refers to the way in which the behavior of each interlocutor shapes and influences that of the other, is a crucial element in clinical practice (for a review, see Henry et al., 2012). Most research on non-verbal behavior in clinician-patient communication has been observational, focusing on examining associations with the collaborative relationship between clinician and patient (i.e., the therapeutic alliance) or with treatment outcomes. For instance, during a routine consultation, Lavelle et al. (2015) reported that when the patient displays pro-social behaviors that initiate or maintain interaction (i.e., direct gaze, smiling, nodding, using hand gestures), this in turn leads the clinician to display similar pro-social behavior and results in a better therapeutic relationship. Other studies that analyzed the vocal behavior of clinician-patient dyads from audio recordings have shown that synchronization between clinician and patient in prosody (Imel et al., 2014) or silence (Tomicic et al., 2017) plays a key role in clinical interaction and is associated with a better therapeutic alliance. This behavioral synchrony has also been evidenced with physiological measures, such as levels of electrodermal activity (Marci et al., 2007; Bar-Kalifa et al., 2019) or heart rate (Kodama et al., 2018), suggesting that in clinician-patient dyads, both partners tend to experience concomitant emotional activation. Interestingly, other methods have focused on assessing the relationship between clinicians and patients through automated objective videotape analysis algorithms. Ramseyer and Tschacher (2011, 2014), for instance, reported that in face-to-face psychotherapy, greater coordination of the patient's and clinician's body and head movements is associated with more positive therapeutic relationships and greater patient self-efficacy. Hence, the objective characterization of the dynamics of the clinician's



and patient's movements provides a quantification of the nonverbal synchrony (see Delaherche et al., 2012). More recently, a two-person brain imaging interactive study (fMRI hyperscanning) has identified a potential brain-behavioral mechanism supporting the clinician-patient relationship. It showed that the mirroring of facial expression and brain-tobrain concordance in the temporo-parietal junction (TPJ) was significantly associated with patient analgesia and therapeutic alliance (Ellingsen et al., 2020).

Effective communication skills are an essential component of successful interactions between clinicians and patients. However, patients may exhibit inappropriate behaviors such as aggression, isolating themselves or refusing to respond to those who try to communicate with them, or refusing to take medication or follow treatments. It therefore appears crucial to train clinicians on how to communicate with patients from a person-centered care perspective (Del Piccolo and Goss, 2012), which means respecting and responding to the needs and values of each patient (Lewin et al., 2001; Hardman and Howick, 2019). Yet, this raises the question of whether non-verbal communication skills can be taught. In fact, it is not so much about developing specific non-verbal communication skills but more about using non-verbal communication to develop engagement, reciprocity, and synchronization in order to create a genuine therapeutic alliance that bonds the clinician and the patient (Shattell et al., 2007; McGilton et al., 2009). In any case, training and evaluating non-verbal communication and their links with clinical outcomes is challenging, often intrusive (e.g., real-time observation) or can require extensive resources (e.g., interactions involving actors representing standardized patients; Henry et al. (2012).

# Medical Simulation in Healthcare Education

Medical simulation, which is increasingly being promoted by health authorities in many countries (Forbes and Kennedy, 2009; Granry and Moll, 2012; Alinier and Platt, 2014), refers to the use of standardized devices or virtual reality tools to emulate a clinical context to teach or train a health professional in clinical, therapeutic or diagnostic procedures (Ker and Bradley, 2010). The purpose of medical simulation is to reproduce real world clinical scenarios in a standardized, safe and reproducible context, which facilitates the immersion of trainees during their initial or continuing education (Gaba, 2004). While medical simulation cannot substitute for clinical experience, it offers the opportunity to receive feedback and gain confidence without going through the real clinical event or remaining 'far away from the patient' the first few times of practice (Okuda et al., 2009; Wolf et al., 2011).

In the field of healthcare, a variety of simulation techniques (see Figure 1) are thus suitable for both novice or expert trainees for psychomotor, cognitive, affective or communicative learning tasks (Munshi et al., 2015). 'Procedural simulation' conducted using realistic part- or whole-body manikins is the most traditional (Lapkin et al., 2010) and is mostly used to facilitate the learning of psychomotor skills such as surgery gestures or nursing care (see Rivière et al., 2018). 'Standardized simulation' is structured in the form of role-play with well-trained actors to simulate clinical scenarios or to portray a patient with a specific health concern (i.e., human standardized patient) providing indepth experience of clinical reasoning, decision-making or communication techniques in various situations, including crisis intervention (Brender et al., 2005; Keltner et al., 2011). However, the use of standardised simulation is limited due to the high costs of recruiting and training patient actors, especially when actors need to play an adolescent, an elderly person or a person with mental health issues (Keiser and Turkelson, 2017). In addition, this type of simulation can also lead users to feel uncomfortable or apprehensive about acting in front of their peers (Albright et al., 2016). Finally, 'virtual reality' (VR), which has developed extensively over the last 2 decades in the field of healthcare, refers to a computer-screen-based simulation that offers a multisensory and immersive interactive experience in a safe environment (Mantovani et al., 2003; Rizzo et al., 2017; Riva and Serino, 2020). These techniques can be used to implement

applications such as 'serious games' in which the trainee is confronted with virtual situations drawn from real-life events, allowing them to develop clinical reflexes (e.g., from the discovery of patient files to the administration of medication) (Wang et al., 2016) and that can incorporate the notion of feedback or scoring (Stuckless et al., 2014). Such tools may take the form of virtual world platforms such as Second Life<sup>®</sup> (see Irwin and Coutts, 2015) or The Sims<sup>TM</sup> (Arts, 2009), and allow for the creation of virtual hospital units (Aebersold et al., 2012) and interactions with virtual patients. Virtual simulation can also be implemented in the form of conversational agents such as 'chatbots' that can interact with users by simulating a human conversation through text or voice via smartphones or computers, and are able to interpret the user's responses. Chatbots have shown their potential to promote clinician-patient communication (Friedman et al., 1977; Madhu et al., 2017; Jagtap et al., 2021).

A more recent breakthrough in the field of healthcare is the use of Embodied Conversational Agents or ECAs. One approach, especially in the field of mental health (see Provoost et al., 2017) has been to use ECAs for diagnostic or remediation purposes, either as partners of social interaction (Georgescu et al., 2014; Tanaka et al., 2017b; Grossard et al., 2020), virtual coaches motivating the user (Torres et al., 2018; Ali et al., 2021), or even for virtual clinical interviews with real patients suffering from depression, post-traumatic stress disorder or dementia (Stratou et al., 2015; Philip et al., 2017; Mirheidari et al., 2019). In addition, ECAs have also come to be used as 'virtual patients' (VPs), i.e., representing a patient alone or in a virtual environment and offering the trainee (clinician or student) the possibility to engage in a human-like face-to-face interaction (see Combs and Combs, 2019). As such, medical educational strategies are increasingly shifting toward the use of VP simulations, as they are more scalable and reproducible, being available at all times and places, while providing learning outcomes comparable to standardized clinical learning environments (Consorti et al., 2012; Quail et al., 2016), including improved skills when interacting with real patients (Cook and Triola, 2009). It has also been shown that people show empathetic responses (Deladisma et al., 2007) and tend to show more willingness to disclose information when interacting with virtual compared to real humans, possibly because of this "soothing" effect since "after all, it is just a computer" (Lucas et al., 2014).

## Aim of the Overview

The benefit of VPs for the training of so-called soft or nontechnical skills, including communication or decision-making, has been surveyed elsewhere. One of the first reviews to show a benefit of VPs was on clinical reasoning rather than on communication itself (Cook et al., 2010). Another systematic review, that did not cover communication skills, reported that simulation using VPs can enhance clinician empathy among healthcare students (Bearman et al., 2015). An integrative review in the field of nursing demonstrated the value of VPs for developing decision-making, communication, or teamwork skills (Peddle et al., 2016). More recently, a systematic review in the context of pharmacist-patient interactions also showed the benefit of VPs in developing communication or counseling skills (Richardson et al., 2020). In addition, Lee et al. (2020) conducted a systematic review focusing on the design and evaluation characteristics allowing for effective medical communication skills education based on VP simulation. None of these reviews, however, covered studies on training communicative skills with embodied VPs displaying psychiatric or geriatric disorders.

It should be pointed out, however, that communicating with patients with psychiatric disorders (e.g., depression, schizophrenia, personality disorders) or age-related and degenerative disorders (e.g., dementia) is considered as very challenging because of the behavioral, thinking or language disturbances that occur with the illness (Hartley et al., 2020). However, this dimension is not sufficiently taken into account in the training of clinicians, in particular non-verbal communication to which these patients are very sensitive, thanks to their partially preserved capacity to integrate multimodal social signals (Maurage and Campanella, 2013; Giannitelli et al., 2015; Templier et al., 2015; Xavier et al., 2015).

The aim of the present article is to highlight the relevance of technology-assisted education through VPs, in addressing the specific challenges facing the training of clinician-patient communication in psychiatric and geriatric care education. We start by explaining what communicating with a VP is about, and by describing their role in training communication skills in psychiatry and geriatrics by presenting important studies in this field (see Table 1). Our intention is to provide a roadmap for those interested in learning more about the use of VP as a simulation framework for training clinician-patient skills, strengths communication including their and weaknesses, in psychiatric and geriatric care education. To that purpose, the overview is driven by highlighting several key features of VP simulation tools (see Figure 2) related to the VP itself (e.g., predominant competencies, underlying simulation model, tool evaluation) and the user (e.g., target competencies, underlying clinical situation, user evaluation).

# ROLE AND INTEREST OF EMBODIED VIRTUAL PATIENTS IN HEALTHCARE Communication With an Embodied Virtual Patient: What Is This About?

Virtual Reality-based technologies are increasingly used in the field of healthcare and scientific research for simulating cognitive and socio-emotional skills (Riva and Serino, 2020) or studying human social interaction (Pan and Hamilton, 2018). Thus, it is now possible to interact and communicate with a virtual partner, such as embodied conversational agents (ECA) (Cassell et al., 2000; Loveys et al., 2020; Pavic et al., 2020), and thanks to the ability of ECAs to simulate and mimic human behavior, users tend to interact with them as with a real person (Gratch et al., 2013) and to assign them mental states (Callejas et al., 2014). In the context of healthcare simulation training, embodied VPs are typically computer-based programs using ECAs and simulating real patients and emulating a clinical encounter (see Cook and

Table 1 | Overview of annotated attributes in our selected list of articles presented on Section 2. The annotation procedure captures the user and the VP characteristics in simulation tools for clinician-patient communication in the field of psychiatry and geriatrics.

Article		User									Virtual Patient										
	Predominant Competency			Underlying Situation			User Evaluation				Predominant Competency			Underlying Simulation Model			Tool Evaluation			'n	Patient Type
	<b>Communication Skills</b>	Empathy	Teamwork	Clinical Encounter	Conversation	Questionnaires	Videos Annotation	Speech Annotation	Automatic Behavior Analysis	Debriefing/Feedback	Verbal Behaviors	Non-verbal Behaviors	Monitoring User Behaviors	Text-Based Interface	Fully Autonomous	Wizard-Of-Oz	Acceptability	Usability/Credibility	Training Effectiveness	Feeling of Presence	Pathology
Carpenter et al. (2012)	•	0	0	•	0	0	0	0	0	0	•	0	0	٠	•	0	0	0	0	0	Depressive child
O'Brien et al. (2019)	•	٠	0	0	•	٠	0	0	0	0	•	0	0	•	٠	0	•	•	•	0	Young adult with suicidal though
Shah et al. (2012)	•	•	0	•	0	٠	0	0	0	0	•	0	0	•	0	0	0	0	•	0	Major depression
Cordar et al. (2014)	•	٠	0	•	0	٠	0	0	0	0	•	0	0	•	0	0	0	0	•	0	Major depression
Parsons et al. (2008)	•	0	0	•	0	0	0	0	0	0	•	0	0	0	•	0	0	•	•	0	PTSD
Kenny et al. (2009a); Kenny et al. (2009b)	•	0	0	•	0	0	O	0	0	0	•	0	0	0	•	0	0	•	•	0	PTSD
Pantziaras et al. (2014); Pantziaras et al. (2015)	•	O	0	•	•	•	0	O	0	•	0	•	O	•	•	0	0	•	•	0	PTSD refugee
Dupuy et al. (2020)	٠	٠	0	•	0	٠	٠	٠	٠	•	0	•	•	0	•	0	0	٠	0	0	Depressive symptoms
Ochs et al. (2017, 2019)	٠	٠	0	0	•	٠	٠	0	٠	0	•	•	•	0	O	O	0	٠	0	٠	Patient receiving bad news
O'Rourke et al. (2020)	•	0	0	0	•	•	٠	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	٠	0	٠	0	0	Patient receiving bad news
Orton et al. (2008)	Ð	0	O	•	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	•	•	0	0	•	•	0	Elderly with care needs; Demen
Liaw et al. (2019)	•	0	٠	•	0	•	0	0	0	0	•	•	0	0	0	0	0	•	•	•	Elderly with care needs
Robinson et al. (2020)	•	0	0	0	•	•	•	0	0	0	0	0	0	•	0	•	0	0	0	0	Dementia
Szilas et al. (2019)	•	0	0	0	•	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	O	•	0	0	0	0	0	Alzheimer Disease

●: Yes; ○: No; ①: In-between.

91

Triola, 2009; Su and Chang, 2021). The challenge is then to provide enough realism and reliability to make the learner's experience sufficiently relevant and useful (see Talbot and Rizzo, 2019). One approach is to offer case-based training whereby the interaction with the VP unfolds as a function of the trainee's responses (see Staccini and Fournier, 2019; Staccini, 2021). VPs can be fully autonomous and engage in brief interactions with the user, under no human control, or can be controlled by a human operator, through a Wizard-of-Oz (WoZ) procedure, which controls the verbal or non-verbal responses of the virtual patient during the interaction (Fraser and Gilbert, 1991; Riek, 2012). Whether automated or human-controlled, computer systems are generally equipped to record the user's non-verbal behaviors (e.g., voice, gestures, body movements, gaze, or facial expressions) and use them to modulate the evolution of the interaction, giving a high degree of realism and social presence (Fox et al., 2015). In the context of communication training, the overall value of using VPs in the field of healthcare is that they offer the opportunity to practice communicating with patients in a stress-free context (Elzubeir et al., 2010) where mistakes or bad decisions are inconsequential (e.g., breaking bad news, Carrard et al., 2020). This type of virtual environment also gives the trainee the opportunity of selfobservation, allowing for the identification of the most effective communication practices and thereby increasing selfconfidence (Baumann-Birkbeck et al., 2017). Such a tool may finally be supplemented by an evaluation or coding of the trainee's verbal or non-verbal behaviors, via external judges or by computer-based automatic analyses.

# VP-Simulation for Clinician-Patient Communication in Psychiatry

Psychiatry is a medical specialty that focuses on the diagnosis, treatment, and prevention of mental, emotional, and behavioral disorders. In recent years, the prevalence of disorders such as anxiety, depression, and stress has increased significantly (see Steel et al., 2014), and was magnified further during the COVID-19 crisis (Castelli et al., 2020; Salari et al., 2020). Other chronic and severe mental disorders, such as schizophrenia, involve social communication difficulties (Burns, 2006) that can be difficult for the clinician to address (McCabe et al., 2013). These difficulties, associated with the stigmatization of patients (Hinshaw and Stier, 2008), as well as stress, burnout, or job dissatisfaction of mental health professionals (Rössler, 2012), has motivated paradigm shifts in medical communication and education approaches. It has been shown, for instance, that ineffective psychiatrist-patient communication is associated with poorer patient outcomes and experiences (Schneider et al., 2004). However, although there are several guides on how to communicate with psychiatric patients (Priebe et al., 2011), studies of non-verbal behaviors in psychiatry are limited (Cruz et al., 2011) and efforts have to be made to improve clinician-patient communication in this field. In this context, training practices based on clinical simulation, including VP-simulation, have the potential to provide health care professionals with safe and controlled tools that can help them develop the necessary skills to care for or communicate with

patients experiencing mental disorders (McNaughton et al., 2008; Piot et al., 2020).

One area where VP simulation has proven successful is in training clinicians to interact with people suffering from severe depression or at risk for suicide, as they allow for repetition in practice with challenging scenarios that clinicians may face. One of the first use cases of VPs in the field of psychiatry was designed as a web-based platform to train clinicians to assess suicide risk in vouth (Carpenter et al., 2012). The Suicidal Avatars for Mental Health Training (SAMHT) platform allows the user to face a VP who can move, speak and is embodied as a child suffering from depressive symptoms. The user converses with the VP by selecting questions related to suicide risk from a predetermined text-based list, which are repeated by a synthesized voice (as if the user was asking the question) and allows the VP to respond through an intelligent decision tree. One of the major limitations of this study, which appears to be a proof of concept, is that it did not consider the educational value of the tool nor the trainees' behaviors. More recently, another work (O'Brien et al., 2019) tested the acceptability and benefit of VP simulation, using The PeopleSim<sup>®</sup> technology, to train mental health practitioners to interact effectively with individuals at risk for suicide. The VP embodies a fictive 20-year-old female patient who states that she has thought about committing suicide. In the scenario, the patient comes to the clinic to be evaluated on her ability to return to work. The trainee's goal is to encourage the patient to share details of her thoughts to assess the immediate risk of suicide, while empathizing with the patient's thoughts. The proposed simulation consists of a unidirectional interaction with the VP-via a text-based interface incorporating pre-recorded videos of the patient-where the trainee can select from a list the question to ask the patient who can answer via a chat window. Based on their choices, an on-screen virtual instructor also provides text-based advice or feedback to help trainees improve their skills. After the conversation, the 20 participants who took part in this pilot study found the training experience to be satisfactory (feasibility and acceptability), especially in terms of training communication skills. Finally, the trainees' knowledge (assessed using pre-post training questionnaires) showed a significant improvement. A limitation of this work is that with the pre-recorded videos of the VP, the interaction lacks naturalness, and the verbal and non-verbal behavior of the trainee is not taken into account.

Using The Sims video game, other studies have focused on the use of VPs to enhance the empathy and interpersonal communication skills of medical students during interactions with a 21-year-old virtual patient (Ms. Cynthia Young) suffering from major depressive episodes (Shah et al., 2012; Cordar et al., 2014). The interaction between the trainee and the VP was bidirectional (i.e., each can ask the other participant questions according to a predefined script) and relied on a text-based interface incorporating images of the patient (Shah et al., 2012) or 90-s cutscenes depicting short moments in the VP's life to provide a backstory (Cordar et al., 2014). These studies focused mainly on the evaluation of the educational tool by the students via questionnaires. Trainees expressed overall satisfaction of the interaction with the VP, found the tool easy



to use, and considered that it could represent a good educational tool. The empathy of 35 trainees was evaluated (Cordar et al., 2014) from text-based transcripts only (with or without VP backstory) and users' verbal or non-verbal behaviors were not considered. Results suggested that VPs with a backstory, showing how the patient may be affected by their illness, are an effective training tool for interpersonal communication skills, such as empathy. A limitation of these studies is that, in the limited environment of 3D virtual world games, VPs are not able to converse in a realistic manner, nor respond to dialogues with human-like non-verbal behaviors or emotions.

A further area where VP simulation has proven effective is in training to interact with people with post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD). PTSD is a psychiatric disorder related to trauma caused by exposure to a traumatic or stressful event (e.g., war, natural disasters, terrorist attacks, assaults) usually resulting in persistent feelings of anxiety and psychological distress, and potentially leading to altered social-emotional behaviors or depression (Zoellner et al., 2014). Several studies in this area (e.g., Parsons et al., 2008; Kenny et al., 2009a,b) have focused on improving the interviewing or communication skills of mental health students by having them interacting with a VP embodied in Justina<sup>1</sup>, a female adolescent suffering from PTSD following an assault. Interactions were designed as a 15-min clinical interview in which 15 novices in mental health (Parsons et al., 2008; Kenny et al., 2009a) or 15 novice and nine expert mental health clinicians (Kenny et al., 2009b) were asked to assess a patient's initial diagnosis of PTSD. The VP, displayed on a computer screen, spoke in natural language with the user.

Another application of VPs concerns the training of health care professionals in the field of transcultural psychiatry and refers to clinicians' interactions with patients from diverse ethnic backgrounds. Pantziaras et al. (2014, 2015) developed a VP system called Refugee Trauma Simulation (RT-SIM) portraying a refugee (Mrs K) exhibiting severe symptoms of PTSD. The interaction, based on a predetermined question-answer scenario, was designed as a virtual psychiatric interview (up to 45 min) requiring 32 residents in psychiatry to provide a differential diagnosis and treatment program of a refugee with PTSD. The VP tool aimed at providing knowledge and training on identifying PTSD symptoms, clinical management, and communication skills. The VP displayed on a computer screen was depicted using pre-recorded video clips and used prerecorded sentences that were played according to the

Interestingly, the user's speech was recorded and transcribed in real-time so that it could be interpreted by a statistical question-answer system (i.e., based on a real clinical corpus) to generate the VP's verbal behavior. The transcription of the whole dialogue session was also recorded and annotated in terms of whether clinicians asked the appropriate questions needed to determine whether the patient reported symptoms that met the criteria for PTSD. Overall, results of these studies (see also Rizzo and Shilling, 2017) showed a good evaluation of the credibility of the tool by users, despite encountering some problems with voice recognition. In addition, novices asked the VP more questions about general matters whereas experts were better able to ask the specific questions needed to make a differential diagnosis. While this approach is promising, it focused on natural language, and the fact that non-verbal behaviors such as users' facial expressions were recorded but not yet exploited in the study somewhat limits its impact.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=jy1NKDz47aQ&t=14.

questions chosen by trainees on a list. An interesting element of this tool was the inclusion of an automated feedback module covering the VP's perspective on the consultation, the clinical aspects of PTSD diagnosis/management, and the trainee's communication skills. This feedback was given in the form of a video presentation of the virtual patient (VP) speaking directly to the trainee (e.g., perceived level of empathy, relevance of questions asked to the problems encountered). Assessments included both tool evaluation (credibility, usability, and effectiveness) by the trainees and trainee evaluation (selfreport of emotional reactions, questionnaire-based assessment of PTSD knowledge acquisition, and assessment of communication skills). Overall, the results showed that the tool was positively evaluated by the trainees in terms of ease of use and effectiveness. In addition, the training session had a significant impact on the improvement of knowledge (pre- and post-interaction). Of note, the follow-up evaluation, several weeks after the interaction, showed that the knowledge gain decreased over time, suggesting that a single training session with the VP does not seem to be sufficient to ensure long-term learning. A limitation of the study is that the article did not provide any details about how communication skills were automatically analyzed by the system and evaluated.

More recently, a study focused on improving the empathic communication skills of medical students during realistic psychiatric interviews with a middle-aged VP with affective disorders (Dupuy et al., 2020). Interestingly, the simulation was not exclusively text-based or speech-based as in previous studies, but also addressed the VP's non-verbal behavior as well as the trainees' non-verbal and empathic behavior. The interaction, based on a predetermined question-answer scenario, was designed as a 35-min psychiatric interview requiring 35 students (medical, psychiatric) to conduct interviews with a middle-aged VP with major depressive extract disorder and to semiology (i.e., clinical manifestations). The VP was displayed on a large humansized screen and could interact with the user in natural language, allowing the user's speech to be interpreted via a speech recognition system. The strength of this study is that it emphasized not only the non-verbal behaviors of the VP (prosody, gestures, movements) but also those of the trainees (recording of facial expressions, with manual annotation of the videos and automatic analysis by an emotion recognition software). The tool was positively evaluated, in terms of usefulness, realism and credibility, during a debriefing (i.e., semi-structured interview) with the trainees. The results also suggest that the trainees maintained a neutral face during the interview, a finding interpreted by the authors as a form of empathy and the ability to maintain a certain emotional distance. Overall, this work highlights the added value of automatic facial expression recognition in psychiatry training.

A last interesting proposal consists in training health professionals to break bad news to patients, which requires fine skills in psychology, non-verbal behaviors, and empathy. Although this work is not strictly in the field of psychiatry, it seemed relevant to all those who wish to learn more about the use of VPs for training clinician-patient communication skills, as breaking bad news is a frequent and challenging task for clinicians in most clinical specialties (Fallowfield and Jenkins, 2004). In psychiatry, this may include conversations about the irreversible cognitive impairment of schizophrenia in a young adult (Cleary et al., 2009), in geriatrics, conversations about death issues (Lenherr et al., 2012). Hence, breaking bad news with empathy and being involved in the struggle that follows can make a significant difference. In one work (Ochs et al., 2017, 2019), the scenario required the physician to explain to a patient that a complication had occurred during her operation, requiring a second operation in a day. The stated objective was to train the physician to verify that their verbal and non-verbal communication had the right impact on the patient. The 22 participants in this study (7 expert physicians, 12 naive students) interacted in natural language with the VP that communicated through verbal (e.g., questions) and non-verbal (e.g., nods, smiles) behaviors depending on the trainee's behaviors. To overcome the limitations of voice-based tools controlled via speech-to-text modules only (e.g., misunderstandings, frustration due to transcription errors), the authors preferred a Wizard-of-Oz (WoZ) procedure, where a human operator observes the user and updates the VP response accordingly. The strength of this study is that it displayed the VP in different formats, including a computer screen and two previously unexplored immersive virtual reality systems: a Head-Mounted Display (HMD) and a 3D immersive room with wall projection (CAVE). The objective was to analyze the effect of the immersion format on the users' feeling of presence. The results of the study showed that the CAVE seems to improve the trainee's experience (feeling of presence, perception of the virtual patient) and the credibility of the tool compared to the HMD and the computer screen. The results also showed that the immersive room (CAVE) is particularly suitable for physicians (i.e., more engagement) compared to naive participants, suggesting the potential effect of the "familiar" context on the interactive experience. Finally, although this approach is promising, especially via the fully immersive approach, the fact that the non-verbal behaviors (gestures, movement, facial expressions) of the users were recorded via sensors (i.e., Kinect) but not yet exploited limits its potential somewhat. In another recent study on the same topic (O'Rourke et al., 2020), 60 medical students were asked to deliver bad news to the spouse of a patient experiencing a medical error. The interest of this study was to compare the interaction in terms of communication skills with an embodied VP or a standardized patient (SP) played by a paid actor. The VP, displayed on a large human-sized screen and controlled by a human operator in a WoZ-like procedure, communicated through verbal and non-verbal behavior (head movements, facial expressions, and gestures). The tool, which was rated by users in terms of credibility, was found to be less authentic with the VP compared to the SP. The novelty of this study was to assess communication performance (e.g., "Used appropriate eye contact") as well as trainees' pre-post interaction experience on an emotional level through subjective questionnaires and salivary cortisol concentration. Interestingly, the results of this study suggest that trainees' task performance and emotional reactions do not differ whether they interact with a SP or a VP.

# VP-Simulation for Clinician-Patient Communication in Geriatrics

Geriatrics is a medical specialty devoted to the health of elderly people by preventing and treating diseases and disabilities in the elderly. The population over the age of 65 is gradually increasing and, due to the general decline in their physical or cognitive health (Gill et al., 1996), has substantial needs in terms of health care (Hashimoto and Tabata, 2010). Elderly patients often present with complex pathologies that require extensive explanation by clinicians (see Ambady et al., 2002). In addition, they tend to be relatively passive in their interactions, probably for generational reasons or for apprehension of being perceived as disrespectful (Gorawara-Bhat et al., 2007). Furthermore, as the population ages, an increasing number of people are at risk of developing Alzheimer's disease or related dementia (Baumgart et al., 2015). Alzheimer's disease is characterized by a progressive decline in cognitive resources (e.g., memory, language, judgement, attention, etc.) and is associated with behavioral disorders (e.g., aggression, agitation, withdrawal or resistance to care) leading to interpersonal problems and contributing to the patient's loss of autonomy (Orange, 2001; Chaby and Narme, 2009). This leads to difficulties for the patient in expressing their needs or feelings, even though they may rely on non-verbal cues (prosody, facial expressions, gestures, etc.) over time (Alsawy et al., 2020), which implies several challenges for the clinician to communicate with them adequately (van Manen et al., 2020).

In geriatric practice, although the impact of clinicians' nonverbal behaviors on elderly patient outcomes is important as well (Ishikawa et al., 2006), methods to study clinicians' non-verbal behaviors are limited (Collins et al., 2011). A few studies have attempted to use behavioral methods through observation of video recordings to code the non-verbal Dimension in physician-Elderly Patient transactions (NDEPT), including the analysis of the physician's body language during the interaction such as posture, eye contact, facial expressions, and social touch (Gorawara-Bhat et al., 2007; Gorawara-Bhat and Cook, 2011; Stepanikova et al., 2012; Gorawara-Bhat et al., 2013). Interestingly, these studies found that eye contact was the most frequently used non-verbal behavior by clinicians when communicating with elderly patients.

In this context, it becomes crucial to increase the competence of the entire healthcare workforce to communicate and maintain relationships with this geriatric population. Unfortunately, this dimension is not sufficiently considered in the training of clinicians, although several studies have already shown the positive effects of sensitizing clinicians to the use of nonverbal (Magai et al., 2002; Machiels et al., 2017) and empathetic communication (Brown et al., 2020). While VP simulation in geriatrics education is still in its infancy, it has the potential to address several challenges, including reduced access to real patients and the need to provide safe settings in which trainees can learn or practice their clinical skills (Tan et al., 2010). To find a way to bridge the gap and improve the relationship between health care professionals and older adults with dementia, a first attempt was to use immersive technologies that virtually expose the clinician to what an older adult with dementia experiences. For instance, the Virtual Dementia Tour<sup>®</sup> (Beville, 2002; Slater et al., 2019) or myShoes (Adefila et al., 2016) projects allow clinicians to "embody" an elderly patient in a nursing home, to experience the physical and sensory difficulties, as well as the memory loss, feelings, and frustrations associated with dementiarelated problems. While not directly involving training through patient interaction, these virtual immersion techniques that allow clinicians to put themselves in the patient's shoes have shown to improve clinicians' empathy and non-verbal behaviors toward elderly patients in real clinical practice (see Campbell et al., 2021).

One of the first use cases for VPs in geriatrics was designed as a web-based platform to offer clinicians the opportunity of interacting with elderly patients in clinical care encounters (Orton and Mulhausen, 2008). The GeriaSims platform allows the user to interact with a VP embodied as an elderly person and displayed as an image or multimedia clip. The interaction can last one to 2 hours, including questions about history, physical examination, or choices about treatment. Several scenario topics (i.e., modules) are proposed, including cognitive and behavioral disorders in dementia, medication management, primary care, palliative care, or falls (e.g., Ruiz and Leipzig, 2008). Prior to the interaction, the trainee has access to the patient's backstory and the objectives of the encounter-which can be diagnostic or therapeutic-are indicated. The user converses with the VP by selecting questions from a predetermined text list. A virtual mentor is also available for assistance or guidance. At the end of the interaction, the tool was evaluated with questionnaires in terms of usability and effectiveness of learning. The authors report that the tool was rated by 287 trainees as easy to use and an effective way to achieve the targeted objective. An advantage of such a web-based tool is its accessibility at any time and place and thus the flexibility in planning training, which can be a drawback when using other VP simulation tools. One of the limitations, however, is that the VP is not able to converse in a realistic manner, nor respond to dialogues with non-verbal behaviors or human-like emotions. In addition, the trainee's verbal and non-verbal behaviors are not assessed.

Another particularly innovative aspect of VP simulation in geriatrics is the training of communication skills between members of geriatric care teams. These interprofessional approaches are known to improve care efficiency and patient health outcomes (Curran et al., 2007). In this regard, a recent study proposed an interprofessional virtual visit scenario with multiple healthcare professionals at the bedside of Mr. Jin, a 80year-old man with pain and fever after surgery (Liaw et al., 2019). To provide a backstory, the patient's medical file is displayed on the screen before the interaction begins. Here, the various clinicians (physician, nurse, physical therapist, social worker, etc.) are integrated into the virtual environment via an avatar representing them and displayed on the screen and at the same time as the VP. The VP can communicate through verbal (synthesized voice) and non-verbal behavior (e.g., facial expressions, body movements, breathing noise, moaning) in response to the behavior of the clinicians, who can also communicate with each other. The tool was positively evaluated by the 29 trainees participating in the study in terms of usability and effectiveness, with a moderate evaluation of the feeling of presence. The interprofessional attitude of the trainees was also assessed by judges using a questionnaire. Overall, the results of this study show the feasibility of using a 3D environment simulation including a VP to foster social interactions and collaborative practices between multiple healthcare professionals to facilitate the sharing of information about the elderly patient. Note, however, that the non-verbal behavior of the participants was not recorded and or analyzed. Interestingly, this work was complemented by a study on the transferability -5 months after training-of virtual simulation learning to clinical practice (Liaw et al., 2020). Although the assessment of transferability to clinical practice was based on students' subjective perceptions via focus groups, the results indicated transferability effects through clinical practice and how working together with different healthcare professions could ensure a more holistic care of a patient.

Interestingly, a study by Robinson et al. (2020) focused specifically on training communication skills of 82 speech pathology students in realistic conversations with an elderly VP with behavioral symptoms of dementia and resident of a nursing home (for a full description of the tool, see Quail et al., 2016). The 15-min interaction was based on a predetermined scenario of verbal (e.g., comprehension difficulties, word search, confusion) and non-verbal (e.g., crying, shrugging, chuckling) responses that were representative of dementia. Trainees were instructed to have a conversation with the VP to identify any problems he might be experiencing. Following this, a 15-min feedback with a clinical educator was offered to the trainees, aimed at encouraging the trainee to engage in self-reflection, followed by a second 15-min interaction with the elderly patient. The VP was displayed on a large human-sized screen and could interact with the user in natural language, with the user's speech interpreted via a WoZ operator. The strength of this study is that it emphasized, for each clinical encounter, on the analysis of the trainee's verbal and non-verbal behavior based on speech transcription (e.g., "demonstrates awareness of how his/her responses are affecting the communication partner") and video annotation (e.g., "maintains appropriate eye contact"). This was coupled with a self-rating by the trainees of their communication skills. Findings revealed an improvement in students' communication skills in the second interaction, confirmed by the improved self-ratings. However, it is not possible here to distinguish the benefit of the simulation on the verbal vs nonverbal level. Although not directly focused on clinician-patient communication training, another related study deserves to be mentioned (Szilas et al., 2019) as it reports the preliminary implementation of an embodied VP simulation tool to support interactions between family caregivers of patients with Alzheimer's disease and the patient himself (i.e., a 65-year-old apathetic woman suffering from an early-stage Alzheimer Disease).

# VirtuAlz–A VP Tool for Training Clinician to Communicate With People With Alzheimer's Disease

As mentioned above, the development of simulation tools for training clinicians to communicate with people with dementia is still very limited. Here, we present a virtual VP tool called *VirtuAlz* that was designed for geriatric health professionals to sensitize them to the basic communication skills needed to interact with elderly patients with Alzheimer's disease. The tool, including the behavior of the Alzheimer's VP, is based on real clinical cases (e.g., medication administration, patient's wandering) derived from a field observation conducted in a geriatric service and an analysis of communication training needs in this field (Becerril-Ortega et al., 2022).

A first 3D prototype including a hospital setting and an 89year-old virtual patient were modeled and displayed on a large human-size screen (**Figure 3**). To provide a backstory, a patient file is displayed on the screen before the interaction starts. It includes medical information about the patient (i.e., name, age, diagnosis and medical history) and a description of the context before the interaction (e.g., restless night, refusal to eat) and the trainee's objective for the current scenario (e.g., stimulate the patient and ensure that the medication is taken).

Particular attention was paid to generating the predominant competencies of the VP, the implementation of the underlying technology through a WoZ simulation, the evaluation of the tool by trainees, and the automatic monitoring of the users' behavior (see Figure 2). Concretely, the VP could produce verbal (synthesized voice) and non-verbal (body and head movements, gaze direction, facial expressions) behaviors that mimicked an elderly patient with signs of Alzheimer's disease (apathy, memory loss, agitation, aggression, or refusal of care). The trainee could interact in natural language with the VP. In our simulation approach (Figure 3), the WoZ operator (a geriatric expert) selects the verbal and non-verbal behaviors (facial expressions, posture, etc.) to be generated in real time on the VP, based on the verbal and non-verbal behavior of the trainee who was expected to act as in a role-play with a real patient (Benamara et al., 2020). Each action performed by the WoZ to control the VP behavior is recorded and logged. After each session, the educational tool is assessed with questionnaires in terms of system usability, acceptability, VP realism and effectiveness of the educational tool.

In addition, a key aspect of the *VirtuAlz* platform relates to the automatic evaluation of the trainee's non-verbal behaviors, that are captured by a front-facing camera during the interaction with the VP that lasted on average 6 min. The corpus collected was composed of 29 videos of clinician-VP interactions (each video involved a different clinician, exercising at the geriatric hospital as a physician, psychologist, nurse, or health care provider). We focus our analysis on non-verbal features of the trainee using automated feature extraction. Several non-verbal cues have been shown to capture relevant socio-affective states in similar settings with children (e.g., Delaherche et al., 2013; Avril et al., 2014; Anzalone et al., 2019) or adults (e.g., Aigrain et al., 2016). The main difference

with this line of research is that VirtuAlz focuses on the training of clinician to communicate with elderly patient with signs of Alzheimer's disease. Based on the literature mentioned in Section 2.3, we decided to focus on the analysis of the clinician's non-verbal behaviors by considering the following non-verbal cues: body posture (i.e., body openness, computed as the distance between wrists and shoulder of the clinician), proxemics (i.e., physical proximity with the VP), facial expressions based on facial Action Units analysis (i.e., smile with mouth corners pull, AU14-mouth corners depress, AU15-frowning with eyebrows lowered and drawn together, AU4-eyebrow/eyes raising AU1/AU5) or self-touching on the head (i.e., hand position in the zone of the head, see Aigrain et al. (2016). The facial Action Units (AUs) are automatically extracted by OpenFace (Baltrusaitis et al., 2018) while the features related to selftouching on the head, proxemics and body openness are computed from the Body and Hand pose estimation using OpenPose (Cao et al., 2021). This set of non-verbal cues is then transformed into symbols and evaluated throughout the interaction (for more details see Zagdoun et al., 2021) to obtain explainable measures that could be indicators of openness to others, warmth, or empathy (e.g., duration of the clinician's smiles, physical proximity or body opening during the interaction, see Mast and Hall (2017)) or discomfort or stress exhibited by the clinician (e.g., number of times the clinician touches their head, see Harrigan (1985). For the feedback, the symbols are contextualized by considering the behaviors of the virtual patient in order to assess the consistency of the clinician's behaviors (e.g., smiling when approaching the patient, do not appear nervous with overgesturing or excessive self-touching). Although the potential of the VirtuAlz tool has not yet been fully realized, it offers the opportunity for trainees to work on their non-verbal behavior in safe environments. Although the potential of the VirtuAlz tool has not yet been fully realized, it offers the opportunity for trainees to work on their non-verbal behavior in safe environments. Results from the automatic analysis of non-verbal behavior should also allow, during interviews with a clinical educator, to provide finer-grained feedback aimed at encouraging the trainee to engage in self-reflection before interacting with a real patient.

# DISCUSSION

As mentioned above, the value of VP-based simulation is that it provides tools that allow clinical teams and researchers to examine and model the verbal and non-verbal behaviors of the clinician/student while manipulating either the socialemotional or cognitive behavior of the VP and the visual appearance of the graphic environments. With good experimental control, these features make VPs powerful, useful. and reliable tools for studying the social communication that is central to clinician-patient interactions. However, in the field of psychiatry and geriatrics (Table 1), research has mainly focused on modeling the VP to simulate specific clinical encounters or on the evaluation of the simulation tool itself (e.g., feasibility, credibility, usability). Among the 14 tools (17 articles) using VP simulation presented in this overview, five used simulation models (e.g., prerecorded videos associated with text-based interfaces) that do not allow for realistic humanlike conversations (Carpenter et al., 2012; O'Brien et al., 2019; Shah et al., 2012; Cordar et al., 2014; Pantziaras et al., 2014, 2015). By contrast, four tools offer immersive experiences using VPs displayed on human-sized screens and interacting in natural language (Ochs et al., 2017, 2019; Dupuy et al., 2020; O'Rourke et al., 2020; Robinson et al., 2020). Note that while tools based on web interfaces or pre-recorded videos may lack realism and fluidity, tools based on natural language and speech recognition, are rarely fully autonomous and currently require the intervention of a human WoZ operator. In addition, our overview reveals a lack of interest in evaluating the learner. Note that in most of the studies, the learner evaluation in terms of knowledge is considered in post-session (except in, Carpenter et al., 2012; O'Brien et al., 2019; Orton and Mulhausen, 2008; Szilas et al., 2019). Interestingly, a few studies propose a follow-up of learners' knowledge several weeks after the interaction (Pantziaras et al., 2015) or an assessment of the transferability of the training to clinical practice (Liaw et al., 2020). By contrast, it was pointed out that an aspect seldom assessed was the learner's verbal (except, Parsons et al., 2008; Kenny et al., 2009a,b; Pantziaras et al., 2014, 2015; Dupuy et al., 2020) and non-verbal (except, Dupuy et al., 2020; O'Rourke et al., 2020; Liaw et al., 2020; Robinson et al., 2020) behaviors. Non-verbal behaviors play a crucial role in clinician-patient relationships (Henry et al., 2012). Eye contact, physical proximity, clinician's posture leaning toward the patient, or synchronization of the movements of this dyad may be associated with the length of the visit, the patient's perceived empathy, feeling of trust, or patient self-disclosure (Lorié et al., 2017; Goldstein et al., 2020). One possible reason for this poor consideration of non-verbal behaviors is that the tools used rely primarily on human coding (speech transcript, video annotation), which is time-consuming and labor-intensive (D'Agostino and Bylund, 2011) and highly subjective due to biases of human annotation (Mast and Cousin, 2013). A precursor to developing adequate simulation tools in clinical settings is being able to capture and analyze the user's nonverbal behaviors automatically so that they can be linked in real time to the patient's behavior or for ulterior feedback (e.g., focus group, exchange with a tutor). Such automatic methods (without requiring intensive human coding or specialized training) have already been validated for analyzing the clinician-patient relationship (e.g., Hart et al., 2016; Tan et al., 2020). More generally, we suggest that automated analysis of clinicianpatient interaction could offer a high temporal resolution and fine-grained analysis-sometimes invisible to the clinician's or tutor's eye-to provide feedback to clinicians or students on key aspects of their communication. The link between such finegrained analysis of interaction and learning gain of clinicians has to be investigated. A promising direction is to consider the concept of productive engagement as the level of engagement that maximizes learning Nasir et al. (2021). Lastly, these educational tools should consider the ethical issues surrounding virtual reality research (e.g., risks related to information overload, intensification of arousal with virtual environments and re-entry into the real world, Behr et al., 2005) or human-computer interaction (usefulness in the light of the purpose, Grinbaum et al., 2017; Wullenkord and Eyssel,



2020), and also protection of the user's data and privacy (e.g., audio/video recording of the learner, see Parsons, 2021).

## TOWARD BEST PRACTICES AND USES

Importantly, when developing a VP simulation tool, the pedagogical context has a strong impact on the choice of technologies needed to develop the modules for simulating the VP's verbal and non-verbal behaviors. Hence, a simulation tool that focuses on training nonverbal communication skills requires technologies to detect and interpret the trainee's nonverbal behavior (Hoque et al., 2013).

It should also be considered that one of the most challenging parts of any VP application is the development of modules for simulating verbal and nonverbal behaviors. According to the context, they may only require a small subset of non-verbal behaviors such as posture and gestures, without necessarily focusing on facial expressions or gaze (Ochs et al., 2018). However, if the prime pedagogical objective is rather directed to the verbal content of communication or decision-making, a chatbot or a text-based interface may be suitable (Tanaka et al., 2017a).

At the same time, the choices regarding the technologies to be used are dependent on the resources and constraints of the project. Computer screen simulation can provide a multisensory and immersive interactive experience, with the possibility to design a VP that communicates verbally and nonverbally in real time. Alternatively, if the simulation needs to run on smartphones or tablets, technical resources are limited, and heavy computations cannot always be performed (e.g. realtime detection of non-verbal behavior). In such cases, the simulation will rely instead on text and graphical menu interfaces and use predefined animations to control the VP's behavior (Philip et al., 2020).

It also has to be mentioned that several different technologies are available for simulating verbal and nonverbal VP behaviors. In most simulation systems in medical training, a decision tree is used to guide the interaction and trigger the VP's reactions depending on the trainee's choices and/or behavior. The possible VP reactions depends on the specific needs of the simulation, and can display specific characteristics of an agent, such as emotional states or pathological symptoms (Rizzo and Shilling, 2017). These reactions can be triggered from a predefined set of combinations of verbal and non-verbal behaviors, following the unfolding of the scenario script. VP's reactions can also be selected in real-time by a human experimenter using a wizard-of-oz setup according to the specific goals of the training. Finally, VP reactions can be generated automatically using computational models that take into account a set of inputs provided by the user (for a review, see Wang and Ruiz, 2021). From a technical point of view, this latter technique is the most challenging to design. A first category of simulation is based on theories of cognitive

psychology and allows emulating emotional states or a personality appropriate for a given context (Jones and Sabouret, 2013; DeVault et al., 2014), or even pathological symptoms (Benamara et al., 2022). A second category of simulation focuses on the verbal content of the interaction and allows interaction with the VP through natural language. In this context, speech-based facial animation can be synthesized from keywords or automatically with machine learning methods. Note that most systems are hybrid, incorporating both emotional models and natural language-based techniques (Vougioukas et al., 2020). In the future, additional non-verbal behaviors could be explored to improve the simulation of social interaction in medical environments. For instance, in medical care, the use of touch plays a crucial role in communicating with patients (Kim and Buschmann, 1999). Thus, the development of haptic interfaces should provide new ways to train social skills related to social touch (for a review, see Pelachaud et al., 2021).

In conclusion, the survey of the literature enables us to propose concrete recommendations for each step of the VP simulation process, including the development of the VP, conduct and evaluation of the training sessions. Designers will be expected to include healthcare professionals in all stages of the VP design in order to develop and implement a VP tailored to their needs and to define ways to improve the tool.

Virtual patient (VP) development.

- *Use cases*-Determine clinical cases that are challenging for clinician/student and patient interactions, and identify learner populations that might be interested in or benefit from training.
- *Needs*-Examine the needs of learners, particularly in difficult situations, by reviewing the literature and conducting field observations in clinical units, interviews and questionnaires.
- *VP*–Design a VP adapted to the needs and constraints of the project. On smartphones/tablets, the VP should be based on predefined animations. On computer screen the VP should be able to communicate autonomously verbally (e.g., question-answer) and non-verbally (e.g., facial expressions, gaze, body movements, gestures, prosody), to promote immersion (taking into account screen size) and human-like interactions.
- Scenario-Develop a narrative scenario, which may include problem-solving and allow multiple training sessions. A non-linear navigation structure (in which the learner's decisions shape the VP's behavior) will ensure flexibility and learner interactivity with the VP.
- *Feedback*-Provide feedback with messages, scores, visual representation of the VP's emotional state. Gamification with leaderboards could help make the learning experience fun and engaging.

- *Choices and tradeoffs*-Review the available technology solutions for VP simulation and choose the one that seems to best meet the needs of the learners in terms of accessibility, usability, training needs, cost, data security and privacy, technical assistance requirements and sustainability. Authoring tools, if available, could help design, prototype, and deploy VPs in a variety of use cases.
- *Feasibility/Usability testing*-Test the feasibility of the system with learners, conduct usability testing, and define necessary adaptations of the tool.

Conduct and Assessment of training sessions.

- *Training plan*-Establish a training program (where and when to use VP simulation) that is tailored to the needs and abilities of the clinicians or students who will be involved in the learning.
- *Tutorial*-Offer specific training on the use of the tool for learners interested in participating in the learning experience. The availability of educational material adapted to this objective (e.g., tutorials) can help to enhance understanding of the tool's use.
- *Debriefing*-Conduct VP learning sessions followed by debriefing with a tutor at the end of the session to allow learners to discuss the use case and ask questions.
- *Training effectiveness*-Evaluate the learning gain pre- and post-session with questionnaires.
- Non-verbal communication–Provide tools to measure and interpret non-verbal characteristics of clinician-patient communication. An automated or semi-automated tool (commercial software) for measuring and analyzing non-verbal communication can provide additional value over manual annotation.
- *Follow-up*–Define a way to follow-up on the VP learning at the individual and institutional level (university, hospital) to identify necessary modifications.

# AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

LC and MC contributed to the conception and planning of the overview LC identified articles relevant to the topic and wrote the first draft of the manuscript. All authors contributed to manuscript revision, read and approved the submitted version.

# FUNDING

This work has been supported by the French National Agency (ANR) (VirtuAlz, project ANR-17-CE19-0028)

## REFERENCES

- Adefila, A., Graham, S., Clouder, L., Bluteau, P., and Ball, S. (2016). Myshoes–The Future of Experiential Dementia Training? J. Ment. Health Train. Educ. Pract. 11, e12243. doi:10.1108/jmhtep-10-2015-0048
- Aebersold, M., Tschannen, D., Stephens, M., Anderson, P., and Lei, X. (2012). Second Life: A New Strategy in Educating Nursing Students. *Clin. Simul. Nurs.* 8, e469–e475. doi:10.1016/j.ecns.2011.05.002
- Aigrain, J., Spodenkiewicz, M., Dubuisson, S., Detyniecki, M., Cohen, D., and Chetouani, M. (2016). Multimodal Stress Detection from Multiple Assessments. *IEEE Trans. Affect. Comput.* 9, 491–506.
- Albright, G., Adam, C., Serri, D., Bleeker, S., and Goldman, R. (2016). Harnessing the Power of Conversations with Virtual Humans to Change Health Behaviors. *Mhealth* 2, 44. doi:10.21037/mhealth.2016.11.02
- Ali, R., Hoque, E., Duberstein, P., Schubert, L., Razavi, S. Z., Kane, B., et al. (2021). Aging and Engaging: A Pilot Randomized Controlled Trial of an Online Conversational Skills Coach for Older Adults. Am. J. Geriatric Psychiatry 29, 804–815. doi:10.1016/j.jagp.2020.11.004
- Alinier, G., and Platt, A. (2014). International Overview of High-Level Simulation Education Initiatives in Relation to Critical Care. Nurs. Crit. Care 19, 42–49. doi:10.1111/nicc.12030
- Alsawy, S., Tai, S., McEvoy, P., and Mansell, W. (2020). 'It's Nice to Think Somebody's Listening to Me Instead of Saying "oh Shut up". People with Dementia Reflect on what Makes Communication Good and Meaningful. J. Psychiatr. Ment. Health Nurs. 27, 151–161. doi:10.1111/jpm.12559
- Ambady, N., Koo, J., Rosenthal, R., and Winograd, C. H. (2002). Physical Therapists' Nonverbal Communication Predicts Geriatric Patients' Health Outcomes. *Psychol. aging* 17, 443–452. doi:10.1037/0882-7974.17.3.443
- Anzalone, S. M., Xavier, J., Boucenna, S., Billeci, L., Narzisi, A., Muratori, F., et al. (2019). Quantifying Patterns of Joint Attention during Human-Robot Interactions: An Application for Autism Spectrum Disorder Assessment. *Pattern Recognit. Lett.* 118, 42–50. doi:10.1016/j.patrec.2018.03.007
- Avril, M., LeclĂ"re, C., Viaux, S., Michelet, S. p., Achard, C., Missonnier, S., et al. (2014). Social Signal Processing for Studying Parentâ€"infant Interaction. Front. Psychol. 5, 1437. doi:10.3389/fpsyg.2014.01437
- Baltrusaitis, T., Zadeh, A., Lim, Y. C., and Morency, L.-P. (2018). "Openface 2.0: Facial Behavior Analysis Toolkit," in 2018 13th IEEE International Conference on Automatic Face Gesture Recognition (FG 2018), 59–66. doi:10.1109/FG. 2018.00019
- Bar-Kalifa, E., Prinz, J. N., Atzil-Slonim, D., Rubel, J. A., Lutz, W., and Rafaeli, E. (2019). Physiological Synchrony and Therapeutic Alliance in an Imagery-Based Treatment. J. Couns. Psychol. 66, 508–517. doi:10.1037/cou0000358
- Baumann-Birkbeck, L., Florentina, F., Karatas, O., Sun, J., Tang, T., Thaung, V., et al. (2017). Appraising the Role of the Virtual Patient for Therapeutics Health Education. *Curr. Pharm. Teach. Learn.* 9, 934–944. doi:10.1016/j.cptl.2017. 05.012
- Baumgart, M., Snyder, H. M., Carrillo, M. C., Fazio, S., Kim, H., and Johns, H. (2015). Summary of the Evidence on Modifiable Risk Factors for Cognitive Decline and Dementia: A Population-based Perspective. *Alzheimer's &amp*; *Dement.* 11, 718–726. doi:10.1016/j.jalz.2015.05.016
- Bearman, M., Palermo, C., Allen, L. M., and Williams, B. (2015). Learning Empathy through Simulation. *Simul. Healthc.* 10, 308–319. doi:10.1097/sih. 000000000000113
- Beaulieu, M.-D., Haggerty, J., Beaulieu, C., Bouharaoui, F., Lévesque, J.-F., Pineault, R., et al. (2011). Interpersonal Communication from the Patient Perspective: Comparison of Primary Healthcare Evaluation Instruments. *hcpol* 7, 108–123. doi:10.12927/hcpol.2011.22636
- Becerril-Ortega, R., Vanderstichel, H., Petit, L., Urbiolagallegos, M. J., Schoch, J., Dacunha, S., et al. (2022). "Design Process for a Virtual Simulation Environment for Training Healthcare Professionals in Geriatrics," in Simulation Training through the Lens of Experience and Activity Analysis, Ed. Springer (Berlin: Springer), 101–127. chap. 5. doi:10.1007/978-3-030-89567-9\_6
- Beck, R. S., Daughtridge, R., and Sloane, P. D. (2002). Physician-patient Communication in the Primary Care Office: a Systematic Review. J. Am. Board Fam. Pract. 15, 25–38.

- Behr, K.-M., Nosper, A., Klimmt, C., and Hartmann, T. (2005). Some Practical Considerations of Ethical Issues in Vr Research. *Presence Teleoperators Virtual Environ.* 14, 668–676. doi:10.1162/105474605775196535
- Benamara, A., Martin, J.-C., Prigent, E., Chaby, L., Chetouani, M., Zagdoun, J., et al. (2022). "Copalz: A Computational Model of Pathological Appraisal Biases for an Interactive Virtual Alzheimer Patient," in Proceedings of the 21th International Conference on Autonomous Agents and Multi-Agent Systems (AMAS 2022) (AMAAS), 1–14.
- Benamara, A., Ravenet, B., Prigent, E., Chaby, L., and Martin, J.-C. (2020). "Patient virtuel alzheimer: vers une modélisation informatique des pathologies émotionnelles et expressives," in Workshop sur les Affects, Compagnons artificiels et Interactions.
- Beville, P. K. (2002). Virtual Dementia Tour Helps Senditiz Health Care Providers. Am. J. Alzheimers Dis. Other Demen 17, 183–190. doi:10.1177/ 153331750201700301
- Brender, E., Burke, A., and Glass, R. M. (2005). Standardized Patients. *JAMA* 294, 1172. doi:10.1001/jama.294.9.1172
- Brown, E. L., Agronin, M. E., and Stein, J. R. (2020). Interventions to Enhance Empathy and Person-Centered Care for Individuals with Dementia: a Systematic Review. *Res. gerontological Nurs.* 13, 158–168. doi:10.3928/ 19404921-20191028-01
- Brown, J. B., Boles, M., Mullooly, J. P., and Levinson, W. (1999). Effect of Clinician Communication Skills Training on Patient Satisfaction. Ann. Intern Med. 131, 822–829. doi:10.7326/0003-4819-131-11-199912070-00004
- Burns, J. (2006). The Social Brain Hypothesis of Schizophrenia. *Psychiatr. Danub* 18, 225–229.
- Callejas, Z., Griol, D., and López-Cózar, R. (2014). A Framework for the Assessment of Synthetic Personalities According to User Perception. Int. J. Human-Computer Stud. 72, 567–583. doi:10.1016/j.ijhcs.2014.02.002
- Campbell, D., Lugger, S., Sigler, G. S., and Turkelson, C. (2021). Increasing Awareness, Sensitivity, and Empathy for Alzheimer's Dementia Patients Using Simulation. *Nurse Educ. Today* 98, 104764. doi:10.1016/j.nedt.2021. 104764
- Cao, Z., Hidalgo, G., Simon, T., Wei, S.-E., and Sheikh, Y. (2021). Openpose: Realtime Multi-Person 2d Pose Estimation Using Part Affinity Fields. *IEEE Trans. Pattern Anal. Mach. Intell.* 43, 172–186. doi:10.1109/tpami.2019. 2929257
- Carpenter, C., Osterberg, L., and Sutcliffe, G. (2012). "Samht-suicidal Avatars for Mental Health Training," in 25th International Florida Artificial Intelligence Research Society Conference, FLAIRS-25, 484–487.
- Carrard, V., Bourquin, C., Orsini, S., Schmid Mast, M., and Berney, A. (2020). Virtual Patient Simulation in Breaking Bad News Training for Medical Students. *Patient Educ. Couns.* 103, 1435–1438. doi:10.1016/j.pec.2020. 01.019
- Cassell, J., Sullivan, J., Churchill, E., and Prevost, S. (2000). *Embodied Conversational Agents*. Cambridge, MA, USA: MIT Press.
- Castelli, L., Di Tella, M., Benfante, A., and Romeo, A. (2020). The Spread of Covid-19 in the Italian Population: Anxiety, Depression, and Post-traumatic Stress Symptoms. *Can. J. Psychiatry* 65, 731–732. doi:10.1177/0706743720938598
- Catty, J. (2004). 'The Vehicle of Success': Theoretical and Empirical Perspectives on the Therapeutic Alliance in Psychotherapy and Psychiatry. *Psychol. Psychotherapy Theory, Res. Pract.* 77, 255–272. doi:10.1348/ 147608304323112528
- Chaby, L., and Narme, P. (2009). Processing Facial Identity and Emotional Expression in Normal Aging and Neurodegenerative Diseases. *Psychol. Neuropsychiatr. Vieil.* 7, 31–42. doi:10.1684/pnv.2008.0154
- Chang, B. P., Carter, E., Ng, N., Flynn, C., and Tan, T. (2018). Association of Clinician Burnout and Perceived Clinician-Patient Communication. Am. J. Emerg. Med. 36, 156–158. doi:10.1016/j.ajem.2017.07.031
- Cleary, M., Hunt, G. E., and Horsfall, J. (2009). Delivering Difficult News in Psychiatric Settings. *Harv. Rev. Psychiatry* 17, 315–321. doi:10.3109/ 10673220903271780
- Collins, L. G., Schrimmer, A., Diamond, J., and Burke, J. (2011). Evaluating Verbal and Non-verbal Communication Skills, in an Ethnogeriatric Osce. *Patient Educ. Couns.* 83, 158–162. doi:10.1016/j.pec.2010.05.012
- Combs, C. D., and Combs, P. F. (2019). Emerging Roles of Virtual Patients in the Age of Ai. AMA J. Ethics 21, E153–E159. doi:10.1001/amajethics.2019.153

- Conigliaro, R. L. (2007). Doctors Talking with Patients/patients Talking with Doctors: Improving Communication in Medical Visits. JAMA 297, 748–752. doi:10.1001/jama.297.7.750
- Consorti, F., Mancuso, R., Nocioni, M., and Piccolo, A. (2012). Efficacy of Virtual Patients in Medical Education: a Meta-Analysis of Randomized Studies. *Comput. Educ.* 59, 1001–1008. doi:10.1016/j.compedu.2012.04.017
- Cook, D. A., Erwin, P. J., and Triola, M. M. (2010). Computerized Virtual Patients in Health Professions Education: a Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Acad. Med. 85, 1589–1602. doi:10.1097/acm.0b013e3181edfe13
- Cook, D. A., and Triola, M. M. (2009). Virtual Patients: a Critical Literature Review and Proposed Next Steps. *Med. Educ.* 43, 303–311. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2923. 2008.03286.x
- Cordar, A., Borish, M., Foster, A., and Lok, B. (2014). "Building Virtual Humans with Back Stories: Training Interpersonal Communication Skills in Medical Students," in International Conference on Intelligent Virtual Agents (Berlin: Springer), 144–153. doi:10.1007/978-3-319-09767-1\_17
- Cruz, M., Roter, D., Cruz, R. F., Wieland, M., Cooper, L. A., Larson, S., et al. (2011). Psychiatrist-patient Verbal and Nonverbal Communications during Split-Treatment Appointments. *Ps* 62, 1361–1368. doi:10.1176/ps.62.11. pss6211\_1361
- Curran, V. R., Sharpe, D., and Forristall, J. (2007). Attitudes of Health Sciences Faculty Members towards Interprofessional Teamwork and Education. *Med. Educ.* 41, 892–896. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2923.2007.02823.x
- [Dataset] Arts, E. (2009). The Sims (Version 3)[pc Game].
- [Dataset] Mast, M. S., and Hall, J. A. (2017). The Vertical Dimension of Social Signaling.
- D'Agostino, T. A., and Bylund, C. L. (2011). The Nonverbal Accommodation Analysis System (Naas): Initial Application and Evaluation. *Patient Educ. Couns.* 85, 33–39.
- Del Piccolo, L., and Goss, C. (2012). People-centred Care: New Research Needs and Methods in Doctor-Patient Communication. Challenges in Mental Health. *Epidemiol. Psychiatr. Sci.* 21, 145–149. doi:10.1017/s2045796012000091
- Deladisma, A. M., Cohen, M., Stevens, A., Wagner, P., Lok, B., Bernard, T., et al. (2007). Do medical Students Respond Empathetically to a Virtual Patient? *Am. J. Surg.* 193, 756–760. doi:10.1016/j.amjsurg.2007.01.021
- Delaherche, E., Boucenna, S., Chetouani, M., and Cohen, D. (2013). "How Social Signal Processing (Ssp) Can Help Assessment of Bonding Phenomena in Developmental Psychology?," in *Neural Nets and Surroundings* (Berlin: Springer), 345–356. doi:10.1007/978-3-642-35467-0\_34
- Delaherche, E., Chetouani, M., Mahdhaoui, A., Saint-Georges, C., Viaux, S., and Cohen, D. (2012). Interpersonal Synchrony: A Survey of Evaluation Methods across Disciplines. *IEEE Trans. Affect. Comput.* 3, 349–365. doi:10.1109/t-affc. 2012.12
- DeVault, D., Artstein, R., Benn, G., Dey, T., Fast, E., Gainer, A., et al. (2014). "Simsensei Kiosk: A Virtual Human Interviewer for Healthcare Decision Support," in Proceedings of the 2014 international conference on Autonomous agents and multi-agent systems, 1061–1068.
- Douglas, K. M., and Porter, R. J. (2010). Recognition of Disgusted Facial Expressions in Severe Depression. Br. J. Psychiatry 197, 156–157. doi:10. 1192/bjp.bp.110.078113
- Dupuy, L., Micoulaud-Franchi, J.-A., Cassoudesalle, H., Ballot, O., Dehail, P., Aouizerate, B., et al. (2020). Evaluation of a Virtual Agent to Train Medical Students Conducting Psychiatric Interviews for Diagnosing Major Depressive Disorders. J. Affect. Disord. 263, 1–8. doi:10.1016/j.jad.2019.11.117
- Ellgring, H., and Scherer, K. R. (1996). Vocal Indicators of Mood Change in Depression. J. Nonverbal Behav. 20, 83–110. doi:10.1007/bf02253071
- Ellingsen, D. M., Isenburg, K., Jung, C., Lee, J., Gerber, J., Mawla, I., et al. (2020). Dynamic Brain-To-Brain Concordance and Behavioral Mirroring as a Mechanism of the Patient-Clinician Interaction. *Sci. Adv.* 6, eabc1304. doi:10.1126/sciadv.abc1304
- Elzubeir, M. A., Elzubeir, K. E., and Magzoub, M. E. (2010). Stress and Coping Strategies Among Arab Medical Students: towards a Research Agenda. *Educ. Health (Abingdon)* 23, 355.
- Fallowfield, L., and Jenkins, V. (2004). Communicating Sad, Bad, and Difficult News in Medicine. *Lancet* 363, 312–319. doi:10.1016/s0140-6736(03)15392-5
- Forbes, R., and Kennedy, P. (2009). The Enhancing Simulation (Safety in Medicine Utilizing Leading Advanced Simulation Technologies to Improve Outcomes Now) Act of 2009. Washington, DC: Committee on Energy and Commerce.

- Fox, J., Ahn, S. J., Janssen, J. H., Yeykelis, L., Segovia, K. Y., and Bailenson, J. N. (2015). Avatars versus Agents: a Meta-Analysis Quantifying the Effect of Agency on Social Influence. *Human-Computer Interact.* 30, 401–432. doi:10. 1080/07370024.2014.921494
- Fraser, N. M., and Gilbert, G. N. (1991). Simulating Speech Systems. Comput. Speech & Lang. 5, 81–99. doi:10.1016/0885-2308(91)90019-m
- Friedman, R. B., Newsom, R. S., Entine, S. M., Cheung, S., and Schultz, J. V. (1977). A Simulated Patient-Physician Encounter Using a Talking Computer. JAMA 238, 1927–1929. doi:10.1001/jama.238.18.1927
- Gaba, D. M. (2004). The Future Vision of Simulation in Health Care. Qual. Saf. Health Care 13, i2-i10. doi:10.1136/qshc.2004.009878
- Georgescu, A. L., Kuzmanovic, B., Roth, D., Bente, G., and Vogeley, K. (2014). The Use of Virtual Characters to Assess and Train Non-verbal Communication in High-Functioning Autism. *Front. Hum. Neurosci.* 8, 807. doi:10.3389/fnhum. 2014.00807
- Giannitelli, M., Xavier, J., François, A., Bodeau, N., Laurent, C., Cohen, D., et al. (2015). Facial, Vocal and Cross-Modal Emotion Processing in Early-Onset Schizophrenia Spectrum Disorders. *Schizophrenia Res.* 168, 252–259. doi:10. 1016/j.schres.2015.07.039
- Gill, T. M., Williams, C. S., Richardson, E. D., and Tinetti, M. E. (1996). Impairments in Physical Performance and Cognitive Status as Predisposing Factors for Functional Dependence Among Nondisabled Older Persons. *Journals Gerontology Ser. A Biol. Sci. Med. Sci.* 51A, M283–M288. doi:10. 1093/gerona/51a.6.m283
- Goldstein, P., Losin, E. A. R., Anderson, S. R., Schelkun, V. R., and Wager, T. D. (2020). Clinician-patient Movement Synchrony Mediates Social Group Effects on Interpersonal Trust and Perceived Pain. J. Pain 21, 1160–1174. doi:10.1016/j. jpain.2020.03.001
- Gorawara-Bhat, R., and Cook, M. A. (2011). Eye Contact in Patient-Centered Communication. *Patient Educ. Couns.* 82, 442–447. doi:10.1016/j.pec.2010. 12.002
- Gorawara-Bhat, R., Cook, M. A., and Sachs, G. A. (2007). Nonverbal Communication in Doctor-Elderly Patient Transactions (NDEPT): Development of a Tool. *Patient Educ. Couns.* 66, 223–234. doi:10.1016/j.pec. 2006.12.005
- Gorawara-Bhat, R., Dethmers, D. L., and Cook, M. A. (2013). Physician Eye Contact and Elder Patient Perceptions of Understanding and Adherence. *Patient Educ. Couns.* 92, 375–380. doi:10.1016/j.pec.2013.03.002
- Granry, J., and Moll, M. (2012). "Rapport de mission: État de l'art (national et international) en matière de pratiques de simulation dans le domaine de la santé," in *Guide de bonnes pratiques en matière de simulation en santé*. Available at: www.has-sante.fr.
- Gratch, J., Hartholt, A., Dehghani, M., and Marsella, S. (2013). Virtual Humans: a New Toolkit for Cognitive Science Research. *Proc. Annu. Meet. Cognitive Sci. Soc.* 35, 42–43.
- Grinbaum, A., Chatila, R., Devillers, L., Ganascia, J.-G., Tessier, C., and Dauchet, M. (2017). Ethics in Robotics Research: Cerna Mission and Context. *IEEE Robot. Autom. Mag.* 24, 139–145. doi:10.1109/mra.2016.2611586
- Grossard, C., Dapogny, A., Cohen, D., Bernheim, S., Juillet, E., Hamel, F., et al. (2020). Children with Autism Spectrum Disorder Produce More Ambiguous and Less Socially Meaningful Facial Expressions: an Experimental Study Using Random Forest Classifiers. *Mol. Autism* 11, 5–14. doi:10.1186/s13229-020-0312-2
- Ha, J. F., and Longnecker, N. (2010). Doctor-patient Communication: a Review. *Ochsner J.* 10, 38–43.
- Hall, J. A., Horgan, T. G., and Murphy, N. A. (2019). Nonverbal Communication. Annu. Rev. Psychol. 70, 271–294. doi:10.1146/annurev-psych-010418-103145
- Hall, J. A., Roter, D. L., and Rand, C. S. (1981). Communication of Affect between Patient and Physician. J. Health Soc. Behav. 22, 18–30. doi:10.2307/2136365
- Hardman, D., and Howick, J. (2019). The Friendly Relationship between Therapeutic Empathy and Person-Centred Care. Eur. J. Person Centered Healthc. 7, 351–357.
- Harrigan, J. A. (1985). Self-touching as an Indicator of Underlying Affect and Language Processes. Soc. Sci. Med. 20, 1161–1168. doi:10.1016/0277-9536(85) 90193-5
- Hart, Y., Czerniak, E., Karnieli-Miller, O., Mayo, A. E., Ziv, A., Biegon, A., et al. (2016). Automated Video Analysis of Non-verbal Communication in a Medical Setting. *Front. Psychol.* 7, 1130. doi:10.3389/fpsyg.2016.01130

- Hartley, S., Raphael, J., Lovell, K., and Berry, K. (2020). Effective Nurse-Patient Relationships in Mental Health Care: A Systematic Review of Interventions to Improve the Therapeutic Alliance. *Int. J. Nurs. Stud.* 102, 103490. doi:10.1016/j. ijnurstu.2019.103490
- Hashimoto, K.-i., and Tabata, K. (2010). Population Aging, Health Care, and Growth. J. Popul. Econ. 23, 571–593. doi:10.1007/s00148-008-0216-5
- Hawley, K. (2015). Trust and Distrust between Patient and Doctor. J. Eval. Clin. Pract. 21, 798–801. doi:10.1111/jep.12374
- Henry, S. G., Fuhrel-Forbis, A., Rogers, M. A. M., and Eggly, S. (2012). Association between Nonverbal Communication during Clinical Interactions and Outcomes: a Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Patient Educ. Couns.* 86, 297–315. doi:10.1016/j.pec.2011.07.006
- Hinshaw, S. P., and Stier, A. (2008). Stigma as Related to Mental Disorders. Annu. Rev. Clin. Psychol. 4, 367–393. doi:10.1146/annurev.clinpsy.4.022007. 141245
- Hojat, M., Louis, D. Z., Markham, F. W., Wender, R., Rabinowitz, C., and Gonnella, J. S. (2011). Physicians' Empathy and Clinical Outcomes for Diabetic Patients. *Acad. Med.* 86, 359–364. doi:10.1097/acm.0b013e3182086fe1
- Hoque, M., Courgeon, M., Martin, J.-C., Mutlu, B., and Picard, R. W. (2013). "Mach: My Automated Conversation Coach," in Proceedings of the 2013 ACM international joint conference on Pervasive and ubiquitous computing, 697–706.
- Howe, L. C., Leibowitz, K. A., and Crum, A. J. (2019). When Your Doctor "Gets it" and "Gets You": The Critical Role of Competence and Warmth in the Patient-Provider Interaction. *Front. Psychiatry* 10, 475. doi:10.3389/fpsyt.2019.00475
- Howick, J., Moscrop, A., Mebius, A., Fanshawe, T. R., Lewith, G., Bishop, F. L., et al. (2018). Effects of Empathic and Positive Communication in Healthcare Consultations: a Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. J. R. Soc. Med. 111, 240–252. doi:10.1177/0141076818769477
- Imel, Z. E., Barco, J. S., Brown, H. J., Baucom, B. R., Baer, J. S., Kircher, J. C., et al. (2014). The Association of Therapist Empathy and Synchrony in Vocally Encoded Arousal. J. Couns. Psychol. 61, 146–153. doi:10.1037/a0034943
- Irwin, P., and Coutts, R. (2015). A Systematic Review of the Experience of Using Second Life in the Education of Undergraduate Nurses. J. Nurs. Educ. 54, 572–577. doi:10.3928/01484834-20150916-05
- Ishikawa, H., Hashimoto, H., Kinoshita, M., Fujimori, S., Shimizu, T., and Yano, E. (2006). Evaluating Medical Students' Non-verbal Communication during the Objective Structured Clinical Examination. *Med. Educ.* 40, 1180–1187. doi:10. 1111/j.1365-2929.2006.02628.x
- Isik, A. T., Soysal, P., Solmi, M., and Veronese, N. (2019). Bidirectional Relationship between Caregiver Burden and Neuropsychiatric Symptoms in Patients with Alzheimer's Disease: A Narrative Review. Int. J. Geriatr. Psychiatry 34, 1326–1334. doi:10.1002/gps.4965
- Jagtap, R., Phulare, K., Kurhade, M., and Gawande, K. S. (2021). "Healthcare Conversational Chatbot for Medical Diagnosis," in Handbook of research on engineering, business, and healthcare applications of data science and analytics (Pennsylvania, USA: IGI Global), 401–415. doi:10.4018/978-1-7998-3053-5. ch020
- Jones, H., and Sabouret, N. (2013). "Tardis-a Simulation Platform with an Affective Virtual Recruiter for Job Interviews," in *IDGEI (Intelligent Digital Games for Empowerment and Inclusion)*.
- Kee, J. W. Y., Khoo, H. S., Lim, I., and Koh, M. Y. H. (2018). Communication Skills in Patient-Doctor Interactions: Learning from Patient Complaints. *Health Prof. Educ.* 4, 97–106. doi:10.1016/j.hpe.2017.03.006
- Keiser, M. M., and Turkelson, C. (2017). Using Students as Standardized Patients: Development, Implementation, and Evaluation of a Standardized Patient Training Program. *Clin. Simul. Nurs.* 13, 321–330. doi:10.1016/j.ecns.2017. 05.008
- Keltner, N. L., Grant, J. S., and McLernon, D. (2011). Use of Actors as Standardized Psychiatric Patients. J. Psychosoc. Nurs. Ment. Health Serv. 49, 34–40. doi:10. 3928/02793695-20110329-02
- Kenny, P. G., Parsons, T. D., Gratch, J., and Rizzo, A. A. (2009a). "Evaluation of Novice and Expert Interpersonal Interaction Skills with a Virtual Patient," in *International Workshop on Intelligent Virtual Agents* (Berlin: Springer), 511–512. doi:10.1007/978-3-642-04380-2\_67
- Kenny, P. G., Parsons, T. D., and Rizzo, A. (2009b). A Comparative Analysis between Experts and Novices Interacting with a Virtual Patient with Ptsd. *Annu. Rev. Cybertherapy Telemedicine* 144, 122–124.

- Ker, J., and Bradley, P. (2010). Simulation in Medical Education. Underst. Med. Educ. Evid. theory Pract. 1, 164–180. doi:10.1002/9781444320282.ch12
- Khullar, D. (2019). Building Trust in Health Care-Why, where, and How. Jama 322, 507–509. doi:10.1001/jama.2019.4892
- Kim, E. J., and Buschmann, M. T. (1999). The Effect of Expressive Physical Touch on Patients with Dementia. *Int. J. Nurs. Stud.* 36, 235–243. doi:10.1016/s0020-7489(99)00019-x
- Kodama, K., Tanaka, S., Shimizu, D., Hori, K., and Matsui, H. (2018). Heart Rate Synchrony in Psychological Counseling: a Case Study. *Psych* 09, 1858–1874. doi:10.4236/psych.2018.97108
- Lapkin, S., Levett-Jones, T., Bellchambers, H., and Fernandez, R. (2010). Effectiveness of Patient Simulation Manikins in Teaching Clinical Reasoning Skills to Undergraduate Nursing Students: A Systematic Review. *Clin. Simul. Nurs.* 6, e207–e222. doi:10.1016/j.ecns.2010.05.005
- Lavelle, M., Dimic, S., Wildgrube, C., McCabe, R., and Priebe, S. (2015). Non-verbal Communication in Meetings of Psychiatrists and Patients with Schizophrenia. *Acta Psychiatr. Scand.* 131, 197–205. doi:10.1111/acps.12319
- Lee, J., Kim, H., Kim, K. H., Jung, D., Jowsey, T., and Webster, C. S. (2020). Effective Virtual Patient Simulators for Medical Communication Training: a Systematic Review. *Med. Educ.* 54, 786–795. doi:10.1111/medu.14152
- Lehman, A. F., Lieberman, J. A., Dixon, L. B., McGlashan, T. H., Miller, A. L., Perkins, D. O., et al. (2004). Practice Guideline for the Treatment of Patients with Schizophrenia, Second Edition. *Am. J. Psychiatry* 161, 1–56.
- Lenherr, G., Meyer-Zehnder, B., Kressig, R. W., and Reiter-Theil, S. (2012). To Speak, or Not to Speak-- Do Clinicians Speak about Dying and Death with Geriatric Patients at the End of Life? *Swiss Med. Wkly.* 142, w13563. doi:10. 4414/smw.2012.13563
- Lewin, S., Skea, Z., Entwistle, V. A., Zwarenstein, M., and Dick, J. (2001). Interventions for Providers to Promote a Patient-Centred Approach in Clinical Consultations. *Cochrane database Syst. Rev.* 12, CD003267. doi:10. 1002/14651858.cd003267
- Liaw, S. Y., Soh, S. L.-H., Tan, K. K., Wu, L. T., Yap, J., Chow, Y. L., et al. (2019). Design and Evaluation of a 3d Virtual Environment for Collaborative Learning in Interprofessional Team Care Delivery. *Nurse Educ. today* 81, 64–71. doi:10. 1016/j.nedt.2019.06.012
- Liaw, S. Y., Wu, L. T., Soh, S. L. H., Ringsted, C., Lau, T. C., and Lim, W. S. (2020). Virtual Reality Simulation in Interprofessional Round Training for Health Care Students: A Qualitative Evaluation Study. *Clin. Simul. Nurs.* 45, 42–46. doi:10. 1016/j.ecns.2020.03.013
- Lorié, Á., Reinero, D. A., Phillips, M., Zhang, L., and Riess, H. (2017). Culture and Nonverbal Expressions of Empathy in Clinical Settings: A Systematic Review. *Patient Educ. Couns.* 100, 411–424. doi:10.1016/j.pec.2016.09.018
- Loveys, K., Sebaratnam, G., Sagar, M., and Broadbent, E. (2020). The Effect of Design Features on Relationship Quality with Embodied Conversational Agents: a Systematic Review. *Int. J. Soc. Robotics* 12, 1293–1312. doi:10. 1007/s12369-020-00680-7
- Lucas, G. M., Gratch, J., King, A., and Morency, L.-P. (2014). It's Only a Computer: Virtual Humans Increase Willingness to Disclose. *Comput. Hum. Behav.* 37, 94–100. doi:10.1016/j.chb.2014.04.043
- Machiels, M., Metzelthin, S. F., Hamers, J. P. H., and Zwakhalen, S. M. G. (2017). Interventions to Improve Communication between People with Dementia and Nursing Staff during Daily Nursing Care: A Systematic Review. *Int. J. Nurs. Stud.* 66, 37–46. doi:10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2016.11.017
- Madhu, D., Jain, C. N., Sebastain, E., Shaji, S., and Ajayakumar, A. (2017). "A Novel Approach for Medical Assistance Using Trained Chatbot," in 2017 international conference on inventive communication and computational technologies (ICICCT) (Coimbatore, India: IEEE), 243–246. doi:10.1109/ icicct.2017.7975195
- Magai, C., Cohen, C. I., and Gomberg, D. (2002). Impact of Training Dementia Caregivers in Sensitivity to Nonverbal Emotion Signals. *Int. Psychogeriatr.* 14, 25–38. doi:10.1017/s1041610202008256
- Mantovani, F., Castelnuovo, G., Gaggioli, A., and Riva, G. (2003). Virtual Reality Training for Health-Care Professionals. *CyberPsychology Behav.* 6, 389–395. doi:10.1089/109493103322278772
- Marci, C. D., Ham, J., Moran, E., and Orr, S. P. (2007). Physiologic Correlates of Perceived Therapist Empathy and Social-Emotional Process during Psychotherapy. J. Nerv. Ment. Dis. 195, 103–111. doi:10.1097/01.nmd. 0000253731.71025.fc

- Mast, M. S., and Cousin, G. (2013). "The Role of Nonverbal Communication in Medical Interactions: Empirical Results, Theoretical Bases, and Methodological Issues," in *The Oxford Handbook of Health Communication, Behavior Change* and Treatment Adherence (Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press), 38–53.
- Maurage, P., and Campanella, S. (2013). Experimental and Clinical Usefulness of Crossmodal Paradigms in Psychiatry: an Illustration from Emotional Processing in Alcohol-Dependence. *Front. Hum. Neurosci.* 7, 394. doi:10. 3389/fnhum.2013.00394
- McCabe, R., Healey, P. G. T., Priebe, S., Lavelle, M., Dodwell, D., Laugharne, R., et al. (2013). Shared Understanding in Psychiatrist-Patient Communication: Association with Treatment Adherence in Schizophrenia. *Patient Educ. Couns.* 93, 73–79. doi:10.1016/j.pec.2013.05.015
- McGilton, K. S., Boscart, V., Fox, M., Sidani, S., Rochon, E., and Sorin-Peters, R. (2009). A Systematic Review of the Effectiveness of Communication Interventions for Health Care Providers Caring for Patients in Residential Care Settings. *Worldviews Evidence-Based Nurs.* 6, 149–159. doi:10.1111/j. 1741-6787.2009.00155.x
- McNaughton, N., Ravitz, P., Wadell, A., and Hodges, B. D. (2008). Psychiatric Education and Simulation: a Review of the Literature. *Can. J. Psychiatry* 53, 85–93. doi:10.1177/070674370805300203
- Mirheidari, B., Blackburn, D., Walker, T., Reuber, M., and Christensen, H. (2019). Dementia Detection Using Automatic Analysis of Conversations. *Comput. Speech & Lang.* 53, 65–79. doi:10.1016/j.csl.2018.07.006
- Munshi, F., Lababidi, H., and Alyousef, S. (2015). Low- versus High-Fidelity Simulations in Teaching and Assessing Clinical Skills. J. Taibah Univ. Med. Sci. 10, 12–15. doi:10.1016/j.jtumed.2015.01.008
- Nasir, J., Bruno, B., Chetouani, M., and Dillenbourg, P. (2021). What if Social Robots Look for Productive Engagement? Int J Soc Robotics 14, 55–71. doi:10. 1007/s12369-021-00766-w
- O'Brien, K. H. M., Fuxman, S., Humm, L., Tirone, N., Pires, W. J., Cole, A., et al. (2019). Suicide Risk Assessment Training Using an Online Virtual Patient Simulation. *Mhealth* 5, 31. doi:10.21037/mhealth.2019.08.03
- O'Rourke, S. R., Branford, K. R., Brooks, T. L., Ives, L. T., Nagendran, A., and Compton, S. N. (2020). The Emotional and Behavioral Impact of Delivering Bad News to Virtual versus Real Standardized Patients: a Pilot Study. *Teach. Learn Med.* 32, 139–149. doi:10.1080/10401334.2019.1652180
- Ochs, M., de Montcheuil, G., Pergandi, J.-M., Saubesty, J., Pelachaud, C., Mestre, D., et al. (2017). "An Architecture of Virtual Patient Simulation Platform to Train Doctors to Break Bad News," in Conference on computer animation and social agents (casa).
- Ochs, M., Jain, S., and Blache, P. (2018). "Toward an Automatic Prediction of the Sense of Presence in Virtual Reality Environment," in Proceedings of the 6th International Conference on Human-Agent Interaction, 161–166.
- Ochs, M., Mestre, D., De Montcheuil, G., Pergandi, J.-M., Saubesty, J., Lombardo, E., et al. (2019). Training Doctors' Social Skills to Break Bad News: Evaluation of the Impact of Virtual Environment Displays on the Sense of Presence. J. Multimodal User Interfaces 13, 41–51. doi:10.1007/s12193-018-0289-8
- O'Connor, K., Neff, D. M., and Pitman, S. (2018). Burnout in Mental Health Professionals: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Prevalence and Determinants. *Eur. Psychiatry* 53, 74–99.
- Okuda, Y., Bryson, E. O., DeMaria, S., Jr, Jacobson, L., Quinones, J., Shen, B., et al. (2009). The Utility of Simulation in Medical Education: what Is the Evidence? *Mt. Sinai J. Med.* 76, 330–343. doi:10.1002/msj.20127
- Orange, J. (2001). "Family Caregivers, Communication, and Alzheimer's Disease," in Aging, Communication, and Health : Linking Research and Practice for Successful Aging (Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum), 225–248.
- Orton, E., and Mulhausen, P. (2008). E-learning Virtual Patients for Geriatric Education. Gerontology geriatrics Educ. 28, 73–88. doi:10.1300/j021v28n03\_06
- Pan, X., and Hamilton, A. F. d. C. (2018). Why and How to Use Virtual Reality to Study Human Social Interaction: The Challenges of Exploring a New Research Landscape. Br. J. Psychol. 109, 395–417. doi:10.1111/bjop.12290
- Pantziaras, I., Fors, U., and Ekblad, S. (2015). Training with Virtual Patients in Transcultural Psychiatry: Do the Learners Actually Learn? J. Med. Internet Res. 17, e46. doi:10.2196/jmir.3497
- Pantziaras, I., Fors, U., and Ekblad, S. (2014). Virtual Mrs K: The Learners and #8217; Expectations and Attitudes towards a Virtual Patient System in Transcultural Psychiatry. J. Contemp. Med. Edu 2, 109–115. doi:10.5455/ jcme.20140627042240

- Parsons, K., Parsons, T., Pataki, C., Paton, M., St George, C., Sugar, J., et al. (2008). Virtual Justina: A Ptsd Virtual Patient for Clinical Classroom Training. Annu. Rev. CyberTherapy Telemedicine 6.
- Parsons, T. D. (2021). Ethical Challenges of Using Virtual Environments in the Assessment and Treatment of Psychopathological Disorders. J. Clin. Med. 10, 378. doi:10.3390/jcm10030378
- Pavic, K., Oker, A., Chetouani, M., and Chaby, L. (2020). EXPRESS: Age-Related Changes in Gaze Behavior during Social Interaction: an Eye-Tracking Study with an Embodied Conversational Agent. Q. J. Exp. Psychol. (Hove) 74, 1747021820982165–1139. doi:10.1177/1747021820982165
- Peddle, M., Bearman, M., and Nestel, D. (2016). Virtual Patients and Nontechnical Skills in Undergraduate Health Professional Education: an Integrative Review. *Clin. Simul. Nurs.* 12, 400–410. doi:10.1016/j.ecns.2016.04.004
- Pelachaud, C., Busso, C., and Heylen, D. (2021). "Multimodal Behavior Modeling for Socially Interactive Agents," in *The Handbook on Socially Interactive Agents:* 20 Years of Research on Embodied Conversational Agents, Intelligent Virtual Agents, and Social Robotics Volume 1: Methods, Behavior, Cognition, 259–310. doi:10.1145/3477322.3477331
- Philip, P., Micoulaud-Franchi, J. A., Sagaspe, P., Sevin, E., Olive, J., Bioulac, S., et al. (2017). Virtual Human as a New Diagnostic Tool, a Proof of Concept Study in the Field of Major Depressive Disorders. *Sci. Rep.* 7, 42656–7. doi:10.1038/ srep42656
- Philip, P., Dupuy, L., Morin, C. M., de Sevin, E., Bioulac, S., Taillard, J., et al. (2020). Smartphone-based Virtual Agents to Help Individuals with Sleep Concerns during Covid-19 Confinement: Feasibility Study. J. Med. Internet Res. 22, e24268. doi:10.2196/24268
- Piette, J. D., Heisler, M., Krein, S., and Kerr, E. A. (2005). The Role of Patient-Physician Trust in Moderating Medication Nonadherence Due to Cost Pressures. Arch. Intern Med. 165, 1749–1755. doi:10.1001/archinte.165.15.1749
- Piot, M. A., Dechartres, A., Attoe, C., Jollant, F., Lemogne, C., Layat Burn, C., et al. (2020). Simulation in Psychiatry for Medical Doctors: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. *Med. Educ.* 54, 696–708. doi:10.1111/medu.14166
- Pottle, J. (2019). Virtual Reality and the Transformation of Medical Education. *Future Healthc. J.* 6, 181–185. doi:10.7861/fhj.2019-0036
- Priebe, S., Dimic, S., Wildgrube, C., Jankovic, J., Cushing, A., and McCabe, R. (2011). Good Communication in Psychiatry - a Conceptual Review. *Eur. Psychiatr.* 26, 403–407. doi:10.1016/j.eurpsy.2010.07.010
- Provoost, S., Lau, H. M., Ruwaard, J., and Riper, H. (2017). Embodied Conversational Agents in Clinical Psychology: a Scoping Review. J. Med. Internet Res. 19, e151. doi:10.2196/jmir.6553
- Quail, M., Brundage, S. B., Spitalnick, J., Allen, P. J., and Beilby, J. (2016). Student Self-Reported Communication Skills, Knowledge and Confidence across Standardised Patient, Virtual and Traditional Clinical Learning Environments. BMC Med. Educ. 16, 73–12. doi:10.1186/s12909-016-0577-5
- Ramseyer, F., and Tschacher, W. (2011). Nonverbal Synchrony in Psychotherapy: Coordinated Body Movement Reflects Relationship Quality and Outcome. J. Consult. Clin. Psychol. 79, 284–295. doi:10.1037/a0023419
- Ramseyer, F., and Tschacher, W. (2014). Nonverbal Synchrony of Head- and Body-Movement in Psychotherapy: Different Signals Have Different Associations with Outcome. *Front. Psychol.* 5, 979. doi:10.3389/fpsyg.2014. 00979
- Richardson, C. L., White, S., and Chapman, S. (2020). Virtual Patient Technology to Educate Pharmacists and Pharmacy Students on Patient Communication: a Systematic Review. *BMJ Simul. Technol. Enhanc. Learn* 6, 332–338. doi:10. 1136/bmjstel-2019-000514
- Riek, L. (2012). Wizard of Oz Studies in Hri: a Systematic Review and New Reporting Guidelines. Jhri 1, 119–136. doi:10.5898/jhri.1.1.riek
- Riva, G., and Serino, S. (2020). Virtual Reality in the Assessment, Understanding and Treatment of Mental Health Disorders. J. Clin. Med. 9, 3434. doi:10.3390/ jcm9113434
- Rivière, E., Saucier, D., Lafleur, A., Lacasse, M., and Chiniara, G. (2018). Twelve Tips for Efficient Procedural Simulation. *Med. Teach.* 40, 743–751. doi:10.1080/ 0142159X.2017.1391375
- Rizzo, A. S., and Koenig, S. T. (2017). Is Clinical Virtual Reality Ready for Primetime? *Neuropsychology* 31, 877–899. doi:10.1037/neu0000405
- Rizzo, A. S., and Shilling, R. (2017). Clinical Virtual Reality Tools to Advance the Prevention, Assessment, and Treatment of Ptsd. *Eur. J. Psychotraumatology* 8, 1414560. doi:10.1080/20008198.2017.1414560

- Robinson, K. E., Allen, P. J., Quail, M., and Beilby, J. (2020). Virtual Patient Clinical Placements Improve Student Communication Competence. *Interact. Learn. Environ.* 28, 795–805. doi:10.1080/10494820.2018.1552869
- Rössler, W. (2012). Stress, Burnout, and Job Dissatisfaction in Mental Health Workers. Eur. archives psychiatry Clin. Neurosci. 262, 65–69.
- Roter, D. L., Frankel, R. M., Hall, J. A., and Sluyter, D. (2006). The Expression of Emotion through Nonverbal Behavior in Medical Visits. Mechanisms and Outcomes. J. Gen. Intern Med. 21 (Suppl. 1), S28–34. doi:10.1111/j.1525-1497. 2006.00306.x
- Ruben, M. A., Blanch-Hartigan, D., and Shipherd, J. C. (2018). To Know Another's Pain: A Meta-Analysis of Caregivers' and Healthcare Providers' Pain Assessment Accuracy. Ann. Behav. Med. 52, 662–685. doi:10.1093/abm/kax036
- Ruberton, P. M., Huynh, H. P., Miller, T. A., Kruse, E., Chancellor, J., and Lyubomirsky, S. (2016). The Relationship between Physician Humility, Physician-Patient Communication, and Patient Health. *Patient Educ. Couns.* 99, 1138–1145. doi:10.1016/j.pec.2016.01.012
- Ruiz, J. G., and Leipzig, R. M. (2008). Geriasims: Falls Module. J. Am. Geriatrics Soc. 56, 130–131. doi:10.1111/j.1532-5415.2007.01480.x
- Salari, N., Hosseinian-Far, A., Jalali, R., Vaisi-Raygani, A., Rasoulpoor, S., Mohammadi, M., et al. (2020). Prevalence of Stress, Anxiety, Depression Among the General Population during the Covid-19 Pandemic: a Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Glob. Health* 16, 57–11. doi:10.1186/ s12992-020-00589-w
- Schneider, B., Scissons, H., Arney, L., Benson, G., Derry, J., Lucas, K., et al. (2004). Communication between People with Schizophrenia and Their Medical Professionals: a Participatory Research Project. *Qual. Health Res.* 14, 562–577. doi:10.1177/1049732303262423
- Shah, H., Rossen, B., Lok, B., Londino, D., Lind, S. D., and Foster, A. (2012). Interactive Virtual-Patient Scenarios: an Evolving Tool in Psychiatric Education. Acad. Psychiatry 36, 146–50. doi:10.1176/appi.ap.10030049
- Shattell, M. M., Starr, S. S., and Thomas, S. P. (2007). ?Take My Hand, Help Me Out?: Mental Health Service Recipients' Experience of the Therapeutic Relationship. *Int. J. Ment. Health Nurs.* 16, 274–284. doi:10.1111/j.1447-0349.2007.00477.x
- Slater, P., Hasson, F., Gillen, P., Gallen, A., and Parlour, R. (2019). Virtual Simulation Training: Imaged Experience of Dementia. *Int. J. Older People Nurs.* 14, e12243. doi:10.1111/opn.12243
- Staccini, P. M., and Fournier, J.-P. (2019). "Virtual Patients and Serious Games," in *Clinical Simulation* (Amsterdam, Netherlands: Elsevier), 41–51. doi:10.1016/ b978-0-12-815657-5.00004-8
- Staccini, P. (2021). "Serious Games, Simulations, and Virtual Patients," in *Digital Innovations in Healthcare Education and Training* (Amsterdam, Netherlands: Elsevier), 17–27. doi:10.1016/b978-0-12-813144-2.00002-7
- Steel, Z., Marnane, C., Iranpour, C., Chey, T., Jackson, J. W., Patel, V., et al. (2014). The Global Prevalence of Common Mental Disorders: a Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis 1980-2013. *Int. J. Epidemiol.* 43, 476–493. doi:10.1093/ije/ dyu038
- Stepanikova, I., Zhang, Q., Wieland, D., Eleazer, G. P., and Stewart, T. (2012). Nonverbal Communication between Primary Care Physicians and Older Patients: How Does Race Matter? J. Gen. Intern Med. 27, 576–581. doi:10.1007/s11606-011-1934-z
- Strasser, F., Palmer, J. L., Willey, J., Shen, L., Shin, K., Sivesind, D., et al. (2005). Impact of Physician Sitting versus Standing during Inpatient Oncology Consultations: Patients' Preference and Perception of Compassion and Duration. A Randomized Controlled Trial. *J. pain symptom Manag.* 29, 489–497. doi:10.1016/j.jpainsymman.2004.08.011
- Stratou, G., Morency, L.-P., DeVault, D., Hartholt, A., Fast, E., Lhommet, M., et al. (2015). "A Demonstration of the Perception System in Simsensei, a Virtual Human Application for Healthcare Interviews," in 2015 international conference on affective computing and intelligent interaction (ACII) (Xi'an, China: IEEE), 787–789. doi:10.1109/acii.2015.7344661
- Stuckless, P., Hogan, M., and Kapralos, B. (2014). "Virtual Simulations and Serious Games in Community Health Nursing Education: a Review of the Literature," in Virtual, Augmented Reality and Serious Games for Healthcare 1 (Berlin: Springer), 145–158. doi:10.1007/978-3-642-54816-1\_8
- Su, W.-S., and Chang, C.-Y. (2021). Virtual Patient in Interactive Learning Environments: a Review of 1989-2020 Publications in Selected SSCI

Journals. Interact. Learn. Environ. 2021, 1-14. doi:10.1080/10494820.2021. 1879873

- Szilas, N., Chauveau, L., Andkjaer, K., Luiu, A. L., Bétrancourt, M., and Ehrler, F. (2019). "Virtual Patient Interaction via Communicative Acts," in Proceedings of the 19th ACM International Conference on Intelligent Virtual Agents, 91–93. doi:10.1145/3308532.3329457
- Talbot, T. B., and Rizzo, A. S. (2019). "Virtual Standardized Patients for Interactive Conversational Training," in *Exploring the Cognitive, Social, Cultural, and Psychological Aspects of Gaming and Simulations* (Pennsylvania, USA: IGI Global), 62–86. doi:10.4018/978-1-5225-7461-3.ch003
- Tan, T., Montague, E., Furst, J., and Raicu, D. (2020). "Robust Physician Gaze Prediction Using a Deep Learning Approach," in 2020 IEEE 20th International Conference on Bioinformatics and Bioengineering (BIBE) (Cincinnati, OH, USA: IEEE), 993–998. doi:10.1109/bibe50027.2020.00168
- Tan, Z. S., Mulhausen, P. L., Smith, S. R., and Ruiz, J. G. (2010). Virtual Patients in Geriatric Education. Gerontology geriatrics Educ. 31, 163–173. doi:10.1080/ 02701961003795813
- Tanaka, H., Adachi, H., Ukita, N., Ikeda, M., Kazui, H., Kudo, T., et al. (2017a). Detecting Dementia through Interactive Computer Avatars. *IEEE J. Transl. Eng. Health Med.* 5, 1–11. doi:10.1109/jtehm.2017.2752152
- Tanaka, H., Negoro, H., Iwasaka, H., and Nakamura, S. (2017b). Embodied Conversational Agents for Multimodal Automated Social Skills Training in People with Autism Spectrum Disorders. *PloS one* 12, e0182151. doi:10.1371/ journal.pone.0182151
- Templier, L., Chetouani, M., Plaza, M., Belot, Z., Bocquet, P., and Chaby, L. (2015). Altered Identification with Relative Preservation of Emotional Prosody Production in Patients with Alzheimer's Disease. Gériatrie Psychol. Neuropsychiatrie du Vieillissement 13, 106–115. doi:10.1684/pnv. 2015.0524
- Tomicic, A., Pérez, J. C., Martínez, C., and Rodríguez, E. (2017). Vocalization-Silence Dynamic Patterns: A System for Measuring Coordination in Psychotherapeutic Dyadic Conversations. *Rev. Latinoam. Psicol.* 49, 48–60. doi:10.1016/j.rlp.2016.09.004
- Torres, M. I., Chollet, G., Montenegro, C., Tenorio-Laranga, J., Gordeeva, O., Esposito, A., et al. (2018). "Empathic, Expressive, Advanced Virtual Coach to Improve Independent Healthy-Life-Years of the Elderdy," in *IberSPEECH*, 172–173.
- van Manen, A. S., Aarts, S., Metzelthin, S. F., Verbeek, H., Hamers, J. P. H., and Zwakhalen, S. M. G. (2020). A Communication Model for Nursing Staff Working in Dementia Care: Results of a Scoping Review. *Int. J. Nurs. Stud.* 113, 103776. doi:10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2020.103776
- Vougioukas, K., Petridis, S., and Pantic, M. (2020). Realistic Speech-Driven Facial Animation with Gans. Int. J. Comput. Vis. 128, 1398–1413. doi:10.1007/s11263-019-01251-8
- Wang, I., and Ruiz, J. (2021). Examining the Use of Nonverbal Communication in Virtual Agents. Int. J. Human-Computer Interact. 37, 1648–1673. doi:10.1080/ 10447318.2021.1898851
- Wang, R., DeMaria, S., Jr, Goldberg, A., and Katz, D. (2016). A Systematic Review of Serious Games in Training Health Care Professionals. *Simul. Healthc.* 11, 41–51. doi:10.1097/sih.00000000000118
- Williams, S., Weinman, J., and Dale, J. (1998). Doctor-patient Communication and Patient Satisfaction: a Review. *Fam. Pract.* 15, 480–492. doi:10.1093/fampra/15. 5.480
- Wolf, L., Dion, K., Lamoureaux, E., Kenny, C., Curnin, M., Hogan, M. A., et al. (2011). Using Simulated Clinical Scenarios to Evaluate Student Performance. *Nurse Educ.* 36, 128–134. doi:10.1097/nne.0b013e318216120b
- Wullenkord, R., and Eyssel, F. (2020). Societal and Ethical Issues in Hri. Curr. Robot. Rep. 1, 85–96. doi:10.1007/s43154-020-00010-9
- Xavier, J., Vignaud, V., Ruggiero, R., Bodeau, N., Cohen, D., and Chaby, L. (2015). A Multidimensional Approach to the Study of Emotion Recognition in Autism Spectrum Disorders. *Front. Psychol.* 6, 1954. doi:10.3389/fpsyg. 2015.01954
- Zagdoun, J., Chaby, L., Benamara, A., Urbiolla Gallegos, M.-J., and Chetouani, M. (2021). "Non-verbal Behaviors Analysis of Healthcare Professionals Engaged with a Virtual-Patient," in Socially-Informed AI for Healthcare, ICMI'21, Montreal, Canada, October 18–22. doi:10.1145/ 3461615.3485442

- Zoellner, L. A., Pruitt, L. D., Farach, F. J., and Jun, J. J. (2014). Understanding Heterogeneity in Ptsd: Fear, Dysphoria, and Distress. *Depress Anxiety* 31, 97–106. doi:10.1002/da.22133
- Zolnierek, K. B. H., and DiMatteo, M. R. (2009). Physician Communication and Patient Adherence to Treatment. *Med. care* 47, 826–834. doi:10.1097/mlr. 0b013e31819a5acc

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The handling editor AO declared a past co-authorship with the author LC.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Chaby, Benamara, Pino, Prigent, Ravenet, Martin, Vanderstichel, Becerril-Ortega, Rigaud and Chetouani. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

#### Check for updates

#### OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Regis Kopper, University of North Carolina at Greensboro, United States

REVIEWED BY Fernando Marmolejo-Ramos, University of South Australia, Australia

\*CORRESPONDENCE A. Oker, ali.oker@univ-reims.fr

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Virtual Reality and Human Behaviour, a section of the journal Frontiers in Virtual Reality

RECEIVED 05 June 2022 ACCEPTED 04 October 2022 PUBLISHED 13 October 2022

#### CITATION

Oker A (2022), Embodied social cognition investigated with virtual agents: The infinite loop between social brain and virtual reality. *Front. Virtual Real.* 3:962129. doi: 10.3389/frvir.2022.962129

#### COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Oker. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

# Embodied social cognition investigated with virtual agents: The infinite loop between social brain and virtual reality

#### A. Oker\*

France Laboratoire C2S (Cognition, Santé, Société) EA6291, Université de Reims Champagne Ardenne, Reims, France

While the debate regarding the embodied nature of human cognition is still a research interest in cognitive science and epistemology, recent findings in neuroscience suggest that cognitive processes involved in social interaction are based on the simulation of others' cognitive states and ours as well. However, until recently most research in social cognition continues to study mental processes in social interaction deliberately isolated from each other following 19th century's scientific reductionism. Lately, it has been proposed that social cognition, being emerged in interactive situations, cannot be fully understood with experimental paradigms and stimuli which put the subjects in a passive stance towards social stimuli. Moreover, social neuroscience seems to concur with the idea that a simulation process of possible outcomes of social interaction occurs before the action can take place. In this "perspective" article, we propose that in the light of past and current research in social neuroscience regarding the implications of mirror neuron system and empathy altogether, these findings can be interpreted as a framework for embodied social cognition. We also propose that if the simulation process for the mentalization network works in ubiquity with the mirror neuron system, human experimentations for facial recognition and empathy need a new kind of stimuli. After a presentation of embodied social cognition, we will discuss the future of methodological prerequisites of social cognition studies in this area. On the matter, we will argue that the affective and reactive virtual agents are at the center in conducting such research.

#### KEYWORDS

embodied social cognition, virtual agents, social brain, social interaction, affective cognition

## Introduction

We owe to Fodor (1983), one of the most eminent propositions of a functional topography of cognitive mechanisms underlying behavior. By proposing the modularity of mind, Fodor (1983) acknowledged that there are different levels of information processing such as input-system and higher-level processing. According to this, input-system level would be modular, which means self-contained modules representing

lower-level object-identification (perceptual, linguistic, or other) whereas higher level such as reasoning would be without any specific modules.

This view of human cognition had an impact on the scholars to study solely module centric expressions of human cognition, from a symbolic point of view until the advent of embodied cognition as a new proposition of the human mind. Therefore, before embodied cognition became a new framework for studying the human mind, cognitive sciences have had a longtime experience on scientific reductionism. It tends to study and describe mental processes underlying conscious or unconscious behavior by creating experimental situations which allows excluding various factors and stimuli by leaving only one or a few of interest just to be interested primarily to input-system level modules.

Contrarily, the embodied cognition defines the human cognition being holistically situated, being a part of the physical world, grounded in mechanisms that evolved for interaction with the environment and utterly using action for receiving input and as a response (Wilson, 2002). On the matter, it has been already proposed that even in the case of abstract domains, such as concepts and metaphors, there is always sensorimotor properties associated with them. The simulation system seems to be a key component in manipulating concepts, not only related to sensorimotor representations but also intentions and beliefs, which are components of social cognition (for a review see Marmolejo-Ramos et al., 2017).

The study of social cognition has also suffered from the main paradigm that prevails until now: features composing social cognition have been investigated by separating psychological constructs and by designing paradigms that require the observation and interpretation of a unique social stimulus. The most documented constructs such as theory of mind, empathy and emotion recognition have been tested by presenting picture stimuli, drawings, or videos that place the subject in a passive stance adopting the third person perspective. Such an approach was criticized by Schilbach et al. (2013): "social cognition is fundamentally different when we are emotionally engaged with someone as compared to adopting an attitude of detachment and when we are interacting with someone as compared to merely observing her" (pg. 396).

In line with this claim, we will consider in this perspective paper that the phenomena of interpersonal interaction as central to research in social cognition and assume that they should not be reduced to the separated constructs cited above. Moreover, following the advent of embodied cognition, we will show that new intersubjective stimuli, namely virtual agents, can be proposed for studying embodied social cognition. Firstly, we will present what is called embodied social cognition, following the neuroscientific evidence in the literature. Finally, we will show why and how affective virtual agents seem to be a tailormade technology in the service embodied social cognition framework, but more particularly for psychiatry and mental health studies.

## Embodied social cognition

Embodied Social Cognition as a theoretical construct followed the emergence of embodied cognition which is a great rupture from Fodor's (1983) view of human cognition. In embodied cognition, some authors such as Clark (1997); cited by Chemero, 2011) favors a radical approach, claims that there is no abstract information processing between perceptual features of the object and its symbolic representation and thus, it is inconceivable to separate action and perception in bodily experience. Moreover, in this view, the cognition is also enactive, a concept proposed by Varela et al. (1991) which states that our understanding of an object in a given environment is solely determined by mutual interactions between the organism (and its neuropsychological functioning) and the environment. Thus, phenomenologically, the sense that we attribute to the objects is not a result of an abstraction process from visual features to a representation but an enactment of bodily activities. Moreover, according to Wilson (2002), embodied cognition is situated; it "involves interaction with the thing that the cognitive activity is about. . .in the context of task-relevant inputs and outputs" (pg. 626). This would suggest that cognitive activity is always "on-line" with the features regarding the elements of the environment, the action-perception coupling, and the bodily experience by a simulation process (Wilson, 2002).

Naturally, the idea of applying embodied cognition framework in the field of social cognition has been proposed in the last 15 years. For instance, Gallese (2007) paved the way by proposing that the mirror neuron system in monkeys and humans and the simulation (Gallese and Sinigaglia, 2011) can be accounted for embodied social cognition framework. The mirror neuron system has been discovered in the 90's within the ventral premotor cortex of the macaque monkey (Di Pellegrino et al., 1992; Gallese et al., 1996), although today, its subsequent areas is still a research interest (for a review see, Kilner and Lemon, 2013). This neuron network was found implicated when a monkey performs an action such as grasping and when monkey just observes another one performing a similar action (Di Pellegrino et al., 1992; Gallese et al., 1996), thus called the mirror neuron system (for a review, see Rizolatti et al., 2001). The extent of MNS (mirror network system) in humans seems to be broader: implicating human inferior frontal gyrus (IFG), (Parsons et al., 1995; also see Keysers and Gazzola, 2006). According to Oberman et al. (2007), the MNS works in line with superior temporal sulcus (known also for facial expression recognition, see Iacoboni et al., 2001); inferior parietal lobule (known also for body image, Buccino et al., 2001); and the limbic system (known also for emotion; Singer et al., 2004). According to Oberman et al. (2007) these systems altogether "may play a key role in multiple aspects of social cognition from biological action perception to empathy" (pg. 62). However, as Heyes et al. (2022) proposed, the MNS framework in social cognition seems to lose interest of scholar the last decade, however there is "still much to be discovered about the sources and developmental timing of the sensorimotor experience that builds mirror neurons and how this information might be used for clinical and educational interventions" (pg. 162).

If social cognition has been identified by any cognitive process "that involves conspecifics, either at a group level or on a one-to-one basis" (Blakemore et al., 2004, pg. 216), according to these authors, understanding others' actions, intentions, and emotions, also called mentalization, is a key object in social cognition. Indeed, other authors such as Van Overwalle and Baetens (2009) and Iacobonu et al. (2005) propose that there is a cooperation between MNS and the mentalizing network (the precuneus, the temporo-parietal junction and the medial prefrontal cortex), by the fact that the MNS provides crucial information to the mentalizing network particularly when moving parts of a body is observed<sup>1</sup>.

Moreover, it seems that there is another cooperation between MNS and emotion recognition (Bastiaansen et al., 2009). According to these authors, motor simulation may be a trigger for the simulation of associated feeling states. In other words, simulation of other people's facial configuration and imitation can trigger pertinent emotional states. This proposition is in line with the work of Niedenthal et al. (2001) which reported that blocking facial mimicry leads to a slower detection of facial expression. Bastiaansen et al. (2009) concludes that "regions involved in stimulating facial expressions indeed seem to trigger an affective simulation of the hidden inner states of others" (pg. 2397). On the subject, it is worth mentioning that Holstege et al. (1996) reports a case study with a patient having a small infarction in the white matter which interrupted the corticobulbar fibers originating in the face part of the motor cortex. Holstege et al. (1996) highlights the fact that the patient, although unable to use oral muscles on her left side of the mouth voluntarily, was able use the same muscles when she reacts spontaneously to a joke or a funny remark. According to Holstege et al. (1996), this should provide an argument for the existence of two distinct motor systems, one voluntary and other emotional (the latter can also be characterized as automatic).

Regarding recognition other's facial expressions, Van der Gaag et al. (2007), proposed that the MNS can, in concert with the limbic regions and somatosensory system, become active during the monitoring of facial expressions as well as the production of similar facial expressions. However, whether the mimicry plays a central role in emotion recognition is still a research topic (see Niedenthal et al., 2010), for instance "people with bilateral facial paralysis stemming from Moebius syndrome can categorize the facial expressions of others without difficulty" according to Rives Bogart and Matsumoto (2010), cited by Morsella et al., 2010; pg. 456). Moreover, mimicry (or lack thereof) has already been studied in neuroatypical children with the use of virtual agents as a stimulus (Forbes et al., 2016).

# Studying embodied social cognition with virtual agents

Affective and reactive virtual agents have the ability to simulate human behaviors, and to present stimuli that trigger social interaction while providing a strong degree of experimental control and reproducibility (Wilms et al., 2010). The opportunity of using virtual agents, also called embodied conversational agents—ECA (Cassell et al., 2001), has been highlighted by Gratch (2014). According to Gratch (2014), virtual agents simulate embodied aspects of human behavior, particularly in non-verbal behavior. In this section, we will present how and why virtual agents and virtual characters are part of virtual reality and virtual environments, then how they can be an asset in the field of cognitive psychopathology.

### Virtual agents provide interaction

Until last decade, all studies conducted before used either static stimuli such as photographs or dynamic stimuli such as movie clips provided by actors expressing an emotion but, in every situation, participants are inactive and mere observers. Researchers point out that studying the recognition of emotions with static images is not consistent with what happens in everyday life (Isaacowitz and Stanley, 2011). Emotional recognition and contextualization of emotion in a discourse are dynamic processes, integrating several sensory modalities, where both interlocutors are active, and not in a situation where the participant is a passive observer as previous studies presented in social cognition. Recently, the importance of interactive and immersive environments for investigating social cognition has been highlighted (Zaki and Ochsner, 2009; Schilbach et al., 2013). Schilbach et al. (2013) advocate the idea of using social interactions to study social behaviors and knowledge (including recognition) because, in their view, there is a difference between observing an interaction and participating in the interaction. Participating in social interaction involves emotional engagement, which is displaced from traditional emotional recognition tasks (Schilbach et al., 2013).

For example, one study conducted by affective and reactive virtual agents showed that ocular strategies in social cognition for information gathering are different whether the experimental setting is interactive or not and whether healthy aging individuals listen or answer (Pavic et al., 2021) to the question asked by virtual avatars animated by a platform named "Virtual Interactive Behaviour" (Pecune et al., 2014). Another example

<sup>1</sup> This might also be the case of bodily expressions of emotions, as De Gelder et al. (2004) described.

Giraud et al. (2021) present a design of a virtual interactive system in which a virtual agent plays a mediator role for the training of children with autism spectrum disorder (ASD). The proposed system is composed of a virtual character projected onto a surface on which a tangible object is magnetized: both the user and the anthropomorphic virtual character hold the object, thus simulating a joint action. Although realizing a joint action is a difficult task for children with ASD, preliminary feedback from this study is encouraging.

# Virtual agents provide automatic immersion

As pointed out by Pan and Hamilton (2018), virtual reality is not just "things viewed in a head-mounted display' but means among other things 'a computer-generated world" (pg.395). Of course, virtual agents can be a part of words presented in a headmounted display, however, this is not why they provide immersion and interaction to the user. Regarding immersion, it should be noted that arguments presented above regarding the MNS explain why the sole presentation of a real emotional face triggers simulation in cognitive system. Regarding automatic immersion provided by virtual agents, there is a largely known phenomenon called 'The Uncanny Valley' proposed by Masahiro Mori, 1970. According to Mori (1970), humanlike objects, such as robots, provoke positive emotional responses according to their degree of human likeness. However, at some point, when a certain degree of likeness is reached, the humanlike object is qualified by being repulsive. Among several explanations of this phenomenon, one is of importance for the main contribution of this paper: components of social cognition but particularly empathy would be involved when visualizing inanimate objects depicting humans (Misselhorn, 2009; Stein and Ohler, 2017).

However, it can be proposed that virtual agents being an 3D graphical animation, the immersion that they provide are lesser than the real humans. On the contrary, it is worth noting that most advanced virtual agent platforms simulation of emotional facial expressions are based on real human facial muscle contractions by a taxonomy provided by the works of Paul Ekman. The relevance of ECA's is that they allow researchers to manipulate the action units which are supposed to be universal and based on the actual human facial muscle contractions (Ekman and Friesen, 1978; Ekman, 2002). Ekman and Friesen (1978) proposed the idea that there would be prototypical features for expressions of which some of them would be also universal (Ekman, 1994). To this end, Ekman and Friesen (1978) also proposed a taxonomic system of facial muscles named FACS (Facial Action Coding System) which would standardize physical expression of emotions. These 44 codes called "Action Units" are what is being used to animate most conversational virtual agents today, but not all. In fact, these authors used largely (but not

only) the description of human facial muscles described by Darwin in 1872. In the book "the expression of the emotions in man and animals," Darwin (1872) depicted the facial muscles involved in the facial expressions. Although the animation of action units in virtual environments can differ because of the technology used, it can be proposed that the simultaneous use of these units within different intensities can create more than 7.000 different combinations (Scherer and Ekman, 1982). For instance, one of these ECA's namely MARC (Multimodal Affective and Reactive Characters) framework (Courgeon et al., 2008; Courgeon and Clavel, 2013) can be used to animate a realistic 3D character. It is a software of virtual agents capable of expressing emotions through facial expressions while interacting with the user, based on actions units. MARC is a multi-character animation platform including body and facial animations in real-time. Its architecture is composed by 3 modules: 3D animation software interactive in real time, an offline editor of facial expressions and an offline body animation editor (see Figure 1).

Finally, the embodied point of view of social cognition assumes that intentionality and perception cannot be explained apart from the action that accompanies it (Barsalou, 2009). This is also the case for the spontaneous discourse comprehension and inferences which can be made through the same simulation process of actions (Cevasco and Marmolejo-Ramos, 2013). According to the embodied social cognition, we could understand the intentionality of the other only with internal simulation, which is an automatic and nonconscious reconstitution of events. This reconstruction may be possible only if the virtual agent has the same physical characteristics with us, like the same facial muscle contractions and if these muscle contractions have a meaning in the context of events. Thus, our claim is that the use of embodied conversational agents animated with the action units are tailor-made stimuli for affective cognitive sciences studies. The use of the same human facial muscles can trigger the MNS more directly and automatically than any other stimuli, and the fact that virtual agents can adapt their behavior in accordance with user's input makes them situated which (which is a prerequisite of embodied social cognition) cannot be done with videos or animations.

### Virtual agents are tailored-made stimuli for affective cognitive sciences and mental health studies

One of the biggest issues in experimental research on affective cognitive sciences is the difficulty to design interactive paradigms that are, at the same time, ecological, controlled, and reproducible. Progress in affective computing is overcoming these constraints. Embodied conversational agents—ECA (Cassell et al., 2001) are at the center of all the



requirements: They can simulate human intelligence, communicate by expressing affects via facial expressions and affective prosody, react according to user's actions, and contextualize a human interaction. Thus, ECAs can be used in facial expression experiments, (Grynszpan et al., 2011; Marcos-Pablos et al., 2016). For instance, Grynszpan et al. (2011) showed that when interacting with a virtual agent, people with high functioning autism spectrum disorders showed a weaker modulation of eye movements, suggesting impairments in self-monitoring of gaze (for a debate regarding the autism and MNS see Heyes et al., 2022). Interesting enough, in Marcos-Pablos et al. (2016), although people with schizophrenia globally present deficits in the recognition of facial expressions, they showed that patients outperform the control group in the recognition of happiness when they are dealing with the virtual agent expressing happiness.

Other attempts for investigating facial expressions recognition, empathy, and intentionality performance in psychiatry with the use of ECA's have been made (Oker et al., 2015; Barrada-Baby et al., 2016). Oker et al. (2015) evaluated whether a virtual card game with affective and reactive virtual agents can be proposed to people with schizophrenia. In their study created with MARC platform presented above, people suffering from schizophrenia were presented a game in which they met a female virtual agent and had to infer from her facial expression displays which card to choose to match the color of another card. They suggest that the interaction with virtual agents can be fully functional with patients with schizophrenia. Another study showed that patients with schizophrenia are less prone to interpret virtual characters empathetic questioning as helpful during an interaction following the same virtual card game (Berrada-Baby et al., 2016).

Moreover, although this is beyond the scope of this paper, virtual reality and virtual avatars have also been proposed as cueexposure therapy for substance use disorders (Hone-Blanchet et al., 2014). Other studies with virtual agents interested in social anxiety (Kiser et al., 2022), social phobia (Ruch et al., 2014) or assessment of depression and anxiety (Egede et al., 2021). Regarding mental health issues and therapeutic interventions which can be made by virtual agents, one cannot ignore that unparalleled advances have been made in the field of emotional artificial intelligence. Emotional AI is a term for artificial intelligence as a biologically inspired cognitive architecture which can interact with people according to their emotions. These emotions can be gathered for instance by facial expression configurations (Ko, 2018) displayed during interaction. As such, if implemented to virtual agents, they can adapt their behavior, discourse, and facial expressions according to the user's mood and induced emotional states, allowing them to adapt their behavior autonomously to motivate them and obtain a more engaging social interaction (Rodríguez and Ramos, 2014; Barrett et al., 2019) which could have more successful therapeutic outcomes.

In conclusion, to perform a functional social interaction, the importance of interpreting others' emotional states, needs and

desires is well documented (Beer and Ochsner, 2006; Frith and Frith, 2012). These emotional states can be mostly interpreted by facial expression recognition (Izard, 2001; Kohler et al., 2002) and the direction of one's gaze (Pfeiffer et al., 2013). People who have difficulties to process and integrate all this information have been reported to be impaired in social interactions and quality of life, such as depression and social isolation. In the literature, these impairments in the adults have been reported mostly in schizophrenia (Brüne, 2005; Penn et al., 2008), schizotypy (Wang et al., 2015), but also in aging individuals (Chaby and Narme, 2009; Ziaei et al., 2016). The use of virtual agents can achieve a huge leap by taking advantage of human neurology in an attempt to understand, evaluate and rehabilitate these pathologies more efficiently than any other stimuli.

# Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

# References

Barrett, L. F., Adolphs, R., Marsella, S., Martinez, A. M., and Pollak, S. D. (2019). Emotional expressions reconsidered: Challenges to inferring emotion from human facial movements. *Phil. Trans. R. Soc. B* 20 (1), 1–68. doi:10.1177/1529100619832930

Barsalou, L. W. (2009). Simulation, situated conceptualization, and prediction. *Philosophical Trans. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci.* 364 (1521), 1281–1289. doi:10.1098/rstb. 2008.0319

Bastiaansen, J. A., Thioux, M., and Keysers, C. (2009). Evidence for mirror systems in emotions. *Phil. Trans. R. Soc. B* 364 (1528), 2391–2404. doi:10.1098/rstb. 2009.0058

Beer, J. S., and Ochsner, K. N. (2006). Social cognition: A multi level analysis. Brain Res. 1079 (1), 98–105. doi:10.1016/j.brainres.2006.01.002

Berrada-Baby, Z., Oker, A., Courgeon, M., Urbach, M., Bazin, N., Amorim, M. A., et al. (2016). Patients with schizophrenia are less prone to interpret virtual others' empathetic questioning as helpful. *Psychiatry Res.* 242, 67–74. doi:10.1016/j. psychres.2016.05.022

Blakemore, S. J., Winston, J., and Frith, U. (2004). Social cognitive neuroscience: Where are we heading? *Trends cognitive Sci.* 8 (5), 216–222. doi:10.1016/j.tics.2004. 03.012

Brüne, M. (2005). Emotion recognition, 'theory of mind, 'and social behavior in schizophrenia. *Psychiatry Res.* 133 (2-3), 135–147. doi:10.1016/j.psychres.2004. 10.007

Buccino, G., Binkofski, F., Fink, G. R., Fadiga, L., Fogassi, L., Gallese, V., et al. (2001). Action observation activates premotor and parietal areas in a somatotopic manner: An fMRI study. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 13, 400–404.

Cassell, J., Cevasco, J., and Marmolejo-Ramos, F. (2001). Embodied conversational agents: Representation and intelligence in user interfacesThe importance of studying the role of prosody in the comprehension of spontaneous spoken discourse. *AI Mag. Latinoam. Psicol.* 2245 (41), 6721–6733. doi:10.1609/aimag.v22i4.1593

Chaby, L., and Narme, P. (2009). Processing facial identity and emotional expression in normal aging and neurodegenerative diseases. *Psychol. Neuropsychiatr. Vieil.* 7 (1), 31–42. doi:10.1684/pnv.2008.0154

Chemero, A. (2011). Radical embodied cognitive science. Massachisetts: MIT Press.

Clark, A. (1997). Being there. Cambridge, Mass: MIT Press.

# Author contributions

The author confirms being the sole contributor of this work and has approved it for publication.

## Conflict of interest

The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

## Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Courgeon, M., and Clavel, C. (2013). Marc: A framework that features emotion models for facial animation during human-computer interaction. J. Multimodal User Interfaces 7 (4), 311-319. doi:10.1007/s12193-013-0124-1

Courgeon, M., Martin, J. C., and Jacquemin, C. (2008). "Marc: A multimodal affective and reactive character," in *Proceedings of the 1st workshop on affective interaction in natural environments* (Chania, Greece: Spinger).

Darwin, C. (1872). The expression of the emotions in man and animals by Charles Darwin. London: John Murray.

De Gelder, B., Snyder, J., Greve, D., Gerard, G., Hadjikhani, N., Di Pellegrino, G., et al. (2004). Fear fosters flight: A mechanism for fear contagion when perceiving emotion expressed by a whole bodyUnderstanding motor events: A neurophysiological study. *Exp. Brain Res.Experimental Brain Res.* 10191 (471), 16701176–16706180. doi:10.1007/bf00230027

Di Pellegrino, G., Fadiga, L., Fogassi, L., Gallese, V., and Rizzolatti, G. (1992). Understanding motor events: A neurophysiological study. *Exp. Brain Res.* 9 (1), 176–180.

Egede, J. O., Price, D., Krishnan, D. B., Jaiswal, S., Elliott, N., Morriss, R., et al. (2021). "Design and evaluation of virtual human mediated tasks for assessment of depression and anxiety," in *Proceedings of the 21st ACM inte*rnational Conference on intelligent virtual agents (New York, United States: Association for Computing Machinery), 52–59.

Ekman, P. (2002). Facial action coding system (FACS). A human face. Salt Lake City: Paul Ekman Group.

Ekman, P., and Friesen, W. V. (1978). Facial action coding system. *Environ.* Psychol. Nonverbal Behav.

Ekman, P. (1994). Strong evidence for universals in facial expressions: A reply to russell's mistaken critique. *Psychol. Bull.* 115, 268–287. doi:10.1037/0033-2909.115. 2.268

Fodor, J. A. (1983). The modularity of mind. Massachisetts: MIT Press.

Forbes, P. A., Pan, X., and de C Hamilton, A. F. (2016). Reduced mimicry to virtual reality avatars in autism spectrum disorder. J. Autism Dev. Disord. 46 (12), 3788–3797. doi:10.1007/s10803-016-2930-2

Frith, C. D., and Frith, U. (2012). Mechanisms of social cognition. Annu. Rev. Psychol. 63, 287–313. doi:10.1146/annurev-psych-120710-100449

Gallese, V. (2007). Before and below 'theory of mind': Embodied simulation and the neural correlates of social cognition. *Phil. Trans. R. Soc. B* 362 (1480), 659–669. doi:10.1098/rstb.2006.2002

Gallese, V., Fadiga, L., Fogassi, L., and Rizzolatti, G. (1996). Action recognition in the premotor cortex. *Brain* 119 (2), 593–609. doi:10.1093/brain/119.2.593

Gallese, V., and Sinigaglia, C. (2011). What is so special about embodied simulation? *Trends cognitive Sci.* 15 (11), 512–519. doi:10.1016/j.tics.2011.09.003

Giraud, T., Ravenet, B., Tai Dang, C., Nadel, J., Prigent, E., Poli, G., et al. (2021). "Can you help me move this over there?": Training children with ASD to joint action through tangible interaction and virtual agent," in *Proceedings of the fifteenth international conference on tangible, embedded, and embodied interaction* (New York, United States: Association for Computing Machinery), 1–12.

Gratch, J. (2014). "Understanding the mind by simulating the body: Virtual humans as a tool for cognitive science research," in *Oxford handbook of cognitive science* (Oxford: Oxford University Press).

Grynszpan, O., Nadel, J., Jacques, C., Le Barillier, F., Carbonell, N., Simonin, J., et al. (2011). A new virtual environment paradigm for high-functioning autism intended to help attentional disengagement in a social context. *J. Phys. Ther. Educ.* 25 (1), 42–47. doi:10.1097/00001416-201110000-00008

Heyes, C., Catmur, C., Holstege, G., Bandler, R., and Saper, C. B. (2022). What happened to mirror neurons? The emotional motor system. *Prog. Brain Res. Progress Brain Res.* 17107 (1), 1533–1686. doi:10.1016/s0079-6123(08)61855-5

Holstege, G., Bandler, R., and Saper, C. B. (1996). The emotional motor system. *Prog. Brain Res.* 107, 3–6.

Hone-Blanchet, A., Wensing, T., and Fecteau, S. (2014). The use of virtual reality in craving assessment and cue-exposure therapy in substance use disorders. *Front. Hum. Neurosci.* 8, 844. doi:10.3389/fnhum.2014.00844

Iacoboni, M., Koski, L. M., Brass, M., Bekkering, H., Woods, R. P., Dubeau, M. C., et al. (2001). Reafferent copies of imitated actions in the right superior temporal cortex. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 98 (24), 13995–13999. doi:10.1073/pnas. 241474598

Iacoboni, M., Molnar-Szakacs, I., Gallese, V., Buccino, G., Mazziotta, J. C., and Rizzolatti, G. (2005). Grasping the intentions of others with one's own mirror neuron system. *PLoS Biol.* 3 (3), e79. doi:10.1371/journal.pbio.0030079

Isaacowitz, D. M., and Stanley, J. T. (2011). Bringing an ecological perspective to the study of aging and recognition of emotional facial expressions: Past, current, and future methods. *J. Nonverbal Behav.* 35 (4), 261–278. doi:10.1007/s10919-011-0113-6

Izard, C. E. (2001). Emotional intelligence or adaptive emotions? *Emotion* 3, 249–257.

Keysers, C., and Gazzola, V. (2006). Towards a unifying neural theory of social cognition. *Prog. Brain Res.* 156, 379-401. doi:10.1016/S0079-6123(06)56021-2

Kilner, J. M., and Lemon, R. N. (2013). What we know currently about mirror neurons. Curr. Biol. 23 (23), R1057–R1062. doi:10.1016/j.cub.2013.10.051

Kiser, D., Gromer, D., Pauli, P., Hilger, K., and Ko, B. C. (2022). A virtual reality social conditioned place preference paradigm for humans: Does trait social anxiety affect approach and avoidance of virtual agents? A brief review of facial emotion recognition based on visual information. *Sensors* 18 (2), 401. doi:10.3390/s18020401

Ko, B. C. (2018). A brief review of facial emotion recognition based on visual information. *Sensors* 18 (2), 401.

Kohler, E., Keysers, C., Umilta, M. A., Fogassi, L., Gallese, V., and Rizzolatti, G. (2002). Hearing sounds, understanding actions: Action representation in mirror neurons. *Science* 297 (5582), 846–848. doi:10.1126/science.1070311

Marcos-Pablos, S., González-Pablos, E., Martín-Lorenzo, C., Flores, L. A., Gómez-García-Bermejo, J., and Zalama, E. (2016). Virtual avatar for emotion recognition in patients with schizophrenia: A pilot study. *Front. Hum. Neurosci.* 10, 421. doi:10.3389/fnhum.2016.00421

Marmolejo-Ramos, F., Khatin-Zadeh, O., Yazdani-Fazlabadi, B., Tirado, C., and Sagi, E. (2017). Embodied concept mapping: Blending structure-mapping and embodiment theories. *Pragmat. Cognition* 24 (2), 164–185. doi:10.1075/pc. 17013.mar

Misselhorn, C. (2009). Empathy with inanimate objects and the uncanny valley. Minds Mach. (Dordr). 19 (3), 345–359. doi:10.1007/s11023-009-9158-2

Mori, M. (1970). The Uncanny Valley : The original essay by Masahiro Mori. IEEE Spectr.

Morsella, E., Montemayor, C., Hubbard, J., and Zarolia, P. (2010). Conceptual knowledge: Grounded in sensorimotor states, or a disembodied deus ex machina? *Behav. Brain Sci.* 33 (6), 455–456. doi:10.1017/s0140525x10001573

Niedenthal, P. M., Brauer, M., Halberstadt, J. B., and Innes-Ker, Å. H. (2001). When did her smile drop? Facial mimicry and the influences of emotional state on the detection of change in emotional expression. *Cognition Emot.* 15 (6), 853–864. doi:10.1080/02699930143000194 Niedenthal, P. M., Mermillod, M., Maringer, M., and Hess, U. (2010). The Simulation of Smiles (SIMS) model: Embodied simulation and the meaning of facial expression. *Behav. Brain Sci.* 33, 417–433. doi:10.1017/s0140525x10000865

Oberman, L. M., Winkielman, P., and Ramachandran, V. S. (2007). Face to face: Blocking facial mimicry can selectively impair recognition of emotional expressions. *Soc. Neurosci.* 2 (3-4), 167–178. doi:10.1080/17470910701391943

Oker, A., Prigent, E., Courgeon, M., Eyharabide, V., Urbach, M., Bazin, N., et al. (2015). How and why affective and reactive virtual agents will bring new insights on social cognitive disorders in schizophrenia? An illustration with a virtual card game paradigm. *Front. Hum. Neurosci.* 9, 133. doi:10.3389/fnhum.2015.00133

Pan, X., and Hamilton, A. F. D. C. (2018). Why and how to use virtual reality to study human social interaction: The challenges of exploring a new research landscape. *Br. J. Psychol.* 109 (3), 395–417. doi:10.1111/bjop.12290

Parsons, L. M., Fox, P. T., Downs, J. H., Glass, T., Hirsch, T. B., Martin, C. C., et al. (1995). Use of implicit motor imagery for visual shape discrimination as revealed by PET. *Nature* 375 (6526), 54–58. doi:10.1038/375054a0

Pavic, K., Oker, A., Chetouani, M., and Chaby, L. (2021). Age-related changes in gaze behaviour during social interaction: An eye-tracking study with an embodied conversational agent. *Q. J. Exp. Psychol.* 74 (6), 1128–1139. doi:10.1177/1747021820982165

Pecune, F., Cafaro, A., Chollet, M., Philippe, P., and Pelachaud, C. (2014). "Suggestions for extending saiba with the vib platform," in *14th international conference on intelligent virtual agents* (Boston: Springer), 16–20.

Penn, D. L., Sanna, L. J., and Roberts, D. L. (2008). Social cognition in schizophrenia: An overview. *Schizophr. Bull.* 34 (3), 408–411. doi:10.1093/ schbul/sbn014

Pfeiffer, U. J., Vogeley, K., and Schilbach, L. (2013). From gaze cueing to dual eyetracking: Novel approaches to investigate the neural correlates of gaze in social interaction. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 37 (10), 2516–2528. doi:10.1016/j.neubiorev. 2013.07.017

Rives Bogart, K., and Matsumoto, D. (2010). Facial mimicry is not necessary to recognize emotion: Facial expression recognition by people with Moebius syndrome. *Soc. Neurosci.* 5 (2), 241–251. doi:10.1080/17470910903395692

Rizzolatti, G., Fogassi, L., Gallese, V., Rodríguez, L. F., and Ramos, F. (2001). Neurophysiological mechanisms underlying the understanding and imitation of actionDevelopment of computational models of emotions for autonomous agents: A review. *Cogn. Comput.Cognitive Comput.* 26 (93), 661351–670375. doi:10.1007/ s12559-013-9244-x

Rodríguez, L. F., and Ramos, F. (2014). Development of computational models of emotions for autonomous agents: A review. *Cogn. Comput.* 6 (3), 351–375.

Ruch, W. F., Platt, T., Hofmann, J., Niewiadomski, R., Urbain, J., Mancini, M., et al. (2014). Gelotophobia and the challenges of implementing laughter into virtual agents interactions. *Front. Hum. Neurosci.* 8, 928. doi:10.3389/fnhum.2014.00928

Scherer, K. R., and Ekman, P. (1982). Methodological issues in studying nonverbal behavior. *Handb. methods nonverbal Behav. Res.* 1, 44.

Schilbach, L., Timmermans, B., Reddy, V., Costall, A., Bente, G., Schlicht, T., et al. (2013). Toward a second-person neuroscienceVenturing into the Uncanny Valley of mind—the influence of mind attribution on the acceptance of human-like characters in a virtual reality setting. *Behav. Brain Sci.* 36160 (4), 39343–41450. doi:10.1016/j.cognition.2016.12.010

Singer, T., Seymour, B., O'doherty, J., Kaube, H., Dolan, R. J., and Frith, C. D. (2004). Empathy for pain involves the affective but not sensory components of pain. *Sci.* 303 (5661), 1157–1162.

Stein, J. P., and Ohler, P. (2017). Venturing into the uncanny valley of mind—The influence of mind attribution on the acceptance of human-like characters in a virtual reality setting. *Cognition* 160, 43–50.

Van der Gaag, C., Minderaa, R. B., and Keysers, C. (2007). Facial expressions: What the mirror neuron system can and cannot tell us. *Soc. Neurosci.* 2 (3-4), 179–222. doi:10.1080/17470910701376878

Van Overwalle, F., and Baetens, K. (2009). Understanding others' actions and goals by mirror and mentalizing systems: A meta-analysis. *Neuroimage* 48 (3), 564–584. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2009.06.009

Varela, F., Thompson, E., and Rosch, E. (1991). The embodied mind: Cognitive science and human experience. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.

Wang, Y., Liu, W. H., Li, Z., Wei, X. H., Jiang, X. Q., Neumann, D. L., et al. (2015). Dimensional schizotypy and social cognition: An fMRI imaging study. *Front. Behav. Neurosci.* 9, 133. doi:10.3389/fnbeh.2015.00133

Wilms, M., Schilbach, L., Pfeiffer, U., Bente, G., Fink, G. R., and Vogeley, K. (2010). It's in your eyes—Using gaze-contingent stimuli to create truly interactive paradigms for social cognitive and affective neuroscience. *Soc. cognitive Affect. Neurosci.* 5 (1), 98–107. doi:10.1093/scan/nsq024

Wilson, M. (2002). Six views of embodied cognition. *Psychonomic Bull. Rev.* 9 (4), 625–636. doi:10.3758/bf03196322

Zaki, J., and Ochsner, K. (2009). The need for a cognitive neuroscience of naturalistic social cognition. *Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci.* 1167, 16–30. doi:10.1111/j. 1749-6632.2009.04601.x

Ziaei, M., Burianová, H., von Hippel, W., Ebner, N. C., Phillips, L. H., and Henry, J. D. (2016). The impact of aging on the neural networks involved in gaze and emotional processing. *Neurobiol. Aging* 48, 182–194. doi:10.1016/j.neurobiolaging. 2016.08.026

# **Frontiers in Virtual Reality**

# Explores the possibilities of virtual and extended reality

An exciting new journal in its field which advances our understanding of extended reality to develop new technologies and find applications for society.

# **Discover the latest Research Topics**



## Frontiers

Avenue du Tribunal-Fédéral 34 1005 Lausanne, Switzerland frontiersin.org

## Contact us

+41 (0)21 510 17 00 frontiersin.org/about/contact



